MOOREBANK INTERMODAL PRECINCT

Moorebank Precinct East: Six-Monthly Operations Compliance Report

Report: #10 Period: November 2024 – April 2025

30 APRIL 2025



MOOREBANK INTERMODAL PRECINCT

November 2024 - April 2025

Author	Richard Mason	Richard Mason
Checker	Mark Howley	Mark Howley
Approver	Richard Mason	huhel
Date	9/06/2025	
Revision Text	00	
Author Details		
Author Details	Qualifications and Experience	
Richard Mason	BSc Environmental Science and over 20 Years Environmental Management Experience.	

REVISIONS

Revision	Date	Description	Prepared by	Approved by
00	09/06/2025	Final	Tactical Group	Richard Mason



KEY TERMS AND ACRONYMS

Acronym/Term	Meaning
CNBMP	Container Noise Barrier Management Plan
CoC	Conditions of Consent
DPE	Department of Planning and Environment
DPH&I	Department of Planning, Housing and Infrastructure
EPBC Act	Environmental Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999
ERP	Emergency Response Plan which includes the Bushfire Emergency and Evacuation Plan (BEEP), Bushfire Management Plan (BMP) and Flood Emergency Management Plan (FEMP)
IMEX	Import Export
MLP	Moorebank Logistics Park
OAQMP	Operational Air Quality Management Plan
OCR	Six Monthly Operational Compliance Report
OCCS	Operational Community Communication Strategy
OEMP	Operational Environmental Management Plan
ONVMP	Operational Noise and Vibration Management Plan
OTAMP	Operational Traffic and Access Management Plan
OWRMP	Operational Waste and Resource Management Plan
POCR	Pre-operations Compliance Report
POPD	Program for Operational Phase Delivery
SIOMP	Operational Stormwater Infrastructure and Operation and Maintenance Plan
SSD	State Significant Development
UDLP	Urban Design and Landscape Plan
WTP	Workplace Travel Plan
SSD 6766	Stage 1 of the MPE Concept Approval (MP 10_0193) as approved under SSD 6766. It involves the construction and operation of an IMEX terminal and associated Rail Link.
SSD 7628	Stage 2 of the MPE Concept Approval (MP 10_0193) as approved under SSD 7628. It involves the construction and operation of warehousing and distribution facilities on the MPE site and upgrades to approximately 1.5 kilometres of Moorebank Avenue from



Acronym/Term	Meaning
	approximately 35 metres south of the northern boundary of the MPE site to approximately 185 metres south of the southern MPE site boundary.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

REVISIONS	
KEY TERMS AND ACRONYMS	
1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	7
2 INTRODUCTION	8
2.1 Project Overview	8
2.2 Project Approvals	8
2.3 Scope and Purpose	9
3 PROJECT DESCRIPTION	10
3.1 Site Location	10
3.2 Scope of Works	11
3.3 Operational activities undertaken	12
3.4 Operational Compliance	13
3.4.1 Operations Reporting	13
3.4.2 Air Quality Monitoring	15
3.4.3 Annual exceedances	17
3.4.4 24-hour exceedances	19
3.4.5 Air Quality Complaints	19
3.4.6 Noise Monitoring	20
3.4.7 Water Quality Monitoring	22
3.4.8 Storm Water Infrastructure (Next audit is in July 2025)	23
3.4.9 Biodiversity Monitoring	23
3.4.10 Biannual Trip and Origin Destination Report	25
3.5 Compliance Summary	26
APPENDIX A - SSD 6766 CONDITIONS OF CONSENT	27
APPENDIX B - SSD 7628 CONDITIONS OF CONSENT	28
APPENDIX C – AIR QUALITY MONITORING COMPLIANCE REPORT	29
APPENDIX D – NOISE MONITORING REPORTS	30
APPENDIX E - WATER QUALITY MONITORING REPORTS	31
APPENDIX F – COMPLAINTS REGISTER	32
APPENDIX G – BIODIVERSITY (FLORA AND FAUNA MONITORING REPORTS)	33
APPENDIX H – BTODR REPORTING	34
APPENDIX I – OPERATIONS INCIDENT REGISTER	35
APPENDIX J - COMPLIANCE REPORT DECLARATION FORM	36



TABLE OF FIGURES

Figure 1 MLP Fast Precinct Layout – sourced	MPE STAGE 2 OEMP Rev 18	n
Figure T MEF East Flechict Layout – Sourceu		υ

TABLE OF TABLES

Table 1: Non-compliances in reporting period Nov 23 – Apr 2024	13
Table 2: Compliance status descriptors (CRPAR 2018)	15
Table 3: Dust deposition criteria	16
Table 4: Dust deposition (insoluble solids g/m²/month) results	17
Table 5: Monitoring station availability (%)	18



1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

In accordance with SSD 7628 Condition of Consent (CoC) C21(c)(iii), a Six-monthly operational compliance report (OCR) must be prepared.

The Department approved the Program for Operational Phase Delivery (POPD) on 21 May 2019 which outlined the staged submission of operational documents under condition A14 of SSD 7628. The Department also considered the combining of strategies, plans or programs to be acceptable, provided that all relevant conditions across both SSD 6766, and SSD 7628 are met.

Regular reviews of compliance against the *Environmental Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999* (EPBC 2011/6229) Conditions of Approval are undertaken but are not the subject of this compliance report.

This OCR has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the *Compliance Reporting Post Approval Requirements (NSW DP&E, June 2018)* and has been prepared to outline the progress of compliance for all operational requirements against the Project Approvals from November 2024 to April 2025.



2 INTRODUCTION

2.1 Project Overview

Application Number	
Project name:	Moorebank Intermodal Precinct – Operational Area 1 and 2
Proponent	Moorebank Intermodal Precinct
Site Address	MIP East Precinct site, Moorebank Avenue, Moorebank
Project Phase	Six Monthly Operation Compliance Report (OCR)
Project Activity	Operation of an import-export terminal, rail link and warehouse and distribution facilities and associated infrastructure.
Report date	Monday, 30 June 2025

2.2 Project Approvals

Approval for the construction and operation of the MIP East Precinct was obtained progressively as follows:

- The Project obtained (EPBC 2011/6229) approval dated 6 March 2014
- Moorebank Precinct East (MPE) Concept Approval 10_0193
- MPE Stage 1 SSD 6766
- MPE Stage 2 SSD 7628
- MPE Stage 2 SSD 7628 Subdivision partial development consent
- MPE Stage 2 SSD 7628_MOD 1 Modification 1
- MPE Stage 2 SSD 7628_MOD 2 Modification 2
- MPE Stage 2 SSD 7628_MOD 3 Modification 3
- MPE Stage 2 SSD 7628_MOD 4 Modification 4
- MPE Stage 2 SSD 7628_MOD 5 Modification 5
- MPE Stage 2 SSD 7628_MOD 6 Modification 6



2.3 Scope and Purpose

In accordance with SSD 7628 Condition C21 (c) (iii), a Six-Monthly Operation Compliance Report (OCR) is required to outline progress of compliance for all operation requirements against the MPE Stage 1 and Stage 2 approval.

There is no specific requirement under SSD 6676 for the submission of an OCR, however this report has been prepared to address the operational requirements for both SSD 6766 and SSD 7628 and has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the *Compliance Reporting Post Approval Requirements* (NSW DP&E, June 2018).



3 PROJECT DESCRIPTION

3.1 Site Location

The Moorebank Intermodal Precinct (MIP) is an integral component of the Freight, Ports and Transport strategies of both the NSW and Commonwealth governments to help manage the challenges of an expected tripling of freight volumes at Port Botany by 2031.

The MIP aims to streamline the freight logistics supply chain from port to store, deliver savings to businesses and consumers, and help service the rapidly growing demand for imported goods in south-west Sydney. It is located approximately 27 kilometres (km) south-west of the Sydney Central Business District and approximately 26 km west of Port Botany within the Liverpool Local Government Area. The MIP is divided into an East Precinct and a West Precinct, located east and west of Moorebank Avenue, respectively.

The MIP East Precinct commenced operations in May 2020 and is the subject of this Operation Compliance Report (OCR). The MIP West precinct is also now operational.



Figure 1 MLP East Precinct Layout – sourced MPE STAGE 2 OEMP Rev 18



3.2 Scope of Works

The main features of the MIP East Precinct include:

- The Import Export (IMEX) Terminal. The IMEX Terminal comprises:
 - Truck processing, holding, and loading areas with an entrance and exit from Moorebank Avenue.
 - Rail loading and container storage areas serviced by container handling equipment.
 - An Administration facility and associated car parking with light vehicle access from Moorebank Avenue.
- A Rail Link connecting the IMEX terminal and the Southern Sydney Freight Line (SSFL) traversing Moorebank Avenue, Anzac Creek and Georges River.
- Associated ancillary infrastructure including signage, lighting, landscaping, water management.
- Warehouse and distribution facilities including warehousing up to 21 m in height, typically ranging in size from 20,000 m² to 62,000 m². Individual warehouses typically comprise the following:
 - Office and administration facilities
 - Amenities
 - Car parking
 - Truck loading/unloading docks
 - Internal parking for pick-up and delivery vehicles (PUD)
 - Specialised sortation and conveyor equipment
 - Hardstand areas that provide trailer parking spaces, external PUD parking spaces, vehicle manoeuvring areas and access to the main internal site road
 - Signage for business identification purposes, including backlit illuminated signage on each warehouse
 - Internal fit out, comprising racking and storage.
- A freight village including a mix of retail, commercial and light industrial spaces typically up 15 m in height and varying in size and design.
- An internal road network to enable efficient movement of vehicles, dispatch of freight from the warehouses and transport of containers between the IMEX Terminal and warehouse and distribution facilities.
- Security and Administration offices and demountable.



3.3 Operational activities undertaken

Documents can be submitted in stages as permitted by CoC A14 and CoC A15. The application of the operational documents will be staged to take progressive affect across the MIP East Precinct site as construction is completed, and operations commences was detailed in the POPD approved by the DPIE on 21 May 2019.

This OCR has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Compliance Tracking Program (CTP) to outline progress of compliance for all operation requirements against both SSD 6766 and SSD 7628. This OCR covers the period from November 2024 – April 2025.

The following works have been undertaken:

- Movement and storage of containers in and out of the terminal via rail
- Truck processing, holding, and loading areas.
- Primary and secondary container loading/ unloading areas.
- Transfer of containers between terminal and warehouses vis internal transfer vehicles
- Pickup and delivery of goods to warehouses via truck movements
- Warehouse 1, Warehouse 3, Warehouse 4, Warehouse 5 and Warehouse 7a and 7b are occupied and operational. Warehouse 6A is occupied but not currently operating, whereas Warehouse 6B is currently operational.
- Warehousing and Administrative Activities
- Security, maintenance and monitoring of all infrastructure and equipment related to the above activities.

No major construction related activities occurred in 2025, with only internal fit-out and preparation for operations occurring. These activities were undertaken during standard working hours, unless stated otherwise.

Project Compliance Summary

This OCR outlines the progress of compliance for all operational requirements against Project Approvals. Compliance against the project CoC and the Final Compilation of Mitigation Measures (FCMM) are outlined in SSD 6766 Conditions of Consent and SSD 7628 Conditions of Consent, **Appendix A and B** respectively.

A declaration of compliance is available in Appendix J.



3.4 Operational Compliance

In accordance with the CoC and OEMP, environmental monitoring activities are required to be undertaken for the operation phase of the MPE Stage 1 and Stage 2 project. These activities include air quality monitoring, noise monitoring, storm water infrastructure and water quality monitoring, Biodiversity Monitoring, and Biannual trip and origin destination reports. A summary of the monitoring results required for this reporting period is addressed in the following sections. The full reports for each of these monitoring requirements are available in the Appendices Section.

3.4.1 Operations Reporting

3.4.1.1 Operations Compliance Report #8

Eight non-compliances remained open from the previous operations compliance report (OCR #8, November 2023 to April 2024 reporting period). The status of these non-compliances have been identified in table 1.

CoC Ref	Туре	Detail	Proposed or Completed Action	Current Status
SSD 6766 - G15	Non- compliance	According to the dates for the Annual Noise Review Reports for Year 2 - 2022 and Year 3 - 2023, reports have not been submitted to the DPHI and the EPA within 60 days of completion of the monitoring (as required by CoC G15(h)).	The Annual Noise Review Report was submitted within 60 days of completion of monitoring for the next reporting period.	Closed
SSD 7628 - B28	Non- compliance	No evidence was sighted to verify that the BTODRs for November 2022 and May 2023 reports were submitted to the Department within one month of their preparation.	DPHI receipts were filed for evidence to ensure the document was submitted within the time frame for the next reporting period.	Closed
SSD 7628 - B85	Non- compliance	No evidence was presented to verify that that the Operational Compliance Measurement Reports from Renzo Tonin for WH5, WH4A, WH4B, WH3B, WH3A and WH1 were submitted to the DPHI within 2 months of occupation or each warehouse.	DPHI receipts were filed for evidence to ensure the document was submitted within the time frame for the next reporting period.	Closed
SSD 7628 - B87	Non- compliance	According to the dates of monitoring specified within the Annual Noise Review, the Reports for Year 2 and Year 3 Operations have not been submitted to the EPA within 60	Email receipts were filed for evidence to ensure the document was submitted within the time	Closed

Table 1: Non-compliances in reporting period Nov 23 – Apr 2024



CoC Ref	Туре	Detail	Proposed or Completed Action	Current Status
		days of completion of the monitoring as required by this condition.	frame for the next reporting period.	
SSD 7628 – B114A	Non- compliance	A Final Hazard Analysis for Warehouse 7 with the Department's Hazardous Industry Planning Advisory Paper No. 6, 'Hazard Analysis' has not been prepared as per condition B114A (b).	A Final Hazard Analysis for Warehouse 7 was submitted to the Department for the next reporting period.	Closed
SSD 7628 - B114B	Non- compliance	A document setting out a comprehensive Safety Management System, covering all on-site operations, associated transport activities involving hazardous materials for Warehouse 7, safety related procedures, responsibilities and policies and mechanisms ensuring adherence to the procedures has not been developed for Warehouse 7.	A Safet Management System report for Warehouse 7 was submitted to the Department for the next reporting period.	Closed
SSD 7628 - B114C	Non- compliance	Warehouse 7 started being occupied on the 30/10/2023 and then started their operation from the 26/02/2024. This condition is not triggered yet.	A Hazard Audit for Warehouse 7 was submitted to the Department after operations began in the next reporting period.	Closed
SSD 7628 - B114D	Non- compliance	As the Applicant has not prepared all the Plans and Fire Studies as per the requirements from the conditions B114A and B114B yet, this condition is considered not triggered.	Any further requirements for Warehouse 7 as requested by the Department were followed in the next reporting period(s).	Closed

3.4.1.2 Operations Compliance Report #9

There were no non-compliances from the previous compliance report (OCR #9, May 2024 to November 2024 reporting period).

3.4.1.3 Operations Compliance Report #10 (Current Reporting Period)

There are no non-compliances from the current compliance report (OCR #10, November 2024 to April 2025 reporting period).



3.4.1.4 DPHI Notifications

No warning letters were received from DPHI during the reporting period.

3.4.1.5 July 2024 Independent Environmental Audit

The second independent audit for the SSD 7628 consent was undertaken and finalized during the previous reporting period (rev 2.0, 10 July 2024, WolfPeak) covering the period May 2024 to November 2024. The audit report was received and filed on the 11 July 2024 and was lodged with DPHI on 17 July 2024.

3.4.1.6 Incidents Management

There were 8 operational incidents reported in MPE operations in the reporting period.

Of the 8 recorded, none were significant (resulting in Environmental damage or reportable).

All incidents are managed in accordance with the incidents reporting procedure.

Incidents are summarized in Appendix J.

3.4.1.7 Complaints Management

14 complaints were received relating to MPE operations in this period.

These complaints were managed in accordance with the complaints reporting procedure.

Complaints are summarized in Appendix F.

3.4.1.8 Conditions of Consent

Compliance against the CoC is outlined in Appendix A and B. The status of each compliance requirement during the reporting period is recorded using the descriptors prescribed by the CRPAR (DPHI, 2018). These are provided in table 2.

Status	Description
Compliant	The proponent has collected sufficient verifiable evidence to demonstrate all elements of the requirement have been complied with.
Non-compliant	The proponent has identified a non-compliance with one or more elements of the requirement.
Not triggered	A requirement has an activation or timing trigger that has not been met at the phase of the development when the compliance assessment is undertaken, therefore an assessment of compliance is not relevant.

Table 2: Compliance status descriptors (CRPAR 2018)

3.4.2 Air Quality Monitoring

The Six-Monthly Compliance Operational Air Quality reports completed during this period are available in **Appendix C** of this report. Actioning requirements and recommendations raised from the report are consistently being addressed as a part of daily operations.



Air quality monitoring and compliance results are summarised in the sections below for the last reporting period:

3.4.2.1 Dust deposition

Dust deposition data from seven DDGs located around the site is provided by SERS and have been provided for incorporation into the monitoring program since May 2021.

DPE has set the criteria for dust deposition rates, and these are provided in Table 3.

Table 3: Dust deposition criteria

Averaging Period	Maximum increase in deposited dust* level	Maximum total deposited dust level
Annual	2 g/m²/month (incremental)	4 g/m ² /month (cumulative)

* Deposited dust is assessed as insoluble solids. This is the mass of the insoluble portion of the deposited matter, as defined under AS 3580.10.1: 2016.

7 https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/topics/air/understanding-air-quality-data/standards-and-goals



3.4.2.2 Dust deposition gauge results

The results of the collection period November 2024 to April 2025 as provided by SERS is shown in Table 4.

Date	Stage 1 DDG 1	Stage 2 DDG 1	Stage 2 DDG 2	Stage 2 DDG 3	Stage 2 DDG 4	Stage 2 DDG 5	Stage 2 DDG 6	MPW1	MPW2	MPW3	Average
November 2024	2.2	1.1	0.8	1.1	0.9	0.8	0.5	3.6	9.7	3.7	2.4
December 2024	3.0	1.3	1.1	2.0	1.6	0.7	5.5	4.2	13.0	3.4	3.6
January 2025	N/A*	0.2	1.3	3.2	0.7	0.8	2.0	1.8	1.3	0.9	1.4
February 2025	2.7	0.2	0.3	1.4	0.4	0.5	<0.1	2	8.7	1.3	1.8
March [#] 2025	N/A**	0.1	0.3	0.2	0.3	<0.1	0.2	1.5	4.2	1.1	0.9
April 2025	N/A**	1.6	0.9	0.8	0.3	<0.1	1.0	2.9	3.0	1.1	1.3

Table 4: Dust deposition (insoluble solids g/m²/month) results

As shown in Table 4 there were six individual gauge exceedances between November 2024 and April 2025. The majority of these occurred at MPW2, which is located adjacent to an area of the site that is still under construction. These results may have been impacted by construction activities.

3.4.2.3 Continuous monitoring results

Monitoring data for PM_{2.5}, PM₁₀, NO₂ and CO for the reporting period have been summarised into tables and graphs and are provided in Appendix A. The following sections summarise the results for this reporting period.

3.4.3 Annual exceedances

Twelve months of air quality monitoring are provided graphically and in table form in Appendix A.

AQM04 only had 58% availability for PM2.5 and PM10 in July 2024 and 85% availability for PM2.5 and PM10 in August 2024, however, the monitor had 100% availability for NO2 and CO during these months and high availability for the remaining 12 months. All other monitors had an average availability of 99% during the reporting period.

See Table 5 for the monitoring station availability (%) over a 12-month period.



Monitoring	Nov 2024	Dec 2024	Jan 2025	Feb 2025	Mar 2025	Apr 2025	Average %	Latest calibration
AQM01		%	availability	each mont	h			date
AQM01	99	100	100	100	97	100	99	March 2024
AQM02	99	100	100	100	97	100	99	March 2024
AQM03	99	100	100	100	97	100	99	March 2024
AQM04	99	100	100	100	97	100	99	March 2024

Table 5: Monitoring station availability (%)

All monitoring stations saw the exact same availability throughout each month, leading to an average availability for each station of 99% for this reporting period.

Compared to the last reporting period, monitor AQM04 availability has improved with an average of 99% for this reporting period (compared to 88% for the previous reporting period).

3.4.3.1 PM2.5 and PM10 Monitoring

The 12-month rolling annual average for the period May 2024 to April 2025 for all four monitors combined was below the annual average criteria (i.e. 7.0 μ g/m3 for PM2.5 and 25.0 μ g/m3 for PM10) for each month.

As of April 2025, the 12-month rolling annual average for all four monitors was 4.7 μ g/m3 for PM2.5 and 12.3 μ g/m3 for PM10.

See Appendix A.1 and Appendix A.2 of **Appendix C** for more details.

3.4.3.2 NO2 Monitoring

The 12-month rolling annual average for all four monitors for the period May 2024 to April 2025 was below the annual average criteria (0.03 ppm) for each month.

As of April 2025, the 12-month rolling annual average for NO2 for all four monitors is 0.007 ppm, well below the annual average criteria of 0.03 ppm.

3.4.3.3 CO Monitoring

CO does not require annual reporting.



3.4.4 24-hour exceedances

3.4.4.1 PM2.5 Monitoring

A review of the data for the reporting period (November 2024 to April 2025) did not identify any exceedance of the 24-hour average criteria ($20 \ \mu g/m^3$) for PM2.5 for the 6-month reporting period.

3.4.4.2 PM10 Monitoring

A review of the data for the reporting period (November 2024 to April 2025) did not identify any exceedance of the 24-hour average criteria ($50 \mu g/m3$) for PM10 for the 6-month reporting period.

3.4.4.3 NO2 1-hour exceedances

No exceedance of NO₂ 1-hour criteria (0.12 ppm / 120 ppb) were observed during the 6-month reporting period.

3.4.4.4 CO 8-hour exceedances

No 8-hour criteria exceedances for CO occurred during the 6-month reporting period.

3.4.5 Air Quality Complaints

One complaint was made relating to air quality in December 2024. The complaint related to dust and an increase in the complainant's pool cleaning. No other formal complaints were received during the reporting period relating to air quality

3.4.5.1 Recommendations

It is recommended that monitors continue to be calibrated annually as per operational requirements and device specifications. The monitors were last calibrated in March 2024, over a year ago. Calibration should occur as soon as possible prior to the next report.



3.4.6 Noise Monitoring

Noise monitoring measurements have been performed, consistent with the requirements of SSD 6766 and SSD 7628 and the Operational Noise and Vibration Management Plan. During this reporting period that following noise measurements were undertaken:

- Continuous Noise Monitoring
 - \circ No exceedances of the planning approval noise limits were measured during the period.
 - Continuous noise monitoring at sensitive receivers is required to be undertaken at sensitive receivers in accordance with the approval conditions for MPE Stage 2 (SSD 7628 CoC B64).
 - The primary purpose of the permanent noise monitoring systems is to measure constructionrelated noise in accordance with the requirements of SSD 7628 Condition B64. Whilst this condition relates to construction noise, the noise monitoring results can also be utilised for operational noise reviews/assessments and to investigate noise complaints (if required).
 - Details of the continuous noise monitoring and measurement locations (CM1 to CM4) are provided in Section 3.1.1 (Figure 3-1) of the MPE ONVMP (Rev 13, 24/01/2023). The measurement systems comprise four Envirosuite permanent noise monitors. The monitoring locations are:
 - CM1: 10 Talbot Court, Wattle Grove
 - CM2: 24 Glenelg Court, Wattle Grove North
 - CM3: 14 Dunmore Crescent, Casula
 - CM4: 26 Goodenough Street, Glenfield
 - During November 2024 the noise monitoring equipment of these monitoring terminals was upgraded with new sound level meters and shade cloth implemented to minimise any downtime in the case that the unit temperature limits are exceeded.
 - The monitor at location CM2 was offline for a period from 19/08/2024 to 10/09/2024. This was due to the power disconnection at their property. All other monitoring locations were fully operational during the period.
 - \circ This noise monitoring is ongoing.
 - Complaints 11 complaints were received in relation to operational noise levels in the period. Of these 11 complaints, 3 did not relate to operations, and were either related to construction noise or non-MIP noise. These complaints were managed in accordance with the complaints reporting procedure.

- Other relevant consent monitoring

- Noise monitoring was undertaken during February 2025 for Moorebank Precinct West (MPW) to address SSD 7709 CoC B140A. As the MPW noise requirements are cumulative this monitoring also considered MPE noise emissions.
- The noise monitoring surveys determined that the noise emissions from MIP operations were less than the SSD 7709 Conditions of Consent (CoC) LAeq15min noise limits at all surrounding receiver locations, and that typically, the maximum noise levels from MIP operations were generally compliant with the LAmax noise, however, a number of periods were identified where the LAmax noise levels were above the LAmax noise limit for residences in Casula, which were on occasions from MPE activities.
- As such, mitigation and management measure recommendations were included to address this noise and further improve noise performance

- Angle of Attack Rail Noise Report

The commissioned report covers rail movements between **INSERT DATE** 2024 and **INSERT DATE** 2025. A summary of the key statistics is provided below:

o Number of valid train passby events - 2,269 (day), 1,074 (night), 3,343 (day + night)



- Number of train passby events where the measure AoA values on one or more axles were above the acceptable level defined in Section 2.7.1 of Asset Standards Authority Standard T HR RS 00400 ST – 40, representing less than 1% of passbys.
- A summary of the maximum AoA value measured for each train is provided in Figure 6-1of AppendixD show that the maximum AoA value is typically less than 12 mrad, except for 19 train passbys that had maximum AoA value greater than the established alarm level.
- A detailed review of the Angle of Attack (AoA) exceedances identified three wagons that repeatedly triggered AoA alarms. Wagon CQMY 003013 and CQMY 003058, each exceeded the AoA alarm threshold on four occasions. Wagon CQMY 003099 triggered the AoA alarm on two occasions.
- It is the same Wagon ID (CQMY 003099) that exceeded the AoA alarm level on ten occasions during 1 May 2024 and 1 November 2024. The owner of Wagon ID (CQMY 003099) was notified of the exceedances and were in the process of determining the required rectification works. Following rectification works undertaken during November 2024 this wagon has not been identified as exceeding the AoA alarm level.
- As of 04/06/2025, the owner of these two further wagons had been notified of the exceedances and were in the process of determining the required rectification works.
- Three of the 40 passby events with AoA alarm levels resulted in elevated noise levels at the permanent noise monitoring location [i.e. where the calculated LAeq(9hour) noise levels at 30 m were above 60 dB(A)]. Exceedances of the AoA alarm levels were viewed as one-off instances, occurring irregularly.
- Warehouse Noise Mechanical Plant monitoring occurred for relevant operational warehouses (E6A, E6B and E7) during the period. For the 2024-2025 review period, for all monitored warehouses, the warehouse mechanical plant and equipment noise emission levels achieve the overall noise levels presented in Table 5 of CoC B80 during all time periods.

Annual noise monitoring reports will be located in **Appendix D** of this report. Actioning requirements and recommendations raised from the report are consistently being addressed as a part of daily operations.



3.4.7 Water Quality Monitoring

The baseline monitoring forms the basis for the ongoing Biodiversity Monitoring Strategy (BMS) to assess stream health in accordance with CoC B106, to determine any change in stream health or water quality throughout the life of the Project and to ascertain whether these changes can be attributed to the Project works. The BMS outlines monitoring requirements and includes the Stormwater Monitoring Strategy required by CoC B43 and B44.

Examination of the results from the spring 2024 surveys found no evidence of changes in the indicator variables (bed and bank stability, water quality, assemblages of aquatic macroinvertebrates and fish) that could be attributed to the Project works. Thus, in accordance with the Biodiversity Monitoring Strategy, no adaptive management contingency measure was triggered.

Within the current reporting period (spring 2024), no construction discharges occurred. Extensive cover by vegetation within the riparian zone and stream channel contribute stability to the refuge pool and the majority of Anzac Creek.

Concentrations of lead in sediments collected at Site AQ1 (range = 21 to 130 mg/kg) continue to exceed the guideline value (50 mg/kg), including at the time of the baseline (91 mg/kg) survey. Copper, nickel and zinc have occasionally exceeded guideline values, but total petroleum hydrocarbons and poly-fluoroalkyl substances (e.g. PFAS and PFOS), continue to comply. Site AQ1 is situated upstream of potential inputs from the Project, so no additional testing at this site is considered necessary.

Reduced dissolved oxygen levels, elevated nitrogen, aluminium and copper measured at the refuge pool (Site AQ12), including prior to commencement of the Project, have consistently suggested that aquatic habitat and biota within Anzac Creek are influenced by various types of anthropogenic disturbance. Importantly, the data collected to date indicate that there has been no further degradation of water quality since the Project related construction work began.

Over the course of the monitoring programme, the diversity of aquatic macroinvertebrates, Australian River Assessment System (AUSRIVAS) and Stream Invertebrate Grade Number Average Level (SIGNAL2) scores have been relatively low, indicating that the aquatic macroinvertebrate fauna have experienced one or more forms of human impact. Despite this, some pollution tolerant taxa have commonly been identified, including dragonfly, caddis fly and mayfly families. Importantly, comparison of the AUSRIVAS and SIGNAL2 scores between the baseline and construction phase continue to indicate an overall stability in aquatic health.

Altogether, ten species of fish have been collected from within the refuge pool: three native species of gudgeon, two native species of eel, one native galaxiid species, one native cat-fish species and three introduced species (Gambusia, Goldfish and Oriental weatherloach), confirming that the creek does provide some habitat for native species of fish. All of the species caught are common within NSW. No threatened species of fish listed under the NSW Fisheries Management Act, 1994 or the Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act, 1999 have been recorded.

Water quality monitoring report and infrastructure inspection reports are available in **Appendix E** of this report. Actioning requirements and recommendations raised from the report are consistently being addressed as a part of daily operations.



3.4.8 Storm Water Infrastructure (Next audit is in July 2025)

Stormwater infrastructure managed under the Stormwater Infrastructure Operation and Maintenance Plan were inspected and assessed during the period. No significant actions were required for the operation of Stormwater infrastructure at the site.

The annual independent audit was undertaken in September 2024 by a suitably qualified WSUD professional. The next audit and inspection will be undertaken in July 2025.

3.4.9 Biodiversity Monitoring

Biodiversity monitoring will now be managed internally with no separate reporting required under SSD 6766 and 7628.

Monitoring activities undertaken in the period included:

- Monitoring of weed cover
- Monitoring of threatened species occurrence
- Monitoring of viability of native vegetation adjoining the rail easement
- Monitoring of feral fauna occurrence
- Monitoring of Nest boxes

The biodiversity (Flora and Fauna) monitoring report has been provided to the department for information. Actioning requirements and recommendations raised from the report are consistently being addressed as a part of daily operations.

Results during this reporting period:

Lands adjoining the Rail Link (BA341 Boot Land)

- Assessment of the vegetation in BA341 Lands is restricted to within 10 metres either side of the Rail Link and is sampled during the spring/summer season. Biodiversity works under BA341 are separate to this approval and this reporting does not provide any recommendations that would alter the current approach to the management of these areas.
- Native vegetation adjoining the Rail Link is in good condition and has low levels of weed. There was a high diversity of native plant species within the area, with the native woodland assemblage being fully structured, including trees, shrubs and native groundcover vegetation. No signs of change were observed by ecologists in vegetation on either side of the Rail Link. Data collected over the last three years indicates that the operation of the Rail Link is having a negligible impact on adjoining patches of native vegetation. Exotic species are still being recorded in the offset area; however, they are mostly restricted to already disturbed edges within the former construction footprint of the Rail Link.
- During this monitoring period, encroachment of weeds into non-disturbed, natural areas has been minor. Of the weeds species recorded, only Senecio madagascariensis (Fireweed), has been observed successfully colonising the natural areas. No dense infestations of exotic perennial grass species or other aggressive weed species was observed. The lower nutrient soils of natural areas which have a high composition of sand is likely to be unsuitable to the exotic species growing in the Rail Link and is inhibiting encroachment. At current the occurrence of weeds in the Rail Link is not deemed to be impacting upon the presence or persistence of Acacia bynoeana, Persoonia nutans, Grevillea parviflora subsp. parviflora and Hibbertia puberula subsp. Puberula.
- Threatened species transect identified three threatened plant species within 10 metres of the Rail Link corridor fencing, including Persoonia nutans and Hibbertia puberula subsp. puberula. Individuals of these threatened species were mostly observed to be in good condition. Grevillea parviflora subsp. parviflora was identified in the Rail Link in 2023, however was not identified in 2024. The number of



individuals of Persoonia nutans remained the same (one individual) and Hibbertia puberula subsp. puberula decreased by twelve. The threatened plant species Acacia bynoeana (Bynoe's Wattle) was not recorded during the survey and is likely to have perished in this location. No evidence was observed to indicate that this was due to the operation or ongoing management of Rail Link.

- Similarly, the reduction of the Hibbertia puberula subsp. puberula is not thought to be a result of the operation or ongoing management of Rail Link. This reduction could be considered a natural fluctuation considering there are 65 individuals in relatively high density, specifically on the east side of the rail link. It is possible that in the warmer periods (spring and summer) following the period of high rainfall, prolific growth of native groundcovers and shrubs in the understorey occurred.

Riparian vegetation management (RVMP reporting)

- With the Georges River management site, on the eastern side of the Georges River, being incorporated into the BA341 biobank site, native vegetation and biodiversity values are subject to improvement through a combination of management activities including weed removal, bush regeneration, soil stabilisation and habitat enhancement. In 2022, EcoLogical was engaged by National Internodal (owner of the BA341 biobank site) to commence active management of the biobank site (which includes this management site). EcoLogical has been undertaking targeted weed control works throughout this area.
- The Georges River management site on the western side of the Georges River is not incorporated into the BA341 biobank site and is not subject to the management activities being undertaken by EcoLogical. No evidence of bush regeneration works has been observed in this location since the last monitoring survey in 2024. It is recommended that a bush regeneration contractor should be procured to remove weeds and support native plantings.

Koala management & fencing

- The successful detection of Koalas on both the MPW and MPE sides of the biobank highlights the importance of conservation of these areas. It is anticipated that enhancements to the biobanks through revegetation, weed control, fencing and pest animal control, that the Koala population should continue to grow.
- Cyclone mesh fencing is present along the interface between Wattle Grove offset area and the MPE operational facility restricting the movement of Koalas into unsuitable areas. Inspection of areas where gaps under the fence have previously been identified were not subject to increases gap size and subsequently no management actions are currently recommended.
- Currently, no structures (bridges, culverts, refuge posts) have been installed which facilitate the movement of Koalas from the Wattle Grove offset area to adjoining areas of suitable habitat.
- Koala Monitoring will continue in 2025.

Feral animals and weeds

- The assessment of feral animal presence through remote camera monitoring has remained consistent with previous monitoring periods, with Red Fox, Black Rat and Feral Cats detected on cameras with the addition of Brown Hare, Common Myna and Rusa Deer this monitoring period.
- Brown Hare has previously been recorded throughout the offset sites, with several observations in the Georges River offset site in recent months. Brown Hare can cause significant damage when gnawing the bark of young trees and shrubs and can cause severe damage to revegetation sites.
- There is evidence to suggest that Red Fox populations are problematic within the offset sites. Juveniles being recorded indicates a breeding population is present, and at least 10 distinct captures of Red Foxes with prey indicates that management of the Red Fox population should be undertaken to reduce impacts to local biodiversity.
- Rusa deer have been recorded in the MPW management site. Actions are required to monitor the population of Rusa deer and eliminate their impact on the local ecosystem. Rusa deer can have significant impacts on native vegetation due to overgrazing, trampling, and browsing, which may lead to habitat degradation and biodiversity loss.



- As with previous years, cats were also recorded on remote cameras walking along the access tracks on the boundary of the MPE and MPW operational facility. At least two individual cats, potentially domestic, were captured on remote cameras at both sites.
- The occurrence of Black Rat is not considered to be a significant issue.

Nest Box Monitoring

- 99 nest boxes were utilised by native fauna, 31 in the Bootland and 68 in the Georges River corridor, equating to a utilisation rate of 47% for all nest boxes in the 2024 survey period.
- 13 nest boxes were utilised by invasive species, 2 in the Bootland and 11 in the Georges River corridor, equating to an overall utilisations rate of 6%.

Fauna connectivity

- For MPE, fauna habitat connectivity monitoring identified that several species, both native and invasive, are regularly utilising the Anzac Creek corridor to move between patches of native vegetation within the Wattle Grove offset area. Surrounding the Wattle Grove Offset Area is 6-foot high barbed-wire fencing. This is a barrier to wildlife movement and a hazard to native animals. Large logs and coarse woody debris placed on rock ballast remain as the habitat connectivity measure linking riparian vegetation within the MPW precinct with bushland to the south.
- For MPW, mobile native species recorded within the Georges River offset site which are likely to move along riparian vegetation corridors include Petaurus breviceps (Sugar Glider), Pseudocheirus peregrinus (Common Ringtail Possum), Trichosurus vulpecula (Common Brushtail Possum), Wallabia bicolor (Swamp Wallaby) and Macropus robustus (Common Wallaroo). Remote camera monitoring for the Rail Link area identified three species as using the corridor, including Red Fox, Rusa Deer and Swamp Wallaby. Evidently, only a small subset of the native species known to occur within MPW have been recorded using the corridor. Additionally, a six-foot-high cyclone fence with top-lined barbed wire installed to the south of the Georges River management site is likely a barrier to the movement of some fauna species between the MPW site and bushland to the south.

Annual EPBC Offset Site Monitoring

- Generally, Persoonia nutans within offset sites were observed to be in healthy condition, with approximately 89 percent of all individuals observed to be in healthy condition. No evidence of impacts from mammals (trampling or grazing) was observed. If Persoonia nutans populations across offset sites shows a decline in future surveys, a translocation project could be initiated whereby seeds collected from adult individuals in offset sites P3 and P4 are propagated at an offsite location and reintroduced at a later stage as young plants.
- Small-flower Grevillea has a habitat preference for sandy or light clay soils, usually over thin shales, often with lateritic ironstone gravels and nodules. Populations of Small-flower Grevillea in the Sydney region usually occur on Tertiary sands and alluvium and soils derived from the Mittagong Formation. It is recommended that the population be monitored for another year prior to implementing any management actions to increase the population of Grevillea parviflora subsp. parviflora considering the high degree of fluctuation evident in the past monitoring year.
- Some targeted weed control has occurred along the access and firetails in the Wattle Grove Offset site, which are located near to the threatened species offset sites, including brush cutting and careful spot spraying with herbicide targeting the following aggressive weed species: African Lovegrass, Senecio madagascariensis (Fireweed), Conyza sp. (Fleabane), Cortaderia selloana (Pampass Grass), Paspalum sp. (Paspalum), Setaria sp. (Pigeon Grass) and Andropogon virginicus (Whiskey Grass).

3.4.10 Biannual Trip and Origin Destination Report

The BTODR has been undertaken for the November 2024 to April 2025 reporting period and addresses the relevant requirements of the Project Approvals and other guidelines and standards applicable during operations



of MPE. The BTODR is proposed to keep an accurate record of the shipping containers and vehicle arrivals / departures against approved volumes.

The Biannual trip and origin destination report has been completed for this period and will be provided to Secretary for information in accordance with B28 separately.

3.5 Compliance Summary

At the completion of this compliance reporting period, it has been deemed that operations have generally been undertaken in compliance with the CoC and approved OEMP and sub-plans. Periodic review of compliance against the CoC will continue to be undertaken.



APPENDIX A - SSD 6766 CONDITIONS OF CONSENT

COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENT	Condition of Consent	COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENT	DEVELOPMENT PHASE	COMPLIANCE STATUS	MONITORING REQUIREMENT METHODLOGY (See condition and management plan)	ONGOING ACTIVITIES AND IMPLEMENTATION	EVEDENCE AND COMMENTS (Received to data from towards and consultants)	DPHE Receipt / Consultant Document Name	OUTSTANDING INFORMATION / ACTIONS (Required fromtenants and consultants)	PRIMARY RESPONSIBLE	RESPONSIBLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION	RESPONSIBLE FOR REPORTS	RESPONSIBLE FOR LODGING W DEPARTMEN	г ТУРБ	CATEGORY	FREQUENCY	Status
55D 6766	At	 No splane of any system instances of parallels is susceived in the - State Splane of subacross splane (SSE SSE - State Splane of Subacross splane (SSE SSE - SSE SSE SSE SSE SSE SSE SSE SS	Al	Compliant	Manitoring Documentation	Development in Accordance with Plana and Documents	Internet with a factor in the second	NA	Outstanding Information Required - Ni	55R	Several consultants	Several consultants	Tacical	Compliance	Compliance	Within three months of every 12 months antivensary of the commencement (HEC 1 (July 2020)	Open
550 6766	A2	Non-point of a circumstance, before a the outdoor of the approach of any sourcest tests than condition Add (b. Mc), including, the condition of this approach shall prevail to the eastered of the excentioning of a share the condition Add (b. Mc) (b. Mc), including, and applicable discovered that the condition Add (b. Mc)) (b. Mc), including, the first discovered that and the condition of the incrementance.	AL	Complant	Monitoring Documentation	Development in Accordance with Plane and Documents	Noroine with address 5-00204 202025 - And assess: complexes with the context conditions of consent and the most current version of the documents load in Conditions At Noroincombancies identified a long the and particle.	NA	Questending Information Required - Ni	ESR	Several consultants	Several consultants	Tactical	Monitoring Reporting	Compliance	As tiggend	Open
550 E766	A	Na Agalant dal antij sila a samada najamatiji of da Samity ang kao ka Samita na asawani d a en afan Jaka na ana ana ana ana ana ana ana ana a		Compliant	Manissing Documentation	Development & Accordance with Plans and Documents	Note on the definition of definition of the defi	NA	Outstanding Information Required - NI	ESR	Several consultants	Several consultants	Tankal	Compliance	Compliance	As triggend	Open
SSD 6766	AL	This approval will lapse ten years from the date of this approval unless works the subject of this approval are physically commenced, on or before that lapse date.	м	Compliant	Manitoring Documentation	Approval will lapse ten years from the date of the approval	In This consent graveter \$2712148 Sile inspection 85529 Improve with availables 9-85529	NA	Outstanding Information Required - Ni	ESR	Several consultants	Acada	Tactical	Plan	Compliance	10 years	Cingoing
500 GNA	F8	An advant of a party of a party of plane, graphical is characterized theory on the (CDP). The function during the sector of the	Pe-gention	Complexe	car	CLP - Updated on the project values and the contract of the second seco	Andread Garman Marken M	Deservatives COM, Jun, N., Carquet, Audito Distillatory Find Agencel (etc.), 2007 (2017)	Outnoting Manuface Taylore - 18	ESR	NF 0.000	Acada	Testoal	Compliance	General Operation	Por questos	Open
55D 6766	FS	And to be consequential dynamic, the subject of adaptive is the Special Special Special Control Special Specia	pre-operation	Complare	Brake Squad Report	Braike Squarel Report	Next SpaceFigure, Next, 102179 2020/01-7. A basis SpaceFigure or approximation for Applications and Advances No Applications. No Applications No Applications and Applications and Applications and Applications and Applications Applications and A	Document Name: PREC-QPMS-Dis-PLIs 6004_CMBMP_Dav7_class	Outstanding Mormation Required - Ni	ESR	QUBE	Ranzo Tonin		Monitoring Reporting	Ansie Squad	Prior to the commencement of operation,	Open
550 6766	FSA	 A best of a grant of a formula during multi- of anisot has been been been and a second second	Pre-operation	Compilent	Orane	Casar	Creater States Telescontrol TeleSCA States TeleSCA	Decembrithmy FIGS ONL DATAS Gala (2008) File 7 Jan	Outnoding Monuton Ting and - Ni	ESR	ESR	ESR	Tatical	Compliance	Noise Garrier	J and it motifs also gas conservation of J and a split the fit motifs are a split an motifs for 2 hours.	Open
550 6766	FSB	such the public public constitution for MDA for Mathematic New Scalard parameters in the second and automatic for the second se	Pre-gention	Compilant	one	Industrial Noise Completice / CMAP	Section of the sectio	Discover Home Contiles (SAMP, And Jonascen) Discover Home Contell, Vis, annuel, Hockiel DH-Rouge Fault Aprova Farm, 2020/2020/2020 December 1000-000000000000000000000000000000000	Quaterading (Hermatics Required - Ni	ESR	ESR	Reno Tonin	Taotai	Compliance	Rall Noise	Prior to Operation	Open
520 6766	FBC	The search the AT 2004 of conflor F13 on Tu apply where at any second and second the second the Makeling AT 2004 on the ST 2004 of the ST 2004 AT 2004 of the ST 2004 of	Pre-operation	Compilent	tines Speel Report	Apping Naise China in 1521 (DAMP	Advanced National Section (Content on Content on C	Document Name Canadian FAA-MP, Aland Janasamot Document Name (MAMP, VA, Junyalan, Hundish DAN Hanagat Prant Agenses Farm, 2020/2020/114 Daniel Daniel (F) DAN Hanagat Prant Farm, 2020/2020/12	Outstading Monuton Tangani - Ni	ESR	Renas Tann	Ranco Tonin	Net AppLatio	Compliance	Naine	Prior to Operation	Crigoling
550 6766	R	The splicat of groups and splicate plants are plants are plants and the splicat of the splicat o	Pre-operation	Complant	Operational Traffic Management Plan	07/ABP	Construct of the Acad Acad Acad Acad Acad Acad Acad Acad	Document Name: OTABP, Rav 915, complext, Nov2024 DPV4 Receipt: Post Approal Form_20050213002021	Outstanding Information Required - NI	ESR COD	KF/QUBE	Acadis	Tactical	Pan	Traffic and Access	no later than one month prior to the commencement of operation	Open
SSD 6766	FR.	full cost associated with the decommission/given-self-deposid of the traffic signals and associated equipment. The Applicant shall create an essense within the shall at the traffic signals to adout RMB to maintain traffic signal components, if required by the design and condition	Pre-operation	Not Triggeried	OEMP	Signal Decommissioning Orade an Easement	27062025 - This is not network for SSD-5766. Monitaink Avenue Works are being consolited under SSD 7628. Interview with auditess 6-60524	NA	Outstanding Information Required - Ni	ESR	ESR	ESR	Not Applicable	Complance	General Operation	Prior to Operation	0
550 6766	GI	un er en nemen mynn, mant i tigtek daaf te hinteart fra arlegen yngen af fen. Bynge hefe hinteart anasten af Sonig 4001 kan 5 (hintear - Sping Solid) (daef 146000, eine denna geel hyte konny	Operation	Compileret	CEAP	Signage Installation	Indexe: The set of month 2003 NL devices from the transmission of SD 2004. Indexed and the set of	NA	Custoning Montation Regulard - Ni	ESR	ESR	Cunneen Sign	Not Applicable	Design	Traffic and Access	Prior to Operation	Open

COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENT	Condition of Consert	COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENT	DEVELOPMENT PHASE	COMPLIANCE STATUS	MONITORING REQUIREMENT METHODLOGY (See condition and management plan)	ONGOING ACTIVITIES AND IMPLEMENTATION	EVIDENCE AND COMMENTS (Received to data from torouts and convultants)	DPHE Receipt / Consultant Document Name	OUTSTANDING INFORMATION / ACTIONS (Required fromtecants and consultants)	PRIMARY RESPONSIBLE	RESPONSIBLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION	RESPONSIBLE FOR REPORTS	RESPONSIBLE FOR LODGING W DEPARTMENT	TYPE	CATEGORY	FREQUENCY	Status
550 6766	66	The gatter plagness base present of an force to div a transport base and a twantick in add to tay base to score g the balance of the start of the st	Operation	Compliant	Dangerous Goods Tracking	- Dangensk Godis - Wild- update vidensk de Od austeter - Wild- update vidensk de Od austeter - Odrifter Fregaret to Wild-	McDegene and extra present and the specifypine i McDegene and extra present and the SIGSE for any any and the SIGSE for any any any and the SIGSE for any any and the SIGSE for any any and the SIGSE for any any and the SIGSE for any and the SIGSE for any and the SIGSE for any	Refer to contribute balant (IPCV) GC Despensas Acod for WVP despensas goode documents N	Constanting information Request - Ni	ESR	Kolget Flank	Tenuet	Agent	Compliance	Incident	Prior to Operation	Ongoing
550 6766	06	Not shall go data success and process and process of the same shall be provided on the same starting in the same starting is a same starting is a same starting in the same starting is a same starting is a same starting in the same starting is a same starting in the same starting is a same	Operation	Compileret	Best practice noise technologies	Sebri a sport hul judias ha kohodog propaski aniha i Amas ha olgotias d ta practica nota kchodoga	Separate and a second s	Decoment Name, 17/41-04/20 (H1) Band Pacifica Wagni Sayang, Hankada Dacament Name, MCP, AQ, Bent Pacifica Parguna Researd, 2001 (H2) Differing of the Second Control (1997)	Outstanding Information Required - Ni	ESR	QUEE	ARCHOS	Tactical	Mankoring Reporting	Noise and Vibration	Annaty	Open
500 674	ω	The adjust of end of instant is a final an index types in the 10 kills in a sector sector of gravitity systems are to be a the original system is the final system is the 10 kills in a sector sector of the 10 kills in a sector	Operation	Complant	Rul roke munktoring system	tead of validate and take scattering spate of the set line.	n 1922 - Fran malar (malar 1) af an af nam man fala at hages	Departmentaria 1999 - Maria Maria Maria Managara 2004 - Angelan Park Agence From 2003 1900	Quantering Montalist Register - N	ESR	Quar	Ranco Tonin	Tuesal	Mankoving Reporting	Ar and Rolae	Aready	Open
550 6766	GIA	The applical calculation is anythin single data. In which you want in the calculation is any one particulation is any other particulation in the particulation is any other particulation	Operation	Compileret	Argis of Black modeling uption	need and eventuate the eventuation of a set of a	An of the set of the two theorem (a years - 0.2, Chillyhous 20, SCH19), Langer Affects and Set of the Set of	Dacument Names, TMDE-3-6 (2713) MPC Annual Names Data (19) DNM Annual P. Tred Agence Fram, 2010(1716) 110	Gasteeling Monador Register - N	ESR	ouer	Renzo	Tactical	Manborng Reporting	Noise and Vibration	scently	Open
500 6746	G78	The Applicat Mail Mark Program and the second second mark Program and Second second second second second second second second Second Second	Operation	Complant	See Process Rooking (\$P\$1)	Rat Les Nois-Metholog est Miguéon	An example of the set of the	Descentions OME 34 anyth, Social Officiency Part Agence Fore, 2007 (2011)	Qualitating Montalat Register - N	ESR	ouse	Ranoo Tonin		Mandaving Reporting	Rel UnitAbles 3	12 martin d'ammanant d quattore	Open
530 6766	a	No Many term that is the table and a set of the set of	Operation	Compilant	Batl Packs Robe (\$PR)	Mar d'Associa, Pol Latricetto Degonar Marten Ral Cras Sectore Prote	Harrison wataraan da dada kata kata Yaka Kata Lang O Kunka Bara Bara Kata Kata Kata Kata Kata Kata Kata K	New to contain take VPC1 GB from Process Prove for discovering	Gasteeling Historication Program - Ni	ESR	ouse	Acadis		Manhoring Reporting	Noise and Vibration 2	+12mmBs of commercianest of operations	Open
520 6766	610	Colones with branched basis in the ord for basis patients in the section of the section in the section of a section basis in the section of t	Operation	Compilant	STOCR - Trip Origin Destination	RIDOR	Contains and a fail to fail the fail to the scale and an advances or defause (fail to the scale) and or scale (fail (fail to the scale) The scale of the scale	Document Names 1986 11,945 811000 May 2005 DPM Bacage Park Approxil From 202005202013	Outlanding Mitmation Request - N	ESR	01861 167	Asso	Tacical	Monitoring Reporting	Traffic and Access	6 monthes	Open
550 6746	611	The Application of program a consently specific the Sources) with the weak of consent or weak analysis, the specific of years, is an adversary specific operation of the specific of the specific operation operation of the specific operation operatio	Operation	Conpliant	BTCOR - container and which monitoring	BTOOR	Animal Triple The Mark Super MCD and Mark Super SuperSuperSuperSuperSuperSuper Super Supe	Dasswertheme 1961 11,6FC 8700R May 205 DPH Renge Put Agenuel Forn 20598280813	Outstanding Internation Required - Ni	698	OUBE/ NF	Ass	Tacical	Munitoring Reporting	Trip Origin Destination	6 norte	Open
SSD 6766	612	Al containers handling enginnent, porchaned aller 2016 must annet US EDA Tar 4 or EU Stage M emission standard or achieve an equivalent emission control performance to those standards leaved in this condition.	Operation	Compliant	ONQMP	Container handling equipment purchased after 2019 must meet US EPA	Closed and A O calls framework Res Self.A 201032 (VACMed) Sen 12 Tennione and mutates 6 #6/201 Self Calls Charles (Self Calls) Self Calls Charl Shape (Self Self Self Self Self Self Self Self	Refer to condition folder MPES2 BS5, 859 and B80 OAQMP Requirements for documents	Outstanding Information Required - Ni	ESR	QURE	Acadis		Munitoring Reporting	Ar Quality	Operations	Open

COMPLIANCE	Condition of Consent	COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENT	DEVELOPMENT PHASE	COMPLIANCE STATUS	MONITORING REQUIREMENT METHODLOGY (See condition and management plan)	ONGOING ACTIVITIES AND IMPLEMENTATION	EVIDENCE AND COMMENTS (Received to date from tenants and consultants)	DPHE Receipt / Consultant Document Name	OUTSTANDING INFORMATION / ACTIONS (Required fromterants and consultants)	PRIMARY RESPONSIBLE	RESPONSIBLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION	RESPONSIBLE FOR REPORTS	RESPONSIBLE FOR LODGING W DEPARTMENT	TYPE	CATEGORY	FREQUENCY	Status
520 6746	613	The balance and any solution of spaces are particular to a solution by two particular to an a solution of the	Operation	Compliant	CHORE	Ar Piskder Markering	Les marce table 12 marce fabries 40 caling Anguer 10 marce 2011 Faux, autor 97 calines fabries 40 caling Anguer 10 marce 2011 Faux, autor 97 calines fabries 40 caling Anguer 10 marce 2011 Faux, autor 97 caling Anguer 10 marce 2011 Faux and	Refer souther fair (FLS) ML Stars BB CADP Trajanese for discounts.	Gastandag Monstein Register - 18	ESR	QL6E	Acada		Mankoring Reporting	Au Cuality	nutly	Open
550 6766	G:M	Neg set help duits an ar protect un tenter Anna and d'a Gellik Balan suite A see par suiter years by CCN, defa Anna Set help duits and particular tenter and the set of the set	Operation	Compliant	Heavy road finight whiches monitoring report	A mail-gate motificing system (ap CCTs) ato ta Installed Photos Hose yorks: motificing report for the prior 12 motificing report for the prior 12 motificing	Notice and the projects have here projects have another any the Salin's Subject Create Another Salin's Salin	Document Norm: 1900r11_MFG BTOOR May 2005 DIH4 Record Public Approach Form, 200505050012	Outandig Internation Required - Ni	ESR	QUBE/HF	AssiGroup		Manisoring Reporting	Traffic and Access	At the request of the Secretary for a period of 12 months plot to request.	Open
520 6748	05	 Strandard Sar Januari Martini Andrea Sar Januari Martini Andrea Mart	Pre-operation	Congilant	Operational robot modering	985	And an and a set of the set of th	Decembrane OBM (H. angler, Andrée Ohl Anage Fair Agness Fair (J. 2012) Decembrane Tablé 24 OT MF Anna Fair Ohl Bauge Fair Agness Fair (J. 2012) (FC 1012) Ohl Bauge Fair Agness Fair (J. 2012) (FC 1012)	Daturday Mondon Register - M	ER	0086745	Ranoo Toole	Tackol	Monitoring Reporting	Noise and Wasten	Yang	Organg
550 6766	Gill	The second secon	Operation	Nut Triggered	Edensidual	Continuents and pay the Accord of the behavior of continuent Activity to GOC	Geoletier in 196 (201 Rijert Achildra (2005)) Mariana francis (Anno 1960) San Toola and Anno 1960 San	W	Gaalandig Monato Regard - W	LSR	Taxical	Wolf Peak	Textual	Compliance	Act	Web Owners of specific and benauty if the standard of the Secretary	Ongoing



APPENDIX B - SSD 7628 CONDITIONS OF CONSENT

Condition of Consent	e complance requirement	DEVELOPMENT PHASE	COMPLIANCE STATUS	MONTORNO REQUISIMENT METHODOLOGY (See condition and management plan)	ONSOING ACTIVITIES AND IMPLEMENTATION	WORKCE AND COMMENTS (Received to date from to series and constituents)	DPH Receipt / Consultant Document Name	CUTSTANDING INFORMATION / ACTIONS (Required from tenants and consultants)	ARY RESPONSIBLE	RESPONSIBLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION	RESPONSIBLE FOR REPORTS	RESPONSIBLE FOR LODGING WIDEPARTMENT	TYPE	CATEGORY	FREQUENCY	Status
A5	b address to reach you work polytoware means and show and block where the sound of the polytoware and the polytoware and the polytoware and the polytoware and any sound be an another that any sould find to candidate and quarters of the polytoware and any solutions respect and the states.	a na	Compliant	General - Repection and Audit	Законо 4 и бло ОСОР чеството по такадарита спользова 1 на правотова о приема зад отказата 1 на правотова о приема зад отказата приема зад отказата весто на как од те розакана се полотогра зад отказата ре продокана 5 и дина стакадарита спользова. Одростовата 5 и дина стакадарита с пакадарита с работката и и архионата споладарита с работката изи и дисклована об тик рак.	Performance Research Response Res Research Response Response Res Response Response Respons	OP4 Reage Petr Approx Fairs, 20000 1080119 Document Name: OBAP /Re., 19, Complex, No.0014	Containing Womaton Required - NI	538	55R	Шоўран	Tatical	Compliance	Compliance	3 years	Open
Až	The antispect day with a similar data and a similar data and an an and an and an an an	26	Complant	General-respection and Judie	The CODP-VA associated divergence laws have analyzed to supply the Course of Ed. S. Courses (Ed.S.), where a section of the the Courses (Ed.S.), where the Course of Course of Courses (Ed.S.), where the Course of Course manufactures and stagethers trademice.	Hence searchers in the searcher is the searcher in the searcher is the searche	(Milliney Rodgens Fee, 2007 1000 1 Bacantation (BP-An, N, Conjula, No.001	Contracting allocations Programs - 10	ESK	858			Mantaining Reporting	Other	During categories	Closed
43	No because any water within information to be applicated in the outer of the descent strategies of the descent strategies of the descent strategies of the descent strategies of the descent strategies of the descent strategies of the descent strategies of the descent strategies of the descent strategies of a plice of the descent strategies of the descent strategies of a plice of the descent strategies of a plice of the descent strategies of the descent strategies of a plice of the descent strategies of the descent	n, Ni Ni	Compliant	General - Repetition and Audit	Naz svije		ON Rouge Park Approx Fires 2000 DDAP 16 Document Name OBDP Jan, 19, Computer, Nex 2001	Calatering Moneton Republic - NI	ESR	ESR			Montoring Reporting	diter	During construction	Open
м	The conditions of this cancer of a dimension of the Secondary provide the meeter of any incondenses periphysics or conditions. The secondary secondary secondary conditions and by or any or any measurement, and periphysics of the secondary secondary secondary secondary or any or any conditions of the secondary secondary secondary secondary secondary secondary or any or provide second condition. Here see the secondary secondary secondary secondary secondary of the condition. Here will be an inconsistence generate accuments of the functionant of the functionant of the condition. Here will be an inconsistence generate accuments of the instancement of the secondary of the secondary	f. 1 200 6 Al 00.	Compliant	General - Impection and Audit	Name only.	Nexteen all Junited & 1928. 1929: August Indian & Manada Ad Macan (1928). Linger and Hally Physical and 1929;2018.	DPH Receipt: Post Approval Farm_20050212040719 Document Name: GBMP_Rev_19_Camplest_No2004	Custanding Information Required - NE	ESR	ESR			Munitoring Reporting	Other	During construction	Open
N		ine Operation	Complant	The 1- Characteria method of the second seco	Al Operation fluid, and Asses Monoprese Provide the Asses Monoprese Provide the Assessment of the Assessment	Recer To Sp Sector Real Med (M1) All Sector Real Med (M2) All Sector	haanse konse 1961 - 1,494 ETOS Kong, 1931 Oht Manager And Agenced Ana, 2010 Additional	Contracting Ministers Program - 16	ESK	ESR	Aust	Techor	Montering and reporting	Tuffic and Access	Sisnantin	Open
м	No security of anno lands to sub-transmission and the Reini Villar of a lage is a single security of a security of a security security of a se	, Question	Complexe	In the second se	Ar Openning Turk, and Asses Monopennin Reparations of the control of	Autora Mallan Name Under Giffel (State), Jac III, ungest, Salitif, einite alls III saue of a 1000 (100 State), FSB fin. 2004a saue anna an las 200503 - Ny 80 meno of a 1905 (2007), MF 1905 Nay 80) (na las anna an late a in Nyr Fagna anna	Onstant funn 1981 1946 Mitchiany 208 Offerhauge Red Agency Face, 2008/2008/19	Annung sites in the set of	558	558	Aust	Tanka	Maniform and reporting	Traffic and Assess	Strands	Open
A10	In determining the TEU limit, the Secretary may take account any readworks or religiation measures proposed under a Voluntary Planning Agreement to minimise staffic impacts.	AL	Compliant		As Operational Traffic and Access Management Plan has been prepared to address the requirements of this condition.	1 25/2023 - Revision 16 of the P (DMAP - (MAP - (MAP - (MAP - MAP - 2025) while of the VFDOR (Table Table), IFEOR Rev 2020) has been received and flux. 25/06/2023 - May 2025 version of the VFDOR (Table VFD R May 2021) has been received and flux on the Najir Projects withom	Document Name: 1965:11_3PE BTODR May 2025 DPH Receipt: Post Approval Form_20250825050912	Cutstanding Information Required - Nil	68R							Open
A11	The metaloon of Arabic test Manning and apply in the Statistical Statisticae Statisticae Statisticae	Operation	Compliant	GFA manifolding	Ensure the maximum GFAs for the following uses ppyr. (v) 2002/b0015 for the weathround g and destitution facilities, and (b) #3000d for the height villige.	Tenner et aufliche 1955 19 magnet Baller 19 magnet Baller	Document Name: APPROVED PRECINCY INVESTIGATION (H)	Custancing Information Required - Nil	ESR	558	Asan	Tactical	Monitoring and reporting	Traffic and Access	Sa randra	Open
EA	The section of an electricity between the only is a set for addise associated all fragments in the MT story of a transmittenement.	Question	Compliant	Occupator Environmental - Ingeneration of OBLP, subprint, WOBBP and itsue	Al internation is connexity on theoretical project without	Inserve and Antibian Mathi Registrate Batter Registrate Batter Regi	Downet New 198-11 JW 2005K My 205 DH4 Rouge Rud Approx Files,20566250091	Castanding Humanian Required - Ni	688	CLEE	Asat	Tation	Pan	Washouse	Manthip	Open
EA	Proper tables much not assume an exception to the activity of the control of the control of the	Pre-operation	Not triggered	Details of the termit and comparison activity is to be substituted to the discontary demonstrating their the proposed activity complete with the condition.	Ottain occupation certificates	Harana ak adimi a 1903 Marija da	NA	No fingle olige dowinged as yet.	53R	Koget Frank	Tenatta	Tactical	Other	Wanhouse	Prior to occupancy	Ojen
A54	Not the approach of the Sacranary, the Applicant may reduct any strategy, plan or program required by the constant on a straph basis.	~ ~	Compliant	Documentation Monitoring	Documentation Monitoring	Ingent Oracion Res Businessa Perspesario o province Marcinessa Perspesario o province Marcinessa Res (Marcinessa) - Alexandro	Document Name (PRC) ARC (IN (PG) 6001 - PCPO MLP East Practice, 2019-09-22, ones, J PAPE.	Cutatanding Information Required - NE	ESR.	Tactical			Montoing Reporting	Other	Plar to the commencement of construction	Open

Conditio	on of COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENT	DEVELOPMENT PHAS	E COMPLIANCE STATUS	MONTORNS REQUIREMENT METHODOLOGY (See condition and management plan)	ONSOING ACTIVITIES AND IMPLEMENTATION	BVDBWCE AND COMMENTE placeword to date from to starts and consultants)	DPHI Receipt / Consultant Document Name	OUTSTANDING INFORMATION / ACTIONS (Required from tenants and consultants)		RESPONSIBLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION	RESPONSIBLE FOR REPORTS	RESPONSIBLE FOR LODGING WI DEPARTMENT	TYPE	CATEGORY	FREQUENCY	Status
AS	File schemes of any strategy plan ary regression is maps, two instrument strategy property property and the instrument of the stopper schemes are strateging and the property and the instrument of the stopper schemes are strateging and the stopper schemes are strategy plane ary property.	~	Compliant	Decompetition Montering	Decumentation Monitoring	In the second se	Document Name 1992 JAC (SVIND-6011 - KNYO MAP East Printing, 2019 65 22, doing, JPM	Cuntanding Information Required - NE	60K	Sevenal consultants			Mantaing Reporting	Ottar	Ptor to the commencement of construction	Open
A51	. We shapped the basesy of strong piece programming in the second my in mattern	~	Compliant	Decompetition Montering	New only-	Annual Advances to the spectra flow that shall have been as a set of the spectra	Datamet Ham (KC) AIC (34 HM 601 + KM 185 East Name (201 C 32 (Am) HM	Quatanadrig Veloriatur Repared - NE	60K	Several consultants.		Tactical	Munitoring Reporting	Compliance	Prior to the communication	Open
AS	In seeking the Secretary's approval, a clear relationship must be demonstrated between the strategy place or programs that are proposed to be combined.	ч. _А	Compliant	Documentation Monitoring	Nana only.	Al Joine	Document Name: PREC ARC &N-PRE-0001 - PCPD MLP East Product_2019-00-22_deat_FINE.	Outstanding Information Required - NI	ESR	Several consultants		Tactical	Manboring Reporting	Compliance	Prior to the commencement of	Open
A18	Here a motions of this summarizes regards a discussion to be properly a motion which we have been provided by the second	4 44 Al 4	Compliant	Decumentation Montaring	The GEMP and associated sub-prace have been benefitied in consultation with the constraints of the second second second second documents to DER. the Second - 12 (2016 5 1 and Appendix in the evidence of consultation with messart parties.	MAR' 1 JANUAR JANU JANU JANU JANU JANU JANU JANU JANU	RA.	Custancing Information Required - NE	63K	Several consultants		Tactical	Mantoing Reporting	Compliance	Pror to the commonsent of construction	Open
A28	Prior to operation of the development, a compliance certificate for water and searcage inflastitucture	Pre-operation	Compliant	Ottain a compliance certificate for water and	Ottain a compliance certificate for water and	Sociola TP Compliance Centificates, Systemy Water, 1982/799	Refer to condition Add fulder for signed certificates	Outstanding Information Required - NI	ERR	EIR	Milkerple Group	Aspect	Other	Stamater	Prior to operation	Open
AR	Literates that Applicant and the applicable advectivity agains offendates, the Applicant mode. (a) in page, or page to that if an other association after regarding any public inflame/unless that is damaged by (b) inductions or page to fail the constraints and the regarding any public inflame/unless that is damaged by (c) inductions or page to fail the constraints and with restancing any other structures that extends to be instraint as a simular of the advectories.	end Al	Not triggered	Montor any damage or rectification required should activities cause damage to public inflastructure.	Montor and Report any damage or rectification required should activities cause damage to public infrastructure.	19235 Anarophilia settamente Anarophilia per la constructiona de la construcción de la co		Cutstanding Information Required - Nil	53R	ESR	Milkenzie Group	Aquez	Other	Wanhouse	Prior to occupancy	Open
AZ	A particular apparent of A and a Tanata A particular of the analysis of the an	ĸ	Compliant	Matter al part and equipment uses at the ela-	Nonce all prote and registered used at the de Enteries reasonable include at a significant exclanation reports.	And and a second s	Note to another AQ, BY & Bith Some for part and approved waters	Outlanding Volmation Repaired - NE	538	638	55R	Not Applicative	Managering Reporting	Plant and Equipment	During construction	Open
in	To solution the Report of the spectra of the spectra of the spectra of the spectra of the spectra of the spectra of the spectra of the sp	iy Ai Har	Compliant	Recents and reviews of consultation and plane.	Monter and moved concentration in related in all prove.	Amount of a constraint of a co	ж.	Guatanding Velocation Repaired - NE	538	Sinuetal consultants			Manager Reporting	Plant and Equipment	During construction	Open
80	Al whites an E write and loans the lab is a finance distribut.	AB	Compliant	Traffic Manboring as per OTAMP	Traffic Manhoting as per CTAMP	Revealers land and a fragment Paracel, Rev. 1,	Document Name OTARP, New OTA_compilet_Nex0034 DHH Receipt Post Approval Farm_2005031000001	Cutationing Womation Required - NE	53R	ESR	Aust	Tactical	Compliance	Pan	As required	Open
	At tools entering or having the site with haste much have their basis covered and must not task dir with any public head	A	Compliant	Traffic Monitoring as per OT/MaP	As Operational Traffic and Access Managemen Paints a been payaned to addises the negatimeter of the condition.	Conclusion: University of the Section	Document Name (1944) Jan 011 jumpins, yauditist DMH Racagi: Pice Approval Farm, 305501300201	Outstanding Information Required - MI	ESR.	55R	Assi	Tactical	Conpliance	Pan	As required	Open
809	 In Annue and an annue annu	Son MR. Ba Iba 4. Pre-operation	Compliant	Operational Techs and Assess Management Plan	An Operational Traffic and Access Management Marchia Serie parametri su abbies the majorement of the condition	Specificat fails of house through a second Parallel for the second parameter Parallel for the second parameter Parallel for the second parameter P	Doamer New ONAP_Rev11_anput_Yes/201 DM Roop: Rel Approx Fire, 2010/230201	Outstanding televantion Required - Nil	658	Anne Entrop			Plan	Traffic and Access	As required	Open
827	The dynamics fields and stand through the the second system bits and the special system dynamics for a special of standards	ni Pre-spezitor	Compilant	Opendical Tuble and Asses Standardson Plan	Al Opportune Tarif, and Ascene Managamers Al-Mattale pagaware a dotter in supervises of the southing	Section fails of space fragments Section fails of space fragments Fragments are space fragments Fragments are space fragments	Dasawar Yana O'Mar An Ist, angkar Jacoba Qinteksayar Pant Agencal Pant, 2000 (1000)	Outstanding Minimizer Regularit - Ni	ESR.	Anar Benge			Pas	Truffic and Access	As required	Ojen
828	The register is a new 4 Second Trade Design of Trademark Reg is the use more than the register of the particular strength of the register of the particular strength of the particular strength of the register of the register of the particular strength of the particular strength of the register of the register of the register of the particular strength of the register of the regi	ing lay, lan Operation	Compliant	the straight of the strai	A Resourt (s Orga es Declaration Paper el la papera a abitis fa equiparation o De conten.	No description of a physical advance of the section	Source from 1981 (JAF 2023 Hz) 201 Distinger Redupted For (2012) 2010	THEOREM - So very since an effect 201 manual sector of the	554	0.65	Aust	Testor	Pagant	Turks and Access	4 menthy	Open

Condition of Consert	COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENT	DEVELOPMENT PHASE	COMPLIANCE STATUS	MONTORNS REQUIREMENT METHODOLOGY (See condition and management plan)	ONSOING ACTIVITIES AND IMPLEMENTATION	WEDINGS AND COMMENTS (Second to date from transfs and constraints)	DPH Receipt / Consultant Document Name	OUTSTANDING INFORMATION / ACTIONS (Required from secards and consultance)	PRIMARY RESPONSIBLE	RESPONSIBLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION	RESPONSIBLE FOR REPORTS	RESPONSIBLE FOR LODGING WI DEPARTMENT	11796	CATEGORY	FREQUENCY	Status
ion	The start of a system of the start is a start on a system of the start of the st	he Pre-operatori Ke V	Complant	Wedgese Town Per	Al Operations Workpace Toward Plan San Lang pagead It address for expensions of Res socializes	Nation Transform Mark, 1977 Bard Market David Star Mark Mark Market David Star Mark Mark Market David Star Mark Mark Market David Star Mark Mark Market David Star Mark Mark Mark Mark Mark Mark Mark Mark Mark Mark	Tauwan Nava Olika Jin 111, unput, Kuliki Mikilwayi Navigara Fan Jakar Halan	Quality of Homes Regular - N	52k	Asst Group			Pas	Traffic and Access	As required	Open
800	The spatial case must be be Redgines Task Plan is hypersonic for the like of the memory res.	Operation	Compliant	Wonlysian Tarast Plan	Oktoin nutileosa Ya anasa Ya wa kujisan Yaani pian is Yang impikmented		Downer Name O'NAP Jin 111, propiet, Nortice DM4 Reage Frie Approx Fam, 2105071202021	Contracting Information Required - No	538	Kirgen Frankr Optille	Tenant	Yacitori	Monitoring and reporting	Other	Manmay	Open
kū	A determinant in Medicine (Program in the large response) is considered with consist and colling on the interface of the second	d Pre-specifics	Compliant	Stomaater Montoing Program Report	The baseline nontharing forms the basis for the organic disclosency biochcore global groups (Hild) to be assess means that in accountance with CuC Brids, to determine any change in closen basis and an advance and where these changes can be another all to the determine of the determine and the advances of the determine of the determine and the advances of the determine of the determine and the determine the determine of the determine of the determine the determine of the determine CuC lists are lists.	American Stants from Samt Samt Samt Samt Samt Samt Samt Sam	Document Name 1964 EducationAquateEduclogicalRelating and Ref. Astured 211 FPG2_Data	Custancing Momentum Required - Need the stormather monitoring program. It any this program is a storm of the storm of the Million report. 152222255 - Acada and M So clearly the status of the Million report. 25220225 - Require latest revision of the Million report.	£3R	65R	MD	Yactical	Monitoring	Sadmant/Water	é nanthiy	Open
804	The Reservant Westerrog Program cost: (a) preservative quark you by a starting performance for construction and Quarkins includeges and many starting and performance of the starting performance of the starting of the starting of these characteristics and the beginning of starting performance of water bases (b) incurs starting building and the beginning of starting performance of water bases).	Pre-operation	Compilant	Stormatter Mantoning Program Report	The baseline monitoring forms the basis for the organic disclosure y biococre of grostopy (BMO) basels channels with in solid others with Cur- Brids. No determine any change is channel handle water quark provided to the disclosure of the monitories notating and the solid other antibactoria to the Propert users. The BMD others notating requirements and includes the Bornmann Mandology Required by Curl & Ra and BAS.	Annual An	Document None 20048 BaselineAquiteContrigrable during and MME_Adure 0218 FME2_Galary	Containing Minimution Required - Need the asymptote resolutions program. It any this program is in the Million, however I can't field the Billio report. 352(2020): A Require Latert or Values of the Million and Million report. 24(3):0021 - Require Latert revision of the Million profit as K any the six on a simulating basis Constanding Information Required - Nil	65R	55R	мо	Taction	Montaing	SedmentWater	6 monthly	Open
100	The second secon	Pre-operation	Compilant	Bormany Manuatry Operation and Manufacator Peo	A Bitomater relativistic Quantita and Mattransis Plan has been proposed to address the requirement of this structure.	Network + Manufacture and Telescone + Manufacture and Telescone Manufacture - Manufacture - Manuf	bournet fanne MACOPINE DA PARION (2004-Jav 12. unrepine, bursta Dah Bauegi Rust, approaf Gan, 3020/1303/138	Colitanizing Information Required - No	53R	мо	мо	Not Applicable	Montoing Reporting	Stormann	Prior to operation	Open
850	Asiant to be managed under the Starsmarks's Ministructure: Operation and Maximeanian Plan mu- model the advancements of the Ministructure devices and the manuscale of the devices of the starsmark of the starsmark of the starsmark of the starsmark of the for the Ministructure of the starsmark of the Ministructure of the starsmark of the starsmark of the starsmark of the starsmark of the starsmark of the starsmark of the starsmark of the starsmark of the star	at Pre-operation	Compliant	Stormatter Mitachudure Operation and Maintenance Plan	A documenter Infrastructure Operation and Microsence Plan has been prepared to address the requirements of this condition.	Simour Shanna Sha Mana an Shanna Sha Mana Li Sha Mana Sha Mana Sha Sha Sha Sha Sha Sha Sha Sha Sha Sh	Dournent Neine (HSIC-OHdis ED-PLN-0005 SICNE)-Rev 9. Jannahiel, Jac 2010 Dithe Receipt: Peak Approval: Faire, 20250213005138	Custancing Information Required - NE	£2R	MD	MD	Not Applicable	Manhoing Reporting	Stormather	Prior to operation	Oper
861	The sample stagestory and matter scheduler by a stage guardine HSD2 pointers of the stage based on the stagestory of the stage scheduler stage scheduler HSD2 pointers of the stagest scheduler stagestory of the stage scheduler stage scheduler stage and scheduler stagestory of the stagest scheduler scheduler scheduler scheduler and a source on stagestory efforts in these schedulers and the first scheduler scheduler scheduler scheduler schedulers and the schedulers of the scheduler scheduler schedulers and the schedulers and a source on scheduler scheduler schedulers and the schedulers and schedulers and the schedule	a M Operation	Compliant	wate	As audi dans by a qualified WSLD has been unbit takes to welly the transmission by the (q)	Manufas Penar Jar 2002 (2002) Second Penar Jar 2003 (2002) Second Penar Jar 2003 (2003) Second Penar Jar 2003 (2004) Second Penar Jar 2004 (2004) Secon	NA	Culturating Information Required - NE exceloso(3) - Next autor to in July 2005	58R	мо	Sustainability Workshop	Net Applicable	Report	Stormater	Manthy/Quanety reporting and Annual Audit	Oper
855	New and a final second second of gradients of material digital second second second second second second second	. _{Al}	Complexe	Durfslangettert	As Opention AS Stating Management Phot Na later property address of requesters of the control of	Jone Barrel Marken State	Andre an Millel Hill & Hall Schold Registration have for	Outloong Montellin Regular - M	áse.	SETHer Actuality			Manturing Reporting	Wate and Persuits	During contraction	Oper
259	No standard and a sta	n Pre-operation	Compliant	Cymrafarad ACMP	An Operational An Qualty Management Plan Max been proposed to address the responsestor of the condition	Sendard A Gali Mangang Man Mar Land A, San Januar J, San Januar	Doomer New W POADS-JOD709-gam, Seriel, Joakson	6 daataanling Information Required - Ni	588	ESR	Acadis	Not Applicable	Manboring Reporting	At Quality	Prior to operation	Oper
840	The Applicant structure the diversignment down not cause or period the emission of any effective obser (on extend in the POED Arc).	м	Compliant	Calibration cents	An Operational AI Quality Management Plan has been prepared to address the requirements of this condition.	Name and a set of the program for the set of the provide set of the pr	Document Name: MP-POAQMP_\$807709-update_Revol_Reduce	Cuntaning Information Required - NE	£3R	Environate			Mantoing Reporting	Watte and Resource	During construction Manthly	Open
841	Negration and its holds and constant is appropriate with and analysis is over the difference of the second of the		Complant	Celester Selfues	Jer Operation in Oracle Monganese Rev. An addressent of Oracle Monganese Rev. of Ba context.	Tandard Series and Ser	Male is smaller at 20 K M Million to per an equipmet	Qualitating Information Response - Ne	ŝak	Entroule			Munituring Reporting	Water and Restource	Durig animatiki Mantiy	Ojer

Condition of Consent	COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENT	DEVELOPMENT PHASE	COMPLIANCE STATUS	MONTORNO REQUIREMENT METHODOLOGY (See condition and management plan)	ONSOING ACTIVITIES AND IMPLEMENTATION	EVIDENCE AND COMMENTS (Proceive to date front reasons and consultance)	DPHI Receipt / Consultant Document Name	OUTSTANDING INFORMATION / ACTIONS (Required from tenants and consultants)	PRMARY RESPONSIBLE	RESPONSIBLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION	RESPONSIBLE FOR REPORTS	RESPONSIBLE FOR LODGING WI DEPARTMENT	TYPE	CATEGORY	FREQUENCY	Status
864	Continuous noise meetbaring at sensitive receivers must be undertaken during early works, fill reportation, construction and for at least 12 months following occupation of the entire lab.	Operation	Compliant	Noise Report		1600001 - Then is the nutries man material graph paint gives, provided by Goroscens, 4 metrics, and and an and a state of the set forces, these down term. Inspiring another high Phenetrophysical School and an anti-folgered School and KS Menterhys Drives and	Document Name: RE_ MPE Stage 2 SSD 7628 - Condition Bild Name Manitoring Non-Compliance	Cutstanding Information Required - Nil	ESR	ESR	Rango Tonin	Tactical	Manitoring Reporting	Air and Noise	4 monthly report	Open
279	The particular has a structure and antibular spectra to a struct a \mathbf{T} take 4.	Operation	Compilant	Operational Nobel and Vibration Management Plan	An Operational Noise and Viscoton Management (Pan has been prepared to address the requirements of this condition	Annahus at tao at Sultan Ugangwal Manahus at Sultan Sultan Manahus Manahus at Sultan Sultan Manahus Manahus I. Annahus at Sultan Sultan Sultan Sultan May Pagan atam 198200. 198200 - Juan atam pinaka 1 ji atam kata at atagat	Document Name: TADAS 3-1-05°13 MPE Annual Roview 2020 (2) Dirik Rovaya: Para Approval Farm, 302004 (1920) 132	Ountanding Information Required - NE	639	ESR	Acada	Net Applicable	Report	General Operation	Ptor accupation	Open
880	Non a second de particula d'a secondant factor d'All Bag I annota a la consecution de la seconda de la consecu	Question	Complexe	Operational Road and Visionics Management Road	An Operation of Note and Vibration Management Film that store presents to address the sequencement of the collebias	An example of the set	Source faire Mails in GPT UNK Annue Faire F10 (7) One Ready Fair Agence of an USBAN (F2011)	1122223 - Region sour region from the transmission of the bind generation data that the bind generation of the bind Namer Africa so table is the region that the bind generation of the specific data the bind of the specific data the bind of the specific data the bind of the specific data the bind of the bind of the specific data the bind of the bind of the specific data the bind of the bind of the bind of the bind of the specific data the bind of the bind of the bind of the bind of the bind of the bind of the bind of	524	ESR.	Reco Toon	Tanca	Manhaing Reporting	Note and Vitration	3 months.	Ques
80	In <u>Constructions Measurement Page</u> must be accelerated to the Secondary for approach and the presence of the secondary of the secondary and the presence of the secondary of	Pre-operation	Compilant	None Management Plan	As Operational Noise Management Plan (OMIR) has been prepared to address the sequences of the conditor.	Search of the of Share Dampender Share Share Sh	Document Name OMMR ² , VM (compiled, Nex0034 DH-H Receipt: Post Approval Farm, 202052320201196	Custanding Information Required - N	658	Arcadie (Renzo Tonin is responsible to implement this plant			Munitoring Reporting	Noise and Vibration	Prior to operation	Open
855	The fighter have any only an external statement of instances give and other way appropriate the statement of	u Operation	Complant	Nan Western	WF Is and its substitute to DPG and anonpather scattering for the scatter is Report another scattering.	PROSENT. If the interface building is being a province of the PC and the second to be approximately to be second on the foreign of the second of	Nantasa 1 Guonau Capana Balancas Capana Manana Kapana Manana Kapana Manana Kapana Manana Kapana Mana	Outstating Ministration Register - 19	538	ESR	Range Tonie	Tana	Muntuing Reporting	None and Vibration	3 months	Open
	 We To forset charges of the low services. We charge of the low of the third services are a services and the low low services are services and the low low low low low low low low low low	n A Operation	Complex	Annual Nana Mantanny	Al opencional occur regist has been program to calcular has been programmed.	Aparad Mala Marin Mayah Kan Mana Tang Kan Mana Mana Mana Mana Mana Mana Mana	Subset for NULL STATUTE AND ADDRESS (2) Destinant Reduced For JUNIO (2010)	Outstating Minimum Repaired + M	534	55K	Anna Tonn	Tanca	Munitoring Reporting	None and Vitration	Annualy	Que
887	Na Appear nacy sets to being out to \$10 kg any of the formation of the formation of the formation of the set of the formation of the set of the formation of the set	a. Operation	Complant	Nan Notory	Regan address of shaftigen of the Amore New Read Regards and Department and T DR.	And table for the form the for		3432211-Inspire estimate of advances of processing of the second	524	558	Reco Tone	Tana	Cettions	Noise Monitoring	Amatiy	Open
***	Na mana ita ganzifani man sana an angunakin jamaga ita binang manana ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang	Operation.	Complete	Saa Motorg	Program and the 1 a manual fract local scale and statistical granting and a sequence of the	An In Cale 2012 (2004) Marcel 2014 (2014) Marcel 2014 (2014) Ma	Document Name Called ¹ , VII., Janguart, Named Name Wind Analy Flood Ages and Flood. JUSTICE 10001118	SHITES: Registra solarisa to securit first lang Magnetica da la condet aportagi ar association antesa da la condet aportagi ar association Ref. Na basec consequent a plus del Sonta and destant management part.	63R	53R	Reco Tone	Tana	Muniting Reporting	Rose and Version	Amaty	Open
100	An far de statuto el segundo have para lango antinan a na presentar la seria de statuto Anna de antina de la segundo de antina de la segundo de antina de la segundo de antina de la segundo de la segundo de la segundo de la segundo de antina de la segundo de la segundo de la segundo de antina de la segundo de la segundo de la segundo de la segundo de antina de la segundo de la segundo de la segundo de antina de la segundo de la segundo de antina de la segundo de la segundo de antina de la segundo de antina de la segundo de antina de la segundo de antina de a	a Operation	Compilant	Hang Wilde Michnig Report	Require evidence to ensure proper massive haid less than to entry have raid flags where an of a sense.	Here II (b) a blance har (b) (b) Here II (b) a blance har (b) (b) Here II (b) a blance har (b) (b) Here II (b) a blance har (b)	Danimet Nove Ry, 1997 Stage J 500 Tell - Condition Mill Heavy Wester Millening Nac Cospilation	Contenting Information Required - NE	538	ABON Group			Montoing Reporting	Traffic and Access	Six months	Open

Condition of Consent	COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENT	DEVELOPMENT PHASE	COMPLIANCE STATUS	MONITORING REQUIREMENT METHODOLOGY (See condition and management plan)	ONSOING ACTIVITIES AND IMPLEMENTATION	WIDINGS AND COMMENTE (Received to date from texants and consultance)	DPHI Receipt / Consultant Document Name	OUTSTANDING INFORMATION / ACTIONS (Required from tenants and consultants)		RESPONSIBLE FOR	RESPONSIBLE FOR REPORTS	RESPONSIBLE FOR LODGING WI DEPARTMENT	TYPE	CATEGORY	FREQUENCY	Status
500	An P a Section of particles & Subject to basis in the section of particles & Subject to the section of particles with the section of the section of particles and the section of particles and the section of the sectio	Gastion	Compliant	New Machine	Pagete relates a sense tor tor com- mention publics as employed		Danmer from 1988 / 1 0710 074 Annue from v 101 (c) Uith Rouge Fact Agence Fact (c) 1004 (F102) 07	243 (2) : Region matter of to matter the factor of the second sec	534	ALON Group			Monitoing Reporting	Topfic and Access	Servets	Open
8121	Plots to commencement of operation, the Applicant must properly a <u>Numbers to provide the testing</u> of the testing to the testing temperature contrast of the testing temperature contrast, provide the testing temperature contrast, provide the testing temperature contrast, provided to the testing temperature contrast, provided temperature contrast, p	ed d Pre-operation	Compliant	Heritage Interpretation Plan	A heritage interpretation gias for the entire Monitoria Internedial Peocint has been prepared.	Hele granulati i ku Tirofi ku ta	Document Name, Macrobank Issennodal Terminal, Herbage Insepretation Plan_37062111_Stat_indocad	Cutstanding Information Required - NE	£3R	ESR.	Atalas	Tactical	Manhoing Reporting	Heritage	Prior to operation	Closed
8182	The pion near this pion of the GAB required by contained c2 and near (b) to properly the contradict operation of an endpointing the contradict operation of a contradict operation.	Pre-operation	Compliant	CEMP	This CGMP has been prepared to meet these requirements.	Image Reported See, 201500 Image See, 2015 See	Document Name. Miconitaris Internodal Yerninal Jierbage Interpretation Para_37063211_foral_indacted	Cutatanding Information Required - NE	ESR.	ESR	ESR	Not Application	Plan	Other	Prior to operation	Open
8108	The transfer which, Landon sections program that the control of section of the langer of the section of the langer of the lang	Pre-operation	Conpliant	Biothemity Montering Report	The baseline numbering forms the bases for the opposing bioseness behavioring, being (Bab), Bell, to assemble and appays in stress the advance of the stress of the stress of the stress of and the stress of the stress of the stress of the stress of the stress	Neurona Yakawa Nakawa Naka Nakawa Nakawa	Descent them William 2010 (AM and Report 2012 (2010) Aveau Control Marking William 2010 (2014) Benage: Plot Approval Farm, 2020/02/07/117	11022223 - Stankolsten is provide derification on the rich tasks front the internal momental is in the skill. Containing thematism Regulater - 10	658	ESR	Acadis	Nice Applicable	Monitoring	Aqualic Monitoring	é nantity	Open
8110	Not us present, the department on provide a <u>department of the set of the set</u>	Pre-operation	Conpilant	one	An Operational Flore and Fauna Management Pain (DFFMP) has been proposed if a address the requirements of this condition	Specifical Ford Ford Table Streegense Specifical Ford Ford Table Streegense Streegense Conference on Streegense Streegense Streegense Conference on Streegense	Doursent Nova OFFAP ynty pospiel, No.021 DMA Roops: Past Approval Fare, 303551 1303310	See Acade SB, Suther cardination to be provided on the condition. November 2024 relation of the report fluid Seat-Incolved. Cardinating Information Required - 19	63R	Acada	wälki	Not Application	Montering	Flots and Fauna	As required	Open
8112	The support the generative biospect of any present part of a set bandle of any part of a set	y Operation	Compliant	Dargenus Good Audit	Bes Sector 3.3.3 The following ear-Jakes have been prepared to address the regionerance of the solution of the solution of the solution of the Operational Tartic and Automa Namoganeet Peac Operation Tartic and Automa Namoganeet Peac Operation Tartic and Automa Namoganeet Peac Operation of the solution biblio ageneet Plan	tenere de Judies 1953 lan general de Calemente Mangelande Registration (Calemente Mangelande Registration (Calemente Mangelande Registration (Calemente Mangelande Registration (Calemente Mangelande Registration (Calemente)) Mangelande Registration (Calemente) Mangelande Registration (Calemente) Ma	Rubris MPED 2112 Dargerout Goold Tituding Boler	Outstanding Information Required + KF to check if we have guidaded in the folder the most variable of the second second second second second second second second second second second second Alab to confirm with SSR on the dangenous goods taxisting given. 1705/30526-Fee EER, taxisting to be emplified for terains.	650 0.06	Kogel Frank	Tenant	Tatlot	Munitoring Reporting	Other	Annually	Cogning
\$154	The summer of Designer's found present of our two first in the exception of a transmission of the summariant of a strange of the summariant of the strange of the	us Operation	Compliant	Dargenous Good Audit	Stronge of dangenous gools and contractiles manuals in Washington 7 must not access the quantum insuit in Table 3-1 of the Prelamour Name of Annual States (States) (States) Coulder 2022 at at Stee.	New of a Address 1950 Watches Concerned Sciences Watches Concerned Sciences Watches Watches Watches Watches	Rohr to MPEO 2111 Dargeroot Gooth Yanding biller	Custancing phonestan Required - Terrors to provide OD Monthly chances have are also prod hear being Cot. New 24 OD Valumes that which also phone Cot. New 24 Area to conform with CSR on the dangenous goods making plan. 118202255. For CSR, tracking to be emplified for treatm	630 (146	Kogist Frank	Machaight	Tacical	Compliance	08wr	Marmy	Cogaing
Ř156A.	The Application space is notice at a case of animality of an 20. Recept of fragmating the space is the Neurosci of Application space is a space of the Neurosci of Application space of the Neurosci of Application Space of Applications and App	ar Question Y	Congitant	Fire Salary Body and Hazard Anagan	Fire Soldy Study for Watchman 11 Fired Instant Anayon for Watchman 7.	New York and New York IA We want and Andream York IA We want and Y	Dasawa hawa KG.3110, Junitryg, TM, SWYY KL/M Diskharper spread thai hangg ai bala, 745 shifty Wildy Dasawa hawa KG.2110, Junitryg, 1994, 3420 servity Officharper spread the isong ai bala, 746, 4000 Wei Yild	Gustanding Menurities Regulated - Nil	ER	Koget Frank	Maintrager	Ақға	Conplana	Cener	Annail	Open
£1148	In a the same of the part of the same o	na se Cyscolion	Complete	Bragers for	Density and represent 4-pices are species applied that density to Polency Density	New York AND	Document Tarao KC 31110, United yang, UBBADOCY NEXPOR Anal Direktowang yang and Anal Internet ya King, Dangenay Manalamat Hanan Manakara Manakara Manakara (Jah Kanga) Angana al Man Manayan Angana al Man Manayan Manakara Manakara Manakara Manayana Manayana Manakara Manakara Manakara Manayana Manayana Manakara Manakara Manakara Manayana Manayana Manakara Manakara Manakara Manakara Manakara Manakara Manakara Manakara Manakara Manakara Manakara Manakara Manakara Manakara Man Manakara Manakara Man Manakara Manakara Man Manakara Manakara Man Manakara Manakara M	Contenting television Register - N	588	Regel Face	Marbage	Ақра	Campianos	Епересу Рецола	Anna	Open
8116C	NOTE ADT Tables installa de la consensativit d'applicit d'Application I pet any la part beacher. Tables installa de la consensativit d'application d'Application I pet any la part beacher. Tables installa de la consensativit de la consensativit de la consensativit de la consensativit any la consensativit de la consensativit de la consensativit de la consensativit any la consensativit de la consensativit de la consensativit de la consensativit any la consensativit de la consensativit de la consensativit de la consensativit any la consensativit de la consensativit de la consensativit any la c	e Operation	Compliant	Hoand Audit	Haast Auto of Wawhouse 7 and with one north of acts auto Buber a report to the Penning Boordary	terren men alter a Maria Marian and Maria Marian S. Teater carrenty carging and as laters and al approximate The and alter and alter and alter and all carrents and all cargenses	на	Outstanding Womenium Required - Nil	65R	Köğli Fank	Machaigte	Tactor	Compliance	Ober g	12 months after commonwement of the guarations and every 5 years	Open
â116D	FURTHER REQUEREMENTS The Applicant near comply with all reasonable requesements of two Planning Securary to respect of the replementation of any measure arrang to more reports admitted at respect of conditions 116451 116 inclusions, with not one actor Remaining Securatory any append	Operation 60	Compliant	Hectand Audit	Comply with all measurable requirements of the Planning Secretary.	Henne with a shifted is the sequence start of the second start of	NA	Outstanding Information Required - NI	63R	Neight Frank	Maintraight	Tactical	Manhoing Reporting	Officer of	12 months after commencement of the operations and every 5 years	Open
Condition of Consent	COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENT	DEVELOPMENT PRASE	COMPLIANCE STATUS	MONITORING REQUIREMENT METHODOLOGY (See condition and management plan)	CHIGOING ACTIVITIES AND IMPLEMENTATION	EVIDENCE AND COMMENTS (Received to date from to starts and constraints)	DPH Receipt / Consultant Document Name	OUTSTANDING INFORMATION / ACTIONS (Required from tenants and consultants)	PRMARY RESPONSIBLE	RESPONSIBLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION	RESPONSIBLE FOR REPORTS	RESPONSIBLE FOR LODGING WI DEPARTMENT	TYPE	CATEGORY	FREQUENCY	Status
-------------------------	---	-------------------------	-------------------	---	---	--	---	---	--------------------	-----------------------------------	----------------------------	--	----------------------	--------------------	---------------------	----------
8115	Mer a suggified and a present and and another dissinguistic is a second state of the s	a Pre-operation	Complant	acatar	The of its solutions (i) is 10000° pilot more than the paper of an experiment in the intervence of the solution of the solutions.	NEXTER A Ban balance of a payment bactery got of an annual const, quering	Analysis of the second	Outlanding Minimutes Required + N	53k	Koge Flanc (2.86	Tenast	Tator	Pas	Wathsuse	Prer queration	Open
8156	In cooling just is question, the application for payment is <u>Transmission for the payment</u> is the application of the forth the payment is the payment i	of Pre-operation	Compilant	Energiesy Response Plan	An Soneypeng Response Plan has been prepared to address the requirements of this condition.	Security Stargers Rev Security Stargers Rev Security Stargers Rev Security Stargers Rev Security Stargers Rev Security Stargers Rev Stargers Rev Star	Socialisme (NGC SOFIE DE DINOS) Dell'Anna, angula Associat Dell'Anage, Part Approval Fran, 2020/1302/1688	Guntanting Information Required - 18	58R	55R			Pas	Етегратсу Кекропая	Prior to operation	Open
8120	Here ta la convenzione d quertas ta Aplanti du propersi a <u>Marce Reservo.</u> 2009 mante a provincia de la construcción de la con	e Pre-operation 0	Compilant	Wate Micaganeer Plan	A Wash Managemer Panhas been progress to address the regovernments of the condition	Na Balan Share Sha	Dooment News ONSRP_372_complex_3ex034 DMA Receipt Peer Approval Fares_203621300658	Outstanding Information Required - NE	58R	65R	ESR	Not Applicable	Plan	Wate and Resource	Prior to operation	Open
B121	Note needs associated advance and a popular with image one of a first out out out on the base for the relation of a relation with regulating pairs or prove popular.	t Operation	Compilant	Wash Mesagement Stategy	A Wash Managemer Panchas been progressed to address the regorements of the condition	American Alexandri American Alex	Dooment News ONSRP_372_complex_3ex034 DMARcagt ResApprove Fare_203621306638	17023035. Pending centratio and years to demonstrate at their one except of two their analysements. 170220235. Per Killik tracking to be simplified for tenants.	58R	Arcada	ŝervena	Not Applicable	Pan	Waste and Resource	3 months	Cogaing
8122	A sense standing and and the first set and the to determine a sense standard build a set of the sense of the sense standard and the sense of the sense standard and the sense stan	×	Compliant	Wate biogenet Story	A Mittals Management Flanchas been programs to address the requirements of This condition	Security Review of Pressure 2 Security Review 1 - Total 2014 (2014) Review 1 - Total 2014 (2014) Review 1 - Review 1 -	Document Name Collified, Ying, Janupita, Yakofi Si Dhel Naugo, Past Approved Fare, JOSIGF 2004020	1923/222 - Pending units tab. and Heart Is description at least one excepts of the Vertice with Pendiguent Stategies as 4 being importants. 1922/222 - Pet SRI, tracking to be expelled for month.	58K	CHINE			Mankaring Reporting	Wate and Resource	During construction	Cogaing
8123	The application processing and assort at the other states where the transmission of the association and the states exercise of Dirac States Description durations are on the states of the association of the states exercise of Dirac States Description duration are on the States of States (Dirac States)	. "	Compilant	Wash Mangement Stratege	A Wate Management Pain has been pergared to address the requirements of the condition	Vendersfellerere UP heads Vendersfellerere UP heads Vendersfellerererererererererererererererererer	Doument Teams: Onther yitz, complex, yeuropai Deve Receipt Free Approved Fare, 202057 19200520	17030335 - Pending contracts and teams to demonstrate at least one example of hose they analyse the strategies are a large of implemental. 170303255 - Pendidik tracking to be simplified for tenants.	58R	CHRME			Munitoring Reporting	Waste and Resource	During construction	Creating
8124	Name generated calciles the site must not be reached at the site for strange, tractment, processing, spectrating, or depicter calculate it statistics from calcillance.	~	Compliant	Wate Mangement Stategy	A tilade Matagemer Plat has been prepared to address the requirements of this condition.	Operational Real and Namacan Managaman Panton (S. 1987), 2012 (S. 2012) Nama Panton (S. 2012) Nama Panton (S. 2012) Nama Panton (S. 2012) Nama Panton (S. 2012)	Document Name: OVIRSP_y12_complied_Nev0004 DPH Recept: Peet Approval Fame_2005031006800	1703/3023 - Pending contracts and treat to demonstrate at least one example of how their water transgement storagies are being implemented. 1703/3023 - Pen SSR, tracking to be empiried for tensors	55R	CARAG			Manharing Reporting	Waste and Resource	During construction	Orgaing
8125	The exploration will describe a provide an advantage of the local sector in the sector and the s	N	Complete	Water Versigners' String	Allians biorgener Pie fas has ser present is allians is requirement of Pie coden-	Markanan damatanan Markanan Tarabasa Ta	Research from COMM yor Langest, profile (Mr Macape Field Agencial Field 2008) 20082 200820	1162001- Product contents and security to security of the security of the secu	53K	Pana			Manazoling Reporting	Waste and Resource	During construction	Organg
8128	The solution of source generated during operation of the development neutrals undertaken between 7 and to 16 per billiode to Policy	Operation	Compliant	Wate Management Stategy	A titlate Management Plan has been prepared to address the requirements of this condition	Openational failues and Monaccean Balageanan Annuels, 15 AMA (2012) Balageanan Annuels, 15 AMA (2012) Balageanan Annuels, 15 Ama (2014) Balageanan Annuels, 15 Ama (2014) Balageanan Annuels, 15 Ama (2014)	Document Name: OMRAP_V12_compiled_Vev/024 DPH Receipt: Peut Approval Farm_2025621300620	17/220225 - Pending contracts and tenant to democratize at least the scaraple of host their water non-paramet storages are being amplemented.	65R	Avada	Servenia	Not Applicable	Pan	Waste and Resource	As required	Orgaing
8137	For particular states, (a) the density of the states is a state were an element on the state. (b) the density of the states are a state of the states are a state of the states are a states are a states are a state of the states are a states are a state of the states are a states are a states are a state of the states are a state of the states are a states are and are a states are a states are a state of the states are a states are a states are a state of the states are a states are a states are a states are a state of the states are a states are a states are a states are a states are a states are a states are a state of the states are a state of the states are a states are a state and are a state of the states are a states are a states and and a state of the states are added for the states are stated as 1980.	u Operation	Compliant	Operational Flora and Fauna Management Plan	An Operational Flora and Fauna Management Planhau been prepared to address the requirements of the condition.	Speaker American Sectors Speaker American Sectors States Speaker American Sectors States Speaker American Sectors Speaker American Sectors Spea	Dooment News, OFFAP_yrt1_complex_No/2014 DMH Recapt Free Approval Fare, 2028212000310	Ountanding Information Required - 16	53R	ESR	Acada	Not Applicable	Pas	Wate and Resource	3 menths	Cogaing
8130	Note a support, which is any set of a data to set of the latter λ is descent to the latter λ is descent to the latter λ is a data to th	d Pre-operation	Complant	Sie Auf Sciences	Relations of a descenter of Sol (So And Relations) - g (to be regardness)	And Bacters & Starter & Land Bacters & Starters & Start	(Joh Renge Red Agreed Fair, 3000001010	Outstating Internation Registed 1 10	53K	Taxtur Group			Cettions	Auto	Citry Once	Court

Condition of Consect	COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENT	DEVELOPMENT PHASE	COMPLIANCE STATUS	MONTORNS REQUIREMENT METHODOLOGY (See condition and management plan)	CNSCING ACTIVITIES AND IMPLEMENTATION	BADENCE AND COMMENTS (Received to date from to acre consultants)	DPHI Receipt / Consultant Document Name	OUTSTANDING INFORMATION / ACTIONS (Required from tenants and consultants)	PRMARY RESPONSELS	RESPONSIBLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION	RESPONSIBLE FOR REPORTS	RESPONSIBLE FOR	TYPE	CATEGORY	FREQUENCY	Status
8145	Public cost access room usingly its action 4.1.3(1) of Planning for Buth Fire Protection 2004 eccept for the requirement for through access.	~	Compliant	Operational Sinergency Response Plan	A likelifie Management Stategy has been prepared to address the requirements of the condition.	Neveral for the Marca Na Neveral National Section (Section (Secti	Document Name (PSC) OMS JON PLN0002 1997 (Konig, campiana ya voltak DMM Racego: Rost Approval Firm, 20080/10011568	Custanding Information Required - NE	53R	Avada			Maximing Reporting	Traffic and Access	During construction	Closed
8108	The pointion of water, electricity and gas must compy with workse 4.1.3 of Pleaning for Bush Par Production 2006.	N	Compliant	CEMP	A Butfile Management Stategy has been prepared to address the requirements of the condition.	Sensitive for expense Transmission Sensitive For Expense Sensitive Sensitive Sensitive Sensitive Sensitive Sensitive Sensitive Sensitive Sensitive Sensitive Sensitive Sensitive Sensitive Sensitive Sensitive MISSES Houses of the SEP SPEC SPECIAL DAYS SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE MISSES Houses of the SEP SPEC SPECIAL DAYS SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE MISSES HOUSE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE MISSES HOUSE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE MISSES HOUSE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE MISSES HOUSE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE MISSES HOUSE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE SENSITIVE MISSES HOUSE SENSITIVE SENS	Document Name IPSIC OPINS DNPL140002 DRP_Rev16_camples_tex.0024 DPH Receipt Petr Approval Fure_20050212011568	Custanding Information Required + Nil	ESR.	Acada			Mantoning Reporting	Other	During construction	Cased
8153	The Applicant numeration is a confident from a schalare qualifier is basequence, confligs the tabulant table is baseque and from preparation areas have been than it is accordance with Ausenback (Bostaut Arbitrit The Applicant numeratorial evaluation of incerpt of the confidence to the statisticals of the Configure Automatic prior to accounts.	d Operation	Not triggered	Certificate from a suitable qualified tradespension	DPE Receipt	Noncentral administration of the American Benergenera metana 2010/2016 Cannelly have an inclusion in the pressure	Roler to condition \$153 Salar for centificance	Custanding Information Required - NE	£3R	Keight Frank Qulie	Tenart	Tactical	Plan	Warehouse	Prior operation	Cosse
8155		n Pre-specifici	Complant	Connucto, Communication Manage	The Connects Control Disary has be spatient to address to experiments of connecty consultation address period	Advance Security Reservations Advances Advances Security Reservations Advances	Baccasan Tanan (Histo O'Miskin Putoring, JOCS), Bar Marana Jaman (Histo O'Miskin Putoring), JOSEF (JONES 19 Diffe Ranger, Putor Approx Franz, JOSEF (JONES 19	Outaning Interaction Regularit - NB	59R	TSA	55R	Not Applicable	Pan	dther	Prior to operation	Open
8156	The byfact net on or generation and the Control of Control case is a sproved by the programmer and the state of the to of network block to adapte of species.	d Operation	Compliant	Connectly Communication Strategy	The Community Construction Strategy has be spatient to address if its implements of community constraints along specifics	Control Contro	Document Name (MGD-OMH DA R NAGOS, OCCL, Jav 1971 - Jaan Java Shall DMA Racay: Peet Approval Fure, 3020213066518	Customing Mercetian Required - 16	59R	Atada	Anadis	Taction	Pan	Other	Operation	Ojen
8157	The comparison they are not to provide in the Secondry with 7 days upon request. As the period annual with the request.	Operation	Compilant	Complexits Register	The Contructly Construction Strategy has bee updated to address the requirements of community consultation during operation	2010/212- state company support number on the	Document Network Macadiante diterminadal President Online Compilaire disclosured for 19 May 25	⁶ Custanding Information Required - NE	53R	65R	TSA	Net Application	Mustoring Reporting	Ottar	3 No.174	Open
۵	All of a summarian of grants is the state of the sta	Pre-specifice	Complete	Product Operations of Sciencement Management Prov (SMM)	The OCKP has been properties to used the feature and provide the sectored to the sectore of the sectore of the sectore of	Sector A set of a set	Davant Nata (BAP, No., Y., Jonghat, No.101 (MH. Bauge: Nat Ages of Low, 2002) 2007	Parage is more an experiment period using with the approximate of 12 subscription of the state of the subscription and the state of the subscription of the state of the state state.	52K	559	Analis	Net Application	Pan	Other	Prior to operation	Ojen
04	The applicant nume: In the memory of the development with the GMMP approximation of the development of the Development of the development is associated on the size science means of the GMMP approximation of the development of the development of the development of the development of the development of the development of the development of the development of the development of the d	Pre-operation	Compliant	Product Operation of Environmental Management Plan (OEMP)	This OBAP has been prepared and approve by the analytiky.	New control of Control () and Control () intervention of Control () intervention () interventi	Document Name ODAP, Nav, 19, Complex, No.2014 DPM Receipt Pred Approved From, 2020021200278	Custaning Information Required - NE	55k	55 8	Acada	Tactor	Plan	Otter	Prior ta operation	Open
a	Oversit responsibility of the development, including the freqist village environmental management during exercision must be by the entity responsible for the Hencist environmental management.	Operation	Compilant	Preciect Operational Sinvitanmental Management Plan (OEMP)	CBMP and associated sub-plants are revewed annually ensuing that: - Any charges to Government Agencies and legitation are captured - Management plantices are updated to respond to any incidence (shedher they are menor or major) or an a result of comparises to	isia ngalaada 1931 Balanda Calonia at Kananga Ka Balanda Calonia at Kananga Ka Balanda Calonia at Kalonia Na Ti, 1915, Balanda Calonia 1935, Angata Maria Kalonia	Document Name: DBMP_Rev_19_Complex_Nov2004 DPH Receipt: Post Approval Form_20250210300719	Custanding Information Required - Nil	55R	ESR	Acada	Net Applicable	Monitoring and Reporting	Ar Quality Flora and Fauna Aquatic Biodivenity	Annual	Ojen
۵	And the securities of and class of the Securities (SBP and the solution is the Security and Classification of the protect of the spectra solution of the Security of the spectra solution of the spectra solution of the Security of the Security of the spectra solution of the Security of the Security of the Security of the Security of the Security of the Security of the Security of the Security of	Ресовласт	Congilant	Washing GLF	Ampeno in constanti in constanti in constanti in Ampeno in constanti in constanti in Secondo in Sec	Internet of a constrained of a constrain	Nutrie sublicit faite VPE2 O INCLP for discovery	Contents Menton Regular - 14	ian i	554	558	Not Applicable	Pas	One	Prior to operation	Open
U	An equivalence of the sector program (a) which was the sector program (b) and b) and b	~	Complant	034	 (4) Examina and a strategie is any organization of the strategie is a strategie in the strategie is a strategie in the strategie is a strategie in the strategie is a strategie is a strategie is a strategie in the strategie is a strategie		Rafe to marcher (SAP et als più contra Valen for marcher)	Contenting Monston Regular 7-14	cax.	558	ESR	Net Application	Pan	0mr	Per operations	Open

Condition of Consert	COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENT	DEVELOPMENT PHASE	COMPLIANCE STATUS	MONTORING REQUIREMENT METHODOLOGY (See condition and management plan)	ONSOING ACTIVITIES AND IMPLEMENTATION	EVIDENCE AND COMMENTS (Inclined to date from testing and constants)	DPHI Roce (st / Consultant Document Name	OUTSTANDING INFORMATION / ACTIONS (Required from tenants and consultants)	PRIMARY RESPONSIBLE	RESPONSIBLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION	RESPONSIBLE FOR REPORTS	RESPONSIBLE FOR LODGING WI DEPARTMENT	TYPE	CATEGORY	FREQUENCY	Status
a	A teactor set and proce to summarize of a simples of the designed, to ODE + COE + CO	, Operation	Compliant	CEMP / DEMP	This GBMP has been prepared and approv by the asciritory.	4 142203 - Roman Ye di ta Gildi (Salif Jac, Y., Gorgini Jac 201), mana kati ka ti 142203, Lagaran Najar Papin anisa 142203.	Douver Tares OAP, Inc., 10, Corport, No.201 Dirk Rooge Park Approve Fires, 202021200278	Custansing Information Required - NI	53K	Several consultants			Plan	OBer	Annually or as Viggered	2 Open
۵	The second of a second	a, Operation	Constant	casar	The source and advances process for the default of the source and a source of the and the source of the source of a	Ministerio Noron Lang (20) (Min) gana y Annuel Navan 10) Annue - Noron La Alaman A Manual Ministerio Noron La Alama (Min) Ministerio Ministerio Ministerio Ministerio Ministerio Ministerio Ministerio Ministerio Ministerio Ministerio Minister	Dousset New ONP, An, N., Conjuct, Nation Distance: The Approx Face, 2002/2007/10	Calabraing Ministra Regist - 16	ER.	ESR	Ацрел	Ages	Minitizing Reporting	General Operation	Annually of as Triggens	2 Crigang
C10	$\label{eq:second} \left\{ \begin{array}{l} {\rm ext} {\rm$	1 Al	Compliant	Enconente Prévranse Rosev	A neire of the environmental performance the elementary of a monitorial to DML accordance with this consider.	International Control	Descent Nove Aread Proves, (held)_Melanad	Contanting Momentan Required - 198	ER.	ESR	Ацрия	Ақрасі	Mantoning Reporting	Cew:	Accually	Cogaing
C11	The Dependent rule is indice to writing to complement/gameing near general intendiation, where the Applicant becomes assess of an incostent for incostentiation must density the advectoment (including development application numbers and the name of the development of it has one), and writing the location and status of the inclusion.	in Operation	Compliant		Writes notification to the Department will on investigately, as required.	Special of a second to graph the second second second set at the SPEC second se	Document Name: NF Indiaems + Backdated to 01 Apr 25	Cutstanding Information Required - Currétrious updates to the incident Tacker	ESRI QUBE	straget Frank	Tenant	Tactical	Compliance	Warehouse	Manthly or as required	Ongoing
cu	A writer indexer contraction addressing all requirements for each indification and each Appendix D of this content, mutat allo be animaled to all bighpertures rate the bibbing addresses: compliancegignating merges as writen 7 degruther the Applicant becomes aware of an indexet. Notification is may equivale to be given under this control ense. The Application this to give the indification required under condition is, having given such notification, subsequently forms the view that an incident then not constrol.	Operation	Not triggered		Writes notification to the Department will on immediately, as required.	ar Autona Isaruwa wa kulawa 5/0501	NA	Custanding Information Required - Pending tenant to demonstrate example(c) of incident reporting or that no incidents have occurred	ESRI QUBE	Knight Frank	Tenant	Tactical	Compliance	Warehouse	7 days after the Applicant becomes aware of an incident	Ongoing
cu	Whith 3D days of the date on which the incident occurred or as otherwise agreed to by the Secretary IT Applicant must provide the Secretary and any relevant public authorities (as determined by the Secretary) with a detailed report on the incident addressing all requirements for each-reporting and carl Appendix Of the Comment, and such Station reports are may be required.	e Decision	Not triggered		A detailed report of an incident addressing t nequirements extraur in Appendia C of the Development Consent will be provided to th Secretary within 30 days, or as otherwise agreed with the Secretary.	A Antonia A Antonia Service all Audites # 5501	NA	Outstanding Information Required - Pending tenant to demonstrate example(c) of incident reporting or that no incidents have occurred	ESR QUE	Keight Frank	Tenant	Tactical	Compliance	Warehouse	Within 30 days of the data on which the incident occurred	Ongoing
C14	Any written requirements of the Seconsary or relevant public authority (as determined by the Seconsary) which may be given at any solicit in time, buildness the cause or impact of all incidents must be complete with and writen any territories specified by the Seconsary or mesant public authority.	Deviation	Not triggered		Any artities requirements of the Secretary is relevant public authority) that may be given address the cause or inpact of an incident be complete within any timeframe specified the Secretary or relevant outbit authority.	9 7 Antanan 9 9	NeA	Custanding Information Required - Pending tenant to demonstrate example(c) of incident reporting or that no incidents have occurred	ESRI QUINI	Koght Frank	Tenant	Tactical	Compliance	Warehouse	Monthly/as required	Ongoing
C15	Financity notification is provided to EPK.as inquired under the POED Act in relation to the memorphere, such notification must also be provided to the discretary within 24 hours after the redification was provided to EPK.	Operation	Not triggered		Notification will be provided to the Secontar within 24 hours after notification was provided the SPN.	7 or Andreas month and Andreas & \$1501	NeA	Outstanding Information Required - Pending tenants: demonstrate example(s) of incident reporting or that no incidents have occurred	ESRI QUBE	Koght Frank	Tenant	Tactical	Compliance	Warehouse	within 24 hours after the notification was provided to EPM.	Ongoing
C18	The Department must be notified in writing to compliance@plancing.newsgor.av.within 7 days after the Applicant becomes many of any incr compliance.	Operation	Compilant	Enal to Depatrient	DPEE will be notified in writing to compliance@planning nas gov au within 7 da after the Facility becomes aware of any nor compliance.	Term and a selection to Billing Term and a selection of Billing and a selection of the Billing and and a selection for Billing and and a fill and a selection of the Billing and and and a selection of the Billing and and and a selection of the Billing and and and a selection of the Billing and and a selection of the Billing and	ых	Custanding Information Required - NE	ESR/CLIEF	Keiger Frank/ Oclifi	Tenanta	Tactical	Compliance	Wantouse	7 days after the Applicant becomes pages of any non- compliance.	Ongoing
CTP	The reditation need identify the development and the application number for χ and and the conductor of the non-compliance of features, and and actions have been been to well as understand to address the non-compliance.	di Operation	Compilant	Enal to Department	Section 4.8.4 outlines the requirements for 1 notification of the non-ampliance, in accordance with this condition.	Non-set of a data to a state of the set of t	NA	Custanding Information Required - NE	ESR/ QUBE	Koger Frankr Gullé	Tenants	Tactical	Compliance	Wantouse	As required	Ongoing
C18	We can be addressed of the contractional of the local set of the contract and a way there are a manufacture, more the based production of the local set of the local and the local set of the local se	el Al	Compliant	Budgendert Environmettel Auß (Auß)	White one year of the convencement of a development and every three years, an biological first development and at the undertaken by a watchip quartiest, experience	Windows Privice Ref Optimism Privice Ref Op	NA	Outstanding Information Required - Nil	68R	ESR	Acada	Tacical	Munitoring Reporting	angiana	Every firee years	Ongoing
C19	We have another of commencing an integration of commencing for it, or under a dimension approach in the contrast, as any of the and importance is a calculated to be also dark as your with the spin intercontrast, as any of the and importance is a calculated to be also dark and a spin of the analysis of the spin of the spin of the spin commenciation calculated to be also dark and a set and the spin of the spin of the spin commenciation. The successful calculation is and requires the spin of the spin of the spin commenciation.	y y Ai	Compliant	Independent Environmental Audit	A copy of the audit report must be submitted the Secretary, and any other NRIM against sequests is two a response to any micromenications contained in the auditeges and a strategistic the singlementation of recommendations. The economications will reprint the transmission of the Secret Reprint the Secretary Secretary Secretary Secretary Reprint the Secretary Secre	N INTERNA A ALAYA SA TANA A ANA A AN	NA	Cutateding Information Required - 16	55R	55R	Acads	Tactical	Munitoring Reporting	ampiana	Within three months of commencing an Independent Environmental Audit	Ongoing
C3	An independent of a factor of the process in the program is a second sec	n d Operation	Compilant	CBDP and subgrow	It must know with SUD YAB contains of constructively city rates of the standard city rates of the maximum sector of the standard rates of the standard rate		Decoment Name WP Cape Trades, Nay 2014, 57 A.M.	Coloredg Homes Negari - 19	554	ESR	Acade	Tana	Manationg Reporting	General Operation	4 nurdhy	Organg



APPENDIX C – AIR QUALITY MONITORING COMPLIANCE REPORT



MOOREBANK INTERMODAL PRECINCT – EAST AND WEST PRECINCTS

Operational Air Quality Six Monthly Compliance Report #10 November 2024 – April 2025

23 MAY 2025

CONTACT

SAMUEL BROWN Environmental Consultant

T +61 2 8907 2684 M +61431 941 703 E sam.brown@arcadis.com

Arcadis

Level 16 580 George Street Sydney NSW 2000

MOOREBANK INTERMODAL PRECINCT – EAST AND WEST PRECINCTS

Operational Air Quality Six Monthly Compliance Report #10

November 2024 - April 2025

Author	Samuel Brown	
Checker	Heather Tilley	
Approver	Heather Tilley	
Report No	PREC-ARC-EN-RPT-0014	
Date	23/05/2025	
Revision Text	002	

This report has been prepared for Tactical Group in accordance with the terms and conditions of appointment for MIP (East and West Precincts) Operational Air Monitoring Program dated March 2024. Arcadis Australia Pacific Pty Limited (ABN 76 104 485 289) cannot accept any responsibility for any use of or reliance on the contents of this report by any third party.

REVISIONS

Revision	Date	Description	Prepared by	Approved by
001	19/05/2025	Submitted draft to client for review	SB	HT
002	23/05/2025	Updated with data received after initial submission. Resubmitted to client for review	SB	HT



CONTENTS

1 INTRODUCTION
1.1 Background
1.2 MIP (East and West Precincts) Site operation
1.2.1 MPE
1.2.2 MPW
1.2.3 MIP Wide
1.1 Purpose of the report
1.2 Reporting period
1.3 Limitations
2 OVERVIEW OF AIR QUALITY MONITORING
2.1 Air quality monitors
2.2 Dust deposition gauges
2.3 Monitoring locations
2.4 Air quality monitoring station availability
3 WEATHER
3.1 Meteorological Conditions
3.1.1 Prevailing wind conditions
3.1.2 Observed wind data
3.1.3 Ambient temperature and rainfall
3.2 Ambient Air Quality
4 MONITORING RESULTS
4.1 Air quality criteria
4.1.1 Criteria for $PM_{2.5}$, PM_{10} , NO_2 and CO
4.1.2 Dust deposition
4.2 Dust deposition gauge results
4.3 Continuous monitor results
4.3.1 Annual exceedances
4.3.2 24-hour exceedances
4.3.3 NO ₂ 1-hour exceedances
4.3.4 CO 8-hour exceedances
4.4 Complaints
4.5 Ad-hoc monitoring
5 CONCLUSION



APPENDICES

APPENDIX A MONITORING DATA

Appendix A.1: Rolling 12-month particulate data (PM_{2.5}) Appendix A.2: Rolling 12-month particulate data (PM₁₀) Appendix A.3: Rolling monthly and annual particulate data (NO₂)

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1-1: Summary of works outside of standard construction hours	.3
Table 2-1: Monitoring station availability (%)	.7
Table 3-1: Site weather station average wind speed and direction for November 2024 to April 2025	.8
Table 3-2: Temperature and rainfall recorded at the Bankstown Airport AWS for the reporting period	.8
Table 3-3: Summary of AQC from the Liverpool monitoring station for the reporting period	10
Table 4-1: Monitoring criteria (January 2025 for PM _{2.5} and the remaining criteria applied from June 2021)	11
Table 4-2: Dust deposition criteria	11
Table 4-3: Dust deposition (insoluble solids g/m ² /month) results from 24 October 2024 to 29 April 2025	12

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2-1: Continuous real-time air quality monitors (Source: Arcadis, 2023)	5
Figure 2-2: Location of Dust Deposition Gauges (Source: SERS, May 2025). Stage 1 DDG1 was removed in the f quarter of 2025.	first 6
Figure 3-1: Air quality categories	9



1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

The Moorebank Logistics Park¹ – Precinct East Operational Air Quality Monitoring Programme Framework (OAQMPF - dated 19 March 2020) provided a framework to monitor air quality during operation of the Moorebank Intermodal Precinct (MIP) East Precinct and was developed to support the implementation of the monitoring and reporting requirements identified in the Operational Air Quality Management Plan (OAQMP - Revision 18 dated 20 January 2023). MIP East Precinct (MPE) commenced operation in May 2020.

Operation of the first warehouses at MIP West Precinct (MPW) commenced in April 2024. To support the commencement of operation at MPW, under SSD 7709 CoC B47A a precinct wide OAQMP (POAQMP) that covers both MPE and MPW was prepared and approved by the Department on 20 December 2023.

The POAQMP (November 2024) now supersedes the OAQMPF (dated 19 March 2020) as per mitigation measure 2B of the Final Compilation of Mitigation Measures (MPE Stage 1). This Operational Air Quality Six Monthly Compliance Report #10 (this report and Compliance Report #9) covers the entire MIP (East and West Precincts). Compliance Reports #1 to #8 only covered MPE.

MIP (East and West Precincts) is managed in accordance with two Operational Environmental Management Plans (OEMP) and sub-plans:

- Operational Environmental Management Plan Moorebank Logistics Park East Precinct (OEMP MPE) Revision 18 dated 20 January 2023 applies to MPE
- OEMP Moorebank Intermodal Precinct West Precinct Stage 2 (OEMP MPW) dated 6 May 2024 applies to MPW.

The POAQMP includes requirements from the following approvals:

- EPBC Act Approval (2011/6229) Condition of Approval (CoA) 8(f) which requires the implementation of a comprehensive air quality monitoring program (including locations, frequency, and duration)
- Moorebank East Precinct Stage 1 (SSD 6766):
 - Condition of Consent (CoC) F4(f)(iv) which requires measurement of air emissions generated by the Facility.
 - Final Compilation of Mitigation Measures (FCMM) 2C which requires the implementation of an air quality monitoring programme during operation for nuisance dust and air emissions [PM₁₀² and nitrogen dioxide (NO₂)].
- Moorebank East Precinct Stage 2 (SSD 7628):
 - CoC C21(c)(iii) which requires the submission of six-monthly operational compliance reports for the life of the project.
 - CoC B59(d)(i), (ii), (iii), (iv) and (vii) which require the identification of air quality monitoring methods and implementation of compliance monitoring for all emissions associated with operations of the Facility.
 - FCMM 3C which requires real-time boundary monitoring be undertaken during operation of the Facility.

¹ With LOGOS purchasing the MLP, the MLP will now be referred to as Moorebank Intermodal Precinct (MIP).

 $^{^{2}}$ PM₁₀ - Particles with a diameter of 10 micrometres or less, which are small enough to pass through the throat and nose and enter the lungs.

• Moorebank West Precinct Stage 2 (SSD 7709):

- CoC B47A requires the development of an OAQMP, that covers both MPE and MPW.

In 2022, LOGOS Property took over the management of the warehouse and distribution facilities, as well as the overall management of MPE and MPW. In July 2024, ESR Group acquired the remaining interest in LOGOS, and overall management of the MIP East and West Precinct, is now the responsibility of ESR Australia & NZ (ESR). Qube Logistics will continue to maintain responsibility for the IMEX (Import Export Rail Terminal) and the Rail Link for MPE. This change in ownership does not impact the current reporting period or the current reporting requirements.

1.2 MIP (East and West Precincts) Site operation

1.2.1 MPE

MPE operates 24 hours, 7 days a week (24/7). This currently includes operation of the IMEX terminal, Rail Link, Warehouse 1, Warehouse 3, Warehouse 4, Warehouse 5, Warehouse 6 and Warehouse 7a and 7b. No major construction related activities are expected to occur during 2025. Warehouse 2 (Area 5) and the freight village (Area 6) are the last of the areas to be constructed. These are scheduled to be operational by Q4 2026. Construction activities would be undertaken during standard working hours, unless stated otherwise.

1.2.2 MPW

The MPW Stage 2 development is located west of Moorebank Avenue and involves the construction and operation of a multi-purpose Intermodal (freight) Terminal (IMT) facility, which includes:

- A rail link connection
- Warehousing
- Freight village
- Upgrades to the Moorebank Avenue and Anzac Road intersection and the subdivision of site including ancillary works.

Operation of the IMT facility includes:

- Operation of the rail link to the Southern Sydney Freight Line (SSFL) and container freight movement by truck to and from the MPE Site (included as part of MPE Stage 1 (SSD 6766)).
- A warehousing estate on the northern part of the site servicing the IMT facility, including:
 - six warehouses and associated infrastructure and amenities and
 - a freight village (operating from 7am to 6pm, 7 days/ week) including staff/ visitor amenities.

Currently Warehouses N1, N2, NDC and JN are operational, with the rest of the development still under construction.

MPW Stage 2 has been granted approval to receive imported material outside of standard construction hours, along with specific types of work.

1.2.3 MIP Wide

There are also works and activities that occur outside of standard construction hours under specific approvals processes from time-to-time. These can include construction works and activities associated with both MPE and MPW.



Table 1-1 summarises the works, activities and material importation undertaken outside of standard construction hours during the six-monthly reporting period.

Table 1-1: Summary of works outside of standard construction hours

Dates	Activities undertaken
17 December 2024	Moorebank Avenue upgrade (Including Anzac Road)
6 January 2025 to 31 March 2025	Moorebank Avenue upgrade and Moorebank Avenue and Anzac Road intersection upgrade
1 April 2025 to 30 June 2025	Moorebank Avenue upgrade and Moorebank Avenue and Anzac Road intersection upgrade

1.1 Purpose of the report

This six-monthly air quality report has been prepared to meet reporting requirements of SSD 7709 CoC B47A and as detailed in Section 5 of the OAQMPF (March 2020) and Section 4.3 of the POAQMP (November 2024).

This six-monthly air quality report includes:

- A background to the air quality monitors and their locations (Section 2)
- Weather data and regional air quality (Section 3)
- Analysis of the raw data and comparison against identified criteria / trigger level, identification of exceedances, complaints or ad hoc monitoring undertaken (Section 4)
- An overview of any investigations undertaken to determine the cause of the exceedance or complaint (Sections 4.2, 4.3, 4.4 and 4.5).
- A high-level overview of the dust deposition data (Section 4.2).
- Conclusions and recommendations based on the 6-month's data (Section 5)
- Summarised data in graphs and tables (Appendix A).

1.2 Reporting period

MPE commenced operations on 13 May 2020 and MPW commenced operations in April 2024.

This six-monthly air quality report has been prepared to provide an overview of operational air quality results for the six-month operational period from 1 November 2024 to 30 April 2025 (inclusive) to inform the six-monthly operational compliance reports required for the life of the project.

This report will be the tenth report since MPE operations began in May 2020. Reports 1-8 were for MPE only, with Reports 9 and 10 (this report) combining the operations of MPE and MPW.

1.3 Limitations

All findings contained in this report are based on downloaded monitoring data at the time of writing the monthly reports and information relating to air quality provided by Tactical Group, Envirosuite (Omnis), NEON system (weather monitor), Bureau of Meteorology (BOM) and Site Environmental and Remediation Services (SERS) who manage the dust deposition gauges (DDG). Arcadis do not take responsibility for the accuracy or limitations of the downloaded and provided DDG data.

2 OVERVIEW OF AIR QUALITY MONITORING

2.1 Air quality monitors

The dust and air quality monitoring system installed across the MIP Precincts comprises four Kunak AIR Lite units integrated with Omnis[™] software, which is hosted in the cloud.

The Kunak AIR Lite units measure the following dust and air quality parameters:

- NO2 (range: 0-25 ppb)
- PM₁₀ (particles with have a diameter less than 10 microns)
- PM_{2.5} (range: 0-1000 μg/m³)
- CO (installed since March 2020).

The original air quality monitors installed at the start of the MPE operations were replaced in mid-April 2024 with the Kunak AIR Lite sensors. The Kunak system also measures PM₁ i.e. particulates of less than one micron in size.

2.2 Dust deposition gauges

Seven DDGs were installed in May 2021. Another three DDG's were added to the Precinct in November 2024, bringing the total to ten across the Precinct. However, Stage 1 DDG 1 was removed in the first quarter of 2025, for a total of nine DDGs across the Precinct as of April 2025. The DDG's are currently managed and monitored by Site Environmental and Remediation Services (SERS). SERS provide monthly to quarterly DDG reports which are used to inform the monthly Air Quality Reports.

The gauges consist of 5-litre glass bottles with 150 mm diameter glass funnels and silicone bungs. The purpose of this sampling is to determine which particles settle from the ambient air over an approximate 31-day sampling period. This equipment is compliant with the Australian Standard AS/NZS 3580.10.1:2016.

2.3 Monitoring locations

The locations of the continuous air quality monitoring stations are identified on Figure 2-1 and the DDG locations are shown on Figure 2-2.

The site boundary is considered representative of the closest receptors (including the adjacent commercial premises). The locations of the continuous air quality monitors means that the construction and operation activities for both MPE and MPW Stage 2 have been captured.

DDG locations were also chosen so that a true representation of dust generated from operational activities at MPE could be established. The additional three DDGs capture construction activities occurring at MPW Stage 2 (see Figure 2-2).

MIP East and West Precincts Operational Air Quality Six Monthly Compliance Report #10 – November 2024 to April 2025





Figure 2-1: Continuous real-time air quality monitors (Source: Arcadis, 2023)

MIP East and West Precincts Operational Air Quality Six Monthly Compliance Report #10 – November 2024 to April 2025

ARCADIS



Figure 2-2: Location of Dust Deposition Gauges (Source: SERS, May 2025). Stage 1 DDG1 was removed in the first quarter of 2025.

Stage 1 (STG 1) refers to MPE Stage 1 and Stage 2 (STG 2) refers to MPE Stage 2



2.4 Air quality monitoring station availability

A summary of availability (time of operation) of the continuous air quality monitoring stations for this reporting period is summarised in Table 2-1, with the most recent calibration date also stated.

Monitoring	Nov 2024	Dec 2024	Jan 2025	Feb 2025	Mar 2025	Apr 2025	Average %	Latest calibration		
station		%	availability		, include the	date				
AQM01	99	100	100	100	97	100	99	March 2024		
AQM02	99	100	100	100	97	100	99	March 2024		
AQM03	99	100	100	100	97	100	99	March 2024		
AQM04	99	100	100	100	97	100	99	March 2024		

Table 2-1: Monitoring station availability (%)

All monitors were replaced around mid-April 2024. The older existing monitoring system (Sentinel) was also replaced with Omnis to support operations of the new monitors.

All monitors had an average of 99% availability throughout the reporting period.



3 WEATHER

3.1 Meteorological Conditions

3.1.1 Prevailing wind conditions

Prevailing winds influence the dispersion of dust, and other air emissions potentially generated by the Facility. A weather station is located adjacent to Moorebank Avenue at MPW to capture representative conditions at the site. The prevailing wind speed and direction is discussed in more detail below.

3.1.2 Observed wind data

3.1.2.1 Site weather station

The average wind speed and direction data from the site weather monitor from November 2024 to April 2025 is summarised below in Table 3-1.

Month	Wind speed (m/s)	Beaufort Wind scale category ³	Wind direction
November 2024	1.81	Light breeze	South (175°)
December 2024	2.02	Light breeze	South (184°)
January 2025	2.42	Light breeze	South (192°)
February 2025	1.85	Light breeze	South (184°)
March 2025	1.77	Light breeze	South-southwest (201°)
April 2025	1.39	Light air	Southwest (223°)

Table 3-1: Site weather station average wind speed and direction for November 2024 to April 2025

3.1.3 Ambient temperature and rainfall

Ambient temperature and rainfall are recorded at the Bankstown Airport AWS due to the availability of longterm averages for ambient temperature and rainfall which can compared to the reporting period data. Based on the AWS, the monthly mean temperatures (minimum and maximum) and rainfall (long-term monthly average and total) for the reporting period are summarised in Table 3-2.

Table 3-2: Temperature and rainfall recorded at the Bankstown Airport AWS for the reporting period

Month	Mean minimum temperature (°C)	Mean maximum temperature (°C)	Total rainfall (mm)	Long-term monthly average rainfall (mm)
Nov 2024	17.2	27.8	52.8	76.0
Dec 2024	18.5	30.3	56.0	66.9
Jan 2025	18.8	28.7	163.0	92.5
Feb 2025	18.7	28.8	68.8	109.2

³ Based on the Beaufort wind force scale which is an empirical measure that relates wind speed to observed conditions at sea or on land (https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Beaufort_scale)



Month	Mean minimum temperature (°C)	Mean maximum temperature (°C)	Total rainfall (mm)	Long-term monthly average rainfall (mm)
Mar 2025	18.8	27.8	105.6	111.6
Apr 2025	14.3	25.6	78.6	85.5

Source: Bankstown, NSW - April 2025 - Daily Weather Observations

Rainfall for the reporting period was mixed throughout the 6-month period. However, January 2025 was well above the long-term monthly average rainfall and February was well below the long-term monthly average.

3.2 Ambient Air Quality

The NSW Department of Climate Change, Energy, the Environment and Water (NSW DCCEEW) uses air quality categories (AQC) for NSW. These categories are based on air quality data readings which are taken continuously from the various monitoring sites throughout NSW and are averaged to give hourly and daily air quality information. NSW DCCEEW use minute data, and report concentrations as hourly and daily averages. All averages are arithmetic means. Air quality data is updated hourly, and a daily air quality forecast is made for the Greater Sydney Metropolitan Region at 4 pm each day.

The AQC is generally used by government agencies to communicate to the public how polluted the air currently is or how polluted it is forecast to become. The AQC ranges from 'Good' to 'Extremely Poor' and is summarised in Figure 3-1⁴.

	Air quality categories (AQC)									
Air pollutant	Averaging period	Units	GOOD	FAIR	POOR	VERY POOR	EXTREMELY POOR			
Ozone	1-hour	pphm	<6.7	6.7–10.0	10.0–15.0	15.0-20.0	20.0 and above			
O ₃	4-hour rolling	pphm	<5.4	5.4-8.0	8.0-12.0	12.0-16.0	16.0 and above			
Nitrogen dioxide NO ₂	1-hour	pphm	<8	8–12	12–18	18–24	24 and above			
Visibility Neph	1-hour	bsp	<1.5	1.5–3.0	3.0-6.0	6.0-18.0	18.0 and above			
Carbon monoxide CO	8-hour rolling	ppm	<6.0	6.0-9.0	9.0–13.5	13.5-18.0	18.0 and above			
Sulfur dioxide SO ₂	1-hour	pphm	<13.3	13.3–20.0	20.0–30.0	30.0-40.0	40.0 and above			
Particulate matter < 10 μm PM ₁₀	1-hour	µg/m ³	<50	50–100	100–200	200-600	600 and above			
Particulate matter < 2.5 µm PM _{2.5}	1-hour	µg/m ³	<25	25–50	50–100	100–300	300 and above			

Figure 3-1: Air quality categories

⁴ https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/topics/air/understanding-air-quality-data/air-quality-categories



The PM₁₀, PM_{2.5}, NO₂, Visibility and CO air quality data from the Liverpool⁵ monitoring station is reviewed monthly and is summarised for the six-month reporting period in Table 3-3.

Month	Average for Reporting Period	Comment for reporting period
NO ₂ (ppm) maximum 1 hourly average	Good	Good every day
CO (ppm) maximum rolling 8 hourly averages	Good	Good every day
PM ₁₀ 24-hour average	Mostly good, with 1 day fair.	 'Good' every day except for: Saturday 1 March 2025 which had 'fair' PM10 (36.2µg/m³).
PM _{2.5} 24-hour average	Mostly good, with 1 day fair.	 'Good' every day except for: Saturday 12 April 2025 which had 'fair' PM2.5 (20.1 μg/m³).
Visibility ⁶ ,	Mostly good, with 4 days fair.	 'Good' every day except for: Saturday 1 March 2025 which had 'fair' Visibility (1.57 10⁻⁴m⁻¹). Thursday 10 April 2025 which had 'fair' Visibility (1.82 10⁻⁴m⁻¹). Friday 11 April 2025 which had 'fair' Visibility (2.27 10⁻⁴m⁻¹). Saturday 12 April 2025 which had 'fair' Visibility (2.31 10⁻⁴m⁻¹).

Table 3-3: Summary of AQC from the Liverpool monitoring station for the reporting period

⁵ Data download facility | NSW Dept of Planning, Industry and Environment

⁶ In NSW, visibility (or NEPH) is reported in units of 10^{-4} m⁻¹. This means that a NEPH value of 1.5 should be read as 1.5×10^{-4} m⁻¹. NSW has adopted a 1-hour visibility standard of 2.1×10^{-4} m⁻¹, which corresponds to a visual distance of approximately 18.6 km. This means that NEPH > 2.1 will trigger 'POOR' (or worse) air quality due to reduced visual range (<18.6 km)

4 MONITORING RESULTS

4.1 Air quality criteria

4.1.1 Criteria for PM_{2.5}, PM₁₀, NO₂ and CO

The National Environment Protection Measure for Ambient Air (Air NEPM)⁷ has established new national standards for assessment of air quality for NO₂ and CO, which came into effect 13 May 2021. These criteria are detailed in Table 4-1. The air quality data at MIP was assessed against the new criteria from June 2021.

Monitoring focus	Averaging period	Criteria / Trigger / Goal
PM _{2.5} *	24-hour average	20 µg/m³
	Annual average	7 μg/m³
PM ₁₀	24-hour average	50 μg/m³
	Annual average	25 μg/m³
NO ₂	1-hour average	0.12 ppm
	Annual average	0.03 ppm
СО	1-hour average	NA
	8 -hour average	9.0 ppm

Table 4-1: Monitoring criteria (January 2025 for PM2.5 and the remaining criteria applied from June 2021)

*The criteria for $PM_{2.5}$ changed from 25 µg/m³ to 20 µg/m³ for the 24-hour averaging period and from 8 µg/m³ to 7 µg/m³ for the annual average on 1 January 2025. The standards for $PM_{2.5}$ have not changed, only the goal has changed

4.1.2 Dust deposition

Dust deposition data from ten DDGs located around MIP is provided by SERS. Seven DDGs have been operational since May 2021 and another three were added in November 2024 to provide representative dust deposition across the entire MIP.

NSW DCCEEW has set the criteria for dust deposition rates, and these are provided in Table 4-2.

Table 4-2: Dust deposition criteria

Averaging Period	Maximum increase in deposited dust* level	Maximum total deposited dust level
Annual	2 g/m ² /month (incremental)	4 g/m ² /month (cumulative)

* Deposited dust is assessed as insoluble solids. This is the mass of the insoluble portion of the deposited matter, as defined under AS 3580.10.1: 2016.

⁷ https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/topics/air/understanding-air-quality-data/standards-and-goals



4.2 Dust deposition gauge results

The results of the collection period 24 October 2024 to 29 April 2025 as provided by SERS is shown in Table 4-3.

Date	Stage 1 DDG 1	Stage 2 DDG 1	Stage 2 DDG 2	Stage 2 DDG 3	Stage 2 DDG 4	Stage 2 DDG 5	Stage 2 DDG 6	MPW1	MPW2	MPW3	Average
November 2024	2.2	1.1	0.8	1.1	0.9	0.8	0.5	3.6	9.7	3.7	2.4
December 2024	3.0	1.3	1.1	2.0	1.6	0.7	5.5	4.2	13.0	3.4	3.6
January 2025	N/A*	0.2	1.3	3.2	0.7	0.8	2.0	1.8	1.3	0.9	1.4
February 2025	2.7	0.2	0.3	1.4	0.4	0.5	<0.1	2	8.7	1.3	1.8
March [#] 2025	N/A**	0.1	0.3	0.2	0.3	<0.1	0.2	1.5	4.2	1.1	0.9
April 2025	N/A**	1.6	0.9	0.8	0.3	<0.1	1.0	2.9	3.0	1.1	1.3

Table 4-3: Dust deposition (insoluble solids g/m²/month) results from 24 October 2024 to 29 April 2025

NOTE: Bold/grey indicates an exceedance of the criteria.

* Stage 1 DDG 1 was unable to be collected during the reporting period.

** Stage 1 DDG 1 was removed from site and is no longer providing data.

[#] Two reports were used to capture the entire month of March

As shown in Table 4-3, there were six individual gauge exceedances between November 2024 and April 2025. The majority of these occurred at MPW2, which is located adjacent to an area of the site that is still under construction. These results may have been impacted by construction activities.

4.3 Continuous monitor results

Monitoring data for PM_{2.5}, PM₁₀, NO₂ and CO for the reporting period have been summarised into tables and graphs and are provided in Appendix A. The following sections summarise the results for this 6-month reporting period.

4.3.1 Annual exceedances

Twelve months of air quality monitoring are provided graphically and in table form in Appendix A.

AQM04 only had 58% availability for $PM_{2.5}$ and PM_{10} in July 2024 and 85% availability for $PM_{2.5}$ and PM_{10} in August 2024, however, the monitor had 100% availability for NO₂ and CO during these months and high availability for the remaining 12 months. All other monitors had an average availability of 99% during the reporting period.

See Table 2-1 for the monitoring station availability (%) over a 12-month period.

4.3.1.1 PM_{2.5} and PM₁₀ Monitoring

The 12-month rolling annual average for the period May 2024 to April 2025 for all four monitors combined was below the annual average criteria (i.e. 7.0 μ g/m³ for PM_{2.5} and 25.0 μ g/m³ for PM₁₀) for each month.



As of April 2025, the 12-month rolling annual average for all four monitors was 4.7 μ g/m³ for PM_{2.5} and 12.3 μ g/m³ for PM₁₀.

See Appendix A.1 and Appendix A.2 for more details.

4.3.1.2 NO₂ Monitoring

The 12-month rolling annual average for all four monitors for the period May 2024 to April 2025 was below the annual average criteria (0.03 ppm) for each month.

As of April 2025, the 12-month rolling annual average for NO₂ for all four monitors is 0.007 ppm, well below the annual average criteria of 0.03 ppm.

4.3.1.3 CO

CO does not require annual reporting.

4.3.2 24-hour exceedances

4.3.2.1 PM_{2.5} Monitoring

A review of the data for the reporting period (November 2024 to April 2025) did not identify any exceedance of the 24-hour average criteria ($20 \ \mu g/m^3$) for PM_{2.5} for the 6-month reporting period.

4.3.2.2 PM₁₀ Monitoring

A review of the data for the reporting period (November 2024 to April 2025) did not identify any exceedance of the 24-hour average criteria ($50 \ \mu g/m^3$) for PM₁₀ for the 6-month reporting period.

4.3.3 NO₂ 1-hour exceedances

No exceedance of NO $_2$ 1-hour criteria (0.12 ppm/ 120 ppb) were observed during the 6-month reporting period.

4.3.4 CO 8-hour exceedances

No 8-hour criteria exceedances for CO occurred during the 6-month reporting period.

4.4 Complaints

One complaint was made relating to air quality in December 2024. The complaint related to dust and an increase in the complainant's pool cleaning. No other formal complaints were received during the reporting period relating to air quality.

4.5 Ad-hoc monitoring

No ad-hoc monitoring was undertaken during this reporting period.



5 CONCLUSION

This six-monthly operational air quality report covers the period November 2024 to April 2025 (inclusive).

The following summarises the monitoring results for this reporting period:

Data summary

- The criteria for PM_{2.5} changed from 25 μg/m³ to 20 μg/m³ for the 24-hour averaging period and from 8 μg/m³ to 7 μg/m³ for the annual average on 1 January 2025. It should be noted that the standards for PM_{2.5} have not changed, only the goal has changed.
- The rolling annual average for all four monitors combined was below the annual average criteria (7.0 μg/m³ for PM_{2.5} and 25.0 μg/m³ for PM₁₀) for each month during the reporting period.
- There were no exceedances of the PM_{2.5} 24-hour average criteria (20 μg/m³) during the 6-month reporting period.
- There were no exceedances of the PM₁₀ 24-hour average criteria (50 μg/m³) during the 6-month reporting period.
- There were no exceedances of NO₂ 1-hour criteria (0.12 ppm / 120 ppb) during the 6-month reporting period.
- There were no exceedances of the CO criteria (9.0 ppm) during the 6-month reporting period.
- Seven DDGs were installed in May 2021 and another three DDG's were added in November 2024 to the MPW. However, Stage 1 DDG 1 was removed in the first quarter of 2025 resulting in nine DDGs across the MIP as of April 2025.

Exceedances

There were six individual gauge exceedances of the dust deposition (insoluble solids) 2 g/m²/month (incremental) criteria between November 2024 to April 2025. The majority of these occurred at MPW2, which is located adjacent to an area of the site that is still under construction. These may have impacted by construction activities. To prevent further exceedances the following measures (but not limited to) could be applied, if not already:

- Reduce areas of exposed soil
- Use of water suppression if earthworks or dust generating activities are occurring e.g. watercarts, water misters
- Staging of works to be intermittent, particularly during periods of high wind and dry conditions.

Complaints

One complaint relating to air quality was received during the reporting period (December 2024). The complaint was addressed promptly and the matter closed. No other complaints relating to air quality were received during the reporting period.

Recommendation

It is recommended that monitors continue to be calibrated annually as per operational requirements and device specifications. The monitors were last calibrated in March 2024, over a year ago. Calibration should occur as soon as possible.



APPENDIX A MONITORING DATA



Month	Average AQM01	Average AQM02	Average AQM03	Average AQM04	Months Average All stations	Rolling annual average All stations	Annual average criteria	Comments
	µg/m³	µg/m³	µg/m³	µg/m³	µg/m³	µg/m³	µg/m³	
May 2024	3.3	4.8	4.8	3.1	4.0	2.7	8.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
June 2024	2.5	4.1	4.3	2.6	3.4	2.8	8.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
July 2024	2.4	4.0	4.1	1.1	2.9	3.0	8.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
August 2024	3.9	6.0	6.5	2.9	4.8	3.3	8.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
September 2024	3.3	5.2	4.9	3.8	4.3	3.4	8.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
October 2024	4.3	7.2	6.6	5.3	5.9	3.7	8.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
November 2024	4.6	7.2	6.9	5.6	6.1	3.9	8.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
December 2024	5.0	7.5	7.6	5.6	6.4	4.3	8.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
January 2025	4.4	6.6	6.5	4.7	5.6	4.5	7.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria. The annual criteria/goal for $PM_{2.5}$ changed from 8 µg/m ³ to 7 µg/m ³ from 1 January 2025.
February 2025	3.7	5.3	5.5	3.7	4.6	4.6	7.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
March 2025	3.4	4.8	5.4	3.3	4.2	4.7	7.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
April 2025	3.5	5.1	5.5	3.3	4.4	4.7	7.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
Rolling 12 month average	3.7	5.7	5.7	3.8	-	-	8.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
All months*	1.3	3.6	6.6	2.9	3.5	-	8.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.

Appendix A.1: Rolling 12-month particulate data (PM_{2.5})

Bold/grey indicates an exceedance of the criteria.

^ All months since May 2020

MIP East and West Precincts Operational Air Quality Six Monthly Compliance Report #10 – November 2024 to April 2025





Monthly PM_{2.5} over 12 months including the 6-months for this report



Appendix A.2: Rolling 12-month particulate data (PM₁₀)

Month	Average AQM01	Average AQM02	Average AQM03	Average AQM04	Months Average All stations	Rolling annual average All stations	Annual average criteria	Comments
	µg/m³	µg/m³	µg/m³	µg/m³	µg/m³	µg/m³	µg/m³	
May 2024	8.8	10.1	9.1	7.0	8.7	7.8	25.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
June 2024	5.9	7.9	7.3	5.2	6.6	8.0	25.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
July 2024	9.0	8.5	7.8	4.6	7.5	8.2	25.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
August 2024	11.2	12.3	11.6	9.0	11.0	8.9	25.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
September 2024	12.0	12.8	11.3	9.3	11.4	9.1	25.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
October 2024	13.0	20.4	17.8	14.6	16.5	10.1	25.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
November 2024	14.3	20.9	20.0	15.1	17.6	10.5	25.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
December 2024	14.2	20.4	19.6	14.1	17.1	11.3	25.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
January 2025	13.4	19.4	18.1	12.4	15.8	11.7	25.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
February 2025	11.8	15.2	14.6	9.5	12.8	12.1	25.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
March 2025	9.4	13.2	13.1	7.5	10.8	12.3	25.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
April 2025	9.3	16.4	12.9	7.7	11.6	12.3	25.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
Rolling 12 month average	11.0	14.8	13.6	9.7	-	-	25.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
All months^	3.8	10.5	21.5	6.5	10.4	-	25.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.

Bold/grey indicates an exceedance of the criteria, ^ All months since May 2020





Monthly PM₁₀ over 12 months including the 6-months for this report



Appendix A.3: Rolling monthly and annual particulate data (NO₂)

Month	Average AQM01	Average AQM02	Average AQM03	Average AQM04	Months Average All stations	Rolling annual average All stations	Annual average criteria	Comments
	ppb	ppb	ppb	ppb	ppb	ppb	ppm / ppb*	
May 2024	4.1	4.3	8.1	9.2	6.4	10.8	0.03 / 30.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
June 2024	4.4	5.8	11.4	12.2	8.5	10.4	0.03 / 30.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
July 2024	2.4	6.1	10.6	12.4	7.9	9.9	0.03 / 30.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
August 2024	3.3	6.7	12.3	13.6	9.0	9.5	0.03 / 30.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
September 2024	4.2	9.0	11.3	13.4	9.5	9.1	0.03 / 30.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
October 2024	3.4	6.6	10.6	12.3	8.2	8.8	0.03 / 30.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
November 2024	4.2	5.4	9.8	9.9	7.3	8.6	0.03 / 30.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
December 2024	2.2	4.2	7.9	7.1	5.4	8.3	0.03 / 30.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
January 2025	2.3	4.6	7.6	7.9	5.6	8.0	0.03 / 30.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
February 2025	2.9	4.6	8.8	8.7	6.3	7.7	0.03 / 30.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
March 2025	5.0	5.1	9.0	10.3	7.4	7.4	0.03 / 30.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
April 2025	2.7	5.9	11.3	6.6	6.6	7.3	0.03 / 30.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
Rolling 12 month average	0.003 ppm / 3.4 ppb	0.006 ppm / 5.7 ppb	0.010 ppm / 9.9 ppb	0.010 ppm / 10.3 ppb	-	-	0.03 / 30.0	No exceedance of annual average criteria.
All months^	0.007 ppm / 6.8 ppb	0.006 ppm / 5.9 ppb	0.036 ppm / 36.3 ppb	0.011 ppm / 10.9 ppb	0.014 ppm / 14.4 ppb	-	0.03 ppm / 30.0 ppb	No exceedance of average criteria for all sites for all months. However, AQM03 has exceeded the annual average for the period since monitoring began.

Bold/grey indicates an exceedance of the criteria.

*Results are shown in ppb due to reporting output, however the criteria is set in ppm and therefore the equivalent criteria in ppb is also shown. ^ All months since May 2020





Monthly NO₂ over 12 months including the 6-months for this report





APPENDIX D – NOISE MONITORING REPORTS



Acoustics Vibration Structural Dynamics

MOOREBANK INTERMODAL PRECINCT EAST

Annual Noise Review - May 2024 to May 2025

15 June 2025

The Trust Company (Australia) Limited (ACN 000 000 993) As Trustee of The Moorebank Industrial Warehouse Trust (ABN 51 402 161 047) c/- ESR Developments (Australia) Pty Ltd

TM306-24-02F03 MPE Annual Review 2025 (r2).docx





Document details

Detail	Reference
Doc reference:	TM306-24-02F03 MPE Annual Review 2025 (r2).docx
Prepared for:	The Trust Company (Australia) Limited (ACN 000 000 993) As Trustee of The Moorebank Industrial Warehouse Trust (ABN 51 402 161 047) c/- ESR Developments (Australia) Pty Ltd
Address:	Level 15, 124 Walker Street North Sydney, NSW, 2060
Attention:	Mark Howley (Tactical Group)

Document control

Date	Revision history	Non-issued revision	Issued revision	Prepared	Instructed	Reviewed / Authorised
04.06.2025	Initial issue - Draft	0	1	S. Dixit / A.Leslie	-	C. Weber
15.06.2025	Final	-	2	S. Dixit / A.Leslie	-	C. Weber

File Path: R:\AssocSydProjects\TM301-TM350\TM306 ale Moorebank Intermodal Terminal (LOGOS)\Task24 MPE Monitoring\1 Docs\Report 3 2025 Annual Review\TM306-24-02F03 MPE Annual Review 2025 (r2).docx

Important Disclaimers:

The work presented in this document was carried out in accordance with the Renzo Tonin & Associates Quality Assurance System, which is based on Australian/New Zealand Standard AS/NZS ISO 9001.

This document is issued subject to review and authorisation by the suitably qualified and experienced person named in the last column above. If no name appears, this document shall be considered as preliminary or draft only and no reliance shall be placed upon it other than for information to be verified later.

This document is prepared for the particular requirements of our Client referred to above in the 'Document details' which are based on a specific brief with limitations as agreed to with the Client. It is not intended for and should not be relied upon by a third party and no responsibility is undertaken to any third party without prior consent provided by Renzo Tonin & Associates. The information herein should not be reproduced, presented or reviewed except in full. Prior to passing on to a third party, the Client is to fully inform the third party of the specific brief and limitations associated with the commission.

In preparing this report, we have relied upon, and presumed accurate, any information (or confirmation of the absence thereof) provided by the Client and/or from other sources. Except as otherwise stated in the report, we have not attempted to verify the accuracy or completeness of any such information. If the information is subsequently determined to be false, inaccurate or incomplete then it is possible that our observations and conclusions as expressed in this report may change.

We have derived data in this report from information sourced from the Client (if any) and/or available in the public domain at the time or times outlined in this report. The passage of time, manifestation of latent conditions or impacts of future events may require further examination and re-evaluation of the data, findings, observations and conclusions expressed in this report.

We have prepared this report in accordance with the usual care and thoroughness of the consulting profession, for the sole purpose described above and by reference to applicable standards, guidelines, procedures and practices at the date of issue of this report. For the reasons outlined above, however, no other warranty or guarantee, whether expressed or implied, is made as to the data, observations and findings expressed in this report, to the extent permitted by law.

The information contained herein is for the purpose of acoustics only. No claims are made and no liability is accepted in respect of design and construction issues falling outside of the specialist field of acoustics engineering including and not limited to structural integrity, fire rating, architectural buildability and fit-for-purpose, waterproofing and the like. Supplementary professional advice should be sought in respect of these issues.

External cladding disclaimer: No claims are made and no liability is accepted in respect of any external wall and/or roof systems (eg facade / cladding materials, insulation etc) that are: (a) not compliant with or do not conform to any relevant non-acoustic legislation, regulation, standard, instructions or Building Codes; or (b) installed, applied, specified or utilised in such a manner that is not compliant with or does not conform to any relevant non-acoustic legislation, regulation, standard, instructions or Building Codes; or (b) installed, applied, specified or utilised in Such a manner that is not compliant with or does not conform to any relevant non-acoustic legislation, regulation, standard, instructions or Building Codes.

Contents

1	Intro	oduction		1
2	Corr	npliance Matrix		2
3	War	rehouse mechanical plant and other noisy equip	oment noise monitoring	0
4	Con	tinuous noise monitoring in residential areas	1.	2
5	Con	tinuous rail link noise monitoring	1	3
	5.1	Year 5 rail operations noise monitoring report	1	3
6	Rail	link angle of attack (AoA) monitoring	1	7
	6.1	Year 5 rail operations AoA monitoring	1	7
7	Nois	se monitoring in response to complaints	1	9
8	Oth	er noise-related tasks	2	0
	8.1	Other relevant consent monitoring	2	0
	8.2	Moorebank Cumulative Noise Management	2	0
9	Con	clusion	2	1
APP	endi)	X A Glossary of terminology	2	2
APP	ENDI)	X B Detailed noise monitoring/ assessment/	management reports 2	7
	B.1	Angle of Attack Monitoring Report - 1 May 2024	and 1 November 2024 2	8
	B.2	Angle of Attack Monitoring Report - 1 November	er 2024 and 1 May 2025 2	9
	B.3	Warehouse E7 CoC B85 Noise Monitoring Report	rt 3	0
	B.4	Warehouse E6 CoC B85 Noise Monitoring Report	rt 3	1

List of tables

Table 2-1	Compliance matrix	3
Table 3-1	Summary of CoC B85 warehouse mechanical plant and other noisy equipment noise monitoring	10
Table 3-2	Summary of CoC B85 warehouse mechanical plant and other noisy equipment noise monitoring outcomes	11

List of figures

Figure 5-1	Measured $L_{Aeq(15hour)}$ daytime noise levels at 30 m from track centreline	14
Figure 5-2	Measured $L_{Aeq(9hour)}$ night-time noise levels at 30 m from track centreline	15
Figure 5-3	Measured L _{AFmax} daytime noise levels at 7.5 m from track centreline	15
Figure 5-4	Measured L _{AFmax} night-time noise levels at 7.5 m from track centreline	16
Figure 6-1	Maximum AoA value for each train - 1 May 2024 to 1 May 2025	18

1 Introduction

The Sydney Intermodal Terminal Alliance (SIMTA) received approval for the construction and operation of Stages 1 and 2 of the Moorebank Precinct East (MPE) Project (SSD 6766 and SSD 7628 respectively), which together comprise the two stages of development under the MPE Concept Approval (MP10_0193). The Trust Company (Australia) Limited (ACN 000 000 993) As Trustee of The Moorebank Industrial Warehouse Trust (ABN 51 402 161 047), care of ESR Developments (Australia) Pty Ltd (ESR), is now the proponent for the MPE projects.

This **Annual Noise Review** report **for Year 5 Operations (May 2024 to May 2025)** has been prepared to address the requirements of Condition of Consent (CoC) B90 of SSD 7628 as follows:

For the duration of operation, the Applicant must:

a) continue to implement all reasonable and feasible best practice noise mitigation measures;

b) continue to investigate ways to reduce noise generated by the development, including maximum noise levels which may result in sleep disturbance; and

c) report on these investigations and the implementation and effectiveness of these measures in the Annual Review to the satisfaction of the Secretary.

Table 1 provides a summary of the noise-related Approval Conditions and how these are addressed in this Annual Noise Review.

Appendix A contains a glossary of acoustic terms used in this report.

Appendix B contains a copy of the reports referred to in this report that are not publicly available on the SIMTA website.
2 Compliance Matrix

Table 1 provides a summary of the Approval Conditions which relate to operational noise emission monitoring for Year 5 operations, and a discussion of the operational noise monitoring results. Where required, additional information is provided in later sections of this report or the appendices.

Та

Condition ID	Condition	Comments on compliance	Reference for further information
SSD 6766			
G7	The Applicant shall install and maintain a rail noise monitoring system on the rail link at the commencement of operation to continuously monitor the noise from rail operations on the rail link. The system shall capture the noise from each individual train passby noise generation event, and include information to identify:	The commencement of IMT operations occurred in May 2020. The new rail link was commissioned in November 2019. A description of the noise monitoring systems are provided in Section 5 and capture the information required by this approval.	https://moorebankintermodalprecinct.com.au/wp- content/uploads/2023/04/TJ741-04F04-AoA-and- Functional-Spec-for-Permanent-Noise-Monitor- r9_redacted.pdf
	a) Time and date of freight train passbys;	A Functional and Performance Specification for the	https://moorebanknoisemonitor- emsbk.trackiq.net/NoiseMonitor/
	 b) Imagery or video to enable identification of the rolling stock during day and night; 	permanent noise monitoring system and angle of attack monitoring system was prepared for approval by the Secretary before the rail link commissioning. A summary of the noise monitoring results for Year 5 operations is provided in Section 5.1.	
	c) $L_{Aeq(15hour)}$ and $L_{Aeq(9hour)}$ from rail operations; and		Section 5
	d) $L_{\text{AF(max)}}$ and SEL of individual train passbys, measured in accordance with ISO3095; or		
	e) Other alternative information as agreed with, or required by, the Secretary.		
	The results from the noise monitoring system, shall be publicly accessible from a website maintained by the Applicant. The noise results from each train shall be available on the website within 24 hours of it passing the monitor, unless unforeseen circumstances (i.e. a system malfunction) have occurred. The LAeq(15hour) and LAeq(9hour) results from each day shall be available on the website within 24 hours of the period ending.		
	Prior to the commencement of operation, the Applicant shall submit for the approval of the Secretary, justification supporting the appropriateness of the location for rail noise monitoring, including details of any alternative options considered and reasons for these being dismissed. The rail noise monitoring system shall not operate until the Secretary has approved the proposed monitoring location.		
	The Applicant shall provide an annual report to the Secretary with the results of monitoring for a period of 5 years, or as otherwise agreed with the Secretary, from the commencement of operation of the IMEX terminal. The Secretary shall consider the need for further reporting following a review of the results for year 5.		

Condition ID	Condition	Comments on compliance	Reference for further information
G7A	The applicant shall install and maintain a wayside angle of attack monitoring system on the rail link at the commencement of operation to continuously monitor the angle of attack to the rail of rolling stock wheels. The system shall capture the angle of attack from a wheel on each axle of every train, and include information to identify:	An Angle of Attack (AoA) monitoring system was installed on the new rail link in May 2020. The monitoring system captures the AoA of each axle passby and compares the measured values with the acceptable value in the applicable Asset Standards Authority minimum operating standard.	Section 6
	a) Time and date of each axle passby; and	The AoA values for each axle are available to operators in accordance with the approval condition.	
	The results from the angle of attack monitoring system shall be: • accessible by train operators from a website maintained by the Applicant. Angle of attack results from each train shall be available on the website	A Functional and Performance Specification for the permanent noise monitoring system and angle of attack monitoring system was prepared for approval by the Secretary before the rail link commissioning.	
	within 24 hours of it passing the monitor, unless unforeseen circumstances have occurred.	A summary of the AoA noise monitoring results of the Year 5 operations is provided in Section 6.1.	
 included identify th angle of a performan Prior to th approval of location for accessible attack mon the proportion 	• included in a six-monthly report to the Secretary. The report should at least identify the number of wagons with wheels that exceed the ASA standard angle of attack and the action taken by operators to improve steering performance.	For Year 5 operations, the monitoring identified 40 trains out of 3,343 events where the maximum AoA value exceeded the alarm level (representing 1.2% of passbys). Three of the 40 passby events with AoA alarm levels	
	Prior to the commencement of operation, the Applicant shall submit for the approval of the Secretary, justification supporting the appropriateness of the	resulted in elevated noise levels at the permanent noise monitoring location.	
	location for angle of attack monitoring, the format of the information to be accessible to operators and the format of the public report. The angle of attack monitoring system shall not operate until the Secretary has approved the proposed monitoring location and reporting arrangements.	Exceedances of the AoA alarm levels were viewed as one- off instances, occurring irregularly.	
G8	The following measures must be implemented during operation:	Two rail friction modifier systems were installed on the rail	FCMM 3B
	a) The use of automatic rail lubrication equipment in accordance with ASA Standard T HR TR 00111 ST Rail Lubrication and top of rail friction modifiers, where required; and	link on 22 November 2019 per ASA Standard. These are positioned on the MIMT North Track at Chainage 39.739 km and the MIMT South Track at Chainage 39.860 km. Monthly track inspections and maintenance is undertaken by Qube's maintenance contractor, Taylor Rail, to ensure alignment with maintenance standards. Rail grinding has been performed so that the rail profile is consistent with maintenance standards.	
	b) Measures to ensure the rail cross sectional profile is maintained in accordance with ETN–01-02 Rail Grinding Manual for Plain Track to ensure the correct wheel / rail contact position and hence to encourage proper rolling stock steering.		

Condition ID	Condition		Comments on compliance	Reference for further information			
SSD 7628							
В79	The permitted hou Table 4.	urs of warehou	use and distribu	tion operation a	as detailed in	MPE operates 24 hours per day, 365 days per year, n/a consistent with the permitted hours of operation.	n/a
	Table 4: Hours of (Operation					
	Activity	Day	/	Time			
	Operation	Мо	nday to Sunday	24 hour	S		
B80	B80. Noise genera	ited by operat	ion of the devel	lopment inclusiv	ve of MPE	This condition specifies the operational noise limits for MPE	Section 3 – Warehouse noise monitoring
	Stage 1 operation	s must not exc	ceed the noise l	imits in Table 5.		operations.	Section 7 - Noise monitoring in response to
	Table 5: Noise Lim	its dB(A)				However, when undertaking any compliance assessment, it	complaints
	Location (residential receivers)	Day (L _{Aeq(15min)})	Evening (L _{Aeq(15min})	Night (LAeq(15min))	Night (LA1(1min))	is noted that the SSD 7628 B80 noise limit table states "inclusive of MPE Stage 1 operations" therefore was intended to apply to the cumulative noise emissions of noise generating activities in SSD 6766 and SSD 7628. However, MPE Stage 1, has specific noise limits included in SSD 6766, approved as part of L&EC Proceedings (No 2017/81889) which are higher than these levels. This requirement presents a consistency issue, as the requirement is inconsistent with the EIS derived noise limits	
	Casula	35 dB	35 dB	35 dB	52 dB		
	Wattle Grove (NCA 2)	35 dB	35 dB	35 dB	52 dB		
	Glenfield (NCA 4)	35 dB	35 dB	35 dB	52 dB		
	Notes:					in accordance with NSW EPA policy, the expected noise	
	To determine compliance with the LAeq,15 minute noise limits, noise from the development is to be measured at the most affected point within the residential boundary, or at the most affected point within 30 metres of a dwelling where the dwelling is more than 30 metres from the boundary. Where it can be demonstrated that direct measurement of noise from the project is impractical, the EPA may accept alternative means of determining compliance (see Chapter 11 of the NSW Industrial Noise Policy). The modification factors in Section 4 of the NSW Industrial Noise Policy must also be applied to the measured noise levels where applicable.					emission performance from MPE, and previous approvals. As part of Modification 1 to SSD 7709 (MPW Stage 2), which identifies cumulative noise limits for MPW + MPE, EPA agreed there was an inconsistency issue. Following which, it was agreed that MPW + MPE should achieve the cumulative noise limits in SSD 7709 B131.	
	at 1 metre from the dwe from the project is impr Chapter 11 of the NSW	elling façade. Wher actical, the EPA ma Industrial Noise Po	e it can be demonstr y accept alternative i blicy).	ated that direct mean means of determining	surement of noise g compliance (see		
	The noise emission limits identified above apply under meteorological conditions of:						

(i) wind speeds of up to 3 m/s at 10 metres above ground level; or

(ii) 'F' atmospheric stability class.

Condition ID	Condition	Comments on compliance	Reference for further information
B85	The Applicant must carry out noise monitoring of mechanical plant and other noisy equipment for a minimum period of one week where valid data is collected following occupation of each warehouse. The monitoring program must be carried out by a suitably qualified and experienced person(s) and a Monitoring Report for Mechanical Plan must be submitted to the Secretary within two months of occupation or each tenancy to verify predicted mechanical plant and equipment noise levels.	Warehouse noise monitoring is required to be undertaken following the occupation of each warehouse. Noise monitoring of warehouse mechanical plant and other noisy equipment was performed on two occasions during the 2024-2025 review period for MPE Warehouse E6. A summary of this noise monitoring is provided in Section 3.	Section 3
		For the 2024-2025 review period, for all monitored warehouses, the warehouse mechanical plant and equipment noise emission levels achieved the overall noise levels presented in Table 5 of CoC B80 during all time periods.	
		An outcome from this monitoring is that further acoustic mitigation measures are currently being installed for warehouse E7 to assist ESR with managing the cumulative noise emissions from the Moorebank Intermodal Precinct (MIP).	
B88	To ensure the operational noise impacts are appropriately managed, the following measures apply: a) use of best practice plant; and b) preparation of a risk assessment to determine if non-tonal reversing alarms can be fitted as a condition of site entry. Alternatively, site design may include traffic flow that does not require or precludes reversing of vehicles. I. The use of electric cranes with broadband movement alarms for all rail loading and container stacking, with react stackers now only required for truck loading and combi-lift and straddle carriers used for warehouse container movements. 2. 'Quackers' or broadband reversing alarms were fitted to all reach stackers and combi-lifts. 3. IMEX staff briefings were undertaken, reminding staff and drivers of noise management obligations and will be ongoing as part of regular reminders.	A range of best practice plant / measures have been implemented during previous monitoring periods, and continue to operate with these during the 2024-2025 noise monitoring period. These include:	Operational Noise and Vibration Management Plan (Rev 013, 24/01/2023) (ONVMP) https://moorebankintermodalprecinct.com.au/wp-
		ed_Redacted-compressed.pdf F5A Management Plan Moorebank Intermodal Precinct- East Precinct (Rev 08, 22/11/2023) <u>https://moorebankintermodalprecinct.com.au/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2024/08/Condition-F5A-MP -</u> Pave Redacted10 pdf	
		3. IMEX staff briefings were undertaken, reminding staff and drivers of noise management obligations and will be ongoing as part of regular reminders.	Section 7 and 8
		The risk assessment relating to the use of non-tonal reversing alarms is addressed in the Table 2-3 B88 of the ONVMP.	
		Further measures are identified in the F5A management plan, which include both mitigation and management measures, including container handling and truck operations and are being implemented as part of operations.	

Condition ID	Condition	Comments on compliance	Reference for further information
В90	 For the duration of operation, the Applicant must: a) continue to implement all reasonable and feasible best practice noise mitigation measures; b) continue to investigate ways to reduce noise generated by the development, including maximum noise levels which may result in sleep disturbance; and c) report on these investigations and the implementation and effectiveness of these measures in the Annual Review to the satisfaction of the Secretary. 	 The following additional best practice plant / measures are continuing to be implemented within the current reporting period, including through the F5A management plan for the IMEX terminal: 1. The use of electric cranes commenced so that all rail loading and container stacking is performed by the electric cranes, with reach stackers now only required for truck loading. 2. 'Quackers' or broadband reversing alarms were fitted to 	Sections 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 F5A Management Plan Moorebank Intermodal Precinct– East Precinct (Rev 08, 22/11/2023) https://moorebankintermodalprecinct.com.au/wp- content/uploads/2024/08/Condition-F5A-MP - <u>Rev8 Redacted10.pdf</u>
		all reach stackers and combi lifts. 3. IMEX staff briefings were undertaken, reminding staff and drivers of noise management obligations and will be ongoing as part of regular reminders. The permanent rail noise monitoring results (Section 5) for Year 5 operations indicate similar passby noise levels to Year 4 operations and increased L _{Aeq} noise levels consistent with the rail link usage. The AoA monitoring data for train axles is reviewed by operators to identify wagons that may require maintenance to improve steering performance. An outcome from the Warehouse E7 B85 warehouse	
		mechanical plant noise monitoring was that, even though noise levels were below the B80 noise limits, further acoustic mitigation measures were recommended and are currently being installed for a fan at warehouse E7 as noise levels were identified as louder than expected (Section 3) to assist ESR with managing the cumulative noise emissions from the MIP.	
		Noise monitoring being undertaken for Moorebank Precinct West (MPW) is also being used to provide feedback on MPE noise emissions as the MPW noise requirements are cumulative of MPE, to assist with reviewing the effectiveness of ongoing noise management.	
Final Compila	ation of Mitigation Measures (FCMM) for MPE Stage 1 and Stage 2		
Stage 2 2D	In the event of any noise or vibration related complaint or adverse comment from the community, noise and ground vibration levels (as relevant) would be investigated. Remedial action would be implemented where feasible and reasonable. The procedures for managing complaints would be provided	11 noise complaints were received during the period of 30 April 2024 to 1 May 2025. Of these 11 complaints, 3 did not relate to operations, and were either related to construction noise or non-MIP noise.	Section 7
	within the Community Information and Awareness Strategy.	These complaints were investigated and responses including advising the relevant MIP teams for further investigation, or noise mitigation strategies currently being implemented were communicated to the complaints.	

Condition ID	Condition	Comments on compliance	Reference for further information
Operational N	loise and Vibration Management Plan – Section 4.1.1 Summary of Monitoring F	Requirements	
Table 4.1 Rail noise monitoring	Continuous rail noise monitoring will be undertaken from the commencement of operations of the IMEX terminal. The monitoring system will capture the following information:	Refer comments related to SSD 6766 G7	SSD 6766 G7
J	Noise from each train passby		
	Time and date of each train passby		
	Imagery or video recording to identify rolling stock		
	 L_{AF(max)} and Sound Exposure Level (SEL) of individual train passbys, measured in accordance with ISO 3095:2013 		
	 LAeq(15hour) and LAeq(9hour) noise levels for each 24-hour period, which will be calculated based on the number of train passbys during the day and night periods and the corresponding SEL noise levels, consistent with the procedure in Clause 3.4.1.1 of the Rail Infrastructure Noise Guideline (EPA, 2013). 		
	Other information as required by the Secretary		
Wayside Angle of Attack	Continuous wayside angle of attack monitoring will be undertaken from the commencement of operations of the IMEX terminal. The monitoring system will capture the following information:	Refer comments related to SSD 6766 G7A	SSD 6766 G7A
Monitoring	Angle of attack from a wheel on each axle of every train		
	Time and date of each axle passby		
	Identification number of each item of rolling stock		
Brake Squeal Noise	Continuous (unattended monitoring system) from the commencement of operations of the IMEX terminal – to assess potential noise impacts of rail link at western receivers	Refer comments related to SSD 6766 G7. The permanent noise monitoring system is positioned at a location on the rail link where it can capture noise levels associated with curve brake squeal should this occur.	SSD 6766 G7
Operational Noise	Noise monitoring to compare actual noise performance of the MIP East Precinct against the noise management levels will be undertaken as follows:	Sections 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7	Sections 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7
Monitoring	Regular performance monitoring		
	• Within 12 months of the commencement of operation of the IMEX terminal and Warehouse 1 Precinct		
	 Within 12 months of occupation of the first warehouse, 50% occupation of the site and 100% occupation of the site, or as otherwise agreed by the Secretary 		
	• For a minimum of 12 months following occupation of the entire site		

Condition ID	Condition	Comments on compliance	Reference for further information
Operational Noise Monitoring	Attended noise monitoring will be undertaken to determine compliance against the noise management levels upon receipt of a noise complaint	Noise complaints received during the 2024-2025 review period relating to operational noise referenced container handling activities, and general concerns about MIP noise generating activities (Section 7).	Section 7
		Noise monitoring (attended and unattended) being undertaken for Moorebank Precinct West (MPW) has been used to provide feedback on MPE noise emissions as the MPW noise requirements are cumulative of MPE, to assist with reviewing the effectiveness of ongoing noise management. This included recommendations for managing container handling activity noise.	
Noise Assessment of	Conducted for the freight village and each warehouse for a period of 1 week after construction and submitted to secretary within 2 weeks of occupation.	Refer comments related to SSD 7628 B85	SSD 7628 B85
Mechanical Plant and other equipment	Compliance against the noise management levels.		
Continuous Unattended	Continuous noise monitoring will be conducted at the following locations for a period of twelve months following the occupation of the entire site:	Refer comments related to SSD 7628 B64 (refer Section 4)	SSD 7628 B64 Section 4
Noise Monitoring	CM1: 10 Talbot Court, Wattle Grove		
wontoning	CM2: 24 Glenelg Court, Wattle Grove North		
	CM3: 14 Dunmore Crescent, Casula		
	CM4: 26 Goodenough Street, Glenfield		

3 Warehouse mechanical plant and other noisy equipment noise monitoring

Warehouse mechanical plant and other noisy equipment noise monitoring is required following the occupation of each warehouse in accordance with SSD 7628 CoC B85.

Noise monitoring of warehouse mechanical plant and other noisy equipment was performed on two occasions during the 2024-2025 review period to address SSD 7628 CoC B85 and the MPE Operational Noise and Vibration Management Plan (Rev 013, 24/01/2023) (ONVMP) requirements. A summary of the monitoring periods and reporting is provided in Table 3-1.

 Table 3-1
 Summary of CoC B85 warehouse mechanical plant and other noisy equipment noise monitoring

Noise monitoring period	Warehouse	Report reference
14 May - 24 May 2024	E7 (Mainfreight)	TM306-05F02 E7 Warehouse B85 Operational Noise Monitoring (r1)
28 March – 11 April 2025	E6A (QUBE) / E6B (CEVA)	TM306-05F03 E6 Warehouse B85 Operational Noise Monitoring (r1)

For warehouse operations, the SSD 7628 CoC B80 operational noise limits during the daytime, evening and night-time periods are 35 dB(A) L_{Aeq(15minute} at the nearest residential receivers. This level of 35 dB(A) L_{Aeq(15minute}) is below the existing ambient noise levels in the nearby residential areas, which are controlled by road traffic noise, rail traffic noise and other natural sources.

During each monitoring period noise measurement at the nearby residential areas were also undertaken and confirmed warehouse mechanical plant noise emissions were not audible and quantifiable within the residential areas.

As it was not possible to quantify the noise contribution from industrial noise sources at the nearest residential receivers, the procedure in the *Noise Policy for Industry* (NPfI) was followed to assess compliance. During each measurement campaign, a combination of on-site noise measurements, intermediate locations between the warehouse and residences, unattended noise monitoring, in combination with the use of a calibrated noise model, were used to quantify the warehouse mechanical plant noise levels associated with reasonable worst-case operations at the nearby residential receivers for comparison against the noise requirements.

This approach is consistent with Section 7.1.1 of the NPfl to review the performance of an industrial operation that is co-located with separate but noise-generating industrial sites impacting the same receiver.

Table 3-2 summaries the outcomes for the two assessments undertaken during the 2024-2025 review period.

Warehouse	Outcome summary
WH7 (Mainfreight)	Warehouse mechanical plant and equipment noise emission levels achieve the overall noise levels presented in Table 5 of CoC B80 during all time periods.
	However, to assist ESR with managing the cumulative noise emissions from the MIP further acoustic mitigation measures are currently being installed as it was identified during the monitoring that one was operating at noise levels louder than would be expected to manage cumulative noise emissions from the warehouse. Following these mitigation measures, noise level contributions are expected to further reduce at nearby residences from those presented in the assessment. This will be confirmed through monitoring following the implementation of these acoustic mitigation measures.
WH6A (QUBE) / WH6B (CEVA)	Warehouse mechanical plant and equipment noise emission levels achieve the overall noise levels presented in Table 5 of CoC B80 during all time periods.

Table 3-2 Summary of CoC B85 warehouse mechanical plant and other noisy equipment noise monitoring outcomes

For the 2024-2025 review period, for all monitored warehouses, the warehouse mechanical plant and equipment noise emission levels achieve the overall noise levels presented in Table 5 of CoC B80 during all time periods.

TM306-24-02F03 MPE ANNUAL REVIEW 2025 (R2).DOCX

11

4 Continuous noise monitoring in residential areas

Continuous noise monitoring at sensitive receivers is required to be undertaken at sensitive receivers in accordance with the approval conditions for MPE Stage 2 (SSD 7628 CoC B64).

The primary purpose of the permanent noise monitoring systems is to measure construction-related noise in accordance with the requirements of SSD 7628 Condition B64. Whilst this condition relates to construction noise, the noise monitoring results can also be utilised for operational noise reviews/assessments and to investigate noise complaints (if required).

Details of the continuous noise monitoring and measurement locations (CM1 to CM4) are provided in Section 3.1.1 (Figure 3-1) of the MPE ONVMP (Rev 13, 24/01/2023). The measurement systems comprise four Envirosuite permanent noise monitors. The monitoring locations are:

- CM1: 10 Talbot Court, Wattle Grove
- CM2: 24 Glenelg Court, Wattle Grove North
- CM3: 14 Dunmore Crescent, Casula
- CM4: 26 Goodenough Street, Glenfield

During November 2024 the noise monitoring equipment of these monitoring terminals was upgraded with new sound level meters and shade cloth implemented to minimise any downtime in the case that the unit temperature limits are exceeded.

The monitor at location CM2 was offline for a period from 19/08/2024 to 10/09/2024. This was due to the power disconnection at their property. All other monitoring locations were fully operational during the period.

This noise monitoring is ongoing.

12

5 Continuous rail link noise monitoring

The commencement of the Moorebank Import/Export Terminal (IMEX) operations occurred in May 2020. The new rail link was commissioned earlier in November 2019. In conjunction with the rail link commissioning, a temporary rail noise monitoring system (RNMS) was established to quantify the passby noise levels in accordance with the requirements of SSD6766 Condition G7.

The temporary RNMS was positioned at a location near one of the small radius curves and where freight trains are likely to be braking. The microphone of the RNMS monitoring system was positioned on the western side of rail link at a distance of 10.5 m from the near track centreline (Up track) and 15.5 m from the far track centreline (Down track).

The temporary RNMS was operational between 1 November 2019 and 8 July 2020. During this period, procurement of a permanent noise monitoring system occurred, compliant with the requirements of the *Functional and Performance Specification for Permanent Noise Monitor and Proposed Noise and AoA Monitoring Locations*. This functional specification provided justification supporting the appropriateness of the proposed monitoring location and was approved by the Secretary.

The permanent noise monitoring system was commissioned on 9 July 2020 at the same location as the temporary RNMS. The permanent system incorporates two microphones, one adjacent to each track, at a distance of 7.5 m from the track centreline. Noise measurement results of all passbys are provided <u>here¹</u>.

Below is a summary of the noise monitoring results for Year 5 operations.

5.1 Year 5 rail operations noise monitoring report

This report covers rail movements between 1 May 2024 and 1 May 2025. A summary of the key statistics are provided below:

- Number of days in monitoring period 365 days.
- Number of valid train passby events 2,269 (day), 1,074 (night), 3,343 (day + night)
- Number of days that included one or more train events 359, representing 98% of days
- Number of nights that included one or more train events 350, representing 96% of nights

For each train passby, the noise monitoring system recorded the L_{AFmax} and SEL^2 noise levels at a measurement distance of 7.5 m from the track centreline. The SEL noise levels are utilised to calculate the $L_{Aeq(15hour)}$ daytime and $L_{Aeq(9hour)}$ noise levels each day. A summary of the measured $L_{Aeq(15hour)}$ daytime

TM306-24-02F03 MPE ANNUAL REVIEW 2025 (R2).DOCX

¹ Available <u>https://moorebanknoisemonitor-emsbk.trackiq.net/NoiseMonitor/</u>

² SEL represents the single-event Sound Exposure Level of the train passby. This represents the total noise energy of the train passby event, normalised to a measurement interval of one second. The SEL is expressed as a dB(A) noise level.

noise levels, normalised to a measurement distance of 30 m is provided in Figure 5-1. The corresponding noise levels for the night-time period are provided in Figure 5-2.

It is noted that the nearest residential receiver (Glenfield Farm) is approximately 400 m from the rail link at the closest point and approximately 850 m from the noise monitoring system. The noise levels at Glenfield Farm are estimated to be approximately 14 dB(A) or more below the values in Figure 5-1 and Figure 5-2.

Based on the results in Figure 5-1 and Figure 5-2, the measured $L_{Aeq(15hour)}$ and $L_{Aeq(9hour)}$ noise levels appear to be approximately 3 dB(A) higher during daytime and 2 dB(A) higher at night compared to Year 4 noise monitoring results (see Reference 3). This increase is primarily attributed to greater rail link usage between Year 4 and Year 5 (i.e. additional train services) and may also be influenced by an increase in the average length of train consists.



Figure 5-1 Measured L_{Aeq(15hour)} daytime noise levels at 30 m from track centreline

THE TRUST COMPANY (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED (ACN 000 000 993) AS TRUSTEE OF THE MOOREBANK INDUSTRIAL WAREHOUSE TRUST (ABN 51 402 161 047) C/- ESR DEVELOPMENTS (AUSTRALIA) PTY LTD

³ Moorebank Intermodal Terminal Annual Noise Review – July 2024, Renzo Tonin & Associates Report TL116-05F23 Annual Review May 2024 (r4) dated 17 July 2024.



Figure 5-2 Measured L_{Aeq(9hour)} night-time noise levels at 30 m from track centreline

A summary of the measured L_{AFmax} daytime noise levels at a measurement distance of 7.5 m is provided in Figure 5-3. The corresponding noise levels for the night-time period are provided in Figure 5-4.



Figure 5-3 Measured L_{AFmax} daytime noise levels at 7.5 m from track centreline

THE TRUST COMPANY (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED (ACN 000 000 993) AS TRUSTEE OF THE MOOREBANK INDUSTRIAL WAREHOUSE TRUST (ABN 51 402 161 047) C/- ESR DEVELOPMENTS (AUSTRALIA) PTY LTD



Figure 5-4 Measured L_{AFmax} night-time noise levels at 7.5 m from track centreline

Based on the results in Figure 5-3 and Figure 5-4, there does not appear to be any obvious trend in the measured L_{AFmax} noise levels during the monitoring period. The maximum noise levels are consistent with the Year 4 noise monitoring results (see Reference 3).

16

6 Rail link angle of attack (AoA) monitoring

The performance of wagon bogies and their ability to negotiate small radius curves without generating curve squeal, is assessed in terms of the angle of attack (AoA) of the wheelset. Acceptable AoA values are defined in Section 2.7.1 of Asset Standards Authority Standard T HR RS 00400 ST⁴ and are a function of the curve radius and wheel base.

An AoA measurement system was installed on the rail link and partially commissioned on 13 May 2020. The system was fully commissioned on 9 July 2020 at the same time as the permanent noise monitoring system. The AoA system is installed on the eastern track.

Justification supporting the appropriateness of the proposed monitoring location is provided in the *Functional and Performance Specification for Permanent Noise Monitor and Proposed Noise and AoA Monitoring Locations*⁵, and was approved by the Secretary.

AoA measurement data for Year 5 operations is available in the following six monthly report:

- Moorebank Intermodal Terminal Six Monthly Review of AoA November 2024 (rail movements between 1 May 2024 and 1 November 2024) – Refer Section B.1.
- Moorebank Intermodal Terminal Six Monthly Review of AoA May 2025 (rail movements between 1 November 2024 and 1 May 2025) – Refer Section B.2.

In accordance with the requirements of the SSD 6766 Condition G7A, the AoA of a wheel of each axle of each train is captured by the measurement system. This data is accessible by train operators on a website maintained by QUBE.

Below is a summary of the noise monitoring results for the two 6-montly AoA monitoring periods (during Year 5 operations).

6.1 Year 5 rail operations AoA monitoring

A summary of the key statistics are provided below:

- 1 May 2024 and 1 May 2025
 - Number of valid train passby events 3343
 - Number of train passby events where the measure AoA values on one or more axles were above the acceptable level defined in Section 2.7.1 of Asset Standards Authority Standard T HR RS 00400 ST – 40, representing less than 1% of passbys.

⁴ Transport for NSW Asset Standards Authority T HR RS 00400 ST *RSU 400 Series – Minimum Operating Standards for Rolling Stock – Freight Vehicle Specific Interface Requirements* Version 2.0 dated 24 August 2017

⁵ Renzo Tonin & Associates Report TJ741-04F04 AoA and Functional Spec for Permanent Noise Monitor (r8)

A summary of the maximum AoA value measured for each train is provided in Figure 6-1. The results show that the maximum AoA value is typically less than 12 mrad, except for 19 train passbys that had maximum AoA value greater than the established alarm level.

A detailed review of the Angle of Attack (AoA) exceedances identified three wagons that repeatedly triggered AoA alarms. Wagon CQMY 003013 and CQMY 003058, each exceeded the AoA alarm threshold on four occasions. Wagon CQMY 003099 triggered the AoA alarm on two occasions.

It is the same Wagon ID (CQMY 003099) that exceeded the AoA alarm level on ten occasions during 1 May 2024 and 1 November 2024. The owner of Wagon ID (CQMY 003099) was notified of the exceedances and were in the process of determining the required rectification works. Following rectification works undertaken during November 2024 this wagon has not been identified as exceeding the AoA alarm level.

As of 04/06/2025, the owner of these two further wagons had been notified of the exceedances and were in the process of determining the required rectification works.

Three of the 40 passby events with AoA alarm levels resulted in elevated noise levels at the permanent noise monitoring location [i.e. where the calculated $L_{Aeq(9hour)}$ noise levels at 30 m were above 60 dB(A)]. Exceedances of the AoA alarm levels were viewed as one-off instances, occurring irregularly.





THE TRUST COMPANY (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED (ACN 000 000 993) AS TRUSTEE OF THE MOOREBANK INDUSTRIAL WAREHOUSE TRUST (ABN 51 402 161 047) C/- ESR DEVELOPMENTS (AUSTRALIA) PTY LTD

7 Noise monitoring in response to complaints

In the current reporting period, there were 11 complaints relating to noise levels that were reported by residents. Of these 11 complaints, 3 did not relate to operations, and were either related to construction noise or non-MIP noise.

The complaints referenced container handling activities, and general concerns about MIP noise generating activities. These complaints were received generally during mid-2024. Some complaint periods were confirmed to correlate with periods when Holsworthy Military Area activities were being undertaken. Complaints during 2025 have generally related to concerns regarding overnight construction activities. There was also a complaint about general MIP noise generating activities, and noise from an adjacent industrial site.

Responses to container handling noise complaints have included advising the QUBE team to undertake further investigation and sharing the noise mitigation strategies developed by the project with the complaints that are being implemented.

The number of operational noise-related complaints (confirmed construction or non-MIP complaints excluded) each month is summarised in the below table, for the period between 30 April 2024 to 1 May 2025. The number of noise complaints were highest in June 2024.

Period	Number of operational noise-related complaints
May 2024	1
June 2024	4
July 2024	0
August 2024	1
September 2024	0
October 2024	0
November 2024	0
December 2024	0
January 2025	0
February 2025	0
March 2025	0
April 2025	2

No specific noise monitoring for complaints was undertaken during the period between 30 April 2024 to 1 May 2025. Noise monitoring (attended and unattended) was undertaken for Moorebank Precinct West (MPW). This has been used to provide feedback on MPE noise emissions as the MPW noise requirements are cumulative of MPE, to assist with reviewing the effectiveness of ongoing noise management. This included recommendations for managing container handling activity noise.

8 Other noise-related tasks

8.1 Other relevant consent monitoring

Noise monitoring was undertaken during February 2025 for Moorebank Precinct West (MPW) to address SSD 7709 CoC B140A. As the MPW noise requirements are cumulative this monitoring also considered MPE noise emissions.

The noise monitoring surveys determined that the noise emissions from MIP operations were less than the SSD 7709 Conditions of Consent (CoC) $L_{Aeq15min}$ noise limits at all surrounding receiver locations, and that typically, the maximum noise levels from MIP operations were generally compliant with the L_{Amax} noise, however, a number of periods were identified where the L_{Amax} noise levels were above the L_{Amax} noise limit for residences in Casula, which were on occasions from MPE activities.

As such, mitigation and management measure recommendations were included to address this noise and further improve noise performance from the MIP noise emissions. The implementation of these measures are under investigation.

8.2 Moorebank Cumulative Noise Management

Planning work is continuing for the management of cumulative noise from the Moorebank Intermodal Precinct (MIP). This work currently aims to manage cumulative noise emissions from the various noise generating components (eg. warehouse and IMEX operations), to manage overall cumulative noise emissions against the applicable consent requirements.

9 Conclusion

This **Annual Noise Review** report **for Year 5 Operations** has been prepared to address the requirements of Approval Condition B90 of SSD 7628.

The following operational noise monitoring has been performed in accordance the Approval Conditions in SSD 6766 and 7628:

- Continuous rail noise and angle of attack (AoA) monitoring on the rail link to monitoring rail traffic noise and to assist in identifying potential high noise events (e.g. excessive locomotive noise, brake squeal or curve squeal).
- Warehouse mechanical equipment noise monitoring and reporting was undertaken for MPE Warehouse E6 and E7 during periods when valid data could be obtained. For the 2024-2025 review period, for all monitored warehouses, the warehouse mechanical plant and equipment noise emission levels achieved the overall noise limits presented in SSD 7628 CoC B80 during all time periods.

APPENDIX A Glossary of terminology

The following is a brief description of the technical terms used to describe noise to assist in understanding the technical issues presented.

Absorption Coefficient α	The absorption coefficient of a material, usually measured for each octave or third-octave band and ranging between zero and one. For example, a value of 0.85 for an octave band means that 85% of the sound energy within that octave band is absorbed on coming into contact with the material. Conversely, a low value below about 0.1 means the material is acoustically reflective.
Adverse weather	Weather effects that enhance noise (particularly wind and temperature inversions) occurring at a site for a significant period of time. In the NSW INP this occurs when wind occurs for more than 30% of the time in any assessment period in any season and/or temperature inversions occurring more than 30% of nights in winter.
Air-borne noise	Noise which is fundamentally transmitted by way of the air and can be attenuated by the use of barriers and walls placed physically between the noise source and receiver.
Ambient noise	The all-encompassing noise associated within a given environment at a given time, usually composed of sound from all sources near and far.
ΑοΑ	Angle of Attack - As the wheels on a bogie negotiate a tight curve, the leading wheelset typically presents an Angle-of-Attack (AoA) to the rail. The AoA of a leading wheelset with good steering performance can be calculated from AoA = wheelbase (m) / curve radius (m). AoA is normally measured in milliradian (mrad).
Amenity	A desirable or useful feature or facility of a building or place.
AS	Australian Standard
ASA	Asset Standards Authority
Assessment period	The time period in which an assessment is made. e.g. Day 7am-10pm & Night 10pm-7am.
Assessment Point	A location at which a noise or vibration measurement is taken or estimated.
Attenuation	The reduction in the level of sound or vibration.
Audible Range	The limits of frequency which are audible or heard as sound. The normal hearing in young adults detects ranges from 20 Hz to 20 kHz, although some people can detect sound with frequencies outside these limits.
A-weighting	A filter applied to the sound recording made by a microphone to approximate the response of the human ear.
Background noise	Background noise is the term used to describe the underlying level of noise present in the ambient noise, measured in the absence of the noise under investigation. It is described as the average of
	the minimum noise levels measured on a sound level meter and is measured statistically as the A- weighted noise level exceeded for ninety percent of a sample period. This is represented as the LA90 noise level if measured as an overall level or an L90 noise level when measured in octave or third-octave bands.
Barrier (Noise)	the minimum noise levels measured on a sound level meter and is measured statistically as the A- weighted noise level exceeded for ninety percent of a sample period. This is represented as the LA90 noise level if measured as an overall level or an L90 noise level when measured in octave or third-octave bands. A natural or constructed physical barrier which impedes the propagation of sound and includes fences, walls, earth mounds or berms and buildings.
Barrier (Noise) Berm	the minimum noise levels measured on a sound level meter and is measured statistically as the A- weighted noise level exceeded for ninety percent of a sample period. This is represented as the LA90 noise level if measured as an overall level or an L90 noise level when measured in octave or third-octave bands. A natural or constructed physical barrier which impedes the propagation of sound and includes fences, walls, earth mounds or berms and buildings. Earth or overburden mound.
Barrier (Noise) Berm Buffer	the minimum noise levels measured on a sound level meter and is measured statistically as the A- weighted noise level exceeded for ninety percent of a sample period. This is represented as the LA90 noise level if measured as an overall level or an L90 noise level when measured in octave or third-octave bands. A natural or constructed physical barrier which impedes the propagation of sound and includes fences, walls, earth mounds or berms and buildings. Earth or overburden mound. An area of land between a source and a noise-sensitive receiver and may be an open space or a noise-tolerant land use.
Barrier (Noise) Berm Buffer Bund	the minimum noise levels measured on a sound level meter and is measured statistically as the A- weighted noise level exceeded for ninety percent of a sample period. This is represented as the LA90 noise level if measured as an overall level or an L90 noise level when measured in octave or third-octave bands. A natural or constructed physical barrier which impedes the propagation of sound and includes fences, walls, earth mounds or berms and buildings. Earth or overburden mound. An area of land between a source and a noise-sensitive receiver and may be an open space or a noise-tolerant land use. A bund is an embankment or wall of brick, stone, concrete or other impervious material, which may form part or all of the perimeter of a compound.

THE TRUST COMPANY (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED (ACN 000 000 993) AS TRUSTEE OF THE MOOREBANK INDUSTRIAL WAREHOUSE TRUST (ABN 51 402 161 047) C/- ESR DEVELOPMENTS (AUSTRALIA) PTY LTD

CoRTN	United Kingdom Department of Environment entitled "Calculation of Road Traffic Noise (1988)"		
Decibel [dB]	The units that sour common sounds ir	nd is measu n our enviro	red in. The following are examples of the decibel readings of onment:
	threshold of	0 dB	The faintest sound we can hear, defined as 20 micro Pascal
	hearing	10 dB	Human breathing
		20 dB	
	almost silent	30 dB	Quiet bedroom or in a quiet national park location
		40 dB	Library
	generally quiet	50 dB	Typical office space or ambience in the city at night
	mederately layed	60 dB	CBD mall at lunch time
	moderately loud	70 dB	The sound of a car passing on the street
	law d	80 dB	Loud music played at home
	Ioud	90 dB	The sound of a truck passing on the street
	vende	100 dB	Indoor rock band concert
	very loud	110 dB	Operating a chainsaw or jackhammer
	extremely loud	120 dB	Jet plane take-off at 100m away
	throshold of pain	130 dB	
	threshold of pair	140 dB	Military jet take-off at 25m away
ar(a)	A-weighted decibel. The A- weighting noise filter simulates the response of the human ear at relatively low levels, where the ear is not as effective in hearing low frequency sounds as it is in hearing high frequency sounds. That is, low frequency sounds of the same dB level are not heard as loud as high frequency sounds. The sound level meter replicates the human response of the ear by using an electronic filter which is called the "A" filter. A sound level measured with this filter is denoted as dB(A). Practically all noise is measured using the A filter.		
dB(C)	C-weighted decibels. The C-weighting noise filter simulates the response of the human ear at relatively high levels, where the human ear is nearly equally effective at hearing from mid-low frequency (63Hz) to mid-high frequency (4kHz), but is less effective outside these frequencies. The dB(C) level is not widely used but has some applications.		
Diffraction	The distortion of se	ound wave	s caused when passing tangentially around solid objects.
DIN	German Standard		
ECRTN	Environmental Crit	eria for Roa	ad Traffic Noise, NSW, 1999
ENMM	Environmental Noi	se Manage	ment Manual, Roads and Maritime Services (Transport for NSW)
EPA	Environment Prote	ction Autho	prity
Field Test	A test of the sound	l insulation	performance in-situ. See also 'Laboratory Test'
	The sound insulation field test, for exam	on perform ple, early d	ance between building spaces can be measured by conducting a uring the construction stage or on completion.
	A field test is cond measure the perfo affected by numer	ucted in a r rmance of a ous field co	non-ideal acoustic environment. It is generally not possible to an individual building element accurately as the results can be anditions.
Fluctuating Noise	Noise that varies c	ontinuously	y to an appreciable extent over the period of observation.
Free-field	An environment in which there are no acoustic reflective surfaces. Free field noise measurements are carried out outdoors at least 3.5m from any acoustic reflecting structures other than the ground.		
Frequency	Frequency is synonymous to pitch. Sounds have a pitch which is peculiar to the nature of the sound generator. For example, the sound of a tiny bell has a high pitch and the sound of a bass drum has a low pitch. Frequency or pitch can be measured on a scale in units of Hertz or Hz.		

THE TRUST COMPANY (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED (ACN 000 000 993) AS TRUSTEE OF THE MOOREBANK INDUSTRIAL WAREHOUSE TRUST (ABN 51 402 161 047) C/- ESR DEVELOPMENTS (AUSTRALIA) PTY LTD

Ground-borne noise	Vibration propagated through the ground and then radiated as noise by vibrating building elements such as wall and floor surfaces. This noise is more noticeable in rooms that are well insulated from other airborne noise. An example would be vibration transmitted from an underground rail line radiating as sound in a bedroom of a building located above.
Habitable Area	Includes a bedroom, living room, lounge room, music room, television room, kitchen, dining room, sewing room, study, playroom, family room, home theatre and sunroom.
	Excludes a bathroom, laundry, water closet, pantry, walk-in wardrobe, corridor, hallway, lobby, photographic darkroom, clothes drying room, and other spaces of a specialised nature occupied neither frequently nor for extended periods.
Heavy Vehicle	A truck, transporter or other vehicle with a gross weight above a specified level (for example: over 8 tonnes).
IGANRIP	Interim Guideline for the Assessment of Noise from Rail Infrastructure Projects, NSW DEC 2007
Impulsive noise	Having a high peak of short duration or a sequence of such peaks. A sequence of impulses in rapid succession is termed repetitive impulsive noise.
INP	NSW Industrial Noise Policy, EPA 1999
Intermittent noise	The level suddenly drops to that of the background noise several times during the period of observation. The time during which the noise remains at levels different from that of the ambient is one second or more.
Intrusive noise	Refers to noise that intrudes above the background level by more than 5 dB(A).
ISEPP	State Environmental Planning Policy (Infrastructure), NSW, 2007
ISEPP Guideline	Development Near Rail Corridors and Busy Roads - Interim Guideline, NSW Department of Planning, December 2008
L1	The sound pressure level that is exceeded for 1% of the time for which the given sound is measured.
L ₁₀	The sound pressure level that is exceeded for 10% of the time for which the given sound is measured.
L10(1hour)	The L ₁₀ level measured over a 1 hour period.
L10(18hour)	The arithmetic average of the $L_{10(1hour)}$ levels for the 18 hour period between 6am and 12 midnight on a normal working day.
L ₉₀	The level of noise exceeded for 90% of the time. The bottom 10% of the sample is the L_{90} noise level expressed in units of dB(A).
L _{Aeq} or L _{eq}	The "equivalent noise level" is the summation of noise events and integrated over a selected period of time, which would produce the same energy as a fluctuating sound level. When A-weighted, this is written as the L _{Aeq} .
LAeq(1hour)	The L_{Aeq} noise level for a one-hour period. In the context of the NSW EPA's Road Noise Policy it represents the highest tenth percentile hourly A-weighted L_{eq} during the period 7am to 10pm, or 10pm to 7am (whichever is relevant).
L _{Aeq(8hour)}	The L _{Aeq} noise level for the period 10pm to 6am.
LAeq(9hour)	The L _{Aeq} noise level for the period 10pm to 7am.
LAeq(15hour)	The L _{Aeq} noise level for the period 7am to 10pm.
LAeq (24hour)	The LAeq noise level during a 24 hour period, usually from midnight to midnight.
L _{max}	The maximum sound pressure level measured over a given period. When A-weighted, this is usually written as the $L_{\rm Amax.}$
L _{min}	The minimum sound pressure level measured over a given period. When A-weighted, this is usually written as the $L_{\mbox{\rm Amin}}.$
Loudness	A rise of 10 dB in sound level corresponds approximately to a doubling of subjective loudness. That is, a sound of 85 dB is twice as loud as a sound of 75 dB which is twice as loud as a sound of 65 dB and so on. That is, the sound of 85 dB is four times or 400% the loudness of a sound of 65 dB.

THE TRUST COMPANY (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED (ACN 000 000 993) AS TRUSTEE OF THE MOOREBANK INDUSTRIAL WAREHOUSE TRUST (ABN 51 402 161 047) C/- ESR DEVELOPMENTS (AUSTRALIA) PTY LTD

Microphone	An electro-acoustic transducer which receives an acoustic signal and delivers a corresponding electric signal.		
MPE	Moorebank Precinct East		
NCA	Noise Catchment Area. An area of study within which the noise environment is substantially constant.		
NCG	Noise Criteria Guideline, Roads and Maritime Services (Transport for NSW)		
NMG	Noise Mitigation Guideline, Roads and Maritime Services (Transport for NSW)		
Noise	Unwanted sound		
Pre-construction	Work in respect of the proposed project that includes design, survey, acquisitions, fencing, investigative drilling or excavation, building/road dilapidation surveys, minor clearing (except where threatened species, populations or ecological communities would be affected), establishing ancillary facilities such as site compounds, or other relevant activities determined to have minimal environmental impact (e.g. minor access roads).		
Reflection	Sound wave reflected from a solid object obscuring its path.		
RING	Rail Infrastructure Noise Guideline, NSW, May 2013		
RMS	Root Mean Square value representing the average value of a signal.		
Rw	Weighted Sound Reduction Index		
	A measure of the sound insulation performance of a building element. It is measured in very controlled conditions in a laboratory.		
	The term supersedes the value STC which was used in older versions of the Building Code of Australia. Rw is measured and calculated using the procedure in ISO 717-1. The related field measurement is the DnT,w.		
	The higher the value the better the acoustic performance of the building element.		
R'w	Weighted Apparent Sound Reduction Index.		
	As for Rw but measured in-situ and therefore subject to the inherent accuracies involved in such a measurement.		
	The higher the value the better the acoustic performance of the building element.		
RNP	Road Noise Policy, NSW, March 2011		
Sabine	A measure of the total acoustic absorption provided by a material.		
	It is the product of the Absorption Coefficient (alpha) and the surface area of the material (m2). For example, a material with alpha = 0.65 and a surface area of $8.2m^2$ would have $0.65 \times 8.2 = 5.33$ Sabine.		
	Sabine is usually calculated for each individual octave band (or third-octave).		
SEL	Sound Exposure Level (SEL) is the constant sound level which, if maintained for a period of 1 second would have the same acoustic energy as the measured noise event. SEL noise measurements are useful as they can be converted to obtain Leq sound levels over any period of time and can be used for predicting noise at various locations.		
Sound	A fluctuation of air pressure which is propagated as a wave through air.		
Sound absorption	The ability of a material to absorb sound energy by conversion to thermal energy.		
Sound Insulation	Sound insulation refers to the ability of a construction or building element to limit noise transmission through the building element. The sound insulation of a material can be described by the Rw and the sound insulation between two rooms can be described by the DnT,w.		
Sound level meter	An instrument consisting of a microphone, amplifier and indicating device, having a declared performance and designed to measure sound pressure levels.		
Sound power level	Ten times the logarithm to the base 10 of the ratio of the sound power of the source to the reference sound power of 1 pico watt.		
Sound pressure level	The level of noise, usually expressed in decibels, as measured by a standard sound level meter with a microphone referenced to 20 mico Pascal.		
Spoil	Soil or materials arising from excavation activities.		

THE TRUST COMPANY (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED (ACN 000 000 993) AS TRUSTEE OF THE MOOREBANK INDUSTRIAL WAREHOUSE TRUST (ABN 51 402 161 047) C/- ESR DEVELOPMENTS (AUSTRALIA) PTY LTD

SSFL	Southern Sydney Freight Line
STC	Sound Transmission Class
	A measure of the sound insulation performance of a building element. It is measured in controlled conditions in a laboratory.
	The term has been superseded by Rw.
Structure-borne Noise	Audible noise generated by vibration induced in the ground and/or a structure. Vibration can be generated by impact or by solid contact with a vibrating machine.
	Structure-borne noise cannot be attenuated by barriers or walls but requires the isolation of the vibration source itself. This can be achieved using a resilient element placed between the vibration source and its support such as rubber, neoprene or springs or by physical separation (using an air gap for example).
	Examples of structure-borne noise include the noise of trains in underground tunnels heard to a listener above the ground, the sound of footsteps on the floor above a listener and the sound of a lift car passing in a shaft. See also 'Impact Noise'.
Tonal Noise	Sound containing a prominent frequency and characterised by a definite pitch.
Transmission Loss	The sound level difference between one room or area and another, usually of sound transmitted through an intervening partition or wall. Also the vibration level difference between one point and another.
	For example, if the sound level on one side of a wall is 100dB and 65dB on the other side, it is said that the transmission loss of the wall is 35dB. If the transmission loss is normalised or standardised, it then becomes the Rw or R'w or DnT,w.
Wheelbase	The wheelbase is the distance between the centres of the front and rear wheels on a 2-axle bogie.

APPENDIX B

Detailed noise monitoring/ assessment/ management reports

THE TRUST COMPANY (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED (ACN 000 000 993) AS TRUSTEE OF THE MOOREBANK INDUSTRIAL WAREHOUSE TRUST (ABN 51 402 161 047) C/- ESR DEVELOPMENTS (AUSTRALIA) PTY LTD

B.1 Angle of Attack Monitoring Report - 1 May 2024 and 1 November 2024

Renzo Tonin Report TL116-05D24 AoA Report November 2024 (r2)



Acoustics Vibration Structural Dynamics

MOOREBANK INTERMODAL TERMINAL

Six Monthly Review of AoA - November 2024

17 December 2024

Tactical Group

TL116-05D24 AoA Report November 2024 (r2)





Document details

Detail	Reference	
Doc reference:	TL116-05D24 AoA Report November 2024 (r2)	
Prepared for:	Tactical Group	
Address:	Level 15, 124 Walker Street	
	North Sydney, NSW, 2060	
Attention:	Mark Howley	

Document control

Date	Revision history	Non-issued revision	Issued revision	Prepared	Instructed	Reviewed / Authorised
22.11.2024	First Issue	0	1	S. Dixit	C. Weber	C. Weber
17.12.2024	Final Report addressing the comments	-	2	S. Dixit	A. Leslie	A. Leslie

File Path: R:\AssocSydProjects\TL101-TL150\TL116 cw Moorebank IMT Temporary Noise Monitoring\Task 5 - cw Operation Compliance Monitoring\1 Docs\Report 24 2024-11 AoA\TL116-05D24 AoA Report November 2024 (r2).docx

Important Disclaimers:

The work presented in this document was carried out in accordance with the Renzo Tonin & Associates Quality Assurance System, which is based on Australian/New Zealand Standard AS/NZS ISO 9001.

This document is issued subject to review and authorisation by the suitably qualified and experienced person named in the last column above. If no name appears, this document shall be considered as preliminary or draft only and no reliance shall be placed upon it other than for information to be verified later.

This document is prepared for the particular requirements of our Client referred to above in the 'Document details' which are based on a specific brief with limitations as agreed to with the Client. It is not intended for and should not be relied upon by a third party and no responsibility is undertaken to any third party without prior consent provided by Renzo Tonin & Associates. The information herein should not be reproduced, presented or reviewed except in full. Prior to passing on to a third party, the Client is to fully inform the third party of the specific brief and limitations associated with the commission.

In preparing this report, we have relied upon, and presumed accurate, any information (or confirmation of the absence thereof) provided by the Client and/or from other sources. Except as otherwise stated in the report, we have not attempted to verify the accuracy or completeness of any such information. If the information is subsequently determined to be false, inaccurate or incomplete then it is possible that our observations and conclusions as expressed in this report may change.

We have derived data in this report from information sourced from the Client (if any) and/or available in the public domain at the time or times outlined in this report. The passage of time, manifestation of latent conditions or impacts of future events may require further examination and re-evaluation of the data, findings, observations and conclusions expressed in this report.

We have prepared this report in accordance with the usual care and thoroughness of the consulting profession, for the sole purpose described above and by reference to applicable standards, guidelines, procedures and practices at the date of issue of this report. For the reasons outlined above, however, no other warranty or guarantee, whether expressed or implied, is made as to the data, observations and findings expressed in this report, to the extent permitted by law.

The information contained herein is for the purpose of acoustics only. No claims are made and no liability is accepted in respect of design and construction issues falling outside of the specialist field of acoustics engineering including and not limited to structural integrity, fire rating, architectural buildability and fit-for-purpose, waterproofing and the like. Supplementary professional advice should be sought in respect of these issues.

External cladding disclaimer: No claims are made and no liability is accepted in respect of any external wall and/or roof systems (eg facade / cladding materials, insulation etc) that are: (a) not compliant with or do not conform to any relevant non-acoustic legislation, regulation, standard, instructions or Building Codes; or (b) installed, applied, specified or utilised in such a manner that is not compliant with or does not conform to any relevant non-acoustic legislation, regulation, standard, instructions or Building Codes; or (b) installed, applied, specified or utilised in Such a manner that is not compliant with or does not conform to any relevant non-acoustic legislation, regulation, standard, instructions or Building Codes.

Figure 1 Maximum AoA value for each train passby

5

Contents

1	Introduction	1
	1.1 Project overview	1
2	Compliance Matrix	1
3	Rail link angle of attack (AoA) monitoring	4
	3.1 AoA monitoring results for current six-month period	4
4	Conclusion	6
APPE	ENDIX A Glossary of terminology	7
List	of tables	
Table	e 1 Compliance matrix	2
List	of figures	

1 Introduction

1.1 Project overview

Renzo Tonin & Associates (RTA) was engaged by The Trust Company (Australia) Limited (ACN 000 000 993) as trustee of the Moorebank Industrial Warehouse Trust, to provide a report that addresses the requirements of Approval Condition G7A of SSD 6766.

The Sydney Intermodal Terminal Alliance (SIMTA) received the initial approval for the construction and operation of Stages 1 and 2 of the Moorebank Precinct East (MPE) Project (SSD 6766 and SSD 7628 respectively), which together comprise the two stages of development under the MPE Concept Approval (MP10_0193). The Trust Company (Australia) Limited is now the proponent for the MPE projects.

This report has been prepared to address the requirements of Approval Condition G7A of SSD 6766, which requires the submission of a six-monthly report to the Secretary, which identifies the number of wagons with wheels that exceed the ASA standard angle of attack and the action taken by operators to improve steering performance.

Appendix A contains a glossary of acoustic terms used in this report.

2 Compliance Matrix

Table 1 provides a summary of the Approval Conditions which relate to this report.

Table 1	Compliance matrix				
Condition I	O Condition	Comments on compliance	Reference for further information		
SSD 6766					
G7	The Applicant shall install and maintain a rail noise monitoring system on the rail link at the commencement of operation to continuously monitor the noise from rail operations on the rail link. The system shall capture the noise from each individual train passby noise generation event, and include information to identify:	This condition is not directly related to this report. It is referenced herein on the basis that noise levels from the rail noise monitoring system provides information that may correlate with the Angle of Attack measurement results.	https://moorebankintermodalprecinct.com.au/wp- content/uploads/2023/04/TJ741-04F04-AoA-and- Functional-Spec-for-Permanent-Noise-Monitor- r9_redacted.pdf		
	a) Time and date of freight train passbys;		https://moorebanknoisemonitor-		
	b) Imagery or video to enable identification of the rolling stock during day and night;		emsbk.trackiq.net/NoiseMonitor/		
	c) $L_{Aeq(15hour)}$ and $L_{Aeq(9hour)}$ from rail operations; and				
	d) $L_{AF(max)}$ and SEL of individual train passbys, measured in accordance with ISO3095; or				
	e) Other alternative information as agreed with, or required by, the Secretary.				
	The results from the noise monitoring system, shall be publicly accessible from a website maintained by the Applicant. The noise results from each train shall be available on the website within 24 hours of it passing the monitor, unless unforeseen circumstances (i.e a system malfunction) have occurred. The $L_{Aeq(15hour)}$ and $L_{Aeq(9hr)}$ results from each day shall be available on the website within 24 hours of the period ending.				
	Prior to the commencement of operation, the Applicant shall submit for the approval of the Secretary, justification supporting the appropriateness of the location for rail noise monitoring, including details of any alternative options considered and reasons for these being dismissed. The rail noise monitoring system shall not operate until the Secretary has approved the proposed monitoring location.				
	The Applicant shall provide an annual report to the Secretary with the results of monitoring for a period of 5 years, or as otherwise agreed with the Secretary, from the commencement of operation of the IMEX terminal. The Secretary shall consider the need for further reporting following a review of the results for year 5.				

Condition ID	Condition	Comments on compliance	Reference for further information
G7A	The applicant shall install and maintain a wayside angle of attack monitoring system on the rail link at the commencement of operation to continuously monitor the angle of attack to the rail of rolling stock wheels.	An Angle of Attack (AoA) monitoring system was installed a on the new rail link in May 2020. The monitoring system captures the AoA of each axle passby and compares the measured values with the acceptable value in the applicable Asset Standards Authority minimum operating standard. The AoA values for each axle are available to operators in accordance with the approval condition. A Functional and Performance Specification for the permanent noise monitoring system and angle of attack monitoring system was prepared for approval by the Secretary before the rail link commissioning. A summary of the AoA noise monitoring results for the current six month period is provided in Section 3.1. The monitoring identified 22 train passbys where the maximum AoA value exceeded the ASA standard alarm level during the 6-month monitoring period. One of these AoA exceedance events caused elevated noise levels above L _{Aeq(9hour)} 60 dB(A) at the permanent noise monitoring location.	Section 3
	The system shall capture the angle of attack from a wheel on each axle of every train, and include information to identify:		
	a) Time and date of each axle passby; and b) The identification number of each item of rolling stock.		
	 The results from the angle of attack monitoring system shall be: accessible by train operators from a website maintained by the Applicant. Angle of attack results from each train shall be available on the website within 24 hours of it passing the monitor, unless unforeseen circumstances have occurred. 		
	• included in a six-monthly report to the Secretary. The report should at least identify the number of wagons with wheels that exceed the ASA standard angle of attack and the action taken by operators to improve steering performance.		
	Prior to the commencement of operation, the Applicant shall submit for the approval of the Secretary, justification supporting the appropriateness of the location for angle of attack monitoring, the format of the information to be accessible to operators and the format of the public report. The angle of attack monitoring system shall not operate until the Secretary has approved the proposed monitoring location and reporting arrangements.		

3 Rail link angle of attack (AoA) monitoring

The performance of wagon bogies and their ability to negotiate small radius curves without generating curve squeal, is assessed in terms of the angle of attack (AoA) of the wheelset. Acceptable AoA values are defined in Section 2.7.1 of Asset Standards Authority Standard T HR RS 00400 ST¹ and are a function of the curve radius and wheelbase.

An AoA measurement system was installed on the rail link and partially commissioned on 13 May 2020. The system was fully commissioned on 9 July 2020 at the same time as the permanent noise monitoring system. The AoA system is installed on the eastern track.

Justification supporting the appropriateness of the proposed monitoring location is provided in the *Functional and Performance Specification for Permanent Noise Monitor and Proposed Noise and AoA Monitoring Locations*², and was approved by the Secretary.

This report provides a summary of the AoA measurement data for the period between 1 May 2024 and 1 November 2024. In accordance with the requirements of the SSD 6766 Condition G7A, the AoA of a wheel of each axle of each train is captured by the measurement system. This data is accessible by train operators on a website maintained by QUBE.

Below is a summary of the monitoring results.

3.1 AoA monitoring results for current six-month period

This report covers rail movements between 1 May 2024 and 1 November 2024. A summary of the key statistics is provided below:

- Number of valid train passby events **545**
- Number of train passby events where the measure AoA values on one or more axles were above the acceptable level defined in Section 2.7.1 of Asset Standards Authority Standard T HR RS 00400 ST – 22 (representing 4% of passbys).

A summary of the maximum AoA value measured for each train is provided in Figure 1. The results show that the maximum AoA value is typically less than 10 mrad. 22 train passbys had maximum AoA values greater than the established alarm level of approximately 19 mrad.

¹ Transport for NSW Asset Standards Authority T HR RS 00400 ST *RSU 400 Series – Minimum Operating Standards for Rolling Stock – Freight Vehicle Specific Interface Requirements* Version 2.0 dated 24 August 2017

² Renzo Tonin & Associates Report TJ741-04F04 AoA and Functional Spec for Permanent Noise Monitor (r8) – available <u>https://moorebankintermodalprecinct.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/TJ741-04F04-AoA-and-Functional-Spec-for-</u> <u>Permanent-Noise-Monitor-r9_redacted.pdf</u>

A detailed review of the AoA exceedances identified that Wagon ID CQMY 003099 exceeded the AoA alarm level on ten occasions. The owner of this wagon has been notified of these exceedances and is in the process of determining the required rectification works. It is the same Wagon ID (CQMY 003099) that exceeded the AoA alarm level on seven occasions during 1 May 2023 and 31 October 2023.

One of the 22 passby events with AoA alarm levels resulted in elevated noise levels at the permanent noise monitoring location [i.e. where the calculated $L_{Aeq(9hour)}$ noise levels at 30 m were above 60 dB(A)].



Figure 1 Maximum AoA value for each train passby

4 Conclusion

This report has been prepared to address the requirements of Approval Condition G7A of SSD 6766, which requires the submission of a six-monthly report to the Secretary, which identifies the number of train passbys and wagons with wheels that exceed the ASA standard angle of attack and the action taken by operators to improve steering performance.

For rail movements between 1 May 2024 and 1 November 2024, 22 train passbys had maximum AoA values greater than the established alarm level of approximately 19 mrad. Wagon ID CQMY 003099 exceeded the AoA alarm level on ten occasions. The owner of this wagon has been notified of these exceedances and is in the process of determining the required rectification works.

One of 22 train passby events with AoA alarm levels caused elevated noise levels at the permanent noise monitoring location [i.e. where the calculated $L_{Aeq(9hour)}$ noise levels at 30 m were above 60 dB(A)].
APPENDIX A Glossary of terminology

The following is a brief description of the technical terms used to describe noise to assist in understanding the technical issues presented.

Absorption Coefficient α	The absorption coefficient of a material, usually measured for each octave or third-octave band and ranging between zero and one. For example, a value of 0.85 for an octave band means that 85% of the sound energy within that octave band is absorbed on coming into contact with the material. Conversely, a low value below about 0.1 means the material is acoustically reflective.	
Adverse weather	Weather effects that enhance noise (particularly wind and temperature inversions) occurring at a site for a significant period of time. In the NSW INP this occurs when wind occurs for more than 30% of the time in any assessment period in any season and/or temperature inversions occurring more than 30% of nights in winter.	
Air-borne noise	Noise which is fundamentally transmitted by way of the air and can be attenuated by the use of barriers and walls placed physically between the noise source and receiver.	
Ambient noise	The all-encompassing noise associated within a given environment at a given time, usually composed of sound from all sources near and far.	
ΑοΑ	Angle of Attack - As the wheels on a bogie negotiate a tight curve, the leading wheelset typically presents an Angle-of-Attack (AoA) to the rail. The AoA of a leading wheelset with good steering performance can be calculated from AoA = wheelbase (m) / curve radius (m). AoA is normally measured in milliradian (mrad).	
Amenity	A desirable or useful feature or facility of a building or place.	
AS	Australian Standard	
ASA	Asset Standards Authority	
Assessment period	The time period in which an assessment is made. e.g. Day 7am-10pm & Night 10pm-7am.	
Assessment Point	A location at which a noise or vibration measurement is taken or estimated.	
Attenuation	The reduction in the level of sound or vibration.	
Audible Range	The limits of frequency which are audible or heard as sound. The normal hearing in young adults detects ranges from 20 Hz to 20 kHz, although some people can detect sound with frequencies outside these limits.	
A-weighting	A filter applied to the sound recording made by a microphone to approximate the response of the human ear.	
Background noise	Background noise is the term used to describe the underlying level of noise present in the ambient noise, measured in the absence of the noise under investigation. It is described as the average of the minimum noise levels measured on a sound level meter and is measured statistically as the A- weighted noise level exceeded for ninety percent of a sample period. This is represented as the LA90 noise level if measured as an overall level or an L90 noise level when measured in octave or third-octave bands.	
Barrier (Noise)	A natural or constructed physical barrier which impedes the propagation of sound and includes fences, walls, earth mounds or berms and buildings.	
Berm	Earth or overburden mound.	
Buffer	An area of land between a source and a noise-sensitive receiver and may be an open space or a noise-tolerant land use.	
Bund	A bund is an embankment or wall of brick, stone, concrete or other impervious material, which may form part or all of the perimeter of a compound.	
BS	British Standard	

CoRTN	United Kingdom Department of Environment entitled "Calculation of Road Traffic Noise (1988)"				
Decibel [dB]	The units that sound is measured in. The following are examples of the decibel readings of common sounds in our environment:				
	threshold of	0 dB	The faintest sound we can hear, defined as 20 micro Pascal		
	hearing	10 dB	Human breathing		
		20 dB			
	amost silent	30 dB	Quiet bedroom or in a quiet national park location		
		40 dB	Library		
	generally quiet	50 dB	Typical office space or ambience in the city at night		
	moderately loud	60 dB	CBD mall at lunch time		
		70 dB	The sound of a car passing on the street		
	loud	80 dB	Loud music played at home		
		90 dB	The sound of a truck passing on the street		
	very loud	100 dB	Indoor rock band concert		
		110 dB	Operating a chainsaw or jackhammer		
	extremely loud	120 dB	Jet plane take-off at 100m away		
	threshold of pain	130 dB			
		140 dB	Military jet take-off at 25m away		
dB(A)	A-weighted decibel. The A- weighting noise filter simulates the response of the human ear at relatively low levels, where the ear is not as effective in hearing low frequency sounds as it is in hearing high frequency sounds. That is, low frequency sounds of the same dB level are not heard as loud as high frequency sounds. The sound level meter replicates the human response of the ear by using an electronic filter which is called the "A" filter. A sound level measured with this filter is denoted as dB(A). Practically all noise is measured using the A filter.				
dB(C)	C-weighted decibels. The C-weighting noise filter simulates the response of the human ear at relatively high levels, where the human ear is nearly equally effective at hearing from mid-low frequency (63Hz) to mid-high frequency (4kHz), but is less effective outside these frequencies. The dB(C) level is not widely used but has some applications.				
Diffraction	The distortion of se	ound waves	s caused when passing tangentially around solid objects.		
DIN	German Standard				
ECRTN	Environmental Crit	eria for Roa	nd Traffic Noise, NSW, 1999		
ENMM	Environmental Noi	se Manage	ment Manual, Roads and Maritime Services (Transport for NSW)		
EPA	Environment Prote	ction Autho	prity		
Field Test	A test of the sound	l insulation	performance in-situ. See also 'Laboratory Test'		
	The sound insulation performance between building spaces can be measured by conducting a field test, for example, early during the construction stage or on completion.				
	A field test is conducted in a non-ideal acoustic environment. It is generally not possible to measure the performance of an individual building element accurately as the results can be affected by numerous field conditions.				
Fluctuating Noise	Noise that varies c	ontinuously	to an appreciable extent over the period of observation.		
Free-field	An environment in which there are no acoustic reflective surfaces. Free field noise measurements are carried out outdoors at least 3.5m from any acoustic reflecting structures other than the ground.				
Frequency	Frequency is synonymous to pitch. Sounds have a pitch which is peculiar to the nature of the sound generator. For example, the sound of a tiny bell has a high pitch and the sound of a bass drum has a low pitch. Frequency or pitch can be measured on a scale in units of Hertz or Hz.				

Ground-borne noise	Vibration propagated through the ground and then radiated as noise by vibrating building elements such as wall and floor surfaces. This noise is more noticeable in rooms that are well insulated from other airborne noise. An example would be vibration transmitted from an underground rail line radiating as sound in a bedroom of a building located above.
Habitable Area	Includes a bedroom, living room, lounge room, music room, television room, kitchen, dining room, sewing room, study, playroom, family room, home theatre and sunroom.
	Excludes a bathroom, laundry, water closet, pantry, walk-in wardrobe, corridor, hallway, lobby, photographic darkroom, clothes drying room, and other spaces of a specialised nature occupied neither frequently nor for extended periods.
Heavy Vehicle	A truck, transporter or other vehicle with a gross weight above a specified level (for example: over 8 tonnes).
IGANRIP	Interim Guideline for the Assessment of Noise from Rail Infrastructure Projects, NSW DEC 2007
Impulsive noise	Having a high peak of short duration or a sequence of such peaks. A sequence of impulses in rapid succession is termed repetitive impulsive noise.
INP	NSW Industrial Noise Policy, EPA 1999
Intermittent noise	The level suddenly drops to that of the background noise several times during the period of observation. The time during which the noise remains at levels different from that of the ambient is one second or more.
Intrusive noise	Refers to noise that intrudes above the background level by more than 5 dB(A).
ISEPP	State Environmental Planning Policy (Infrastructure), NSW, 2007
ISEPP Guideline	Development Near Rail Corridors and Busy Roads - Interim Guideline, NSW Department of Planning, December 2008
L1	The sound pressure level that is exceeded for 1% of the time for which the given sound is measured.
L10	The sound pressure level that is exceeded for 10% of the time for which the given sound is measured.
L10(1hr)	The L10 level measured over a 1 hour period.
L10(18hr)	The arithmetic average of the L10(1hr) levels for the 18 hour period between 6am and 12 midnight on a normal working day.
L90	The level of noise exceeded for 90% of the time. The bottom 10% of the sample is the L90 noise level expressed in units of $dB(A)$.
LAeq or Leq	The "equivalent noise level" is the summation of noise events and integrated over a selected period of time, which would produce the same energy as a fluctuating sound level. When A-weighted, this is written as the LAeq.
LAeq(1hr)	The LAeq noise level for a one-hour period. In the context of the NSW EPA's Road Noise Policy it represents the highest tenth percentile hourly A-weighted Leq during the period 7am to 10pm, or 10pm to 7am (whichever is relevant).
LAeq(8hr)	The LAeq noise level for the period 10pm to 6am.
LAeq(9hr)	The LAeq noise level for the period 10pm to 7am.
LAeq(15hr)	The LAeq noise level for the period 7am to 10pm.
LAeq (24hr)	The LAeq noise level during a 24 hour period, usually from midnight to midnight.
Lmax	The maximum sound pressure level measured over a given period. When A-weighted, this is usually written as the LAmax.
Lmin	The minimum sound pressure level measured over a given period. When A-weighted, this is usually written as the LAmin.
Loudness	A rise of 10 dB in sound level corresponds approximately to a doubling of subjective loudness. That is, a sound of 85 dB is twice as loud as a sound of 75 dB which is twice as loud as a sound of 65 dB and so on. That is, the sound of 85 dB is four times or 400% the loudness of a sound of 65 dB.

Microphone	An electro-acoustic transducer which receives an acoustic signal and delivers a corresponding electric signal.
MPE	Moorebank Precinct East
NCA	Noise Catchment Area. An area of study within which the noise environment is substantially constant.
NCG	Noise Criteria Guideline, Roads and Maritime Services (Transport for NSW)
NMG	Noise Mitigation Guideline, Roads and Maritime Services (Transport for NSW)
Noise	Unwanted sound
Pre-construction	Work in respect of the proposed project that includes design, survey, acquisitions, fencing, investigative drilling or excavation, building/road dilapidation surveys, minor clearing (except where threatened species, populations or ecological communities would be affected), establishing ancillary facilities such as site compounds, or other relevant activities determined to have minimal environmental impact (e.g. minor access roads).
Reflection	Sound wave reflected from a solid object obscuring its path.
RING	Rail Infrastructure Noise Guideline, NSW, May 2013
RMS	Root Mean Square value representing the average value of a signal.
Rw	Weighted Sound Reduction Index
	A measure of the sound insulation performance of a building element. It is measured in very controlled conditions in a laboratory.
	The term supersedes the value STC which was used in older versions of the Building Code of Australia. Rw is measured and calculated using the procedure in ISO 717-1. The related field measurement is the DnT,w.
	The higher the value the better the acoustic performance of the building element.
R'w	Weighted Apparent Sound Reduction Index. As for Rw but measured in-situ and therefore subject to the inherent accuracies involved in such a measurement. The higher the value the better the accustic performance of the building element.
RNP	Road Noise Policy, NSW, March 2011
Sabine	A measure of the total acoustic abcorntion provided by a material
Sabire	It is the product of the Absorption Coefficient (alpha) and the surface area of the material (m2). For example, a material with alpha = 0.65 and a surface area of 8.2m2 would have 0.65 x 8.2 = 5.33 Sabine. Sabine is usually calculated for each individual octave band (or third-octave).
SEL	Sound Exposure Level (SEL) is the constant sound level which, if maintained for a period of 1 second would have the same acoustic energy as the measured noise event. SEL noise measurements are useful as they can be converted to obtain Leq sound levels over any period of time and can be used for predicting noise at various locations.
Sound	A fluctuation of air pressure which is propagated as a wave through air.
Sound absorption	The ability of a material to absorb sound energy by conversion to thermal energy.
Sound Insulation	Sound insulation refers to the ability of a construction or building element to limit noise transmission through the building element. The sound insulation of a material can be described by the Rw and the sound insulation between two rooms can be described by the DnT,w.
Sound level meter	An instrument consisting of a microphone, amplifier and indicating device, having a declared performance and designed to measure sound pressure levels.
Sound power level	Ten times the logarithm to the base 10 of the ratio of the sound power of the source to the reference sound power of 1 pico watt.
Sound pressure level	The level of noise, usually expressed in decibels, as measured by a standard sound level meter with a microphone referenced to 20 mico Pascal.
Spoil	Soil or materials arising from excavation activities.

SSFL	Southern Sydney Freight Line
STC	Sound Transmission Class
	A measure of the sound insulation performance of a building element. It is measured in controlled conditions in a laboratory.
	The term has been superseded by Rw.
Structure-borne Noise	Audible noise generated by vibration induced in the ground and/or a structure. Vibration can be generated by impact or by solid contact with a vibrating machine.
	Structure-borne noise cannot be attenuated by barriers or walls but requires the isolation of the vibration source itself. This can be achieved using a resilient element placed between the vibration source and its support such as rubber, neoprene or springs or by physical separation (using an air gap for example).
	Examples of structure-borne noise include the noise of trains in underground tunnels heard to a listener above the ground, the sound of footsteps on the floor above a listener and the sound of a lift car passing in a shaft. See also 'Impact Noise'.
Tonal Noise	Sound containing a prominent frequency and characterised by a definite pitch.
Transmission Loss	The sound level difference between one room or area and another, usually of sound transmitted through an intervening partition or wall. Also the vibration level difference between one point and another.
	For example, if the sound level on one side of a wall is 100dB and 65dB on the other side, it is said that the transmission loss of the wall is 35dB. If the transmission loss is normalised or standardised, it then becomes the Rw or R'w or DnT,w.
Wheelbase	The wheelbase is the distance between the centres of the front and rear wheels on a 2-axle bogie.

B.2 Angle of Attack Monitoring Report - 1 November 2024 and 1 May 2025

Renzo Tonin Report TM306-24-02F02 AoA Report May 2025 (r0)



Acoustics Vibration Structural Dynamics

MOOREBANK INTERMODAL TERMINAL

Six Monthly Review of AoA - May 2025

4 June 2025

The Trust Company (Australia) Limited (ACN 000 000 993) as trustee of the Moorebank Industrial Warehouse Trust

TM306-24-02F02 AoA Report May 2025 (r0).docx





Document details

Detail	Reference
Doc reference:	TM306-24-02F02 AoA Report May 2025 (r0).docx
Prepared for:	The Trust Company (Australia) Limited (ACN 000 000 993) as trustee of the Moorebank Industrial Warehouse Trust
Address:	Level 15, 124 Walker Street North Sydney, NSW, 2060
Attention:	Mark Howley

Document control

Date	Revision history	Non-issued revision	Issued revision	Prepared	Instructed	Reviewed / Authorised
04.06.2025	First Issue	0	1	S. Dixit	C. Weber	C. Weber

File Path: R:\AssocSydProjects\TM301-TM350\TM306 ale Moorebank Intermodal Terminal (LOGOS)\Task24 MPE Monitoring\1 Docs\Report 2 2025-05 AoA\TM306-24-02F02 AoA Report May 2025 (r0).docx

Important Disclaimers:

The work presented in this document was carried out in accordance with the Renzo Tonin & Associates Quality Assurance System, which is based on Australian/New Zealand Standard AS/NZS ISO 9001.

This document is issued subject to review and authorisation by the suitably qualified and experienced person named in the last column above. If no name appears, this document shall be considered as preliminary or draft only and no reliance shall be placed upon it other than for information to be verified later.

This document is prepared for the particular requirements of our Client referred to above in the 'Document details' which are based on a specific brief with limitations as agreed to with the Client. It is not intended for and should not be relied upon by a third party and no responsibility is undertaken to any third party without prior consent provided by Renzo Tonin & Associates. The information herein should not be reproduced, presented or reviewed except in full. Prior to passing on to a third party, the Client is to fully inform the third party of the specific brief and limitations associated with the commission.

In preparing this report, we have relied upon, and presumed accurate, any information (or confirmation of the absence thereof) provided by the Client and/or from other sources. Except as otherwise stated in the report, we have not attempted to verify the accuracy or completeness of any such information. If the information is subsequently determined to be false, inaccurate or incomplete then it is possible that our observations and conclusions as expressed in this report may change.

We have derived data in this report from information sourced from the Client (if any) and/or available in the public domain at the time or times outlined in this report. The passage of time, manifestation of latent conditions or impacts of future events may require further examination and re-evaluation of the data, findings, observations and conclusions expressed in this report.

We have prepared this report in accordance with the usual care and thoroughness of the consulting profession, for the sole purpose described above and by reference to applicable standards, guidelines, procedures and practices at the date of issue of this report. For the reasons outlined above, however, no other warranty or guarantee, whether expressed or implied, is made as to the data, observations and findings expressed in this report, to the extent permitted by law.

The information contained herein is for the purpose of acoustics only. No claims are made and no liability is accepted in respect of design and construction issues falling outside of the specialist field of acoustics engineering including and not limited to structural integrity, fire rating, architectural buildability and fit-for-purpose, waterproofing and the like. Supplementary professional advice should be sought in respect of these issues.

External cladding disclaimer: No claims are made and no liability is accepted in respect of any external wall and/or roof systems (eg facade / cladding materials, insulation etc) that are: (a) not compliant with or do not conform to any relevant non-acoustic legislation, regulation, standard, instructions or Building Codes; or (b) installed, applied, specified or utilised in such a manner that is not compliant with or does not conform to any relevant non-acoustic legislation, regulation, standard, instructions or Building Codes; or (b) installed, applied, specified or utilised in Such a manner that is not compliant with or does not conform to any relevant non-acoustic legislation, regulation, standard, instructions or Building Codes.

Contents

1	Intro	oduction	1
	1.1	Project overview	1
2	Con	npliance Matrix	1
3	Rail	link angle of attack (AoA) monitoring	4
	3.1	AoA monitoring results for current six-month period	4
4	Con	clusion	6
APPE	ENDI)	KA Glossary of terminology	7
List	of ta	ables	
Table	e 1	Compliance matrix	2
List	of fi	gures	
Figur	e 1	Maximum AoA value for each train passby	5

1 Introduction

1.1 Project overview

Renzo Tonin & Associates (RTA) was engaged by The Trust Company (Australia) Limited (ACN 000 000 993) as trustee of the Moorebank Industrial Warehouse Trust, to provide a report that addresses the requirements of Approval Condition G7A of SSD 6766.

The Sydney Intermodal Terminal Alliance (SIMTA) received the initial approval for the construction and operation of Stages 1 and 2 of the Moorebank Precinct East (MPE) Project (SSD 6766 and SSD 7628 respectively), which together comprise the two stages of development under the MPE Concept Approval (MP10_0193). The Trust Company (Australia) Limited is now the proponent for the MPE projects.

This report has been prepared to address the requirements of Approval Condition G7A of SSD 6766, which requires the submission of a six-monthly report to the Secretary, which identifies the number of wagons with wheels that exceed the ASA standard angle of attack and the action taken by operators to improve steering performance.

Appendix A contains a glossary of acoustic terms used in this report.

2 Compliance Matrix

Table 1 provides a summary of the Approval Conditions which relate to this report.

1

Table 1 Compliance matrix

able I	Lompliance matrix		
Condition ID	O Condition	Comments on compliance	Reference for further information
SSD 6766			
G7	The Applicant shall install and maintain a rail noise monitoring system on the rail link at the commencement of operation to continuously monitor the noise from rail operations on the rail link. The system shall capture the noise from each individual train passby noise generation event, and include information to identify:	This condition is not directly related to this report. It is referenced herein on the basis that noise levels from the rail noise monitoring system provides information that may correlate with the Angle of Attack measurement results.	https://moorebankintermodalprecinct.com.au/wp- content/uploads/2023/04/TJ741-04F04-AoA-and- Functional-Spec-for-Permanent-Noise-Monitor- r9 redacted.pdf
	a) Time and date of freight train passbys;		https://moorebanknoisemonitor-
	b) Imagery or video to enable identification of the rolling stock during day and night;		emsbk.trackig.net/NoiseMonitor/
	c) $L_{Aeq(15hour)}$ and $L_{Aeq(9hour)}$ from rail operations; and		
	d) $L_{AF(max)}$ and SEL of individual train passbys, measured in accordance with ISO3095; or		
	e) Other alternative information as agreed with, or required by, the Secretary.		
	The results from the noise monitoring system, shall be publicly accessible from a website maintained by the Applicant. The noise results from each train shall be available on the website within 24 hours of it passing the monitor, unless unforeseen circumstances (i.e a system malfunction) have occurred. The LAeq(15hour) and LAeq(9hr) results from each day shall be available on the website within 24 hours of the period ending.		
	Prior to the commencement of operation, the Applicant shall submit for the approval of the Secretary, justification supporting the appropriateness of the location for rail noise monitoring, including details of any alternative options considered and reasons for these being dismissed. The rail noise monitoring system shall not operate until the Secretary has approved the proposed monitoring location.		
	The Applicant shall provide an annual report to the Secretary with the results of monitoring for a period of 5 years, or as otherwise agreed with the Secretary, from the commencement of operation of the IMEX terminal. The Secretary shall consider the need for further reporting following a review of the results for year 5.		
	from the commencement of operation of the IMEX terminal. The Secretary shall consider the need for further reporting following a review of the results for year 5.		

RENZO TONIN & ASSOCIATES

Condition ID	Condition	Comments on compliance	Reference for further information
G7A	The applicant shall install and maintain a wayside angle of attack monitoring system on the rail link at the commencement of operation to continuously monitor the angle of attack to the rail of rolling stock wheels.	An Angle of Attack (AoA) monitoring system was installed S on the new rail link in May 2020. The monitoring system captures the AoA of each axle passby and compares the measured values with the acceptable value in the applicable Asset Standards Authority minimum operating	Section 3
	The system shall capture the angle of attack from a wheel on each axle of every train, and include information to identify:		
	a) Time and date of each axle passby; and	standard.	
	b) The identification number of each item of rolling stock.	The AoA values for each axle are available to operators in accordance with the approval condition. A Functional and Performance Specification for the permanent noise monitoring system and angle of attack monitoring system was prepared for approval by the Secretary before the rail link commissioning. A summary of the AoA noise monitoring results for the current six month period is provided in Section 3.1. The monitoring identified 19 train passbys where the maximum AoA value exceeded the ASA standard alarm level during the 6-month monitoring period. Two of these AoA exceedance events caused elevated noise levels above LAeq(9hour) 60 dB(A) at the permanent noise monitoring location.	
	The results from the angle of attack monitoring system shall be:		
	• accessible by train operators from a website maintained by the Applicant. Angle of attack results from each train shall be available on the website within 24 hours of it passing the monitor, unless unforeseen circumstances have occurred.		
	• included in a six-monthly report to the Secretary. The report should at least identify the number of wagons with wheels that exceed the ASA standard angle of attack and the action taken by operators to improve steering performance.		
	Prior to the commencement of operation, the Applicant shall submit for the approval of the Secretary, justification supporting the appropriateness of the location for angle of attack monitoring, the format of the information to be accessible to operators and the format of the public report. The angle of attack monitoring system shall not operate until the Secretary has approved the proposed monitoring location and reporting arrangements.		

THE TRUST COMPANY (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED (ACN 000 000 993) TM306-24-02F02 AOA REPORT MAY 2025 (R0).DOCX

ω

RENZO TONIN & ASSOCIATES

3 Rail link angle of attack (AoA) monitoring

The performance of wagon bogies and their ability to negotiate small radius curves without generating curve squeal, is assessed in terms of the angle of attack (AoA) of the wheelset. Acceptable AoA values are defined in Section 2.7.1 of Asset Standards Authority Standard T HR RS 00400 ST¹ and are a function of the curve radius and wheelbase.

An AoA measurement system was installed on the rail link and partially commissioned on 13 May 2020. The system was fully commissioned on 9 July 2020 at the same time as the permanent noise monitoring system. The AoA system is installed on the eastern track.

Justification supporting the appropriateness of the proposed monitoring location is provided in the *Functional and Performance Specification for Permanent Noise Monitor and Proposed Noise and AoA Monitoring Locations*², and was approved by the Secretary.

This report provides a summary of the AoA measurement data for the period between 1 November 2024 and 1 May 2025. In accordance with the requirements of the SSD 6766 Condition G7A, the AoA of a wheel of each axle of each train is captured by the measurement system. This data is accessible by train operators on a website maintained by QUBE.

Below is a summary of the monitoring results.

3.1 AoA monitoring results for current six-month period

This report covers rail movements between 1 November 2024 and 1 May 2025. A summary of the key statistics is provided below:

- Number of valid train passby events 695
- Number of train passby events where the measure AoA values on one or more axles were above the acceptable level defined in Section 2.7.1 of Asset Standards Authority Standard T HR RS 00400 ST – 19 (representing 3% of passbys).

A summary of the maximum AoA value measured for each train is provided in Figure 1.

The results show that the maximum AoA value is typically less than 12 mrad, except for 19 train passbys that had maximum AoA value greater than the established alarm level of approximately 19 mrad. A detailed review of the Angle of Attack (AoA) exceedances identified three wagons that repeatedly triggered AoA alarms.

4

¹ Transport for NSW Asset Standards Authority T HR RS 00400 ST *RSU 400 Series – Minimum Operating Standards for Rolling Stock – Freight Vehicle Specific Interface Requirements* Version 2.0 dated 24 August 2017

² Renzo Tonin & Associates Report TJ741-04F04 AoA and Functional Spec for Permanent Noise Monitor (r8) – available <u>https://moorebankintermodalprecinct.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/TJ741-04F04-AoA-and-Functional-Spec-for-</u> <u>Permanent-Noise-Monitor-r9_redacted.pdf</u>

A detailed review of the AoA exceedances identified three wagons that repeatedly triggered AoA alarms. Wagon CQMY 003013 and CQMY 003058, each exceeded the AoA alarm threshold on four occasions. Wagon CQMY 003099 triggered the AoA alarm on two occasions. It is the same Wagon ID (CQMY 003099) that previously exceeded the AoA alarm level on ten occasions, during 1 May 2024 and 1 November 2024.

The owner of these three wagons (CQMY 003013, CQMY 003058 and CQMY 003099) have been notified of the exceedances and are in the process of determining the required rectification works.

Two of the 19 passby events with AoA alarm levels resulted in elevated noise levels at the permanent noise monitoring location [i.e. where the calculated $L_{Aeq(9hour)}$ noise levels at 30 m were above 60 dB(A)]. Exceedances of the AoA alarm levels were viewed as one-off instances, occurring irregularly.



Figure 1 Maximum AoA value for each train passby

5

4 Conclusion

This report has been prepared to address the requirements of Approval Condition G7A of SSD 6766, which requires the submission of a six-monthly report to the Secretary, which identifies the number of train passbys and wagons with wheels that exceed the ASA standard angle of attack and the action taken by operators to improve steering performance.

For rail movements between 1 November 2024 and 1 May 2025, 19 train passbys had maximum AoA values greater than the established alarm level of approximately 19 mrad. Wagon CQMY 003013 and CQMY 003058, each exceeded the AoA alarm threshold on four occasions. Wagon CQMY 003099 triggered the AoA alarm on two occasions. The owner of these wagons have been notified of these exceedances and are in the process of determining the required rectification works.

Two of 19 train passby events with AoA alarm levels caused elevated noise levels at the permanent noise monitoring location [i.e. where the calculated $L_{Aeq(9hour)}$ noise levels at 30 m were above 60 dB(A)]. Exceedances of the AoA alarm levels were viewed as one-off instances, occurring irregularly.

APPENDIX A Glossary of terminology

The following is a brief description of the technical terms used to describe noise to assist in understanding the technical issues presented.

Absorption Coefficient α	The absorption coefficient of a material, usually measured for each octave or third-octave band and ranging between zero and one. For example, a value of 0.85 for an octave band means that 85% of the sound energy within that octave band is absorbed on coming into contact with the material. Conversely, a low value below about 0.1 means the material is acoustically reflective.
Adverse weather	Weather effects that enhance noise (particularly wind and temperature inversions) occurring at a site for a significant period of time. In the NSW INP this occurs when wind occurs for more than 30% of the time in any assessment period in any season and/or temperature inversions occurring more than 30% of nights in winter.
Air-borne noise	Noise which is fundamentally transmitted by way of the air and can be attenuated by the use of barriers and walls placed physically between the noise source and receiver.
Ambient noise	The all-encompassing noise associated within a given environment at a given time, usually composed of sound from all sources near and far.
ΑοΑ	Angle of Attack - As the wheels on a bogie negotiate a tight curve, the leading wheelset typically presents an Angle-of-Attack (AoA) to the rail. The AoA of a leading wheelset with good steering performance can be calculated from AoA = wheelbase (m) / curve radius (m). AoA is normally measured in milliradian (mrad).
Amenity	A desirable or useful feature or facility of a building or place.
AS	Australian Standard
ASA	Asset Standards Authority
Assessment period	The time period in which an assessment is made. e.g. Day 7am-10pm & Night 10pm-7am.
Assessment Point	A location at which a noise or vibration measurement is taken or estimated.
Attenuation	The reduction in the level of sound or vibration.
Audible Range	The limits of frequency which are audible or heard as sound. The normal hearing in young adults detects ranges from 20 Hz to 20 kHz, although some people can detect sound with frequencies outside these limits.
A-weighting	A filter applied to the sound recording made by a microphone to approximate the response of the human ear.
Background noise	Background noise is the term used to describe the underlying level of noise present in the ambient noise, measured in the absence of the noise under investigation. It is described as the average of the minimum noise levels measured on a sound level meter and is measured statistically as the A-weighted noise level exceeded for ninety percent of a sample period. This is represented as the LA90 noise level if measured as an overall level or an L90 noise level when measured in octave or third-octave bands.
Barrier (Noise)	A natural or constructed physical barrier which impedes the propagation of sound and includes fences, walls, earth mounds or berms and buildings.
Berm	Earth or overburden mound.
Buffer	An area of land between a source and a noise-sensitive receiver and may be an open space or a noise-tolerant land use.
Bund	A bund is an embankment or wall of brick, stone, concrete or other impervious material, which may form part or all of the perimeter of a compound.
PC .	British Standard

CoRTN	United Kingdom Department of Environment entitled "Calculation of Road Traffic Noise (1988)"				
Decibel [dB]	The units that sound is measured in. The following are examples of the decibel readings of common sounds in our environment:				
	threshold of	0 dB	The faintest sound we can hear, defined as 20 micro Pascal		
	hearing	10 dB	Human breathing		
	almost silent	20 dB			
		30 dB	Quiet bedroom or in a quiet national park location		
	generally quiet	40 dB	Library		
		50 dB	Typical office space or ambience in the city at night		
	mederately loud	60 dB	CBD mall at lunch time		
	moderately loud	70 dB	The sound of a car passing on the street		
	law d	80 dB	Loud music played at home		
	loud	90 dB	The sound of a truck passing on the street		
	vendeud	100 dB	Indoor rock band concert		
	very loud	110 dB	Operating a chainsaw or jackhammer		
	extremely loud	120 dB	Jet plane take-off at 100m away		
	threshold of pain	130 dB			
	threshold of pain	140 dB	Military jet take-off at 25m away		
dB(A)	A-weighted decibel. The A- weighting noise filter simulates the response of the human ear at relatively low levels, where the ear is not as effective in hearing low frequency sounds as it is in hearing high frequency sounds. That is, low frequency sounds of the same dB level are not heard as loud as high frequency sounds. The sound level meter replicates the human response of the ear by using an electronic filter which is called the "A" filter. A sound level measured with this filter is denoted as dB(A). Practically all noise is measured using the A filter.				
dB(C)	C-weighted decibels. The C-weighting noise filter simulates the response of the human ear at relatively high levels, where the human ear is nearly equally effective at hearing from mid-low frequency (63Hz) to mid-high frequency (4kHz), but is less effective outside these frequencies. The dB(C) level is not widely used but has some applications.				
Diffraction	The distortion of s	ound wave	s caused when passing tangentially around solid objects.		
DIN	German Standard				
ECRTN	Environmental Crit	eria for Roa	ad Traffic Noise, NSW, 1999		
ENMM	Environmental Noi	ise Manage	ment Manual, Roads and Maritime Services (Transport for NSW)		
EPA	Environment Prote	ection Author	ority		
Field Test	A test of the sound	d insulation	performance in-situ. See also 'Laboratory Test'		
	The sound insulation performance between building spaces can be measured by conducting a field test, for example, early during the construction stage or on completion.				
	A field test is conducted in a non-ideal acoustic environment. It is generally not possible to measure the performance of an individual building element accurately as the results can be affected by numerous field conditions.				
Fluctuating Noise	Noise that varies c	ontinuously	y to an appreciable extent over the period of observation.		
Free-field	An environment in are carried out out ground.	An environment in which there are no acoustic reflective surfaces. Free field noise measurements are carried out outdoors at least 3.5m from any acoustic reflecting structures other than the ground.			
Frequency	Frequency is synonymous to pitch. Sounds have a pitch which is peculiar to the nature of the sound generator. For example, the sound of a tiny bell has a high pitch and the sound of a bass drum has a low pitch. Frequency or pitch can be measured on a scale in units of Hertz or Hz.				

Ground-borne noise	Vibration propagated through the ground and then radiated as noise by vibrating building elements such as wall and floor surfaces. This noise is more noticeable in rooms that are well insulated from other airborne noise. An example would be vibration transmitted from an underground rail line radiating as sound in a bedroom of a building located above.
Habitable Area	Includes a bedroom, living room, lounge room, music room, television room, kitchen, dining room, sewing room, study, playroom, family room, home theatre and sunroom.
	Excludes a bathroom, laundry, water closet, pantry, walk-in wardrobe, corridor, hallway, lobby, photographic darkroom, clothes drying room, and other spaces of a specialised nature occupied neither frequently nor for extended periods.
Heavy Vehicle	A truck, transporter or other vehicle with a gross weight above a specified level (for example: over 8 tonnes).
IGANRIP	Interim Guideline for the Assessment of Noise from Rail Infrastructure Projects, NSW DEC 2007
Impulsive noise	Having a high peak of short duration or a sequence of such peaks. A sequence of impulses in rapid succession is termed repetitive impulsive noise.
INP	NSW Industrial Noise Policy, EPA 1999
Intermittent noise	The level suddenly drops to that of the background noise several times during the period of observation. The time during which the noise remains at levels different from that of the ambient is one second or more.
Intrusive noise	Refers to noise that intrudes above the background level by more than 5 dB(A).
ISEPP	State Environmental Planning Policy (Infrastructure), NSW, 2007
ISEPP Guideline	Development Near Rail Corridors and Busy Roads - Interim Guideline, NSW Department of Planning, December 2008
L1	The sound pressure level that is exceeded for 1% of the time for which the given sound is measured.
L ₁₀	The sound pressure level that is exceeded for 10% of the time for which the given sound is measured.
L10(1hr)	The L ₁₀ level measured over a 1 hour period.
L10(18hr)	The arithmetic average of the $L_{10(1hr)}$ levels for the 18 hour period between 6am and 12 midnight on a normal working day.
L ₉₀	The level of noise exceeded for 90% of the time. The bottom 10% of the sample is the L_{90} noise level expressed in units of dB(A).
L _{Aeq} or L _{eq}	The "equivalent noise level" is the summation of noise events and integrated over a selected period of time, which would produce the same energy as a fluctuating sound level. When A-weighted, this is written as the L_{Aeq} .
LAeq(1hr)	The L _{Aeq} noise level for a one-hour period. In the context of the NSW EPA's Road Noise Policy it represents the highest tenth percentile hourly A-weighted Leq during the period 7am to 10pm, or 10pm to 7am (whichever is relevant).
L _{Aeq(8hr)}	The L _{Aeq} noise level for the period 10pm to 6am.
LAeq(9hr)	The L _{Aeq} noise level for the period 10pm to 7am.
LAeq(15hr)	The L _{Aeq} noise level for the period 7am to 10pm.
LAeq (24hr)	The L _{Aeq} noise level during a 24 hour period, usually from midnight to midnight.
L _{max}	The maximum sound pressure level measured over a given period. When A-weighted, this is usually written as the $L_{\rm Amax}.$
L _{min}	The minimum sound pressure level measured over a given period. When A-weighted, this is usually written as the $L_{\mbox{\rm Amin}}.$
Loudness	A rise of 10 dB in sound level corresponds approximately to a doubling of subjective loudness. That is, a sound of 85 dB is twice as loud as a sound of 75 dB which is twice as loud as a sound of 65 dB and so on. That is, the sound of 85 dB is four times or 400% the loudness of a sound of 65 dB.

Microphone	An electro-acoustic transducer which receives an acoustic signal and delivers a corresponding electric signal.		
MPE	Moorebank Precinct East		
NCA	Noise Catchment Area. An area of study within which the noise environment is substantially constant.		
NCG	Noise Criteria Guideline, Roads and Maritime Services (Transport for NSW)		
NMG	Noise Mitigation Guideline, Roads and Maritime Services (Transport for NSW)		
Noise	Unwanted sound		
Pre-construction	Work in respect of the proposed project that includes design, survey, acquisitions, fencing, investigative drilling or excavation, building/road dilapidation surveys, minor clearing (except where threatened species, populations or ecological communities would be affected), establishing ancillary facilities such as site compounds, or other relevant activities determined to have minimal environmental impact (e.g. minor access roads).		
Reflection	Sound wave reflected from a solid object obscuring its path.		
RING	Rail Infrastructure Noise Guideline, NSW, May 2013		
RMS	Root Mean Square value representing the average value of a signal.		
Rw	Weighted Sound Reduction Index		
	A measure of the sound insulation performance of a building element. It is measured in very controlled conditions in a laboratory.		
	The term supersedes the value STC which was used in older versions of the Building Code of Australia. Rw is measured and calculated using the procedure in ISO 717-1. The related field measurement is the DnT,w.		
	The higher the value the better the acoustic performance of the building element.		
R'w	Weighted Apparent Sound Reduction Index. As for Rw but measured in-situ and therefore subject to the inherent accuracies involved in such a measurement.		
	The higher the value the better the acoustic performance of the building element.		
RNP	Road Noise Policy, NSW, March 2011		
Sabine	A measure of the total acoustic absorption provided by a material.		
	It is the product of the Absorption Coefficient (alpha) and the surface area of the material (m2). For example, a material with alpha = 0.65 and a surface area of 8.2m2 would have 0.65 x 8.2 = 5.33 Sabine.		
	Sabine is usually calculated for each individual octave band (or third-octave).		
SEL	Sound Exposure Level (SEL) is the constant sound level which, if maintained for a period of 1 second would have the same acoustic energy as the measured noise event. SEL noise measurements are useful as they can be converted to obtain Leq sound levels over any period of time and can be used for predicting noise at various locations.		
Sound	A fluctuation of air pressure which is propagated as a wave through air.		
Sound absorption	The ability of a material to absorb sound energy by conversion to thermal energy.		
Sound Insulation	Sound insulation refers to the ability of a construction or building element to limit noise transmission through the building element. The sound insulation of a material can be described by the Rw and the sound insulation between two rooms can be described by the DnT,w.		
Sound level meter	An instrument consisting of a microphone, amplifier and indicating device, having a declared performance and designed to measure sound pressure levels.		
Sound power level	Ten times the logarithm to the base 10 of the ratio of the sound power of the source to the reference sound power of 1 pico watt.		
Sound pressure level	The level of noise, usually expressed in decibels, as measured by a standard sound level meter with a microphone referenced to 20 mico Pascal.		
Spoil	Soil or materials arising from excavation activities.		

SSFL	Southern Sydney Freight Line
STC	Sound Transmission Class
	A measure of the sound insulation performance of a building element. It is measured in controlled conditions in a laboratory.
	The term has been superseded by Rw.
Structure-borne Noise	Audible noise generated by vibration induced in the ground and/or a structure. Vibration can be generated by impact or by solid contact with a vibrating machine.
	Structure-borne noise cannot be attenuated by barriers or walls but requires the isolation of the vibration source itself. This can be achieved using a resilient element placed between the vibration source and its support such as rubber, neoprene or springs or by physical separation (using an air gap for example).
	Examples of structure-borne noise include the noise of trains in underground tunnels heard to a listener above the ground, the sound of footsteps on the floor above a listener and the sound of a lift car passing in a shaft. See also 'Impact Noise'.
Tonal Noise	Sound containing a prominent frequency and characterised by a definite pitch.
Transmission Loss	The sound level difference between one room or area and another, usually of sound transmitted through an intervening partition or wall. Also the vibration level difference between one point and another.
	For example, if the sound level on one side of a wall is 100dB and 65dB on the other side, it is said that the transmission loss of the wall is 35dB. If the transmission loss is normalised or standardised, it then becomes the Rw or R'w or DnT,w.
Wheelbase	The wheelbase is the distance between the centres of the front and rear wheels on a 2-axle bogie.

B.3 Warehouse E7 CoC B85 Noise Monitoring Report

Renzo Tonin & Associates Report TM306-05F02 E7 Warehouse B85 Operational Noise Monitoring (r1)



Acoustics Vibration Structural Dynamics

MOOREBANK INTERMODAL PRECINCT EAST

Monitoring Report for Mechanical Plant (SSD 7628 B85) - Warehouse E7

24 January 2025

The Trust Company (Australia) Limited (ACN 000 000 993) as trustee of the Moorebank Industrial Warehouse Trust c/- Tactical Group

TM306-05F02 E7 Warehouse B85 Operational Noise Monitoring (r1).docx





Document details

Detail	Reference
Doc reference:	TM306-05F02 E7 Warehouse B85 Operational Noise Monitoring (r1).docx
Prepared for:	The Trust Company (Australia) Limited (ACN 000 000 993) as trustee of the Moorebank Industrial Warehouse Trust c/- Tactical Group
Attention:	Mark Howley

Document control

Date	Revision history	Non-issued revision	Issued revision	Prepared	Instructed	Reviewed / Authorised
24.01.2025	Initial issue (draft)	0	1	A. Leslie	A. Leslie	P. Karantonis

File Path: R:\AssocSydProjects\TM301-TM350\TM306 ale Moorebank Intermodal Terminal (LOGOS)\Task5 Monitoring\1 Docs\04 MPE E7\TM306-05F02 E7 Warehouse B85 Operational Noise Monitoring (r1).docx

Important Disclaimers:

The work presented in this document was carried out in accordance with the Renzo Tonin & Associates Quality Assurance System, which is based on Australian/New Zealand Standard AS/NZS ISO 9001.

This document is issued subject to review and authorisation by the suitably qualified and experienced person named in the last column above. If no name appears, this document shall be considered as preliminary or draft only and no reliance shall be placed upon it other than for information to be verified later.

This document is prepared for the particular requirements of our Client referred to above in the 'Document details' which are based on a specific brief with limitations as agreed to with the Client. It is not intended for and should not be relied upon by a third party and no responsibility is undertaken to any third party without prior consent provided by Renzo Tonin & Associates. The information herein should not be reproduced, presented, or reviewed except in full. Prior to passing on to a third party, the Client is to fully inform the third party of the specific brief and limitations associated with the commission.

In preparing this report, we have relied upon, and presumed accurate, any information (or confirmation of the absence thereof) provided by the Client and/or from other sources. Except as otherwise stated in the report, we have not attempted to verify the accuracy or completeness of any such information. If the information is subsequently determined to be false, inaccurate, or incomplete then it is possible that our observations and conclusions as expressed in this report may change.

We have derived data in this report from information sourced from the Client (if any) and/or available in the public domain at the time or times outlined in this report. The passage of time, manifestation of latent conditions or impacts of future events may require further examination and re-evaluation of the data, findings, observations and conclusions expressed in this report.

We have prepared this report in accordance with the usual care and thoroughness of the consulting profession, for the sole purpose described above and by reference to applicable standards, guidelines, procedures and practices at the date of issue of this report. For the reasons outlined above, however, no other warranty or guarantee, whether expressed or implied, is made as to the data, observations and findings expressed in this report, to the extent permitted by law.

The information contained herein is for the purpose of acoustics only. No claims are made and no liability is accepted in respect of design and construction issues falling outside of the specialist field of acoustics engineering including and not limited to structural integrity, fire rating, architectural buildability and fit-for-purpose, waterproofing and the like. Supplementary professional advice should be sought in respect of these issues.

External cladding: No claims are made and no liability is accepted in respect of any external wall and/or roof systems (eg facade / cladding materials, insulation etc) that are: (a) not compliant with or do not conform to any relevant non-acoustic legislation, regulation, standard, instructions or Building Codes; or (b) installed, applied, specified or utilised in such a manner that is not compliant with or does not conform to any relevant non-acoustic legislation, regulation, standard, instructions or Building Codes.

THE TRUST COMPANY (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED (ACN 000 000 993) AS TRUSTEE OF THE MOOREBANK INDUSTRIAL WAREHOUSE TRUST C/-TACTICAL GROUP

TM306-05F02 E7 WAREHOUSE B85 OPERATIONAL NOISE MONITORING (R1).DOCX

MOOREBANK INTERMODAL PRECINCT EAST MONITORING REPORT FOR MECHANICAL PLANT (SSD 7628 B85) -WAREHOUSE E7

Contents

1	Intro	oduction	5
	1.1	Monitoring report purpose	5
	1.2	Warehouse operations description – Warehouse E7 (Tenant: Mainfreight)	6
		1.2.1 Location	6
		1.2.2 Operational activities and facilities and hours of operation	6
		1.2.3 Mechanical plant and other noisy equipment	7
2	Nea	rby sensitive receivers	8
3	Sum	mary of noise objectives	10
	3.1	Operational noise limits	10
	3.2	Discussion of assessment noise limits	11
	3.3	CoC B85 assessment noise requirements	12
		3.3.1 Requirements	12
		3.3.2 Noise monitoring timing	13
4	Mea	surement methodology and results	14
	4.1	Noise monitoring approach	14
	4.2	Compliance measurement methodology	15
		4.2.1 Noise monitoring	15
		4.2.2 Data analysis and assessment	15
	4.3	Instrumentation	16
	4.4	Meteorological conditions	16
5	Mor	itoring and analysis	18
	5.1	Key mechanical plant and equipment noise sources	18
	5.2	Noise monitoring	19
		5.2.1 Receiver noise monitoring	19
		5.2.2 Intermediate noise monitoring	20
		5.2.3 Onsite noise measurements	21
		5.2.4 Unattended noise measurements	23
	5.3	Mechanical plant and equipment noise source levels	23
6	CoC	B85 operational noise modelling and assessment	25
	6.1	General modelling assumptions and methods	25
	6.2	Noise model performance	25
	6.3	Assessment operational scenarios	27
	6.4	Noise compliance assessment	28
7	Con	clusion	30
APPE	ENDIX	(A Glossary of terminology	32
APPE	ENDIX	KB Noise monitoring survey information	34

THE TRUST COMPANY (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED (ACN 000 000 993) AS TRUSTEE OF THE MOOREBANK INDUSTRIAL WAREHOUSE TRUST C/-TACTICAL GROUP TM306-05F02 E7 WAREHOUSE B85 OPERATIONAL NOISE MONITORING

TM306-05F02 E7 WAREHOUSE B85 OPERATIONAL NOISE MONITORING (R1).DOCX

MOOREBANK INTERMODAL PRECINCT EAST MONITORING REPORT FOR MECHANICAL PLANT (SSD 7628 B85) -WAREHOUSE E7

38

APPENDIX C Logger location – Warehouse E7 roof

List of tables

Table 1	Noise sensitive receivers and approximate distance from MPE Warehouse E7	8
Table 2	SSD 7628 CoC B80 noise limits, dB(A)	10
Table 3	Noise measurement equipment	16
Table 4	Attended noise measurement surveys weather observations	17
Table 5	Receiver attended noise measurement results (17 May 2024)	20
Table 6	Intermediate noise measurement results (17 May 2024)	21
Table 7	On-site attended mechanical plant noise measurement results (17 May 2024)	22
Table 8	CoC B85 operational noise compliance noise source levels	23
Table 9	Comparison between measured and modelled noise levels – Between site and receiver	27
Table 10	Comparison between measured and modelled noise levels - Roof intermediate monitoring locations (17/5/2024)	27
Table 11	CoC B85 operational noise levels – Mechanical plant and equipment - Warehouse E7	29
Table 12	Attended noise monitoring results (receivers) (monitoring locations shown in Figure 3)	35
Table 13	Attended noise monitoring results (intermediate) (monitoring locations shown in Figure 4)	37

List of figures

Figure 1	Warehouse E7 location, MIP, MPE and MPW precincts	9
Figure 2	Key mechanical plant noise source locations and unattended noise monitor location	18
Figure 3	Key receiver noise monitoring locations	19
Figure 4	Key intermediate noise monitoring locations	20
Figure 5	Noise model performance review noise monitoring locations	26

1 Introduction

1.1 Monitoring report purpose

Renzo Tonin & Associates was engaged by Logos Investment Management (Logos) on behalf of The Trust Company (Australia) Limited (ACN 000 000 993) as trustee of the Moorebank Industrial Warehouse Trust to undertake noise monitoring of the warehouse mechanical plant and other noisy equipment to satisfy the State Significant Development (SSD) 7628 B85 consent condition (CoC) for Warehouse E7. Warehouse E7 is located within the Moorebank Precinct East (MPE), which forms part of the Moorebank Intermodal Precinct (MIP) at Moorebank, NSW. Warehouse E7 is currently tenanted by the third party logistics provider Mainfreight.

During the May 2024 SSD 7628 B85 noise monitoring, it was identified that one of the fans (Dangerous Good exhaust fan) was operating at noise levels louder than would be expected to manage cumulative noise emissions from the warehouse.

Accordingly, further acoustic mitigation measures were investigated and are currently being implemented to reduce the noise emissions from this fan. As such, the operational noise emissions were not operating as per typical and a valid representation of final noise levels could not be measured. This report has been prepared with the temporary operational noise emissions from the fan, and as such, the noise levels in this report do not reflect the final noise emission levels. However, the final noise levels are expected to be lower once the acoustic mitigation works are complete. Once the works are complete, noise measurements will be undertaken to confirm noise emission levels. This report will then be updated to reflect these final operational noise levels so that valid operational noise emissions could be quantified.

The Sydney Intermodal Terminal Alliance (SIMTA) received approval for the construction and operation of Stage 2 of the MPE development, State Significant Development (SSD) 7628. The approval includes 300,000m² GFA of warehousing. These warehouse operations, including the site that is operated by Mainfreight (Warehouse E7), fall under the area and activities approved as part of SSD 7628.

Specifically, this report has been prepared to address the noise emissions from the fixed mechanical plant and equipment of the warehouse that operate as part of typical warehouse operations in accordance CoC B85 of SSD 7628, and as detailed in the MPE Operational Noise and Vibration Management Plan¹ (MPE ONVMP).

SSD 7628 Consent Condition B85 requires noise monitoring of valid data for comparison against the mechanical plant and equipment noise levels predicted in the SSD 7628 Consent Condition B84 assessment prepared by Pulse White Noise Acoustics (PWNA) (*LOGOS MPE 6 & 7 – Acoustic Design*

(R1).DOCX

¹ Arcadis & Renzo Tonin & Associates, Operational Noise and Vibration Management Plan for Moorebank Logistics Park – East Precinct, Revision 013, dated 24/01/2023, reference PREC-QPMS-EN-PLN-0008, available https://moorebankintermodalprecinct.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/ONVMP_V13_clean_compiled_Redactedcompressed.pdf, accessed 21/07/2024

Report, Report number: 220518 - LOGOS MPE 6&7 - Acoustic Design Report – R5, 28 March 2023) (B84 assessment).

This report is technical in nature and uses acoustic terminology throughout. APPENDIX A contains a glossary of acoustic terms used in this report.

1.2 Warehouse operations description – Warehouse E7 (Tenant: Mainfreight)

1.2.1 Location

The MIP is located approximately 27 kilometres south-west of the Sydney Central Business District and approximately 26 kilometres west of Port Botany, within the Liverpool Local Government Area. The MIP is divided into an East Precinct and a West Precinct, located east and west of Moorebank Avenue respectively, as shown in Figure 1.

1.2.2 Operational activities and facilities and hours of operation

Warehouse E7 is tenanted by Mainfreight, a third party logistics provider. The key components of Warehouse E7 and the various day to day activities that occur are as follows:

- Warehouse separated into two sections (7A and 7B) with an internal dividing wall:
 - Temperature controlled warehouse storage facility (Warehouse 7A eastern side)
 - Ambient temperature warehouse (Warehouse 7B western side)
- Storage of goods
- Warehouse (7A/7B) northern side:
 - Despatching and receiving truck movements in and out of the facility. Typically via sideloading with forklifts on the hardstand at the on-grade docks. For recessed loading docks, this is typically for container trucks, where containers are unloaded typically is via forklift via the rear from within the warehouse space.
 - Forklift (electric and gas) operations on hardstand
- Warehouse (7A/7B) southern side:
 - Receipt and despatch of containers from the MPE IMEX terminal
 - Internal packing and unpacking of containers
- General office administrative and support functions, two offices, one for Warehouse 7A and one for Warehouse 7B.

Mainfreight's warehouse and distribution observed activities typically occur 4:00am to 5:00pm Monday to Friday, with the mechanical plant and equipment operating 24 hours per day, 7 days per week. The truck despatch and receiving activities occur on the northern and southern side of the warehouse including both at-grade and in recessed loading docks. Additionally, on the southern side of the warehouse containers from the IMEX terminal are transported to and from via reach stacker or combilift and stored for unloading from within the warehouse along the southern side of the warehouse.

(R1).DOCX

1.2.3 Mechanical plant and other noisy equipment

The following fixed mechanical plant and equipment operate as part of typical warehouse operations, which are further detailed in Section 5.1.

- Warehouse 7A (warehouse east)
 - Package units for maintaining a consistent temperature within Warehouse 7A.
 - Dangerous good (DG) area fan
 - Smoke exhaust fans (do not form part of typical operations, and were observed not to operate during normal operations)
 - Office area air-conditioning plant and equipment
 - Office area fans
 - Office area refrigeration compressors
 - Mechanical plant for dock office, including air-conditioning plant and intake/discharge openings.
 - Warehouse 7B (warehouse west)
 - Office area air-conditioning plant and equipment
 - Office area fans
 - Mechanical plant for dock office, including air-conditioning plant and intake/discharge openings.

2 Nearby sensitive receivers

The potentially affected residential receivers nearby to Warehouse E7 around MPE are located in the suburbs of Casula, Glenfield, Wattle Grove and Wattle Grove North. The closest and potentially most affected residential receivers are located within Wattle Grove.

A summary of the approximate distance to the nearest residential receivers in the surrounding area are provided in Table 1, as identified in SSD 7628 CoC B80. The locations of the residential noise catchment areas (NCAs) are shown in Figure 1.

Table 1	Noise sensitive receivers and approximate distance from MPE Warehouse E	7
---------	---	---

Noise Catchment Area (NCA)	Receiver type	Approximate distance from Warehouse E7, metres
Wattle Grove (NCA1)		440
Wattle Grove North (NCA2)	- Residential	1,490
Casula (NCA3)		1,440
Glenfield (NCA4)		1,860

Figure 1 Warehouse E7 location, MIP, MPE and MPW precincts



24 JANUARY 2025

TM306-05F02

TRUST

3 Summary of noise objectives

This report has been prepared to address the noise emissions from the fixed mechanical plant and equipment of the warehouse that operate as part of typical warehouse operations in accordance CoC B85 of SSD 7628, and as detailed in the MPE ONVMP.

CoC B85 requires that the monitored noise levels be compared against the predicted levels reviewed in accordance with CoC B84. The CoC B84 noise assessment, is required to demonstrate that the plant and equipment has been selected to meet the overall noise limits specified in SSD 7628 CoC B80 (Table 5). As such, the following section outlines the requirements for both CoC B85 and the overall CoC B80 (Table 5) noise limits.

3.1 Operational noise limits

The operational noise limits applicable for the warehouse operations within MPE are presented in Table 5 of SSD 7628 CoC B80 and are reproduced in Table 2 below. These noise limits are as per Table 3-5 of the MPE ONVMP. The noise limits are applicable not only to all operational noise sources approved under SSD 7628 but are inclusive of operations as part of MPE Stage 1 (approval SSD 6766).

The $L_{Aeq(15 minute)}$ criteria are applicable during the day, evening and night-time periods and the $L_{A1 (1 minute)}$ sleep disturbance noise limits are applicable during the night-time period.

The noise limits are applicable under prevailing meteorological conditions of wind speeds of up to 3 m/s at 10 metres above ground level or stability category 'F' temperature inversion conditions.

Sensitive receiver	Day ¹	Evening ¹	Night ¹	Night ¹
Sensitive receiver	LAeq, 15 minute	LAeq, 15 minute	LAeq, 15 minute	LA1 (1 min)
Wattle Grove (NCA 1)	35	35	35	52
Wattle Grove North (NCA 2)	35	35	35	52
Casula (NCA 3)	35	35	35	52
Glenfield (NCA 4)	35	35	35	52

Table 2	SSD 7628 CoC B80 noise lim	its, dB(A)
---------	----------------------------	------------

Notes:

1. In accordance with the INP, day is the period from 7:00 am to 6:00 pm Monday to Saturday; or 8:00 am to 6:00 pm on Sundays and public holidays; evening is the period from 6:00 pm to 10:00 pm; and night is the remaining periods.

 To determine compliance with the L_{A1} noise limits, noise from the project is to be measured at 1 metre from the dwelling façade. Where it can be demonstrated that direct measurement of noise from the project is impractical, the EPA may accept alternative means of determining compliance (see Chapter 7 of the NPfI).

4. The noise emission limits identified above apply under meteorological conditions of:

(i) wind speeds of up to 3 m/s at 10 metres above ground level; or

(ii) 'F' atmospheric stability class.

THE TRUST COMPANY (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED (ACN 000 000 993) AS TRUSTEE OF THE MOOREBANK INDUSTRIAL WAREHOUSE TRUST C/- TACTICAL GROUP TM306-05F02 E7 WAREHOUSE B85 OPERATIONAL NOISE MONITORING (R1).DOCX MOOREBANK INTERMODAL PRECINCT EAST MONITORING REPORT FOR MECHANICAL PLANT (SSD 7628 B85) -WAREHOUSE E7

^{2.} To determine compliance with the L_{Aeq,15 minute} noise limits, noise from the development is to be measured at the most affected point within the residential boundary, or at the most affected point within 30 metres of a dwelling where the dwelling is more than 30 metres from the boundary. Where it can be demonstrated that direct measurement of noise from the project is impractical, the EPA may accept alternative means of determining compliance (see Chapter 7 Noise Policy for Industry - NPfl) The modification factors in Section 4 of the INP must also be applied to the measured noise levels where applicable.

3.2 Discussion of assessment noise limits

As noted in Section 3.1, the noise limits detailed in SSD 7628 CoC B80 are applicable not only to all operational noise sources approved under SSD 7628, but are also inclusive of operations as part of the MPE Stage 1 approval for SSD 6766. Importantly, when assessing compliance with these noise limits, the most affected residential receiver for any individual operations will not necessarily be at the same location. Additionally, it is unlikely that the reasonable worst-case noise levels from any individual operations would also occur in the same 15-minute period.

As part of the SSD 7709 Moorebank Precinct West (MPW) – Stage 2 Modification 1 (SSD 7709 MOD 1) submitted July 2020, a review of the applicable operational noise requirements across Moorebank Precinct West (MPW) and Moorebank Precinct East (MPE) was undertaken (Renzo Tonin and Associates document reference *TJ741-11F05 (r4)*, dated 30 June 2020). The review identified that there are a number of approval conditions that are applicable across both the MPW and MPE sites for operational noise, and that in the application of these approvals to the site activities it became apparent that the operational noise requirements were not consistent across the MPE and MPW sites.

Additionally, the review identified that the operational noise limits across MPE and MPW were set substantially below both the noise criteria and the predicted noise levels (even with feasible and reasonable mitigation measures) established during the environmental assessment stages for the cumulative operational noise levels from all MPE and MPW operations.

As such, the review recommended that an overall approach for cumulative operational noise management of the MIP (for East and West precincts) for a "*whole of complex*" approach be adopted, and that consistent noise management objectives for the Moorebank intermodal terminal precinct's operational noise be adopted to cover all operations within MPE and MPW. Appropriate and achievable noise management objectives consistent with EPA's noise policies were also developed in the review.

Following the modification application for SSD 7709 (MOD 1), the submission received from the NSW Environment Protection Authority (NSW EPA) noted the following:

However, the current noise limits are set below the predicted noise levels and are not based on the Project Specific Noise Levels (PSNL) derived under the then-applicable Industrial Noise Policy 2000 (now superseded by the Noise Policy for Industry 2017).... The EPA considers that the resulting noise limits are not achievable for MPW, nor are they achievable for the cumulative MPW and MPE sites.

Additionally, Liverpool City Council included in their submission:

Council considers that site regulation in regard to noise management may be assisted by adopting a precinct approach consistent with the NSW EPA's Noise Policy for Industry (2017).... Whilst it is acknowledged that current criteria in the Approval may be impracticable, it will be necessary for the Department to consider applying suitable noise limits that are achievable and capable of protecting the amenity and wellbeing of sensitive receivers.

SSD 7709 MOD 1 was approved 24 December 2021, along with the revised cumulative noise goals for the overall MIP (MPW & MPE). However, these have not then been adjusted as part of the relevant MPE approvals (SSD 6766 and SSD 7628). Noting the above regulator comments, it is appropriate to assume that the overall MIP (MPW & MPE) operational noise emissions should be managed consistent with the SSD 7709 MOD 1 update, and this will likely be incorporated into a future modification of in SSD 7628.

However, independent of this, as the updates have not yet occurred, this assessment has been done against the existing SSD 7628 noise limit requirements, without further considerations of cumulative MIP noise emissions. These comments have been included for important context relating to cumulative noise considerations.

3.3 CoC B85 assessment noise requirements

3.3.1 Requirements

The management of operational noise emissions from warehouse mechanical plant and equipment activities within MPE Stage 2 is outlined in the MPE ONVMP. Specifically, this report has been prepared to address the requirements of CoC B85 in SSD 7628, as detailed in Section 4.1.1 of the MPE ONVMP.

This report includes noise monitoring performed to address the requirements in CoC B85 as detailed in Table 4-1 in Section 4.1.1 of the MPE ONVMP.

The requirements of CoC B85 state:

B85 The Applicant must carry out noise monitoring of mechanical plant and other noisy equipment for a minimum period of one week where valid data is collected following occupation of each warehouse. The monitoring program must be carried out by a suitably qualified and experienced person(s) and a **Monitoring Report for Mechanical Plant** must be submitted to the Secretary within two months of occupation or each tenancy to verify predicted mechanical plant and equipment noise levels.

CoC B85 requires that the monitored noise levels be compared against the predicted levels reviewed in accordance with CoC B84.

An assessment of mechanical plant and equipment noise levels was prepared by Pulse White Noise Acoustics (PWNA) (LOGOS MPE 6 & 7 – Acoustic Design Report, Report number: 220518 - LOGOS MPE 6&7 - Acoustic Design Report – R5, 28 March 2023) (B84 assessment). However, this report did not provide specific warehouse predicted noise levels for all nearby noise sensitive receivers for verification under CoC B85. Instead, the report identified that noise emissions have been designed to achieve the overall noise levels presented in Table 5 of CoC B80 of 35 dB(A) L_{Aeq 15minute}, during all time periods.

Table 3-20 and Table 3-21 of the MPE ONVMP detail the predicted L_{Aeq 15 minute} intrusiveness and L_{Amax} sleep disturbance noise levels respectively for the overall MPE operations at the Environmental Assessment stage. Although these are for the overall MPE operations and not for an individual

warehouse, they can be used as reference for consistency verification CoC B85 as per the monitoring requirements detailed in Table 4-1 in Section 4.1.1 of the MPE ONVMP.

Additionally, it is understood that Warehouse E7 has incorporated noise mitigation measures, to achieve noise levels being adopted by Logos that are lower than those required by CoC B80 to assist with their overall management of cumulative noise emissions.

It should also be noted that the monitoring is to be undertaken "... for a minimum period of one week where valid data is collected". As such, it is important that operations are representative of typical operations for the monitored data to be valid. This is of note for this assessment, as the monitored noise levels were determined to not be representative of the future operational noise emissions, as further noise mitigation measures are being implemented, and so the results presented in this report represent interim noise emissions.

3.3.2 Noise monitoring timing

It is understood that the Warehouse E7 was occupied November 2023, with warehouse operations commencing and starting to ramp up during late 2023/early 2024.

However, during this initial operations period construction works were still being undertaken and were underway until April 2024. During this time period the tenant warehouse operations were still ramping up to typical levels. As such, monitoring of valid noise data could not be conducted. As such, the earliest period when valid noise monitoring data could be collected was from May 2024. Noise monitoring was then undertaken mid-May 2024, due to a two week delay to allow for appropriate weather conditions during the monitoring period.

It is noted that the Mainfreight facility had ramped up operations to around 70% capacity at the time of the noise monitoring. The assessment herein has been performed to assess the potential noise impact of current operations as the key operational noise sources were running at suitable capacity (eg. temperature controlled mechanical plant/equipment).

During the May 2024 noise monitoring period, it was identified that one of the fans (Dangerous Good exhaust fan) was operating at noise levels louder than would be expected for managing cumulative noise emissions from the warehouse. Accordingly, further acoustic mitigation measures were investigated and are currently being implemented to reduce the noise emissions from this fan.

This report presents the mechanical plant and equipment noise emissions during this interim time period while further mitigation measures are being implemented. Following the completion of these works, final noise monitoring will be undertaken to confirm the final valid mechanical plant and equipment noise emissions.

4 Measurement methodology and results

4.1 Noise monitoring approach

The NSW Environment Protection Authority's (EPA) *Noise Policy for Industry* (NPfI) provides guidance in Chapter 7 for monitoring the performance of a noise-generating industrial facility. NPfI Section 7.1.1 provides guidance as to how to review noise emissions, which includes direct measurement at a receiver location, direct measurement at alternative or intermediate location/s, unattended monitoring and modelling, in order or preferred to least preferred. It notes that this range of compliance assessment techniques may be used individually, or in combination, to provide a means of determining compliance with a noise limit. At times, the best available compliance assessment methodology will only allow for a balance-of-probabilities type determination of compliance, and repeat assessment may be needed. It also makes clear that "A noise limit applies to the noise from a particular development/activity and not to general ambient noise. Therefore it is often necessary to use techniques to attempt to separate the noise from a facility versus noise from other sources."

For the CoC B85 Warehouse E7 assessment, the following points were considered:

- A site inspection undertaken on 21 March 2024, identified that at the residences in the closest residences in Wattle Grove operational noise emissions were not audible or distinguishable in the direction of the Warehouse E7.
- The Warehouse E7 mechanical plant were expected to be more than 10 dB below the existing noise levels, measured at the surrounding NCAs by RTA during previous MIP noise monitoring, and based upon a review of the Wattle Grove permanent noise monitoring station data prior to the commencement of Warehouse E7 operations for the quietest night period (3:00am to 5:00am). This previous attended noise monitoring found the existing ambient noise levels to typically be greater than 40 dB(A) L_{Aeq15min}, and controlled by noise sources outside of MIP, such as road traffic noise (ie. M5 and Hume Highway road traffic noise).
- Access to intermediate locations between Wattle Grove residences and Warehouse E7 was possible.
- A number of co-located warehouse and industrial operations, including the IMEX terminal, operate co-currently within the MIP, in particular across MPE.
- Noise source locations are both roof mounted and ground level mounted.

Noting the above points, and that the existing ambient noise levels are already high at receivers compared with the expected noise emission levels at receivers, quantification of the noise under investigation via direct noise measurement of operational noise emissions from the warehouse mechanical plant and equipment operations is not possible at the residential receiver locations or easily accomplished at intermediate locations because of poor signal-to-noise. The NPfl also provides guidance about using noise modelling to review the performance of an industrial operation that is co-located with separate but noise-generating industrial sites impacting the same receiver, similar to the Warehouse E7 within the MIP situation.

As such, the CoC B85 noise monitoring has used a combination of on-site and intermediate location attended noise measurements, unattended monitoring, and noise modelling to quantify the noise emission performance of the warehouse mechanical plant and equipment.

4.2 Compliance measurement methodology

The noise monitoring undertaken to satisfy the requirements of CoC B85 has included the following noise monitoring and assessment steps.

4.2.1 Noise monitoring

The following noise monitoring was undertaken:

- 1. **Unattended noise monitoring** nearby to the key mechanical plant items for a period of 10 days, to confirm the noise levels of the mechanical plant when operations occurred.
- 2. **On-site attended measurement** of all mechanical plant and other noisy equipment items to quantify noise emission levels of mechanical plant and equipment that operate as part of the Warehouse E7 operations (Section 5.2.3).
- 3. Receiver and intermediate attended measurements to confirm that the mechanical plant and other noisy equipment items were not quantifiable at the nearest critical receiver locations (Wattle Grove), and/or assist with contribution estimations of noise emissions levels, and provide noise monitor data to aid with confirming the performance of the noise model used to determine noise emission estimations at receivers. For the estimate warehouse mechanical noise contribution at the intermediate and receiver locations, where noise in the direction Warehouse E7 is not audible, it is assumed that the warehouse mechanical noise contribution is at least 10dB(A) below the corresponding measured L_{A90} or L_{Amin} 15minute noise level as appropriate.

4.2.2 Data analysis and assessment

Following the noise monitoring, the following steps were undertaken to assess the noise level contributions at the nearby sensitive receivers:

- 1. **Noise source analysis** Review the mechanical plant and equipment attended measurement data, analyse results and quantify noise source levels from all the fixed mechanical plant and equipment for Warehouse E7.
- 2. Noise model setup and performance review Setup and calibrate the noise model for individual mechanical plant items, including the temperature control roof mounted package units, main office mechanical plant and equipment as well as the dock office mechanical equipment for the assessment of reasonable worst-case noise operations.
- 3. **Noise emission quantification** Calculate the fixed mechanical plant and equipment noise levels from the Warehouse E7 operations to all nearby surrounding receivers and determine the noise level contribution at the property with the highest noise levels within each NCA.
4.3 Instrumentation

A range of noise monitoring equipment was used to undertake the compliance noise monitoring. A summary of measurement equipment and calibration dates is provided in Table 3.

All of the noise monitoring equipment are Class 1 instruments, with calibration certificates current at the time of the measurements. Before and after each series of measurements, the calibration of the sound level meters was verified using a reference calibration of 94 dB at 1 kHz. The difference between preand post-calibration levels was within 0.5 dB for all measurements.

Monitoring location/ purpose	Monitoring period used (2024)	Equipment (RTA ref.)	Serial number	Last date calibrated
On-site attended noise measurements	17/5/2024	NTi XL2 (RTA07-008)	A2A-08520-E0	18/08/2023
On-site attended noise measurements	17/5/2024	NTi XL2 (RTA07-009)	A2A-09356-E0	24/07/2023
On-site attended noise measurements	24/5/2024	NTi XL2 (XL2-A)	A2A-20889-E0	26/10/2023
On-site attended noise measurements	24/5/2024	NTi XL2 (RTA06-010)	A2A-05811-E0	28/02/2023
Unattended on-site noise measurements (E7 Roof)	14/5/2024 - 24/5/2024	NTi XL2 (RTA07-021)	A2A-13529-E0	31/01/2024
Unattended on-site noise measurements (South-east corner) ¹	14/5/2024 - 24/5/2024 ¹	NTi XL2 (RTA07-018)	A2A-12693-E0	17/07/2023
Field calibration	14/5/2024	B&K 4231	2545601	15/01/2024
Field calibration	14/5/2024	B&K 4231	3009707	16/01/2024
Field calibration	17/5/2024	B&K 4231	2545601	15/01/2024
Field calibration	24/5/2024	B&K 4231	2677710	15/01/2024

Table 3	Noise	measurement	equi	pment
---------	-------	-------------	------	-------

Notes: 1. Only used in Section 6.2, and so only short period data has been used.

4.4 Meteorological conditions

Meteorological conditions during the period of noise measurement surveys have been reviewed to determine the prevailing wind and temperature inversion conditions were appropriate. For a period of the monitoring, data from the MIP meteorological data monitoring station adjacent to Bushmaster Avenue, established in accordance with SSD 7709 (MPW Stage 2) CoC A54, has been sourced and reviewed.

During the attended noise measurement periods at Warehouse E7 and the nearby receivers, the weather conditions were as detailed in Table 4.

Date / Time period	Air temperature, ℃	Relative humidity, %	Average wind speed (at 10 m above ground level), m/s	Wind direction, degrees and Cardinal	Cloud cover	Rain
17/5/2024 3:30AM – 6:00AM Receivers/ Intermediate monitoring	12 to 13	96	Up to 1 m/s	Ranged from SW to WNW	Clear skies throughout	None
17/5/2024 6:00AM – 3:00PM Onsite monitoring	12 to 41	45 to 96	Up to 2 m/s	Generally ranged from WSW to N	Clear skies throughout	None

Table 4 Attended noise measurement surveys weather observations

The noise limits in SSD 7628 are applicable for wind speeds up to 3 m/s (10.8 km/h) at 10 metres above ground level. This meteorological station data was used to exclude weather affected data (wind (greater than 5m/s) or rain) in the unattended noise monitoring presented in APPENDIX B in accordance with the NPfl.

5 Monitoring and analysis

5.1 Key mechanical plant and equipment noise sources

Based on as-built construction information, site inspections, site personal observations, attended and unattended noise measurements, the main sources for the mechanical plant and equipment are as follows:

- Roof mounted air cooled package units
- Dangerous good ventilation fan
- Mechanical plant deck for main office
- Mechanical plant for dock office, including internal mechanical plant and equipment intake/discharge openings
- Discharge opening for the dock inflatable shelter

The relevant locations of the key noise generating mechanical plant noise items are presented in Figure 2.

Figure 2 Key mechanical plant noise source locations and unattended noise monitor location



THE TRUST COMPANY (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED (ACN 000 000 993) AS TRUSTEE OF THE MOOREBANK INDUSTRIAL WAREHOUSE TRUST C/- TACTICAL GROUP TM306-05F02 E7 WAREHOUSE B85 OPERATIONAL NOISE MONITORING (R1).DOCX

5.2 Noise monitoring

5.2.1 Receiver noise monitoring

Noise monitoring was undertaken at the receiver locations shown in Figure 3 to aid with confirming the likely noise contribution levels at the nearest residential receivers from the warehouse in each of the surrounding NCAs. The location of these measurements is presented in Figure 3. A summary of the measured noise levels are provided in Table 5, with further details for each of the measurements provided in APPENDIX B.

Table 5 also presents total statistical noise levels measured during the attended noise survey and estimated noise contributions from Warehouse E7 based on short-term audible noise measured at the attended measurement locations that could be attributed as coming from Warehouse E7 operations.



Figure 3 Key receiver noise monitoring locations

THE TRUST COMPANY (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED (ACN 000 000 993) AS TRUSTEE OF THE MOOREBANK INDUSTRIAL WAREHOUSE TRUST C/- TACTICAL GROUP TM306-05F02 E7 WAREHOUSE B85 OPERATIONAL NOISE MONITORING (R1).DOCX

			Measured	d noise leve	els (15-minu	ute), dB(A)	Estimated warehouse
ID	Location	Time	L _{AFmax}	L_{Aeq}	L _{A90}	L _{AFmin}	contribution, L _{Aeq} , 15minute, dB(A)
R1	16 Corryton Court, Wattle Grove	4:08am	62	46	44	42	< 32
R2	52 Corryton Court, Wattle Grove	5:07am	59	45	43	42	< 32
R3	82 Corryton Court, Wattle Grove	5:33am	59	47	45	44	< 34
R4	30 Goodenough Street, Glenfield	4:08am	56	50	46	44	< 34
R5	73A Leacocks Lane, Casula	4:41am	76	54	44	42	< 32
R6	39 Glenelg Court, Wattle Grove	5:09am	86	66	46	44	< 34

Table 5 Receiver attended noise measurement results (17 May 2024)

5.2.2 Intermediate noise monitoring

As it was not possible to confidently quantify warehouse noise emissions at the receiver locations through the receiver monitoring, intermediate measurements were undertaken between the receivers and the warehouse, in addition to boundary locations around the warehouse. Noise monitoring was undertaken at the intermediate locations shown in Figure 4. Accessible locations between the source and the receiver location were selected, where the signal-to-noise from the warehouse noise sources would be higher than at the residential receiver locations. Additionally, intermediate locations on or near the site boundary (including the warehouse roof) were selected to take into account substantial shielding from the warehouse structure. These locations were selected to assist with determining the likely contribution from the warehouse at these intermediate locations to aid with reviewing the performance of the compliance noise modelling.

Figure 4 Key intermediate noise monitoring locations



THE TRUST COMPANY (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED (ACN 000 000 993) AS TRUSTEE OF THE MOOREBANK INDUSTRIAL WAREHOUSE TRUST C/- TACTICAL GROUP TM306-05F02 E7 WAREHOUSE B85 OPERATIONAL NOISE MONITORING (R1),DOCX

A summary of the measured noise levels at the intermediate monitoring locations are provided Table 6 with further measurement details for location I1 provided in APPENDIX B.

			Measured noise levels, dB(A)		Estimated	Key noise sources contributing		
ID	Location / Comment	Time	LAFmax	L _{Aeq}	L _{A90}	LAFmin	warehouse contribution, L _{Aeq, 15min} , dB(A)	to steady state noise levels
11	Defence area intermediate location (east of Project)	4:37am	63	52	45	42	< 32	Distant road traffic [~42-46 dB(A)] and natural sources (frogs). Full details in APPENDIX B.
12	MPE fence line east	3:39am	52	46	45	43	38 - 40	Office mechanical just audible, frogs and distant traffic
13	Ground (east) adjacent to office carpark	3:34am	50	47	46	45	43	Office mechanical audible, crickets and distant traffic
14	E7 roof (east)	10:22 am	58	52	51	50	51	Office mechanical, package unit and distant traffic
15	E7 roof (east)	10:13 am	67	49	48	47	48	Package unit
16	E7 roof (east)	10:13 am	55	49	48	47	49	DG fan and package unit controlled
17	E7 roof (east)	10:09 am	56	54	52	52	54	DG fan controlled
18	E7 Roof (east)	10:09 am	62	59	57	56	59	_
19	E7 roof (east)	10:05 am	63	61	59	58	61	
110	E7 roof (east)	10:05 am	62	59	57	56	60	-
111	E7 roof (west)	11:23 am	54	49	48	47	44	Package unit, distant traffic, and construction activities
L1	During I1 attended measurement	4:37am	56	51	49	48	48	Location controlled by nearby package units. Background and ambient levels
	During I2 attended measurement	3:39am	61	52	50	50	50	would also have some contribution from traffic on nearby arterials and Moorebank
	During package unit monitoring period	9:45 am to 11:45 am	75	50	47	46	47	construction activities during the daytime period.
	Day	14/5/24 to	-	51	47	-	47	_
	Evening	23/5/24	-	51	48	-	48	
	Night		-	50	48	-	48	

Table 6Intermediate noise measurement results (17 May 2024)

5.2.3 Onsite noise measurements

Attended noise measurements of individual mechanical plant and equipment items and typical operations were undertaken at Warehouse E7 on 17 May 2024, in order to quantify the noise emissions from the installed mechanical plant and equipment in operation for input into the calibration modelling (Section 6). These noise levels have been used to develop the CoC B85 operational noise compliance noise model.

During all measurements of mechanical plant and equipment, the specific noise source being measured was the dominant noise source. All plant and equipment items were switched on and forced into a typical operational state for the purposes of undertaking the attended noise measurements. Observations were made of the on-site specific mechanical plant item during operations to ensure they were in typical operation.

Results from the on-site attended measurements of the critical mechanical plant and equipment are summarised in Table 7. The locations the key noise generating mechanical plant noise items are presented in Figure 2.

ID	Activity noise sources	Time	Measurement duration (t),	Measurement	Measured noise levels, dB(A)		
			min	distance (III)	L _{AFmax}	L_{Aeq}	L _{A90}
	Roof mounted temperature control package units	(locations s	ee Figure 2)				
S1	Typical operation at 10m (north side) (P3)	10:47 AM	1:01	10	59	54	50
S2	Typical operation at 15m (north side) (P3)	10:50 AM	1:00	15	58	54	51
S 3	Typical operation at 10m (west side) (P5)	11:30 AM	1:00	10	56	54	53
S4	Typical operation at 10m (north side) (P5)	11:36 AM	1:02	10	61	57	57
S5	Typical operation at 10m (west side) (P6)	11:44 AM	1:02	10	56	50	49
S6	Typical operation at 10m (north side) (P6)	11:40 AM	1:00	10	59	51	51
S7	Typical operation at 10m (P7)	11:49 AM	1:00	10	61	56	55
S8	Typical operation at 10m (P9)	11:49 AM	1:20	10	59	56	55
S9	Typical operation at 10m (P10)	11:55 AM	1:01	10	53	51	51
S10	Typical operation at 10m (P11)	11:55 AM	1:00	10	53	50	50
S11	Background noise level (roof west) ¹	11:36 AM	10:04	-	63	48	45
	Dangerous goods fan						
S12	DG fan	9:51 AM	1:00	19	65	63	62
S13	DG fan	9:59 AM	1:00	18	67	64	63
S14	DG fan	9:55 AM	1:01	21	63	60	60
S15	DG fan	9:58 AM	1:02	19	67	63	62
	Office 7A roof						
S17	Office (7A) exhaust fan (east)	1:33 PM	2:03	5	74	66	66
S18	Office (7A) exhaust fan (west)	2:00 PM	1:00	2	-	-	68
	Hardstand and dock offices						
S19	Refrigeration compressor unit (Office 7A)	1:41 PM	30 sec	4	61	54	53
S20	Dock inflatable EcoShelter air discharge	1:54 PM	30 sec	40	64	54	53

Table 7 On-site attended mechanical plant noise measurement results (17 May 2024)

Notes: 1. Background (L_{A90}) controlled by distant traffic noise (ie. Moorebank Ave, M5 and Hume Highway) with some construction contribution. The ambient noise levels (LAeq) were contributed to by construction activities and IMEX terminal operations.

THE TRUST COMPANY (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED (ACN 000 000 993) AS TRUSTEE OF THE MOOREBANK INDUSTRIAL WAREHOUSE TRUST C/- TACTICAL GROUP TM306-05F02 E7 WAREHOUSE B85 OPERATIONAL NOISE MONITORING (R1).DOCX

5.2.4 Unattended noise measurements

During the attended noise survey in Section 5.1, it was observed that the roof mounted package unit and the dangerous good fan could operate continuously as part of typical operations, and were considered to be the main noise sources for the Warehouse E7 mechanical plant noise emissions.

To confirm that the attended noise levels measured as part of the attended noise surveys presented in Sections 5.2.1, 5.2.2 and 5.2.3 represented the levels as part of normal operations and did not substantially change over time, a minimum one week period of unattended noise monitoring was undertaken as required by CoC B85.

The unattended noise monitoring was undertaken over the period between 14 May to 24 May 2024. The unattended noise monitor was located so that noise contributions from mechanical plant would dominate the monitored noise levels. The unattended monitoring location is shown in Figure 4.

The monitoring data confirmed minimal variation, and the attended monitoring periods were appropriate to estimate noise levels for day, evening and night periods.

Detailed results from the unattended noise monitoring are provided in APPENDIX C.

5.3 Mechanical plant and equipment noise source levels

Based upon the attended and unattended noise monitoring presented in the above sections, the following noise source levels for the key typical operating mechanical plant and equipment have been established based upon periods of typical operation. These have been based upon either direct measurement, or supplier data that has been confirmed through monitoring of cumulative noise levels (ie. condenser units on mechanical deck).

Based upon noise monitoring presented in Section 5.2, the sound power level inputs presented in Table 8 were used in the CoC B85 operational noise compliance modelling detailed in Section 6 for the key noise source locations shown in Figure 2.

Site items / operation	Individual item sound power level (SWL) (L _{Aeq,t}), dB(A)	Comment
Warehouse roof		
Roof mounted temperature control package units (P1 to P12)	76 - 84	Based upon the range of attended measurements (Installed unit: Temperzone OPA 1307RKTM01-ENG)
		Qty - 12 units. Units were observed to operate at different sound powers during the same period.
Dangerous goods fan	95	Based upon the range of attended measurements (Installed unit: CFM Airsystems MAV100006DEX)

Table 8 CoC B85 operational noise compliance noise source levels

THE TRUST COMPANY (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED (ACN 000 000 993) AS TRUSTEE OF THE MOOREBANK INDUSTRIAL WAREHOUSE TRUST C/- TACTICAL GROUP TM306-05F02 E7 WAREHOUSE B85 OPERATIONAL NOISE MONITORING (R1).DOCX

Site items / operation	Individual item sound power level (SWL) (L _{Aeq,t}), dB(A)	Comment
Office 7A roof ¹		
Office condenser units (4 units) - Vertical discharge units	74	Office roof access not available. Based upon manufacture type (Daikan) and unit observations.
Office condenser unit (1 unit) - Horizontal discharge unit	73	Office roof access not available. Based upon manufacture type (Daikan) and unit observations. Assumed same as dock office condenser unit.
Office (7A) exhaust fan (east)	88	Key office roof eastern noise source. Office roof access not possible. Based upon the attended measurements from side of building on raised pole, and assuming the identified key fan is the dominant noise source.
Office (7A) exhaust fan (west)	82	Key office roof western noise source. Office roof access not possible. Based upon the attended measurements from side of building on raised pole, and assuming the identified key fan is the dominant noise source.
Office 7B roof ¹		
Office (7B) exhaust fan (west)	82	Office roof access not available. Not clearly audible from ground level. Assumed same as office (7A) exhaust fan (west).
Hardstand and dock offices		
Refrigeration condensing unit (adjacent to Office 7A)	74	Installed unit: Patton PCCS225. Qty - Two units. Intermittent operations of one or two units.
Dock office east - Air conditioning condenser unit (CU-7.1.DO) - Horizontal discharge single fan unit (Daikan)	73	Installed unit: Daikan RZQ180MY1. Dock office air conditioning units were not operational, and measurement access not possible. The measured sound power level based upon the installed unit manufacturer sound power levels. Supplier level = Lw 62dB(A)
Dock office west - Air conditioning condenser unit (CU-7.2.DO) - Horizontal discharge single fan unit (Daikan)	73	Installed unit: Daikan RZQ180MY1. Dock office air conditioning units were not operational, and measurement access not possible. The measured sound power level based upon the installed unit manufacturer sound power levels.
Dock inflatable EcoShelter air discharge	91	On average, two docks had the inflatable Ecoshelter running during any one 15-minute period, for both the north (recessed) and southern docks. This has been included in the calibration modelling
Notes: 1. As the office roof areas (7A and	d 7B) were not access	sible. Measurements were made of where mechanical sources were

audible, and these fans were quantified and modelled. Other office roof sources were not dominant, based upon observations from warehouse roof levels for cumulative measured noise levels when in operation, and so it was appropriate to model just the key dominant sources.

2. Based upon highest measured levels from multiple attended measurements and unattended noise monitoring.

6 CoC B85 operational noise modelling and assessment

As detailed in Section 4, it was not possible to directly measure or estimate the warehouse mechanical plant and equipment noise levels at nearby receivers without implementing a range of different noise measurement and noise modelling techniques. As such, this assessment has used a combination of onsite attended noise measurements and unattended monitoring presented in Section 5, and noise modelling described below. These techniques were used in combination to assess the noise emissions of the Warehouse E7 mechanical plant and equipment.

6.1 General modelling assumptions and methods

Modelling and assessment of warehouse noise emissions was determined by modelling the noise sources, receiver locations, existing built structures and topographical features, using CadnaA (version 2024. The noise predictions are based on the CONCAWE noise prediction algorithms, noting that the nearby critical noise sensitive receivers are greater 100 metres from the site. The CONCAWE environmental noise prediction method is an appropriate method for predicting the noise propagation in these circumstances. The performance of the noise model used is reviewed in Section 6.2.

The noise prediction model considers:

- Location of all noise sources.
- Height of sources and receivers referenced to digital ground contours both onsite and outside the warehouse and MIP areas.
- Noise source levels of individual mechanical plant and equipment. All fixed mechanical plant and equipment noise sources associated with Warehouse E7 (Mainfreight) operations have been included.
- Separation distances between sources and receivers.
- Ground type between sources and receivers.
- Attenuation from buildings and built structures and topography (natural and purpose built).
- Atmospheric losses and assessment meteorological conditions.

The modelled activities and assumptions for the mechanical plant and equipment and their duration and frequency of operation as part of the 'reasonable' worst-case operational scenarios are described in Section 6.3.

6.2 Noise model performance

To confirm the suitability of the noise model for assessing the CoC B85 noise emissions, the noise model has been reviewed against onsite and receiver/intermediate concurrent noise measurements. The review of the noise model performance uses a combination of noise monitoring at the warehouse, and

warehouse boundary where noise source locations and levels could be measured, combined with concurrent intermediate noise measurements towards the key residential receivers in Wattle Grove. This was part of the measurements presented in Section 5.2.2.

The performance of the model has two parts. The first being at the boundary of the site, to confirm the onsite sound power levels are appropriate. The second confirming the propagation assumptions between the site and the receivers. As the mechanical plant and equipment were not audible at the receiver, other onsite noise events (ie. container handling activities) have been used to confirm the noise model performance. Where noise events were audible and quantifiable at both monitoring locations, these have been used for the review.

Shown in Figure 5 are the monitoring locations along with the location of the onsite activity noise event locations. The validation scenario that was modelled along with the predicted outcomes are presented in Table 9. Based on this validation, the noise model is considered suitable for modelling and assessing noise emissions.



Figure 5 Noise model performance review noise monitoring locations

THE TRUST COMPANY (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED (ACN 000 000 993) AS TRUSTEE OF THE MOOREBANK INDUSTRIAL WAREHOUSE TRUST C/- TACTICAL GROUP TM306-05F02 E7 WAREHOUSE B85 OPERATIONAL NOISE MONITORING (R1).DOCX

ID	Noise event	Monitoring location	Prevailing meteorological conditions ¹	Measurement time	Estimated site contribution noise level, dB(A) L _{Amax}	Model predicted noise level, dB(A) L _{Amax}	Difference, dB
SN1	Container handling on southern side of	Onsite	Wind – 0.25 m/s Direction – 259 degrees Humidity – 96%	4:50 am 17/05/2024	74	74 ³	0
N	warehouse	l1 (Defence land)	Temperature - 12°C Stability Class F (based upon the NPfI sigma-theta method) ²		52	53	1

Table 9 Comparison between measured and modelled noise levels – Between site and receiver

Notes: 1. Meteorological data based upon the MIP meteorological data monitoring station adjacent to Bushmaster Avenue, along western boundary of MPW.

2. Night time stability class, based upon NPfl Fact Sheet D1.4 'Use of sigma-theta data'

3. Modelled with CONCAWE for consistency, however, CONCAWE is typically not valid under 100m.

While the modelled scenarios were based upon the measured source levels presented in Section 5.3, the cumulative noise levels at the boundary of the site have been reviewed in Table 10 to confirm they have been suitably quantified. Based on this validation, the noise model is considered suitable for modelling and assessing noise emissions.

Location	Measured contribution noise level, dB(A) L _{eq,T}	Model predicted noise level, $dB(A) L_{eq,T}$	Difference, dB
11	< 32	31	-1
12	38 - 40	41	1
13	43	44	1
14	51	49	-2
15	48	47	-1
16	49	49	0
17	54	52	-2
18	59	59	0
19	61	59	-2
110	60	56	-2
111	44	49	1
L1	47 - 50 ¹	48	0

Table 10 Comparison between measured and modelled noise levels - Roof intermediate monitoring locations (17/5/2024)

Notes: 1. Range based upon unattended monitor measured levels both during the attended monitoring periods on 17/5/2024, in addition to the range experienced over the unattended monitoring period from 14/5/2024 to 24/5/2024.

6.3 Assessment operational scenarios

All key measurable noise-generating mechanical plant and equipment that operate as part of typical operations have been included in the assessment modelling as required by CoC B85. These are listed in Table 8. The locations of these sources are shown in Figure 2.

The roof mounted package units and dangerous good fan are the main mechanical plant and equipment noise sources for Warehouse E7 operations for the reasonable worst case intrusive scenario (15-minute period) assessment. All office mechanical plant and equipment identified in Section 5.3 have been assumed to operate during all assessment periods, although these plant items typically only operate when the office is in use and dock shelter use happens sporadically.

6.4 Noise compliance assessment

Mechanical plant and equipment operational noise levels are presented in Table 11. The noise levels have been modelled to each of the surrounding residential receiver noise catchments with all nearby residences assessed, and the highest residential receiver noise level in each catchment area reported in Table 11. These noise levels represent the reasonable worst-case operational scenario (15-minute period) from typical mechanical plant and equipment operations of the warehouse.

The modelling incorporated the worst-case prevailing meteorological conditions, as required by CoC B85, which are wind speeds of up to 3 m/s at 10 metres above ground level or stability category 'F' temperature inversion conditions.

The mechanical plant and equipment noise sources are steady-state or quasi-steady-state. Therefore, there is unlikely to be significant variation between $L_{Aeq,15min}$ values and $L_{A1, 1minute}$ values, and no significant peak noise events are expected. As such, by achieving the night period $L_{Aeq,(15-minute)}$ requirements, the noise emissions will achieve the $L_{A1, 1minute}$ sleep arousal screening level requirements of 52 dB(A) $L_{A1, 1minute}$.

The results in Table 11 show that the predicted CoC B85 operational compliance noise levels are below the SSD 7628 CoC B80 noise limits. Furthermore, although the B84 assessment report did not provide specific warehouse predicted noise levels for all nearby noise sensitive receivers for verification under CoC B85, noise emissions are aiming to achieve appropriate noise levels below the SSD 7628 CoC B80 noise limits to assist Logos with managing the cumulative noise emissions from the MIP.

As such, it can be concluded that the E7 mechanical plant and equipment noise emissions achieve these requirements, such that they have been selected and installed to achieve the overall noise limits specified in SSD 7628 Table 5 (CoC B80).

The final noise emissions (to be confirmed) will also continue to do so as the final emission levels are expected to be lower than the levels in Table 11 following these rectification works.

Table 11 CoC B85 operational noise levels – Mechanical plant and equipment - Warehouse E7

NCA	Operational compliance assessment noise levels ^{1,2,3}			SSD 7628 CoC B80 noise limits LAeg, 15 minute		
	Day	Evening	Night	Day	Evening	Night
Wattle Grove (NCA 1)	33 ⁴	33 ⁴	32 ⁴	35	35	35
Wattle Grove North (NCA 2)	< 20	< 20	< 20	35	35	35
Casula (NCA 3)	< 20	< 20	< 20	35	35	35
Glenfield (NCA 4)	< 20	< 20	< 20	35	35	35

Notes 1. Modelling meteorological were as follows, consistent with the range applicable for the B131 noise limits:

a. Day/Evening - Winds speeds of 3m/s at 10 meters above ground level (all directions)

b. Night - Atmospheric stability category F (with no wind).

2. Modelling based upon average temperature and humidity conditions during the monitoring period.

3. For estimated levels less than 20 dB(A) LAeq, 15minute, "< 20dB(A)" is presented.

4. As per Section 1.1, the monitoring identified that mechanical noise emissions were operating at noise levels louder than would be expected in order to manage cumulative noise emissions from the warehouse. Accordingly, further mitigation measures have been investigated and are being implemented so that the final valid noise levels could be monitored. Acoustic mitigation construction works are currently being undertaken to reduce the noise emissions from this fan. As such, the noise levels in this report do not reflect the final noise emission levels. However, the final emission levels are expected to be lower than these levels following these rectification works and so will remain below the required noise levels.

RENZO TONIN & ASSOCIATES

7 Conclusion

Renzo Tonin & Associates was engaged by Logos Investment Management (Logos) on behalf of The Trust Company (Australia) Limited (ACN 000 000 993) as trustee of the Moorebank Industrial Warehouse Trust to undertake noise monitoring of the warehouse mechanical plant and other noisy equipment to satisfy the State Significant Development (SSD) 7628 B85 consent condition (CoC) for the Warehouse E7. Warehouse E7 is located within the Moorebank Precinct East (MPE), which forms part of the Moorebank Intermodal Precinct (MIP) at Moorebank, NSW. Warehouse E7 is currently tenanted by the third party logistics provider Mainfreight.

This report has been prepared to address the noise emissions from the fixed mechanical plant and equipment of the warehouse that operate as part of typical warehouse operations in accordance CoC B85 of SSD 7628, and as detailed in the MPE ONVMP. CoC B85 requires noise monitoring of actual mechanical plant and other noisy equipment operations for a minimum period of one week where valid data is collected following the commencement of operations of each warehouse within MPE. The CoC B84 noise assessment report did not provide specific warehouse predicted noise levels for all nearby noise sensitive receivers for verification under CoC B85. As such, this report has been prepared to confirm that the actual mechanical plant and other noisy equipment operations achieve the overall noise levels presented in Table 5 of CoC B80 of 35 dB(A) L_{Aeq 15minute}, during all time periods.

SSD 7628 Consent Condition B85 requires noise monitoring of valid data for comparison against the above noise requirements. During the May 2024 SSD 7628 B85 noise monitoring, it was identified that one of the fans (Dangerous Good exhaust fan) was operating at noise levels louder than would be expected to manage cumulative noise emissions from the warehouse. Acoustic mitigation construction works are currently being undertaken to reduce the noise emissions from this fan. As such, the noise levels in this report do not reflect the final noise emission levels. However, the final emission levels are expected to be lower than these levels following the works. After the works are completed, noise measurements will be undertaken to confirm the noise emission levels. This report will then be updated to reflect these final operational noise levels so that valid operational noise emissions can be quantified.

The NSW EPA *Noise Policy for Industry* (NPfI) provides guidance for monitoring the performance of a noise-generating industrial facility, which includes direct measurement at a receiver location, direct measurement at alternative or intermediate location/s, unattended monitoring and modelling. As the existing ambient noise levels are already high at residences nearby to Warehouse E7 compared with the expected noise emission levels, a combination of on-site, intermediate and receiver attended noise measurements, unattended monitoring, and noise modelling have been used to quantify the noise emission performance of the warehouse mechanical plant and equipment.

Unattended noise monitoring was conducted on the warehouse roof nearby to the key noise generating mechanical plant items over the period of 14 May to 24 May 2024. In addition, attended noise measurements were undertaken on 17 May 2024. The aim of the measurements was to quantify fixed mechanical plant and equipment operational noise levels on-site, to develop a noise model and estimate the noise emission levels at nearby residences.

The monitoring data was analysed to confirm the warehouse mechanical plant and equipment noise source levels. These were used to then develop a noise model for the warehouse. The noise model was reviewed against onsite, intermediate and receiver concurrent noise measurements to confirm its suitability to assessing the CoC B85 noise emissions.

This assessment concluded that the warehouse mechanical plant and equipment noise emission levels achieve the overall noise levels presented in Table 5 of CoC B80 of 35 dB(A) L_{Aeq 15minute}, during all time periods a required by CoC B84 and CoC B85.

Following the implementation of further acoustic mitigation measures currently underway, the final emission levels are expected to be lower than the levels in Table 11 and so will maintain the outcome of this report.

Notwithstanding this, after the rectification works are completed, noise measurements will be undertaken to confirm the noise emission levels. This report will then be updated to reflect these final operational noise levels so that valid operational noise emissions could be quantified.

APPENDIX A Glossary of terminology

The following is a brief description of the technical terms used to describe noise to assist in understanding the technical issues presented.

Adverse weather	Weather effects that enhance noise (that is, wind and temperature inversions) that occur at a site for a significant period of time (that is, wind occurring more than 30% of the time in any assessment period in any season and/or temperature inversions occurring more than 30% of the nights in winter).							
Ambient noise	The all-encompassi composed of sound	The all-encompassing noise associated within a given environment at a given time, usually composed of sound from all sources near and far.						
Assessment period	The period in a day	over whic	h assessments are made.					
Assessment Point	A point at which no measurements are t	ise measu taken or es	rements are taken or estimated. A point at which noise stimated.					
Background noise	Background noise is the term used to describe the underlying level of noise present in the ambient noise, measured in the absence of the noise under investigation, when extraneous noise is removed. It is described as the average of the minimum noise levels measured on a sound level meter and is measured statistically as the A-weighted noise level exceeded for ninety percent of a sample period. This is represented as the L90 noise level (see below).							
Decibel [dB]	The units that sound common sounds in	d is measu our daytir	red in. The following are examples of the decibel readings of ne environment:					
	threshold of	0 dB	The faintest sound we can hear					
	hearing	10 dB	Human breathing					
	almost silont	20 dB						
	annost silent	30 dB	Quiet bedroom or in a quiet national park location					
	generally quiet	40 dB	Library					
	generally quies	50 dB	Typical office space or ambience in the city at night					
	moderately	60 dB	CBD mall at lunch time					
	loud	70 dB	The sound of a car passing on the street					
	loud	80 dB	Loud music played at home					
		90 dB	The sound of a truck passing on the street					
	very loud	100 dB	Indoor rock band concert					
	,	110 dB	Operating a chainsaw or jackhammer					
	extremely loud	120 dB	Jet plane take-off at 100m away					
	threshold of	130 dB						
	pain	140 dB	Military jet take-off at 25m away					
dB(A)	A-weighted decibels. The A- weighting noise filter simulates the response of the human ear at relatively low levels, where the ear is not as effective in hearing low frequency sounds as it is in hearing high frequency sounds. That is, low frequency sounds of the same dB level are not heard as loud as high frequency sounds. The sound level meter replicates the human response of the ear by using an electronic filter which is called the "A" filter. A sound level measured with this filter switched on is denoted as dB(A). Practically all noise is measured using the A filter.							
dB(C)	C-weighted decibel relatively high levels frequency (63Hz) to	s. The C-v s, where th mid-high	veighting noise filter simulates the response of the human ear at he human ear is nearly equally effective at hearing from mid-low frequency (4kHz), but is less effective outside these frequencies.					

Frequency	Frequency is synonymous to pitch. Sounds have a pitch which is peculiar to the nature of the sound generator. For example, the sound of a tiny bell has a high pitch and the sound of a bass drum has a low pitch. Frequency or pitch can be measured on a scale in units of Hertz or Hz.
Impulsive noise	Having a high peak of short duration or a sequence of such peaks. A sequence of impulses in rapid succession is termed repetitive impulsive noise.
Intermittent noise	The level suddenly drops to that of the background noise several times during the period of observation. The time during which the noise remains at levels different from that of the ambient is one second or more.
L _{Max}	The maximum sound pressure level measured over a given period.
L _{Min}	The minimum sound pressure level measured over a given period.
L ₁	The sound pressure level that is exceeded for 1% of the time for which the given sound is measured.
L ₁₀	The sound pressure level that is exceeded for 10% of the time for which the given sound is measured.
L90	The level of noise exceeded for 90% of the time. The bottom 10% of the sample is the L90 noise level expressed in units of dB(A).
L _{eq}	The "equivalent noise level" is the summation of noise events and integrated over a selected period of time.
Reflection	Sound wave changed in direction of propagation due to a solid object obscuring its path.
SEL	Sound Exposure Level (SEL) is the constant sound level which, if maintained for a period of 1 second would have the same acoustic energy as the measured noise event. SEL noise measurements are useful as they can be converted to obtain Leq sound levels over any period of time and can be used for predicting noise at various locations.
Sound	A fluctuation of air pressure which is propagated as a wave through air.
Sound absorption	The ability of a material to absorb sound energy through its conversion into thermal energy.
Sound level meter	An instrument consisting of a microphone, amplifier and indicating device, having a declared performance and designed to measure sound pressure levels.
Sound pressure level	The level of noise, usually expressed in decibels, as measured by a standard sound level meter with a microphone.
Sound power level	Ten times the logarithm to the base 10 of the ratio of the sound power of the source to the reference sound power.
Tonal noise	Containing a prominent frequency and characterised by a definite pitch.

APPENDIX B Noise monitoring survey information

Table 12 Attended noise monitoring results (receivers) (monitoring locations shown in Figure 3)

_									
1	D	Prevailing	ng Measured noise level, dB(A)						
	Location / Time	meteorological conditions ¹	L _{Amax}	L _{A1}	L _{A10}	L_{Aeq}	L _{A90}	L _{Amin}	Comments on measured noise levels
I	1 Wattle Grove (adjacent	Wind – 0 m/s	62	50	47	46	44	42	Warehouse E7 related noise emissions:
	to 16 Corryton Court)	Direction – n/a							Warehouse E7 were not audible/distinguishable.
	4:08am – 4:23am	Humidity – 96%							Estimate warehouse mechanical noise contribution:
	17 May 2024	Iemperature - 13°C							$L_{Aeq (15 minute)} = \langle 32 \text{ dBA [inaudible at } 42 \text{ dB(A)]}$
		Stability Class G							$L_{Amax} = \langle 32 \text{ dBA } [inaudible at 42 dB(A)]$
									Other noise source contributions:
									Background noise environment – Background L _{A90} was controlled by distant road traffic [~43-44 dB(A)] and natural sources (frogs).
									Ambient noise environment - Ambient L _{Aeq} noise level was contributed to by distant road traffic [~43- 45 dB(A)] (W to NNW), train operations noise [just audible ~35-38 dB(A)], train movement noise [~47- 51 dB(A)] and natural sources [frogs ~46-48 dB(A)].
									High noise events – Distant train horn on main line (~62 dB(A)) (NW) and industrial activities.
I	2 Wattle Grove (adjacent	Wind – 0 m/s	59	53	47	45	43	42	Warehouse E7 related noise emissions:
	to 52 Corryton Court)	Direction – n/a							Warehouse E7 were not audible/distinguishable.
	5:07am – 5:22am	Humidity – 96%							Estimate warehouse mechanical noise contribution:
	17 May 2024	Temperature - 12°C	2						$L_{Aeq (15 minute)} = < 32 \text{ dBA [inaudible at 42 dB(A)]}$
		Stability Class D to F							$L_{Amax} = \langle 32 \text{ dBA [inaudible at } 42 \text{ dB}(A)]$
									Other noise source contributions:
									Background noise environment – Background L _{A90} was controlled by distant road traffic [~43-46 dB(A)] and natural sources (frogs).
									Ambient noise environment - Ambient L _{Aeq} noise level was contributed to by distant road traffic [~43-46 dB(A)] (W to NW), local road traffic passbys [~46-49 dB(A)], terminal operations [~37-40 dB(A)], and natural sources [frogs ~44-46 dB(A), birds ~47 dB(A)].
									High noise events – birds/possums [up to 59 dB(A)] and local road loud car passbys [up to ~59 dB(A)] and industrial activities.

RENZO TONIN & ASSOCIATES

I	D	Prevailing	Measu	ired noise	e level, dE	B(A)			
	Location / Time	conditions ¹	L _{Amax}	L _{A1}	L _{A10}	L_{Aeq}	L _{A90}	L _{Amin}	Comments on measured noise levels
F	3 Wattle Grove (adj	acent Wind – 0.3 m/s	59	50	48	47	45	44	Warehouse E7 related noise emissions:
	to 82 Corryton Co	ourt) Direction – W							Warehouse E7 were not audible/distinguishable.
	5:33am – 5:49am	Humidity – 96%							Estimate warehouse mechanical noise contribution:
	17 May 2024	Stability Class D to	F ²						$L_{Aeq (15minute)} = \langle 34 \text{ dBA } [inaudible at 44 \text{ dB}(A)]$
		Stability Class D to							$L_{Amax} = \langle 34 \text{ dBA } [inaudible at 44 dB(A)]$
									Other noise source contributions:
									Background noise environment – Background L _{A90} was controlled by distant road traffic [~45-47 dB(A)] and natural sources (frogs).
									Ambient noise environment - Ambient L _{Aeq} noise level was contributed to by local road traffic passbys [~46-48 dB(A)], natural sources [frogs ~46-63 dB(A)], distant light plane [~49dB(A)] and distant road traffic [~42-46 dB(A)] (WSW to NNW), terminal operations [~37-43 dB(A)], distant train movement noise [~54-55 dB(A)] (SW) and
									High noise events – mainline train horn [up to 59 dB(A)] (N) and industrial activities.
F	4 30 Goodenough S	Street, Wind – 0 m/s	56	55	52	50	46	44	Warehouse E7 related noise emissions:
	Glenfield	Direction – n/a							Warehouse E7 were not audible/distinguishable.
	4:08am – 4:23am	Humidity – 96%							Estimate warehouse mechanical noise contribution:
	17 May 2024	Temperature - 12°C	-						$L_{Aeq (15minute)} = \langle 34 \text{ dBA } [inaudible at 44 \text{ dB}(A)]$
		Stability Class G							$L_{Amax} = \langle 34 \text{ dBA } [inaudible at 44 dB(A)]$
									Other noise source contributions:
									Background noise environment – Background LA90 was controlled by distant road traffic [~44-46 dB(A)] and natural sources (crickets).
									Ambient noise environment - Ambient L _{Aeq} noise level was contributed to by Cambridge Ave road traffic passbys [~50-55 dB(A)], natural sources [frogs ~46-63 dB(A)], distant rail traffic [~48-54 dB(A)]
									High noise events – mainline train horn [up to 59 dB(A)] (N) and industrial activities.
F	5 73A Leacocks Lan	e, Wind – 0.3 m/s	76	69	50	54	44	42	Warehouse E7 related noise emissions:
	Casula	Direction – W							Warehouse E7 were not audible/distinguishable.
	4:41am – 4:56am	Humidity – 96%							Estimate warehouse mechanical noise contribution:
	17 May 2024	Temperature - 11°C							LAeq (15minute) = < 32 dBA [inaudible at 42 dB(A)]
		Stability Class D to	Г						$L_{Amax} = \langle 32 \text{ dBA } [inaudible at 42 dB(A)]$
									Other noise source contributions:
									Background noise environment – Background L _{A90} was controlled by distant road traffic (M5) [~41- 45 dB(A)] and natural sources (birds, crickets).
									Ambient noise environment - Ambient L _{Aeq} noise level was contributed to by Hume Highway/M5 road traffic [~44-50 dB(A)], local vehicle passbys [up to ~71-76 dB(A)], natural sources [possum/bats ~45-54 dB(A)], distant rail [~45-49 dB(A)]
									High noise events – local vehicle passbys [up to ~71-76 dB(A)], natural sources [possum/bats ~53- 54 dB(A)].

RENZO TONIN & ASSOCIATES

ID		Prevailing	Measured noise level, dB(A)						
	Location / Time	meteorological conditions ¹	L _{Amax}	L _{A1}	L _{A10}	L _{Aeq}	L _{A90}	L _{Amin}	Comments on measured noise levels
R6	39 Glenelg Court,	Wind – 0 m/s	86	78	72	66	46	44	Warehouse E7 related noise emissions:
	Wattle Grove (or Anzac	Direction – n/a							Warehouse E7 were not audible/distinguishable.
	Road)	Humidity – 96%							Estimate warehouse mechanical noise contribution:
	5:09am – 5:24am	Temperature - 12°C							$L_{Aeg (15minute)} = \langle 34 dBA [inaudible at 44 dB(A)]$
	17 May 2024	Stability Class E to G ²							$L_{\text{Amax}} = \langle 34 \text{ dBA } [inaudible at 44 dB(A)]$
									Other noise source contributions:
									Background noise environment – Background L _{A90} was controlled by distant road traffic [~45-47 dB(A)] and natural sources (crickets).
									Ambient noise environment - Ambient L _{Aeq} noise level was contributed local vehicle passbys on Anzac Road [up to ~72-79 dB(A)], natural sources (crickets) and industrial activities.
									High noise events – local vehicle passbys [up to ~71-76 dB(A)] and industrial activities.

Table 13 Attended noise monitoring results (intermediate) (monitoring locations shown in Figure 4)

2. Night time stability class, based upon NPfl Fact Sheet D1.4 'Use of sigma-theta data'

ID		Prevailing	Measured noise level, dB(A)						
	Location / Time	meteorological conditions ¹	L _{Amax}	L _{A1}	L _{A10}	L_{Aeq}	L _{A90}	L _{Amin}	Comments on measured noise levels
11	Defence area	Wind – 0.4 m/s	63	61	58	52	45	42	Warehouse E7 related noise emissions:
	intermediate location	(still at monitoring							Warehouse E7 were not clearly audible/distinguishable.
	(east of Project)	Direction – WSW							Estimate warehouse mechanical noise contribution:
	4·37am – 4·53am	Humidity – 96%							$\underline{L}_{Aeq (15minute)} = < 32 \text{ dBA } [inaudible at 42 dB(A)]$
	17 May 2024	Temperature - 12°C							L _{Amax} = < 32 dBA [inaudible at 42 dB(A)]
		Stability Class D ²							Other noise source contributions:
									Background noise environment – Background L _{A90} was controlled by distant road traffic [~42-46 dB(A)] and natural sources (frogs).
									Ambient noise environment - Ambient L _{Aeq} noise level was contributed primarily by natural sources [frogs ~46-63 dB(A)] and distant road traffic [~42-46 dB(A)] (W to NNW), terminal operations [~37-43 dB(A)] and distant train movement noise [~52-54 dB(A)] (SW).
									High noise events – terminal operations (~ 48-51 dB(A)) and natural sources [frogs up to 61 dB(A)].

Notes: 1. Meteorological data based upon the MIP meteorological data monitoring station adjacent to Bushmaster Avenue, in between Casula.

2. Night time stability class, based upon NPfI Fact Sheet D1.4 'Use of sigma-theta data'

24 JANUARY 2025

THE TRUST COMPANY (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED (ACN 000 000 993) TM306-05F02 E7 WAREHOUSE B85 OPERATIONAL NOISE

APPENDIX C Logger location – Warehouse E7 roof

38



sydney@renzotonin.com.au www.renzotonin.com.au

Dates of Survey:	14/05/2024 - 25/05/2024
Monitoring ID:	L1
Address:	Moorebank Intermodal Precinct (MIP) Warehouse E7 (Mainfreight Logistics)
Description:	Warehouse E7 roof (east)

Background & Ambient Noise Monitoring Results

		L _{A90} Backgroun	d Noise Levels		L _{Aeq} Ambient	Noise Levels	
	Day ¹	Evening ²	Night ³	Day ¹	Evening ²	Night ³	
Representative Week ⁴	47	48	48	51	51	50	

Notes:

1. Day: 7.00am to 6.00pm Monday to Saturday and 8.00am to 6.00pm Sundays & Public Holidays

2. Evening: 6.00pm to 10.00pm Monday to Sunday & Public Holidays

3. Night: 10.00pm to 5.00am Monday to Sunday & Public Holidays

4. Rating Background Level (RBL) for LA90 and logarithmic average for LAeq





Unattended Monitoring Results - Location: Moorebank Intermodal Precinct (MIP) Warehouse E7 (Mainfreight Logistics)

Data File: 2024-05-14_SLM_001_123_Rpt_Report.txt

Template: QTE-26 Logger Graphs Program (r46)

Unattended Monitoring Results - Location: Moorebank Intermodal Precinct (MIP) Warehouse E7 (Mainfreight Logistics)



Template: QTE-26 Logger Graphs Program (r46)

B.4 Warehouse E6 CoC B85 Noise Monitoring Report

Renzo Tonin & Associates Report TM306-05F03 E6 Warehouse B85 Operational Noise Monitoring (r1)



Acoustics Vibration Structural Dynamics

MOOREBANK INTERMODAL PRECINCT EAST

Monitoring Report for Mechanical Plant (SSD 7628 B85) - Warehouse E6

11 May 2025

The Trust Company (Australia) Limited (ACN 000 000 993) As Trustee of The Moorebank Industrial Warehouse Trust (ABN 51 402 161 047) c/- ESR Developments (Australia) Pty Ltd

TM306-05F03 E6 Warehouse B85 Operational Noise Monitoring (r1)





Document details

Detail	Reference
Doc reference:	TM306-05F03 E6 Warehouse B85 Operational Noise Monitoring (r1)
Prepared for:	The Trust Company (Australia) Limited (ACN 000 000 993) As Trustee of The Moorebank Industrial Warehouse Trust (ABN 51 402 161 047) c/- ESR Developments (Australia) Pty Ltd
Attention:	Mark Howley

Document control

Date	Revision history	Non-issued revision	Issued revision	Prepared	Instructed	Reviewed / Authorised
11.05.2025	Initial issue (draft)	0	1	M. Ali	A. Leslie	A. Leslie

File Path: \\192.168.168.249\data\AssocSydProjects\TM301-TM350\TM306 ale Moorebank Intermodal Terminal (LOGOS)\Task5 Monitoring\1 Docs\05 MPE E6\TM306-05F03 E6 Warehouse B85 Operational Noise Monitoring (r1).docx

Important Disclaimers:

The work presented in this document was carried out in accordance with the Renzo Tonin & Associates Quality Assurance System, which is based on Australian/New Zealand Standard AS/NZS ISO 9001.

This document is issued subject to review and authorisation by the suitably qualified and experienced person named in the last column above. If no name appears, this document shall be considered as preliminary or draft only and no reliance shall be placed upon it other than for information to be verified later.

This document is prepared for the particular requirements of our Client referred to above in the 'Document details' which are based on a specific brief with limitations as agreed to with the Client. It is not intended for and should not be relied upon by a third party and no responsibility is undertaken to any third party without prior consent provided by Renzo Tonin & Associates. The information herein should not be reproduced, presented, or reviewed except in full. Prior to passing on to a third party, the Client is to fully inform the third party of the specific brief and limitations associated with the commission.

In preparing this report, we have relied upon, and presumed accurate, any information (or confirmation of the absence thereof) provided by the Client and/or from other sources. Except as otherwise stated in the report, we have not attempted to verify the accuracy or completeness of any such information. If the information is subsequently determined to be false, inaccurate, or incomplete then it is possible that our observations and conclusions as expressed in this report may change.

We have derived data in this report from information sourced from the Client (if any) and/or available in the public domain at the time or times outlined in this report. The passage of time, manifestation of latent conditions or impacts of future events may require further examination and re-evaluation of the data, findings, observations and conclusions expressed in this report.

We have prepared this report in accordance with the usual care and thoroughness of the consulting profession, for the sole purpose described above and by reference to applicable standards, guidelines, procedures and practices at the date of issue of this report. For the reasons outlined above, however, no other warranty or guarantee, whether expressed or implied, is made as to the data, observations and findings expressed in this report, to the extent permitted by law.

The information contained herein is for the purpose of acoustics only. No claims are made and no liability is accepted in respect of design and construction issues falling outside of the specialist field of acoustics engineering including and not limited to structural integrity, fire rating, architectural buildability and fit-for-purpose, waterproofing and the like. Supplementary professional advice should be sought in respect of these issues.

External cladding: No claims are made and no liability is accepted in respect of any external wall and/or roof systems (eg facade / cladding materials, insulation etc) that are: (a) not compliant with or do not conform to any relevant non-acoustic legislation, regulation, standard, instructions or Building Codes; or (b) installed, applied, specified or utilised in such a manner that is not compliant with or does not conform to any relevant non-acoustic legislation, regulation, standard, instructions or Building Codes.

Contents

1	Intro	duction	5				
	1.1	Monitoring report purpose	5				
	1.2	Warehouse operations description – Warehouse E6 (Tenant: E6B (Qube) & E6A (Ceva)	6				
		1.2.1 Operational activities and facilities and hours of operation	6				
		1.2.2 Mechanical plant and other noisy equipment	7				
2	Near	by sensitive receivers	8				
3	Sum	mary of noise objectives	10				
	3.1	Operational noise limits	10				
	3.2	Discussion of assessment noise limits	11				
	3.3	CoC B85 assessment noise requirements	12				
		3.3.1 Requirements	12				
		3.3.2 Noise monitoring timing	13				
4	Mea	surement methodology and results	14				
	4.1	Noise monitoring approach	14				
	4.2	Compliance measurement methodology	15				
		4.2.1 Noise monitoring	15				
		4.2.2 Data analysis and assessment	15				
	4.3	Instrumentation	16				
	4.4	Meteorological conditions	16				
5	Mon	itoring and analysis	18				
	5.1	Key mechanical plant and equipment noise sources	18				
	5.2	Noise monitoring	19				
		5.2.1 Receiver noise monitoring	19				
		5.2.2 Intermediate noise monitoring	20				
		5.2.3 Onsite noise measurements	21				
		5.2.4 Unattended noise measurements	22				
	5.3	Mechanical plant and equipment noise source levels	23				
6	CoC	B85 operational noise modelling and assessment	25				
	6.1	General modelling assumptions and methods	25				
	6.2	2 Noise model performance					
	6.3	6.3 Assessment operational scenarios					
	6.4	Noise compliance assessment	26				
7	Cond	clusion	29				
APPE	ENDIX	A Glossary of terminology	31				
APPE	ENDIX	CB Noise monitoring survey information	33				
APPE	ENDIX	C Logger location – Warehouse E6B office roof	38				

List of tables

Table 1	Noise sensitive receivers and approximate distance from MPE Warehouse E6	8
Table 2	SSD 7628 CoC B80 noise limits, dB(A)	10
Table 3	Noise measurement equipment	16
Table 4	Attended noise measurement surveys weather observations	17
Table 5	Receiver attended noise measurement results (3 April 2025)	20
Table 6	Concurrent intermediate noise measurement results (3 April 2025)	21
Table 7	On-site attended mechanical plant noise measurement results (3 April 2025)	22
Table 8	CoC B85 operational noise compliance noise source levels	23
Table 9	Comparison between measured and modelled noise levels - Intermediate monitoring locations (3/4/2025)	26
Table 10	CoC B85 operational noise levels – Mechanical plant and equipment - Warehouse E6	28
Table 11	Attended noise monitoring results (receivers) (monitoring locations shown in Figure 3)	34
Table 12	Attended noise monitoring results (intermediate monitoring locations shown in Figure 4)	36

List of figures

Figure 1	Warehouse E6 location, MIP, MPE and MPW precincts	9
Figure 2	Key mechanical plant noise source locations and unattended noise monitor location (L1)	18
Figure 3	Key receiver noise monitoring locations	19
Figure 4	Key intermediate noise monitoring locations	20

1 Introduction

1.1 Monitoring report purpose

Renzo Tonin & Associates was engaged by ESR Developments (Australia) Pty Ltd (ESR) on behalf of The Trust Company (Australia) Limited (ACN 000 000 993) as trustee of the Moorebank Industrial Warehouse Trust to undertake noise monitoring of the warehouse mechanical plant and other noisy equipment to satisfy the State Significant Development (SSD) 7628 B85 consent condition (CoC) for Warehouse E6.

The Moorebank Intermodal Precinct (MIP) is located approximately 27 kilometres south-west of the Sydney Central Business District and approximately 26 kilometres west of Port Botany, within the Liverpool Local Government Area. The MIP is divided into an East Precinct and a West Precinct, located east and west of Moorebank Avenue respectively, as shown in Figure 1. Warehouse E6 is located within the Moorebank Precinct East (MPE).

Warehouse E6 is separated into E6A (western warehouse), and E6B (eastern) warehouse. The western warehouse (E6B) is currently tenanted by the Qube Holdings Logistics (Qube), while the eastern warehouse (E6A) is currently tenanted by Ceva Logistics (Ceva).

The Sydney Intermodal Terminal Alliance (SIMTA) received approval for the construction and operation of Stage 2 of the MPE development, State Significant Development (SSD) 7628. The approval includes 300,000m² GFA of warehousing. These warehouse operations, including Warehouse E6, fall under the area and activities approved as part of SSD 7628.

Specifically, this report has been prepared to address the noise emissions from the fixed mechanical plant and equipment of the warehouse that operate as part of typical warehouse operations in accordance SSD 7628 CoC B85 of, and as detailed in the MPE Operational Noise and Vibration Management Plan¹ (MPE ONVMP).

SSD 7628 Consent Condition B85 requires noise monitoring of valid data for comparison against the mechanical plant and equipment noise levels predicted in the SSD 7628 Consent Condition B84 assessment prepared by Pulse White Noise Acoustics (PWNA) (*LOGOS MPE 6 & 7 – Acoustic Design Report*, Report number: *220518 - LOGOS MPE 6&7 - Acoustic Design Report – R5*, 28 March 2023) (B84 assessment).

This report is technical in nature and uses acoustic terminology throughout. APPENDIX A contains a glossary of acoustic terms used in this report.

¹ Arcadis & Renzo Tonin & Associates, Operational Noise and Vibration Management Plan for Moorebank Logistics Park – East Precinct, Revision 013, dated 24/01/2023, reference PREC-QPMS-EN-PLN-0008, available https://moorebankintermodalprecinct.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/ONVMP_V13_clean_compiled_Redactedcompressed.pdf, accessed 21/07/2024

1.2 Warehouse operations description – Warehouse E6 (Tenant: E6B (Qube) & E6A (Ceva)

1.2.1 Operational activities and facilities and hours of operation

Warehouse E6 is tenanted by both Qube (E6B) and Ceva (E6A). The warehouses are separated into two sections (E6A and E6B) with an internal dividing wall. The key activities of these warehouse tenant are:

- Ceva (E6A) A car carrier/transportation and storage facility
- **Qube (E6B)** Ambient temperature storage and distribution warehouse

Qube (E6B) warehouse and distribution observed activities typically occur 4:00am to 12:00am Monday to Friday, with the mechanical plant and equipment operating 24 hours per day, 7 days per week. The truck despatch and receiving activities occur on the southern side of the warehouse including both atgrade and in recessed loading docks. Additionally, on the northern side of the warehouse (including both E6A/B) containers from the IMEX terminal are transported to and from via reach stacker or straddle carrier operation and stored for unloading along the northern side of the warehouse.

Ceva (E6A) typical hours of operations have been advised as substantially variable. The Ceva trucks (car carriers) are understood to operate infrequency, with an expected frequency of 2 trucks per fortnight in/out of the facility. The warehouse main office and associated mechanical plant and equipment are not being used by this warehouse tenant.

The key noise generating components of Warehouse E6 and the various day to day activities that occur are as follows:

- Warehouse (E6A/6B) northern side docks/hardstand:
 - Receipt and despatch of containers from the MPE IMEX terminal
 - Internal packing and unpacking of containers from internal
- Qube (E6B) southern side docks/hardstand:
 - Despatching and receiving truck movements in and out of the facility. Typically, via sideloading with forklifts on the hardstand at the on-grade docks. For recessed loading docks, this is typically for container trucks, where containers are unloaded typically is via forklift via the rear from within the warehouse space.
 - Forklift (electric/internal and gas/external) operations on hardstand.
- Ceva (E6A) southern side docks/hardstand:
 - Typical car carrier truck loading/unloading activities with Ceva car carrier/truck loading/unloading cars and movements on the hardstand at the on-grade docks in and out of the facility.
 - Typical car unloading activity occurs via truck back drop ladder and the truck driver driving cars out (unloading) of the truck on the hardstand at the on-grade docks and then driving/parking into the warehouse for storage.

- Typical car loading activity occurs via the truck driver driving cars from the warehouse on the hardstand via the on-grade docks, and then driving cars into the truck via truck back drop ladder (on the hardstand) and parking the cars on truck stand/s.
- Warehouse (E6B) offices: General office administrative and support functions.
- Warehouse (E6A) offices: Ceva is not using the main office as part of warehouse operations. Noting this, it has been excluded from this assessment as it does not form an operational noise source.

1.2.2 Mechanical plant and other noisy equipment

The following fixed mechanical plant and equipment operate as part of typical warehouse operations, which are further detailed in Section 5.1.

- Qube (E6B) (west)
 - Smoke exhaust fans (do not form part of typical operations)
 - Main office rooftop mechanical plant/equipment (including air-conditioning/condenser units)
 - Office area ground floor mechanical plant and equipment (east)
 - Office area mechanical plant/louvers affixed to the office wall (east)
 - Mechanical plant for dock office, including rooftop plant/equipment and on ground airconditioning plant (1 x condenser unit)
- Ceva (E6A) (east)
 - Mechanical plant for dock office, including rooftop and air-conditioning plant/condenser/s.
 - Main office rooftop mechanical plant/equipment are installed but are not used as part of tenant operations and have been excluded form this assessment.

2 Nearby sensitive receivers

The potentially affected residential receivers nearby to Warehouse E6 around MPE are located in the suburbs of Casula, Glenfield, Wattle Grove and Wattle Grove North. The closest and potentially most affected residential receivers are located within Wattle Grove.

A summary of the approximate distance to the nearest residential receivers in the surrounding area are provided in Table 1, as identified in SSD 7628 CoC B80. The locations of the residential noise catchment areas (NCAs) are shown in Figure 1.

Table 1	Noise sensitive receivers and	approximate distance	from MPE Warehouse E6
---------	-------------------------------	----------------------	-----------------------

Noise Catchment Area (NCA)	Receiver type	Approximate distance from Warehouse E6, metres
Wattle Grove (NCA1)		540
Wattle Grove North (NCA2)	Desidential	1,250
Casula (NCA3)	Residentia	1,360
Glenfield (NCA4)		2,050



RENZO TONIN & ASSOCIATES
3 Summary of noise objectives

This report has been prepared to address the noise emissions from the fixed mechanical plant and equipment of the warehouse that operate as part of typical warehouse operations in accordance CoC B85 of SSD 7628, and as detailed in the MPE ONVMP.

CoC B85 requires that the monitored noise levels be compared against the predicted levels reviewed in accordance with CoC B84. The CoC B84 noise assessment, is required to demonstrate that the plant and equipment has been selected to meet the overall noise limits specified in SSD 7628 CoC B80 (Table 5). As such, the following section outlines the requirements for both CoC B85 and the overall CoC B80 (Table 5) noise limits.

3.1 Operational noise limits

The operational noise limits applicable for the warehouse operations within MPE are presented in Table 5 of SSD 7628 CoC B80 and are reproduced in Table 2 below. These noise limits are as per Table 3-5 of the MPE ONVMP. The noise limits are applicable not only to all operational noise sources approved under SSD 7628 but are inclusive of operations as part of MPE Stage 1 (approval SSD 6766).

The L_{Aeq(15 minute)} criteria are applicable during the day, evening and night-time periods and the L_{A1 (1 minute)} sleep disturbance noise limits are applicable during the night-time period.

The noise limits are applicable under prevailing meteorological conditions of wind speeds of up to 3 m/s at 10 metres above ground level or stability category 'F' temperature inversion conditions.

Sensitive receiver	Day ¹	Evening ¹	Night ¹	Night ¹
Sensitive receiver	LAeq, 15 minute	LAeq, 15 minute	LAeq, 15 minute	LA1 (1 min)
Wattle Grove (NCA 1)	35	35	35	52
Wattle Grove North (NCA 2)	35	35	35	52
Casula (NCA 3)	35	35	35	52
Glenfield (NCA 4)	35	35	35	52

Table 2	SSD 7628 CoC B80 noise	limits, dB(A
---------	------------------------	--------------

Notes:

1. In accordance with the INP, day is the period from 7:00 am to 6:00 pm Monday to Saturday; or 8:00 am to 6:00 pm on Sundays and public holidays; evening is the period from 6:00 pm to 10:00 pm; and night is the remaining periods.

 To determine compliance with the L_{A1} noise limits, noise from the project is to be measured at 1 metre from the dwelling façade. Where it can be demonstrated that direct measurement of noise from the project is impractical, the EPA may accept alternative means of determining compliance (see Chapter 7 of the NPfI).

4. The noise emission limits identified above apply under meteorological conditions of:

(i) wind speeds of up to 3 m/s at 10 metres above ground level; or

(ii) 'F' atmospheric stability class.

THE TRUST COMPANY (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED (ACN 000 000 993) AS TRUSTEE OF THE MOOREBANK INDUSTRIAL WAREHOUSE TRUST (ABN 51 402 161 047) C/- ESR DEVELOPMENTS (AUSTRALIA) PTY LTD MOOREBANK INTERMODAL PRECINCT EAST MONITORING REPORT FOR MECHANICAL PLANT (SSD 7628 B85) -WAREHOUSE E6

^{2.} To determine compliance with the L_{Aeq,15 minute} noise limits, noise from the development is to be measured at the most affected point within the residential boundary, or at the most affected point within 30 metres of a dwelling where the dwelling is more than 30 metres from the boundary. Where it can be demonstrated that direct measurement of noise from the project is impractical, the EPA may accept alternative means of determining compliance (see Chapter 7 Noise Policy for Industry - NPfI) The modification factors in Section 4 of the INP must also be applied to the measured noise levels where applicable.

3.2 Discussion of assessment noise limits

As noted in Section 3.1, the noise limits detailed in SSD 7628 CoC B80 are applicable not only to all operational noise sources approved under SSD 7628, but are also inclusive of operations as part of the MPE Stage 1 approval for SSD 6766. Importantly, when assessing compliance with these noise limits, the most affected residential receiver for any individual operations will not necessarily be at the same location. Additionally, it is unlikely that the reasonable worst-case noise levels from any individual operations would also occur in the same 15-minute period.

As part of the SSD 7709 Moorebank Precinct West (MPW) – Stage 2 Modification 1 (SSD 7709 MOD 1) submitted July 2020, a review of the applicable operational noise requirements across Moorebank Precinct West (MPW) and Moorebank Precinct East (MPE) was undertaken (Renzo Tonin and Associates document reference *TJ741-11F05 (r4)*, dated 30 June 2020). The review identified that there are a number of approval conditions that are applicable across both the MPW and MPE sites for operational noise, and that in the application of these approvals to the site activities it became apparent that the operational noise requirements were not consistent across the MPE and MPW sites.

Additionally, the review identified that the operational noise limits across MPE and MPW were set substantially below both the noise criteria and the predicted noise levels (even with feasible and reasonable mitigation measures) established during the environmental assessment stages for the cumulative operational noise levels from all MPE and MPW operations.

As such, the review recommended that an overall approach for cumulative operational noise management of the MIP (for East and West precincts) for a "*whole of complex*" approach be adopted, and that consistent noise management objectives for the Moorebank intermodal terminal precinct's operational noise be adopted to cover all operations within MPE and MPW. Appropriate and achievable noise management objectives consistent with EPA's noise policies were also developed in the review.

Following the modification application for SSD 7709 (MOD 1), the submission received from the NSW Environment Protection Authority (NSW EPA) noted the following:

However, the current noise limits are set below the predicted noise levels and are not based on the Project Specific Noise Levels (PSNL) derived under the then-applicable Industrial Noise Policy 2000 (now superseded by the Noise Policy for Industry 2017).... The EPA considers that the resulting noise limits are not achievable for MPW, nor are they achievable for the cumulative MPW and MPE sites.

Additionally, Liverpool City Council included in their submission:

Council considers that site regulation in regard to noise management may be assisted by adopting a precinct approach consistent with the NSW EPA's Noise Policy for Industry (2017).... Whilst it is acknowledged that current criteria in the Approval may be impracticable, it will be necessary for the Department to consider applying suitable noise limits that are achievable and capable of protecting the amenity and wellbeing of sensitive receivers.

SSD 7709 MOD 1 was approved 24 December 2021, along with the revised cumulative noise goals for the overall MIP (MPW & MPE). However, these have not then been adjusted as part of the relevant MPE approvals (SSD 6766 and SSD 7628). Noting the above regulator comments, it is appropriate to assume that the overall MIP (MPW & MPE) operational noise emissions should be managed consistent with the SSD 7709 MOD 1 update, and this will likely be incorporated into a future modification of in SSD 7628.

However, independent of this, as the updates have not yet occurred, this assessment has been done against the existing SSD 7628 noise limit requirements, without further considerations of cumulative MIP noise emissions. These comments have been included for important context relating to cumulative noise considerations.

3.3 CoC B85 assessment noise requirements

3.3.1 Requirements

The management of operational noise emissions from warehouse mechanical plant and equipment activities within MPE Stage 2 is outlined in the MPE ONVMP. Specifically, this report has been prepared to address the requirements of CoC B85 in SSD 7628, as detailed in Section 4.1.1 of the MPE ONVMP.

This report includes noise monitoring performed to address the requirements in CoC B85 as detailed in Table 4-1 in Section 4.1.1 of the MPE ONVMP.

The requirements of CoC B85 state:

B85 The Applicant must carry out noise monitoring of mechanical plant and other noisy equipment for a minimum period of one week where valid data is collected following occupation of each warehouse. The monitoring program must be carried out by a suitably qualified and experienced person(s) and a Monitoring Report for Mechanical Plant must be submitted to the Secretary within two months of occupation or each tenancy to verify predicted mechanical plant and equipment noise levels.

CoC B85 requires that the monitored noise levels be compared against the predicted levels reviewed in accordance with CoC B84.

An assessment of mechanical plant and equipment noise levels was prepared by Pulse White Noise Acoustics (PWNA) (LOGOS MPE 6 & 7 – Acoustic Design Report, Report number: 220518 - LOGOS MPE 6&7 - Acoustic Design Report – R5, 28 March 2023) (B84 assessment). However, this report did not provide specific warehouse predicted noise levels for all nearby noise sensitive receivers for verification under CoC B85 or separate warehouse E6 and E7. Instead, the report identified that noise emissions have been designed to achieve the overall noise levels presented in Table 5 of CoC B80 of 35 dB(A) LAeg 15minute, during all time periods.

Table 3-20 and Table 3-21 of the MPE ONVMP detail the predicted LAeg 15 minute intrusiveness and LAmax sleep disturbance noise levels respectively for the overall MPE operations at the Environmental

MONITORING (R1)

Assessment stage. Although these are for the overall MPE operations and not for an individual warehouse, they can be used as reference for consistency verification CoC B85 as per the monitoring requirements detailed in Table 4-1 in Section 4.1.1 of the MPE ONVMP.

It should also be noted that the monitoring is to be undertaken "... for a minimum period of one week where valid data is collected". As such, it is important that operations are representative of typical operations for the monitored data to be valid. This is of note for this assessment, as the monitored noise levels were determined to be representative of the future operational noise emissions, specifically regarding Warehouse E6B (Qube) operations. However, it is understood that the main office mechanical plant and equipment associated with the Warehouse 6A (Ceva) is currently not operational and hence excluded from this assessment. Warehouse E6B (Qube) main office mechanical plant and equipment is currently operational and hence included/assessed in this assessment.

3.3.2 Noise monitoring timing

It is understood that the Warehouse E6 commenced operations from January 2025.

During this time period the tenant warehouse operations were still ramping up to typical levels. As such, monitoring of valid noise data could not be conducted initially following operations. As such, the earliest period when valid noise monitoring data could be collected was from March 2025. Noise monitoring was then undertaken end of March 2025, due to a two-week delay to allow for appropriate weather conditions during the monitoring period.

It is noted that the warehouse E6A/B facilities had ramped up operations to approximately full capacity at the time of the noise monitoring. The assessment herein has been performed to assess the potential noise impact of current operations as the key operational noise sources were running at suitable capacity (eg. main office mechanical plant/equipment).

This report presents the mechanical plant and equipment noise emissions and assessment in accordance with the requirements of CoC B85 in SSD 7628, as detailed in Section 4.1.1 of the MPE ONVMP.

4 Measurement methodology and results

4.1 Noise monitoring approach

The NSW Environment Protection Authority's (EPA) *Noise Policy for Industry* (NPfI) provides guidance in Chapter 7 for monitoring the performance of a noise-generating industrial facility. NPfI Section 7.1.1 provides guidance as to how to review noise emissions, which includes direct measurement at a receiver location, direct measurement at alternative or intermediate location/s, unattended monitoring and modelling, in order or preferred to least preferred. It notes that this range of compliance assessment techniques may be used individually, or in combination, to provide a means of determining compliance with a noise limit. At times, the best available compliance assessment methodology will only allow for a balance-of-probabilities type determination of compliance, and repeat assessment may be needed. It also makes clear that "A noise limit applies to the noise from a particular development/activity and not to general ambient noise. Therefore it is often necessary to use techniques to attempt to separate the noise from a facility versus noise from other sources."

For the CoC B85 Warehouse E6 assessment, the following points were considered:

- A site inspection undertaken on 28 February 2025, identified that at the residences in the closest residences in Wattle Grove operational noise emissions were not audible or distinguishable in the direction of the Warehouse E6 during daytime operations.
- The Warehouse E6 mechanical plant were expected to be more than 10 dB below the existing noise levels, measured at the surrounding NCAs by RTA during previous MIP noise monitoring. This previous attended noise monitoring found the existing ambient noise levels to typically be greater than 40 dB(A) L_{Aeq15min}, and controlled by noise sources outside of MIP, such as road traffic noise (ie. M5 and Hume Highway road traffic noise).
- Access to Wattle Grove residences and Warehouse E6 was possible during the attended monitoring period, however access to a suitable intermediate location between the Wattle Grove residences and Warehouse E6 was note very limited.
- A number of co-located noise generating warehouse and industrial operations, including the IMEX terminal, operate co-currently within the MIP, in particular across MPE.
- Noise source locations are both roof mounted and ground level mounted.

Noting the above points, and that the existing ambient noise levels are already high at receivers compared with the expected noise emission levels at receivers, quantification of the noise under investigation via direct noise measurement of operational noise emissions from the warehouse mechanical plant and equipment operations is not possible at the residential receiver locations because of poor signal-to-noise ratio. The NPfl also provides guidance about using noise modelling to review the performance of an industrial operation that is co-located with separate but noise-generating industrial sites impacting the same receiver, similar to the Warehouse E6 within the MIP situation.

As such, the CoC B85 noise monitoring has used a combination of on-site and intermediate location attended noise measurements, unattended monitoring, and noise modelling to quantify the noise emission performance of the warehouse mechanical plant and equipment.

4.2 Compliance measurement methodology

The noise monitoring undertaken to satisfy the requirements of CoC B85 has included the following noise monitoring and assessment steps.

4.2.1 Noise monitoring

The following noise monitoring was undertaken:

- 1. **Unattended noise monitoring** nearby to the key mechanical plant items for a period of 10 days, to confirm the noise levels of the mechanical plant when operations occurred.
- 2. **On-site attended measurement** of all mechanical plant and other noisy equipment items to quantify noise emission levels of mechanical plant and equipment that operate as part of the Warehouse E6 operations (Section 5.2.3).
- 3. Receiver and intermediate attended measurements to confirm that the mechanical plant and other noisy equipment items were not quantifiable at the nearest critical receiver locations (Wattle Grove), and/or assist with contribution estimations of noise emissions levels, and provide noise monitor data to aid with confirming the performance of the noise model used to determine noise emission estimations at receivers. For the estimate warehouse mechanical noise contribution at the intermediate and receiver locations, where noise in the direction Warehouse E6 is not audible, it is assumed that the warehouse mechanical noise contribution is at least 10 dB(A) below the corresponding measured L_{A90} or L_{Amin} 15minute noise level as appropriate.

4.2.2 Data analysis and assessment

Following the noise monitoring, the following steps were undertaken to assess the noise level contributions at the nearby sensitive receivers:

- 1. **Noise source analysis** Review the mechanical plant and equipment attended measurement data, analyse results and quantify noise source levels from all the fixed mechanical plant and equipment for Warehouse E6.
- 2. Noise model setup and performance review Setup and calibrate the noise model for individual mechanical plant items, including the rooftop main office mechanical plant and equipment as well as the dock office mechanical equipment for the assessment of reasonable worst-case noise operations.
- 3. **Noise emission quantification** Calculate the fixed mechanical plant and equipment noise levels from the Warehouse E6 operations to all nearby surrounding receivers and determine the noise level contribution at the property with the highest noise levels within each NCA.

4.3 Instrumentation

A range of noise monitoring equipment was used to undertake the compliance noise monitoring. A summary of measurement equipment and calibration dates is provided in Table 3.

All of the noise monitoring equipment are Class 1 instruments, with calibration certificates current at the time of the measurements. Before and after each series of measurements, the calibration of the sound level meters was verified using a reference calibration of 94 dB at 1 kHz. The difference between preand post-calibration levels was within 0.5 dB for all measurements.

Monitoring location/ purpose	Monitoring period used	Equipment (RTA ref.)	Serial number	Last date calibrated
On-site attended noise measurements	28/3/2025, 3/4/2025	NTi XL2 (XL2-B)	A2A- 16217 -E0	04/08/2023
On-site attended noise measurements	3/4/2025	NTi XL2 (XL2-A)	A2A-12270-E0	09/12/2024
Unattended on-site noise measurements (E6 (B) Office Roof)	28/3/2025 - 11/4/2025	NTi XL2 (RTA07-052)	A2A-17457-E0	17/07/2023
Unattended receiver measurements (nearby to Wattle Grove Residences) ¹	28/3/2025 - 11/4/2025	NTi XL2 (RTA07-043)	A2A-20131-E0	28/02/2024
Field calibration	28/3/2025, 3/4/2025, 11/4/2025	NTi XL2 (XL2-B)	3009707	18/12/2024
Field calibration	3/4/2025	NTi XL2 (XL2-A)	2677710	06/01/2025

Table 3 Noise measurement equipment

Notes: 1. Unattended noise monitor was installed within defence bushland between E6 and Wattle Grove Residences nearby to 76 Corryton Court, Wattle Grove.

4.4 Meteorological conditions

Meteorological conditions during the period of noise measurement surveys have been reviewed to determine the prevailing wind and temperature inversion conditions were appropriate. For a period of the monitoring, data from the MIP meteorological data monitoring station adjacent to Bushmaster Avenue, established in accordance with SSD 7709 (MPW Stage 2) CoC A54, has been sourced and reviewed.

During the attended noise measurement periods at Warehouse E6 and the nearby receivers, the weather conditions were as detailed in Table 4.

Date / Time period	Air temperature, °C	Relative humidity, %	Average wind speed (at 10 m above ground level), m/s	Wind direction, degrees and Cardinal	Cloud cover	Rain
3/4/2025 3:30AM – 6:00AM Receivers/ Intermediate monitoring	12 to 14	95 to 96	Up to 0.3 m/s	Ranged from SW to W	Clear skies throughout	None
3/4/2025 6:00AM – 2:00PM Onsite monitoring	12 to 41	26 to 96	0 to 3.5 m/s	Generally ranged from SW to NW	Clear skies throughout	None

Table 4 Attended noise measurement surveys weather observations

Notes: 1. During the attended monitoring, a handheld anemometer was used, and confirmed wind speeds at the sound level meter were not above 5m/s, as required by the NPfI.

The noise limits in SSD 7628 are applicable for wind speeds up to 3 m/s (10.8 km/h) at 10 metres above ground level. This meteorological station data was used to exclude weather affected data (wind (greater than 5m/s) or rain) in the unattended noise monitoring presented in APPENDIX B in accordance with the NPfI.

MOOREBANK INTERMODAL PRECINCT EAST

THE TRUST COMPANY (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED (ACN 000 000 993) AS TRUSTEE OF THE MOOREBANK INDUSTRIAL WAREHOUSE TRUST (ABN 51 402 161 047) C/- ESR DEVELOPMENTS (AUSTRALIA) PTY LTD

5 Monitoring and analysis

5.1 Key mechanical plant and equipment noise sources

Based on as-built construction information, site inspections, site personal observations, attended and unattended noise measurements, the main sources for the mechanical plant and equipment are as follows:

- Main office (E6B) rooftop mechanical plant and equipment
- Mechanical plant deck on main office (E6B) roof with 2 condenser units installed
- Toilet Exhaust Fan (TEF) on main office (E6B) roof adjacent to condensers
- Main office (E6B) ground area (east) mechanical plant (2 x COMMS units)
- Main office (E6B) area mechanical plant/louvers affixed to the office wall (east)
- Mechanical plant for dock office (E6A and E6B), including rooftop plant/equipment and on ground air-conditioning plant (1 x condenser unit)

The ridgeline smoke exhaust fans do not operate as part of normal operations and only operate in emergencies or during testing, and so do not form part of the assessment. The relevant locations of the key noise generating mechanical plant items are presented in Figure 2.



Figure 2 Key mechanical plant noise source locations and unattended noise monitor location (L1)

THE TRUST COMPANY (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED (ACN 000 000 993) AS TRUSTEE OF THE MOOREBANK INDUSTRIAL WAREHOUSE TRUST (ABN 51 402 161 047) C/- ESR DEVELOPMENTS (AUSTRALIA) PTY LTD MOOREBANK INTERMODAL PRECINCT EAST MONITORING REPORT FOR MECHANICAL PLANT (SSD 7628 B85) -WAREHOUSE E6

TM306-05F03 E6 WAREHOUSE B85 OPERATIONAL NOISE MONITORING (R1)

5.2 Noise monitoring

5.2.1 Receiver noise monitoring

Noise monitoring was undertaken at the receiver locations shown in Figure 3 to aid with confirming the likely mechanical noise contribution levels at the nearest residential receivers from the warehouse in each of the surrounding NCAs. The location of these measurements is presented in Figure 3. A summary of the measured noise levels are provided in Table 5, with further details for each of the measurements provided in APPENDIX B.

Table 5 also presents total statistical noise levels measured during the attended noise survey and estimated noise contributions from Warehouse E6 based on short-term audible noise measured at the attended measurement locations that could be attributed as coming from Warehouse E6 operations.

1,000 m 250 500 750 250 Wattle Grove North (NCA2) Casula (NCA3) MPE Wattle Grove (NCA1) Legend MIP = MPE + MPW Residential noise catchment areas (NCA) E6 Monitoring Locations (Receiver) Casula MPE Receiver (Attended) Glenfield O Receiver (Unattended) Warehouse E6

Figure 3 Key receiver noise monitoring locations

THE TRUST COMPANY (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED (ACN 000 000 993) AS TRUSTEE OF THE MOOREBANK INDUSTRIAL WAREHOUSE TRUST (ABN 51 402 161 047) C/- ESR DEVELOPMENTS (AUSTRALIA) PTY LTD MOOREBANK INTERMODAL PRECINCT EAST MONITORING REPORT FOR MECHANICAL PLANT (SSD 7628 B85) -WAREHOUSE E6

Glenfield

(NCA4

Wattle Grove

Wattle Grove North

- · ·		Start	Measured	d noise leve	els (15-minu	ute), dB(A)	Estimated warehouse
ID	ID Location		L _{AFmax}	L_{Aeq}	L _{A90}	L _{AFmin}	LAeq, 15minute, dB(A)
R1	15 Larra Court, Wattle Grove	4:06am	57	43	40	39	< 30
R2	52 Corryton Court, Wattle Grove	4:57am	52	43	41	40	< 31
R3	82 Corryton Court, Wattle Grove	4:33am	70	45	43	41	< 33
R4	30 Goodenough Street, Glenfield	5:04am	71	53	47	44	< 37
R5	73A Leacocks Lane, Casula	4:31am	69	53	43	41	< 33
R6	39 Glenelg Court, Wattle Grove	4:02am	82	59	44	43	< 34

Table 5 Receiver attended noise measurement results (3 April 2025)

5.2.2 Intermediate noise monitoring

As it was not possible to confidently quantify warehouse noise emissions at the receiver locations through the receiver monitoring, intermediate measurements were undertaken between the receivers and the warehouse, in addition to boundary locations around the warehouse. Noise monitoring was undertaken at the intermediate location shown in Figure 4. Accessible locations between the source and the receiver location/s were selected, where the signal-to-noise from the warehouse noise sources would be higher than at the residential receiver locations. These intermediate monitoring locations were selected to assist with determining the likely contribution from the warehouse at these intermediate locations and to aid with reviewing the compliance noise modelling and likely upper bound of noise emissions.





THE TRUST COMPANY (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED (ACN 000 000 993) AS TRUSTEE OF THE MOOREBANK INDUSTRIAL WAREHOUSE TRUST (ABN 51 402 161 047) C/- ESR DEVELOPMENTS (AUSTRALIA) PTY LTD MOOREBANK INTERMODAL PRECINCT EAST MONITORING REPORT FOR MECHANICAL PLANT (SSD 7628 B85) -WAREHOUSE E6

TM306-05F03 E6 WAREHOUSE B85 OPERATIONAL NOISE MONITORING (R1)

ID Location / Sta Comment Sta		C (- , + , +	Measured 15-minute noise levels, dB(A)			noise	Estimated warehouse	Key noise sources contributing to steady
		Start time	LAFmax	L_{Aeq}	L _{A90}	LAFmin	contribution , L _{Aeq, 15min} , dB(A)	state noise levels
IL1	Warehouse E6-B Qube boundary towards south-east	10:05am	77	60	52	48	< 42	Nearby parking and E7 activities, and occasional IMEX noise events. Main office mechanical plant was inaudible. Full details in APPENDIX B.
IL2	MPE fence line east (corner of Marcus Place/Trajan Street)	10:05am	72	54	44	42	< 34	Distant road traffic and birds [~44 dB(A)]. Local truck movements/idle towards east of E6. IMEX and E7 activities. Main office mechanical plant was inaudible. Full details in APPENDIX B
L2 (Unattended noise monitor) ¹	During I1 and I2 attended measurement	10:05am	56	51	49	48	<39	Unattended noise monitor (within defence bushland).

Table 6 Concurrent intermediate noise measurement results (3 April 2025)

Notes: 1. Unattended noise monitor data was installed within defence bushland between E6 and Wattle Grove Residences nearby to 76 Corryton Court, Wattle Grove.

5.2.3 Onsite noise measurements

Attended noise measurements of individual mechanical plant and equipment items and typical operations were undertaken at Warehouse E6 on 3 April 2025, in order to quantify the noise emissions from the installed mechanical plant and equipment in operation for input into the calibration modelling (Section 6). These noise levels have been used to develop the CoC B85 operational noise compliance noise model.

During all measurements of mechanical plant and equipment, the specific noise source being measured was the dominant noise source. All plant and equipment items were switched on and forced into full capacity for the purposes of undertaking the attended noise measurements. Observations were made of the on-site specific mechanical plant item/s (specifically, critical noise generating plant/equipment i.e. two rooftop condenser units) during operations to ensure they were operating during attended on-site measurements.

Results from the on-site attended measurements of the critical mechanical plant and equipment are summarised in Table 7. The locations the key noise generating mechanical plant noise items are presented in Figure 2.

п	Activity poise sources	Time	Measurement	Measurement	Measured noise levels, dB(A)		
	Activity hoise sources	inne	sec	distance (m)	LAFmax	L _{Aeq}	L _{A90}
	Office E6B roof (locations see Figure 2) ¹						
S1	Office (E6B) Condenser Unit 1 + Office (E6B)	12:49 PM	31 sec	6	65	64	63
S2		12:44 PM	31 sec	6	65	63	63
S3	Office (E6B) Toilet Exhaust Fan (TEF)	12:41 PM	47 sec	2	64	60	60
S4	Office (E6B) – Roof Cowl 1						
S5	Office (E6B) – Roof Cowl 2	inaudible at 1 metre at 50 dB(A) L _{A90}					
S6	Office (E6B) – Roof Cowl 3						
	Hardstand and dock offices						
S7	Condenser units/COMMS 1 and 2 (Office E6B)	1:47 PM	18 sec	2.4	55	52	51
S8	Mech louvre (Office E6B - eastern wall)	1:54 PM	40 sec	4	62	52	50
S9	Roof Cowl 1 (Dock Office roof)	inaudible at ground level at 50 dB(A) LA90					
S10	Roof Cowl 2 (Dock Office roof)						

Table 7 On-site attended mechanical plant noise measurement results (3 April 2025)

Notes: 1. All plant and equipment items were switched on and forced into full capacity for the purposes of undertaking the attended noise measurements. Monitoring undertaken during steady state operations.

5.2.4 Unattended noise measurements

During the attended noise survey in Section 5.1, it was observed that the rooftop mechanical deck with two condenser units and a toilet exhaust fan (TEF) could operate continuously as part of the typical operations, and were considered to be the main noise sources for the Warehouse E6 mechanical plant noise emissions.

To confirm that the noise emissions from these key mechanical sources represented normal operations and did not substantially change over time, unattended noise monitoring was undertaken to supplement to the attended noise monitoring (Section 5.2.3), this was undertaken for a minimum one week period as required by CoC B85. The unattended noise monitoring was undertaken over the period between 28 March to 11 April 2025. The unattended noise monitor (L1), as shown in Figure 2, as located so that noise contributions from mechanical plant would dominate the monitored noise levels.

The monitoring data confirmed the condenser units only operated occasional, and turned on and off throughout the monitoring period, with some period of reduced load and lower noise levels. The modelling is based upon the maximum measured noise levels. The condenser units typically operated for a period of 1 to 3 hours at a time. Detailed results from the unattended noise monitoring are provided in APPENDIX C.

5.3 Mechanical plant and equipment noise source levels

Based upon the attended and unattended noise monitoring presented in the above sections, the following noise source levels for the key typical operating mechanical plant and equipment have been established based upon periods of typical operation. These have been based upon either direct measurement, or supplier data that has been confirmed through monitoring of cumulative noise levels (ie. condenser units on mechanical deck). Based upon noise monitoring presented in Section 5.2, the sound power level inputs presented in Table 8 were used in the CoC B85 operational noise compliance modelling detailed in Section 6 for the key noise source locations shown in Figure 2.

Site items / operation	Individual item sound power level (SWL) (L _{Aeq,t}), dB(A)	Comment
Office E6B (warehouse west) roof ³		
Office condenser units (2 units) - Vertical discharge units	84	Based upon attended measurements (Unit type Daikan VRV REYQ22BYM/REYQ20BYM) and unit observations. These condenser units observed to be the key dominant noise source for office E6B.
Office (E6B) Toilet Exhaust Fan (TEF)	74	Based upon the attended measurements on office E6B rooftop.
Office (E6B) roof cowl units	48 ⁵	Office roof cowl units were inaudible. Based upon the attended measurements/observations on main office rooftop. Inaudible at 1m metre at 50 dB(A) LA90.
Office 6A (warehouse east) roof ¹		
Office (E6A) rooftop mechanical plant/equipment	n/a ¹	Office (E6A) Ceva main office and associated mechanical plant and equipment is not used as part of typical operations by the tenant.
Hardstand and dock offices		
COMMS units (adjacent to Office E6B)	67 ²	Installed unit: Daikan RXC100AV1A. Two units. Intermittent operations of one or two units.
Dock office (E6B) (warehouse west) - Air conditioning condenser unit (CU-6.2-DO) - Horizontal discharge single fan unit (Daikan)	68 ⁴	Installed unit: Daikan RZA125CV1. Dock office air conditioning unit was not operational during attended measurements. The sound power level based upon the installed unit manufacturer sound power levels. Supplier level = Lw 68 dB(A)
Dock office (E6A) (warehouse east) - Air conditioning condenser unit (CU-6.1-DO) - Horizontal discharge single fan unit (Daikan)	68 ⁴	Installed unit: Daikan RZA125CV1. Measurement access was not possible. The sound power level based upon the installed unit manufacturer sound power levels.

Table 8	CoC B85 operational	noise compliance	noise source levels

THE TRUST COMPANY (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED (ACN 000 000 993) AS TRUSTEE OF THE MOOREBANK INDUSTRIAL WAREHOUSE TRUST (ABN 51 402 161 047) C/- ESR DEVELOPMENTS (AUSTRALIA) PTY LTD

Site items / operation	Individual item sound power level (SWL) (L _{Aeq,t}), dB(A)	Comment
Mech louvre (Office E6B - eastern wall)	72	Noise level based upon attended measurements conducted onsite (03/05/2025).
Roof Cowl 1 & 2 (Dock Office roof)	48 ⁵	Noise levels measured at ground level adjacent to dock office. Inaudible at ground level at 50 dB(A) LA90.

Notes: 1. As the main office (E6A) is currently not operational. As such, the office (E6A) associated mechanical plant, and equipment is currently not operational and hence excluded from this assessment.

2. Measurements were made of where mechanical sources were audible, and these fans were quantified and modelled. Other office roof sources were not dominant, based upon observations from warehouse roof levels for cumulative measured noise levels when in operation, and so it was appropriate to model just the key dominant sources.

3. Based upon highest measured levels from multiple attended measurements and unattended noise monitoring.

4. Dock office condenser unit was not operational during attended noise measurements onsite. The sound power level data was obtained from manufacturer provided data for the relevant model number installed onsite.

5. Noise emissions were not audible in a 50 dB(A) LA90 environment, as such noise emission level is assumed to be no higher than 40 dB(A) at 1 metre.

6 CoC B85 operational noise modelling and assessment

As detailed in Section 4, it was not possible to directly measure or estimate the warehouse mechanical plant and equipment noise levels at nearby receivers without implementing a range of different noise measurement and noise modelling techniques. As such, this assessment has used a combination of onsite attended noise measurements and unattended monitoring presented in Section 5, and noise modelling described below. These techniques were used in combination to assess the noise emissions of the Warehouse E6 mechanical plant and equipment.

6.1 General modelling assumptions and methods

Modelling and assessment of warehouse noise emissions was determined by modelling the noise sources, receiver locations, existing built structures and topographical features, using CadnaA (version 2025. The noise predictions are based on the CONCAWE noise prediction algorithms, noting that the nearby critical noise sensitive receivers are greater 100 metres from the site. The CONCAWE environmental noise prediction method is an appropriate method for predicting the noise propagation in these circumstances. The performance of the noise model used is reviewed in Section 6.2.

The noise prediction model considers:

- Location of all noise sources.
- Height of sources and receivers referenced to digital ground contours both onsite and outside the warehouse and MIP areas.
- Noise source levels of individual mechanical plant and equipment. All fixed mechanical plant and equipment operational noise sources associated with Warehouse E6 operations have been included.
- Separation distances between sources and receivers.
- Ground type between sources and receivers.
- Attenuation from buildings and built structures and topography (natural and purpose built).
- Atmospheric losses and assessment meteorological conditions.

The modelled activities and assumptions for the operational mechanical plant and equipment and their duration and frequency of operation as part of the 'reasonable' worst-case operational scenarios are described in Section 6.3.

6.2 Noise model performance

The base CadnaA model prepared for the E7 noise monitoring assessment (*TM306-05F02 E7 Warehouse B85 Operational Noise Monitoring (r1),* dated 24 January 2025) (E7 B85 noise monitoring report) was used to develop the compliance monitoring modelling for this assessment.

Section 6.2 of the E7 B85 noise monitoring report demonstrated that through reviewing correlated noise events between onsite noise monitoring and intermediate monitoring locations toward Wattle Grove receivers that the noise model is considered suitable for modelling and assessing noise emissions at nearby receivers. As the assessment is concerned with similar receivers in Wattle Grove, this model performance review is also appropriate for this assessment and demonstrates the base model is suitable.

Similarly, the intermediate monitoring in Section 5.2.2 was further used to confirm the model was predicting as expected. As mechanical plant and equipment levels were inaudible at the intermediate locations, it is assumed they were at least 10 dB(A) below the measured background noise level (L_{A90}). This is confirmed as per Table 9.

Table 9	Comparison between measured and modelled noise levels - Intermediate monitoring
	locations (3/4/2025)

Location	Measured contribution noise level, dB(A) $L_{eq,T}$	Model predicted noise level, dB(A) $L_{eq,T}$
IL1 (Qube/Ceva boundary SE)	<42 (10 dB(A) below BG)	35
IL2 (Cnr. Marcus Pl/Trajan St)	<34 (10 dB(A) below BG)	31

6.3 Assessment operational scenarios

All key measurable noise-generating mechanical plant and equipment that operate as part of typical operations have been included in the assessment modelling as required by CoC B85. These are listed in Table 8. The locations of these sources are shown in Figure 2.

The office (E6B) rooftop two (2) condenser units and a toilet exhaust fan (TEF) are the main (dominant) mechanical plant and equipment noise sources for Warehouse E6 operations for the reasonable worst case 15-minute scenario assessment. All office mechanical plant and equipment identified in Section 5.3 have been assumed to operate during all assessment periods, although these plant items typically only operate when the office is in use (assessment considered 24 hours a day and 7 days operation).

6.4 Noise compliance assessment

Mechanical plant and equipment operational noise levels are presented in Table 10. The noise levels have been modelled to residential receiver noise catchments surrounding the MIP and the highest residential receiver noise level in each catchment area reported in Table 10. These noise levels represent the reasonable worst-case operational scenario (15-minute period) from typical mechanical plant and

equipment operations of the warehouse.

The modelling incorporated the worst-case prevailing meteorological conditions, as required by CoC B85, which are wind speeds of up to 3 m/s at 10 metres above ground level or stability category 'F' temperature inversion conditions.

The mechanical plant and equipment noise sources are steady-state or quasi-steady-state. Therefore, there is unlikely to be significant variation between $L_{Aeq,15min}$ values and $L_{A1,1minute}$ values, and no significant peak noise events are expected. As such, by achieving the night period $L_{Aeq,(15-minute)}$ requirements, the noise emissions will achieve the $L_{A1,1minute}$ sleep arousal screening level requirements of 52 dB(A) $L_{A1,1minute}$.

The results in Table 10 show that the predicted CoC B85 operational compliance noise levels are below the SSD 7628 CoC B80 noise limits. Furthermore, although the B84 assessment report did not provide specific warehouse predicted noise levels for all nearby noise sensitive receivers for verification under CoC B85, noise emissions are aiming to achieve appropriate noise levels below the SSD 7628 CoC B80 noise limits to assist ESR with managing the cumulative noise emissions from the MIP.

As such, it can be concluded that the E6 mechanical plant and equipment noise emissions achieve these requirements, such that they have been selected and installed to achieve the overall noise limits specified in SSD 7628 Table 5 (CoC B80).

THE TRUST COMPANY (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED (ACN 000 000 993) AS TRUSTEE OF THE MOOREBANK INDUSTRIAL WAREHOUSE TRUST (ABN 51 402 161 047) C/- ESR DEVELOPMENTS (AUSTRALIA) PTY LTD

Table 10 CoC B85 operational noise levels – Mechanical plant and equipment - Warehouse E6

NCA	Operational compliance a	assessment noise levels ^{1,2,3}		SSD 7628 CoC B80 noise limits				
	LAeq, 15 minute			LAeq, 15 minute				
	Day	Evening	Night	Day	Evening	Night		
Wattle Grove (NCA 1)	< 20	< 20	< 20	35	35	35		
Wattle Grove North (NCA 2)	< 20	< 20	< 20	35	35	35		
Casula (NCA 3)	< 20	< 20	< 20	35	35	35		
Glenfield (NCA 4)	< 20	< 20	< 20	35	35	35		

Notes 1. Modelling meteorological were as follows, consistent with the range applicable for the B131 noise limits:

a. Day/Evening - Winds speeds of 3m/s at 10 meters above ground level (all directions)

b. Night - Atmospheric stability category F (with no wind).

2. Modelling based upon average temperature and humidity conditions during the monitoring period.

3. For estimated levels less than 20 dB(A) LAeq, 15minute, "< 20dB(A)" is presented.

7 Conclusion

Renzo Tonin & Associates was engaged by ESR Developments (Australia) Pty Ltd on behalf of The Trust Company (Australia) Limited (ACN 000 000 993) as trustee of the Moorebank Industrial Warehouse Trust to undertake noise monitoring of the warehouse mechanical plant and other noisy equipment to satisfy the State Significant Development (SSD) 7628 B85 consent condition (CoC) for the Warehouse E6.

Warehouse E6 is located within the Moorebank Precinct East (MPE), which forms part of the Moorebank Intermodal Precinct (MIP) at Moorebank, NSW. Warehouse E6 is separated into E6A (western warehouse), and E6B (eastern) warehouse. The western warehouse (E6B) is currently tenanted by the Qube Holdings Logistics (Qube), while the eastern warehouse (E6A) is currently tenanted by Ceva Logistics (Ceva).

This report has been prepared to address the noise emissions from the fixed mechanical plant and equipment of the warehouse that operate as part of typical warehouse operations in accordance CoC B85 of SSD 7628, and as detailed in the MPE ONVMP. CoC B85 requires noise monitoring of actual mechanical plant and other noisy equipment operations for a minimum period of one week where valid data is collected following the commencement of operations of each warehouse within MPE. The CoC B84 noise assessment report did not provide specific warehouse predicted noise levels for all nearby noise sensitive receivers for verification under CoC B85. As such, this report has been prepared to confirm that the actual mechanical plant and other noisy equipment operations achieve the overall noise levels presented in Table 5 of CoC B80 of 35 dB(A) L_{Aeq 15minute}, during all time periods.

SSD 7628 Consent Condition B85 requires noise monitoring of valid data for comparison against the above noise requirements. The NSW EPA *Noise Policy for Industry* (NPfI) provides guidance for monitoring the performance of a noise-generating industrial facility, which includes direct measurement at a receiver location, direct measurement at alternative or intermediate location/s, unattended monitoring and modelling. As the existing ambient noise levels are already high at residences nearby to Warehouse E6 compared with the expected noise emission levels, a combination of on-site, intermediate and receiver attended noise measurements, unattended monitoring, and noise modelling have been used to quantify the noise emission performance of the warehouse mechanical plant and equipment.

Unattended noise monitoring was conducted on the warehouse roof nearby to the key noise generating mechanical plant items over the period of 28 March to 11 April 2025. In addition, attended noise measurements were undertaken on 3 April 2025. The aim of the measurements was to quantify fixed mechanical plant and equipment operational noise levels on-site, to develop a compliance noise model and estimate the noise emission levels at nearby residences.

The monitoring data was analysed to confirm the warehouse mechanical plant and equipment noise source levels. These were used to then develop a noise model for the warehouse. The noise model was

reviewed against onsite, intermediate and receiver concurrent noise measurements to confirm its suitability to assessing the CoC B85 noise emissions.

This assessment concluded that the warehouse mechanical plant and equipment noise emission levels achieve the overall noise levels presented in Table 5 of CoC B80 of 35 dB(A) L_{Aeq 15minute}, during all time periods as required by CoC B84 and CoC B85.

APPENDIX A Glossary of terminology

The following is a brief description of the technical terms used to describe noise to assist in understanding the technical issues presented.

Adverse weather	Weather effects that enhance noise (that is, wind and temperature inversions) that occur at a site for a significant period of time (that is, wind occurring more than 30% of the time in any assessment period in any season and/or temperature inversions occurring more than 30% of the nights in winter).							
Ambient noise	The all-encompassing noise associated within a given environment at a given time, usually composed of sound from all sources near and far.							
Assessment period	The period in a day	over whic	h assessments are made.					
Assessment Point	A point at which no measurements are t	ise measu taken or es	rements are taken or estimated. A point at which noise stimated.					
Background noise	Background noise is the term used to describe the underlying level of noise present in the ambient noise, measured in the absence of the noise under investigation, when extraneous noise is removed. It is described as the average of the minimum noise levels measured on a sound level meter and is measured statistically as the A-weighted noise level exceeded for ninety percent of a sample period. This is represented as the L90 noise level (see below).							
Decibel [dB]	The units that sound common sounds in	d is measu our daytir	red in. The following are examples of the decibel readings of ne environment:					
	threshold of	0 dB	The faintest sound we can hear					
	hearing	10 dB	Human breathing					
		20 dB						
	almost silent	30 dB	Quiet bedroom or in a quiet national park location					
	generally guiet	40 dB	Library					
	generally quiet	50 dB	Typical office space or ambience in the city at night					
	moderately	60 dB	CBD mall at lunch time					
	loud	70 dB	The sound of a car passing on the street					
	loud	80 dB	Loud music played at home					
	1000	90 dB	The sound of a truck passing on the street					
	venuloud	100 dB	Indoor rock band concert					
	very loud	110 dB	Operating a chainsaw or jackhammer					
	extremely loud	120 dB	Jet plane take-off at 100m away					
	threshold of	130 dB						
	pain	140 dB	Military jet take-off at 25m away					
dB(A)	A-weighted decibels. The A- weighting noise filter simulates the response of the human ear at relatively low levels, where the ear is not as effective in hearing low frequency sounds as it is in hearing high frequency sounds. That is, low frequency sounds of the same dB level are not heard as loud as high frequency sounds. The sound level meter replicates the human response of the ear by using an electronic filter which is called the "A" filter. A sound level measured with this filter switched on is denoted as dB(A). Practically all noise is measured using the A filter							
dB(C)	C-weighted decibel relatively high levels frequency (E63Hz) t	s. The C-v s, where th o mid-hia	veighting noise filter simulates the response of the human ear at ne human ear is nearly equally effective at hearing from mid-low h frequency (4kHz), but is less effective outside these frequencies.					

Frequency	Frequency is synonymous to pitch. Sounds have a pitch which is peculiar to the nature of the sound generator. For example, the sound of a tiny bell has a high pitch and the sound of a bass drum has a low pitch. Frequency or pitch can be measured on a scale in units of Hertz or Hz.
Impulsive noise	Having a high peak of short duration or a sequence of such peaks. A sequence of impulses in rapid succession is termed repetitive impulsive noise.
Intermittent noise	The level suddenly drops to that of the background noise several times during the period of observation. The time during which the noise remains at levels different from that of the ambient is one second or more.
L _{Max}	The maximum sound pressure level measured over a given period.
L _{Min}	The minimum sound pressure level measured over a given period.
L1	The sound pressure level that is exceeded for 1% of the time for which the given sound is measured.
L ₁₀	The sound pressure level that is exceeded for 10% of the time for which the given sound is measured.
L ₉₀	The level of noise exceeded for 90% of the time. The bottom 10% of the sample is the L90 noise level expressed in units of dB(A).
L _{eq}	The "equivalent noise level" is the summation of noise events and integrated over a selected period of time.
Reflection	Sound wave changed in direction of propagation due to a solid object obscuring its path.
SEL	Sound Exposure Level (SEL) is the constant sound level which, if maintained for a period of 1 second would have the same acoustic energy as the measured noise event. SEL noise measurements are useful as they can be converted to obtain Leq sound levels over any period of time and can be used for predicting noise at various locations.
Sound	A fluctuation of air pressure which is propagated as a wave through air.
Sound absorption	The ability of a material to absorb sound energy through its conversion into thermal energy.
Sound level meter	An instrument consisting of a microphone, amplifier and indicating device, having a declared performance and designed to measure sound pressure levels.
Sound pressure level	The level of noise, usually expressed in decibels, as measured by a standard sound level meter with a microphone.
Sound power level	Ten times the logarithm to the base 10 of the ratio of the sound power of the source to the reference sound power.
Tonal noise	Containing a prominent frequency and characterised by a definite pitch.

APPENDIX B Noise monitoring survey information

Table 11 Attended noise monitoring results (receivers) (monitoring locations shown in Figure 3)

ID	1	Prevailing	Measu	red noise	level, dE	8(A)	A)		
	Location / Time	meteorological conditions ¹	L _{Amax}	LA1 LA10 LAeq LA90		L _{Amin}	Comments on measured noise levels		
R1	Wattle Grove (adjacent to 15 Larra Court) 4:06am – 4:21am 3 April 2025	Wind – nil to 0.3 m/s Direction – WSW Humidity – 95% Temperature - 13°C Stability Class F/G ²	57	49	44	43	40	39	Warehouse E6 related noise emissions: Warehouse E6 were not audible/distinguishable. Estimate warehouse mechanical noise contribution: LAeq (15minute) = < 30 dBA [inaudible at 40 dB(A)]
R2	 Wattle Grove (adjacent to 52 Corryton Court) 4:57am – 5:12am 3 April 2025 	Wind – 0 m/s Direction – n/a Humidity – 95% Temperature - 13°C Stability Class G ²	52	47	44	43	41	40	Warehouse E6 related noise emissions:Warehouse E6 were not audible/distinguishable.Estimate warehouse mechanical noise contribution: $L_{Aeq(15minute)} = < 31 dBA [inaudible at 41 dB(A)]$ $L_{Amax} = < 31 dBA [inaudible at 41 dB(A)]$ Other noise source contributions:Background noise environment – Background LA90 was controlled by distant road traffic [~41-44 dB(A)]and natural sources (cicadas).Ambient noise environment - Ambient LAeq noise level was contributed to by distant road traffic [~41-44 dB(A)]and natural sources (cicadas).Ambient noise environment - Ambient LAeq noise level was contributed to by distant road traffic [~41-44 dB(A)] (N to NW), local road traffic passbys [~44-46 dB(A)], terminal operation events [~42-49 dB(A)], and natural sources [cicadas ~41-43 dB(A)].High noise events – Motorbike passby at distance [up to 52 dB(A)] and local road loud car passbys [up to ~46-47 dB(A)] and industrial activities.

ID		Prevailing	Measu	red noise	oise level, dB(A)				
	Location / Time	meteorological conditions ¹	L _{Amax}	L _{A1}	L _{A10}	L_{Aeq}	L _{A90}	L _{Amin}	Comments on measured noise levels
R3	Wattle Grove (adjacent	Wind – 0 m/s	70	49	46	45	43	41	Warehouse E6 related noise emissions:
	to 82 Corryton Court)	Direction – n/a							Warehouse E6 were not audible/distinguishable.
	4:33am – 4:48am	Humidity – 96%							Estimate warehouse mechanical noise contribution:
	3 April 2025	Stability Class G^2							$L_{Aeq (1Sminute)} = \langle 33 \text{ dBA } [inaudible at 43 dB(A)]$
		Stability class G							$L_{Amax} = \langle 33 \text{ dBA } [inaudible at 43 dB(A)]$
									Other noise source contributions:
									Background noise environment – Background L _{A90} was controlled by distant road traffic [~43-45 dB(A)] and natural sources (frogs/cicadas).
									Ambient noise environment - Ambient L _{Aeq} noise level was contributed to by local road traffic passbys [~46-48, up to 50 dB(A)], natural sources [frogs ~43-45 dB(A)] and distant road traffic [~43-45 dB(A)] (N to NW), terminal operation events [~41-44 dB(A)], distant train movement noise [~44-48 dB(A)] (SW) and
									High noise events – Motorbike passby at distance [up to 51 dB(A)] and local road loud car passbys [up to ~48-50 dB(A)] and industrial activities.
R4	30 Goodenough Street,	Wind – 0 m/s	71	66	53	53	47	44	Warehouse E6 related noise emissions:
	Glenfield	Direction – n/a							Warehouse E6 were not audible/distinguishable.
	5:04am – 5:19am	Humidity – 95%							Estimate warehouse mechanical noise contribution:
	3 April 2025	Stability Class G ²							LAeq (15minute) = < 37 dBA [inaudible at 47 dB(A)]
		Stability class G							LAmax = < 37 dBA [inaudible at 47 dB(A)]
									Other noise source contributions:
									Background noise environment – Background L _{A90} was controlled by distant road traffic [~53-57 dB(A)] and natural sources (cicadas).
									Ambient noise environment - Ambient L _{Aeq} noise level was contributed to by Cambridge Ave road traffic passbys [~53-71 dB(A)], natural sources [cicadas ~43-53 dB(A)], distant rail traffic [~48-54 dB(A)]
									High noise events – Cambridge Avenue vehicle passbys [up to ~65-71 dB(A).
R5	73A Leacocks Lane,	Wind – 0 m/s	69	65	55	53	43	41	Warehouse E6 related noise emissions:
	Casula	Direction – n/a							Warehouse E6 were not audible/distinguishable.
	4:31am – 4:46am	Humidity – 96%							Estimate warehouse mechanical noise contribution:
	3 April 2025	Temperature - 13°C							LAeq (15minute) = < 33 dBA [inaudible at 43 dB(A)]
		Stability Class G ²							LAmax = < 33 dBA [inaudible at 43 dB(A)]
									Other noise source contributions:
									Background noise environment – Background LA90 was controlled by distant road traffic (M5) [~42-45 dB(A)] and natural sources (birds, cicadas).
									Ambient noise environment - Ambient L _{Aeq} noise level was contributed to by Hume Highway/M5 road traffic [~40-45 dB(A)], local vehicle passbys [up to ~62-69 dB(A)], natural sources [possum/bats ~45-54 dB(A)], distant rail [~47-53 dB(A)]
									High noise events – local vehicle passbys [up to ~62-69 dB(A)], natural sources [birds, cicadas ~53-54 dB(A)].

Ocation / Time O Glenelg Court, /attle Grove (or Anzac	meteorological conditions ¹ Wind – 0 m/s	LAmax	L _{A1}	L _{A10}	L _{Aea}			Comments on measured noise levels
9 Glenelg Court, /attle Grove (or Anzac	Wind – 0 m/s	00				LA90	L _{Amin}	
attle Grove (or Anzac		82	72	55	59	44	43	Warehouse E6 related noise emissions:
D.	Direction – n/a							Warehouse E6 were not audible/distinguishable.
oad)	Humidity – 95%							Estimate warehouse mechanical noise contribution:
02am – 4:17am	Temperature - 13°C							$\int_{\text{Agg}} (15 \text{ minute}) = \langle 34 \text{ dBA} [inaudible at 44 dB(A)]$
April 2025	Stability Class G ²							$\underline{L_{Amax}} = \langle 34 \text{ dBA } [inaudible at 44 dB(A)]$
								Other noise source contributions:
								Background noise environment – Background L _{A90} was controlled by distant road traffic [~44-47 dB(A)] and natural sources (cicadas).
								Ambient noise environment - Ambient L _{Aeq} noise level was contributed local vehicle passbys on Anzac Road [up to ~75-79 dB(A)], natural sources (cicadas) and industrial activities.
								High noise events – local vehicle passbys [up to ~75-82 dB(A)] and industrial activities.
0. A	2am – 4:17am pril 2025	2am – 4:17am Temperature - 13°C pril 2025 Stability Class G ²	2am – 4:17am Temperature - 13°C pril 2025 Stability Class G ²	2am – 4:17am Temperature - 13°C pril 2025 Stability Class G ²	2am – 4:17am Temperature - 13°C pril 2025 Stability Class G ²	2am – 4:17am Temperature - 13°C pril 2025 Stability Class G ²	2am – 4:17am Temperature - 13°C pril 2025 Stability Class G ²	2am – 4:17am Temperature - 13°C pril 2025 Stability Class G ²

Meteorological data from the MIP meteorological data monitoring station adjacent to Bushmaster Avenue. 1.

Night time stability class, based upon NPfI Fact Sheet D 'Use of sigma-theta data' 2.

Table 12 Attended noise monitoring results (intermediate monitoring locations shown in Figure 4)

- 1	ID Prevailing Measured noise level, dB(A)								
	Location / Time	meteorological conditions ¹	L _{Amax}	L _{A1}	L _{A10}	L_{Aeq}	L _{A90}	L _{Amin}	Comments on measured noise levels
I	L1 Intermediate Location	Wind – 0.5-1 m/s	77	71	63	60	52	48	Warehouse E6 related noise emissions:
	1 (IL1) – E6B boundary	1 (IL1) – E6B boundary (calm at monitoring	Warehouse E6 were not clearly audible/distinguishable.						
	location (south-east of Direction – W to N							Estimate warehouse mechanical noise contribution:	
	Project/E6-B)	Humidity – 55%							$\underline{L}_{Aeq (15minute)} = < 42 \text{ dB(A)} [inaudible at 52dB(A)].$
	10:05am – 10:20am	Temperature - 32°C							$L_{Amax} = \langle 42 \text{ dBA} [inaudible at 52 dB(A)].$
	3 April 2025	Stability Class C ²							Other noise source contributions:
									Background noise environment – Background LA90 was controlled by truck parking on local road (ie. truck idle) and E7 hardstand truck idle.
									Ambient noise environment - Ambient LAeq noise level was contributed by local vehicle passbys on Marcus Place and nearby IMEX and E7 activities.
									High noise events – Airplane flyby overhead [(~63-65 dB(A)] and industrial activities.

ID		Prevailing	Measu	red noise	e level, dE	8(A)			
	Location / Time	meteorological conditions ¹	L _{Amax}	L _{A1}	L _{A10}	L_{Aeq}	L _{A90}	L _{Amin}	Comments on measured noise levels
IL2	Intermediate Location	Wind – 0.5-1 m/s	72	66	57	54	44	42	Warehouse E6 related noise emissions:
	2 (IL2) – Corner Marcus	(calm <i>at monitoring</i>							Warehouse E6 were not clearly audible/distinguishable.
near defence land Direction – W to N Estimat	Estimate warehouse mechanical noise contribution:								
	boundary fence (south- Humidity – 55%							$\underline{L}_{Aeq (15minute)} = < 34 \text{ dB}(A) [inaudible at 44dB(A)].$	
	east of Project/E6-A	Temperature - 32°C							$L_{Amax} = \langle 34 \text{ dBA} [inaudible at 44 dB(A)].$
	10:05am – 10:20am	Stability Class C ²							Is Other noise source contributions:
	3 April 2025								Background noise environment – Background LA90 was controlled by distant road traffic [~44 dB(A)].
	5 April 2025								Ambient noise environment - Ambient LAeq noise level was contributed local vehicle/trucks passbys on Marcus Place [up to ~63-65 dB(A)] and nearby industrial activities (ie. E7 hardstand trucks).
									High noise events – Airplane flyby overhead [(~63-65 dB(A)], construction vehicle passby [up to ~63-64 dB(A)] and industrial activities.

Notes: 1. Meteorological data from the MIP meteorological data monitoring station adjacent to Bushmaster Avenue.

2. Stability class, based upon NPfl Fact Sheet D 'Use of sigma-theta data'

APPENDIX C Logger location – Warehouse E6B office roof



sydney@renzotonin.com.au www.renzotonin.com.au

Dates of Survey:	28/03/2025 - 09/04/2025
Monitoring ID:	Unattended noise monitor (L1)
Address:	6B Marcus Pl, Moorebank NSW
Description:	E6B Main office roof

Background & Ambient Noise Monitoring Results

		L _{A90} Backgroun	d Noise Levels	L _{Aeq} Ambient Noise Levels				
	Day ¹	Evening ²	Night ³		Day ¹	Evening ²	Night ³	
Representative Week ⁴	49	47	47		56	52	52	

Notes:

1. Day: 7.00am to 6.00pm Monday to Saturday and 8.00am to 6.00pm Sundays & Public Holidays

2. Evening: 6.00pm to 10.00pm Monday to Sunday & Public Holidays

3. Night: 10.00pm to 5.00am Monday to Sunday & Public Holidays

4. Rating Background Level (RBL) for LA90 and logarithmic average for LAeq







Template: QTE-26 Logger Graphs Program (r47)



Template: QTE-26 Logger Graphs Program (r47)



APPENDIX E - WATER QUALITY MONITORING REPORTS

MOOREBANK PRECINCT EAST STAGE 2: BIODIVERSITY MONITORING IN ANZAC CREEK

SPRING 2024 SURVEY



Final Report Prepared for ARCADIS

7 February 2025



Marine & Freshwater Ecology 2/1 Botham Close, Charmhaven, NSW 2263

(Mobile) 0414 477 066; (Email) info@bioanalysis.com.au

Document Information

Project Name	Moorebank Precinct 2 East Stage 2: Biodiversity Monitoring in Anzac Creek (Spring 2024 Survey)
Prepared for Prepared by Reviewed by File Name:	Arcadis Australia Pacific Dr Sharon Cummins Dr Dan Roberts MPES2 B106 Anzac Creek Monitoring Report Spring 2024
Citation	BIO-ANALYSIS (2025). MPES2 B106 Anzac Creek Monitoring Report- Spring 2024.
Cover Photo	Anzac Creek @ Site AQ12, 19 November 2024

Contact Information

Dr Sharon Cummins Telephone: 043 811 2962 Email: cumminssharon@bigpond.com

Dr Dan Roberts Telephone: 0414 477 066 Email: dan@bioanalysis.com.au

Document Control

Version	Date Issued
Draft Version 02	28/01/2025
Revised Draft	6/02/2025
Final Version	7/02/2025

Acknowledgements

Shane Murray and William Roberts are thanked for work in the field and laboratory. Dan Roberts, Jan Roberts, Nick Roberts (BIO-ANALYSIS), Heather Tilley (Arcadis) and Mark Howley (Tactical) provided management support.

Biodiversity Monitoring – Anzac Creek (spring 2024) BIO-ANALYSIS Pty Ltd: Marine & Freshwater Ecology

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Introduction

The Sydney Intermodal Terminal Alliance (SIMTA) received approval for the construction and operation of Stage 2 (the Project) of the Moorebank Precinct East (MPE) Project, which comprises the second stage of development under the MPE Concept Approval (MP10_0193) and approved under Development Approval SSD 7628.

SIMTA was the original applicant for Stage 1 (SSD 6766) and Stage 2 (SSD 7628), under the MPE Concept Approval. The applicant for the SSD 7628 has been updated to "The Trust Company Limited" (ACN 004 027 749). In 2022, LOGOS Property took over the management of the warehouse and distribution facilities, as well as the overall management of the Moorebank Intermodal East and West Precincts. In July 2024, ESR Group acquired the remaining interest in LOGOS, and overall management of the MIP East Precinct, is now the responsibility of ESR Australia & NZ (ESR). Qube Logistics will continue to maintain responsibility for the IMEX and the Rail Link.

The MPE site, including the Project site, is located approximately 27 km south-west of the Sydney Central Business District (CBD) and approximately 26 km west of Port Botany and includes the former Defence National Storage and Distribution Centre (DNSDC) site. The MPE site is situated within the Liverpool Local Government Area (LGA), in Sydney's Southwest subregion, approximately 2.5 km from the Liverpool City Centre.

The MPE Project involves the development of an intermodal facility including warehouse and distribution facilities, freight village (ancillary site and operational services), stormwater infrastructure, landscaping, servicing and associated works on the eastern side of Moorebank Avenue. Stage 2 of the MPE Project (MPES2) involves the construction and operation of warehousing and distribution facilities on the MPE site and upgrades to approximately 2.1 kilometres of Moorebank Avenue.

Water during construction will be managed in accordance with the currently approved Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) and will be discharged into the sediment (SED) Basins and into Anzac Creek (via DP5 and DP7).

Biodiversity Monitoring – Anzac Creek (spring 2024) BIO-ANALYSIS Pty Ltd: Marine & Freshwater Ecology
It was also considered likely that runoff from some areas of the MPES2 site would be collected by a vegetated dam situated within Commonwealth Department of Defence land. Flow from this dam enters Anzac Creek upstream of Site AQ14 via a culvert.

A Baseline Aquatic Ecological Monitoring Program (BAEMP) was developed by Biosis Pty Ltd for Arcadis in March 2018, to address CoC B106. The purpose of the BAEMP was to establish baseline stream health and water quality conditions within selected sites along Anzac Creek prior to commencement of Early Works. This was undertaken in autumn 2018. Construction activities commenced soon after.

The baseline monitoring forms the basis for the ongoing Biodiversity Monitoring Strategy (BMS) to assess stream health in accordance with CoC B106, to determine any change in stream health or water quality throughout the life of the Project and to ascertain whether these changes can be attributed to the Project works. The BMS outlines monitoring requirements and includes the Stormwater Monitoring Strategy required by CoC B43 and B44.

BIO-ANALYSIS Pty Ltd was commissioned by Arcadis on behalf of Tactical Group to assess stream health and water quality at six monitoring sites along Anzac Creek (the Study Area) in spring 2024, in accordance with the BMS.

Methods

The BMS focusses on four main indicators: i) aquatic habitat, including riparian habitat, aquatic macrophytes and fish habitat; ii) surface water quality and sediment characteristics; iii) aquatic macroinvertebrates sampled using the Australian River Assessment System (AUSRIVAS) protocol; and iv) fish sampled using a backpack electro-fisher.

The primary aim of monitoring is to determine whether any change in stream health or water quality occur throughout the life of the MPE Project in accordance with the BMS and to ascertain whether these changes can be attributed to the Project works. Should an indicator variable deteriorate below the range for its baseline value, a stream health investigation protocol is to be initiated under the BAEMPs Adaptive Management Plan.

The sampling design included six sites (approximately 100 m in length). Site AQ1 is situated upstream of the MPE Project. Sites AQ4, AQ8, AQ12, AQ13 and AQ14 are situated at increasing distances downstream of the MPE Project. Stream health monitoring is to be done on two occasions within each of autumn and spring.

The results of the spring 2024 monitoring event were compared with those obtained in autumn 2018 (baseline), spring 2018, autumn and spring 2019, autumn and spring 2020, autumn and spring 2021, autumn and spring 2022, autumn and spring 2023 and autumn 2024 (during construction).

Results

This report presents the results of i) spring 2024 surveys 1 and 2 and ii) comparisons of the findings of the current survey with the Baseline survey (autumn 2018) and subsequent surveys done each autumn and spring.

Within the current reporting period (spring 2024), no construction discharges occurred. Extensive cover by vegetation within the riparian zone and stream channel contribute stability to the refuge pool and the majority of Anzac Creek.

Concentrations of lead in sediments collected at Site AQ1 (range = 21 to 130 mg/kg) continue to exceed the guideline value (50 mg/kg), including at the time of the baseline (91 mg/kg) survey. Copper, nickel and zinc have occasionally exceeded guideline values, but total petroleum hydrocarbons and poly-fluoroalkyl substances (e.g. PFAS and PFOS), continue to comply. Site AQ1 is situated upstream of potential inputs from the Project, so no additional testing at this site is considered necessary.

Reduced dissolved oxygen levels, elevated nitrogen, aluminium and copper measured at the refuge pool (Site AQ12), including prior to commencement of the Project, have consistently suggested that aquatic habitat and biota within Anzac Creek are influenced by various types of anthropogenic disturbance. Importantly, the data collected to date indicate that there has been no further degradation of water quality since the Project related construction work began.

Over the course of the monitoring programme, the diversity of aquatic macroinvertebrates, Australian River Assessment System (AUSRIVAS) and Stream Invertebrate Grade Number Average Level (SIGNAL2) scores have been relatively low, indicating that the aquatic macroinvertebrate fauna have experienced one or more forms of human impact. Despite this, some pollution tolerant taxa have commonly been identified, including dragonfly, caddis fly and mayfly families. Importantly, comparison of the AUSRIVAS and SIGNAL2 scores between the baseline and construction phase continue to indicate an overall stability in aquatic health.

Altogether, ten species of fish have been collected from within the refuge pool: three native species of gudgeon, two native species of eel, one native galaxiid species, one native cat-fish species and three introduced species (Gambusia, Goldfish and Oriental weatherloach), confirming that the creek does provide some habitat for native species of fish. All of the species caught are common within NSW. No threatened species of fish listed under the *NSW Fisheries Management Act, 1994* or the *Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act, 1999* have been recorded.

Conclusions

Examination of the results from the spring 2024 monitoring event found no evidence of changes in the indicator variables (bed and bank stability, surface water and sediment quality, assemblages of aquatic macroinvertebrates and fish) that could be attributed to the Project works. Thus, in accordance with the Biodiversity Monitoring Strategy, no adaptive management contingency measure was triggered.

Recommendations

It is recommended that the stream health monitoring programme is continued using the methods employed for baseline and operation phase surveys, to ensure continuity of the program. In addition, it is recommended that Land Managers focus on containment and on-going suppression of the Alligator Weed infestation at Site AQ1 and downstream habitats, and the aquarium plant, Egeria, detected within the refuge pool at Site AQ12. Signage and public information at popular points of entry by the public to the creek and other local waterways may reduce the chance of unintentional human-assisted introductions (e.g. by using live bait, or by being released by aquaria) of aquatic plants and fish.

Biodiversity Monitoring – Anzac Creek (spring 2024) BIO-ANALYSIS Pty Ltd: Marine & Freshwater Ecology

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXEC	UTIVE	SUMMARY	. 3
1.0	INTR	DUCTION	. 9
2.0	METH	IODS	10
2.1	Stu	ły Area1	10
2.3	Per	formance Measures and Indicators	13
2.4	Fiel	d Methods	15
2	.4.1	Visual Stream Assessments	15
2	.4.2	Surface Water Quality & Sediment Monitoring	16
2	.4.3	Aquatic Macroinvertebrates	17
2	.4.5	Data Analysis	17
2	.4.6	Quality Assurance/Quality Control (QA/QC)	18
3.0	RESU	LTS1	19
3.1	Aqı	atic Habitat Characteristics	19
3.2	Wa	ter & Sediment Characteristics	26
3	.2.1	Water Quality	26
3	.2.2	Sediment Characteristics	39
3.3	Aqı	atic Macroinvertebrates	54
3.4	Fisł	۱ t	58
5.0	DISC	USSION	51
5.1	Aqı	atic Habitat and Hydrology	51
5.2	Wa	ter Quality	52
5.3	Bio	logical Monitoring	52
6.0	CONC	CLUSION & RECOMMENDATIONS	53
7.0	REFE	RENCES	54
APPE	NDICE	S	57
A	Appendi	x 1 - GPS positions (UTMs) for stream monitoring sites (spring 2024)	58
A	Appendi	x 2 – Visual Assessment Scores	59
A	Appendi	x 3 - Macroinvertebrate taxa collected at Site AQ12 in spring 2024 using the	
Ν	JSW AU	JSRIVAS protocol. Mosquito fish were also collected in the net samples	72

List of Tables

Table 1. Date and information on aquatic ecology monitoring completed for the Project 12
Table 1. (Cont'd)
Table 2. Assessment types recommended for each monitoring site (Biosis, 2018)14
Table 3. Indicator variables and adaptive management contingency measures
Table 4. Mean (+ SE) physico-chemical water quality and nutrient values recorded at the time
of the Baseline (autumn 2018, $n = 1$) and the spring 2024 ($n = 3$) surveys and the appropriate
Default Trigger Values (DTV). Values highlighted in bold type indicate where results were
outside the recommended DTV
Table 5. Summary of dissolved metal compound results for Site AQ12 between autumn 2018
(Baseline) and spring 2024 (<i>n</i> = 1)
Table 6. Summary of BTEX and perfluoronated compound results ($n = 1$)

List of Figures

Figure 1. Project Location
Figure 2. Rainfall (mm) measured at Holsworthy Aerodrome AWS Rainfall Station (66161)
between 1 January and 31 November 2024
Figure 3. Mean (±SE) OE50 Taxa Scores and their respective Band Scores (B-D) for
AUSRIVAS samples collected at Site AQ12 since autumn 2018. NB Note that the bands
displayed are relevant to autumn edge habitat, these being slightly different to spring
Figure 4. Mean (±) SIGNAL 2 results for Site AQ12 sampled in Anzac Creek since autumn
2018

1.0 INTRODUCTION

The Sydney Intermodal Terminal Alliance (SIMTA) received approval for the construction and operation of Stage 2 (the Project) of the Moorebank Precinct East (MPE) Project, which comprises the second stage of development under the MPE Concept Approval (MP10_0193) and approved under Development Approval SSD 7628.

SIMTA was the original applicant for Stage 1 (SSD 6766) and Stage 2 (SSD 7628), under the MPE Concept Approval. The applicant for the SSD 7628 has been updated to "The Trust Company Limited" (ACN 004 027 749). In 2022, LOGOS Property took over the management of the warehouse and distribution facilities, as well as the overall management of the Moorebank Intermodal East and West Precincts. In July 2024, ESR Group acquired the remaining interest in LOGOS, and overall management of the MIP East Precinct, is now the responsibility of ESR Australia & NZ (ESR). Qube Logistics will continue to maintain responsibility for the IMEX and the Rail Link.

The MPE site, including the Project site, is located approximately 27 km south-west of the Sydney Central Business District (CBD) and approximately 26 km west of Port Botany and includes the former Defence National Storage and Distribution Centre (DNSDC) site. The MPE site is situated within the Liverpool Local Government Area (LGA), in Sydney's Southwest subregion, approximately 2.5 km from the Liverpool City Centre.

The MPE Project involves the development of an intermodal facility including warehouse and distribution facilities, freight village (ancillary site and operational services), stormwater infrastructure, landscaping, servicing and associated works on the eastern side of Moorebank Avenue. Stage 2 of the MPE Project involves the construction and operation of warehousing and distribution facilities on the MPE site and upgrades to approximately 2.1 kilometres of Moorebank Avenue. Warehouses 1, 3, 4, 5, 7a and 7b are now operational. The next warehouse to be constructed is WH2, which is currently planned for Q4 2025. Water during construction will continue to be managed in accordance with the currently approved CEMP and will be discharged into the sediment (SED) Basins and discharged into Anzac Creek (via DP5 and DP7).

BIO-ANALYSIS Pty Ltd has been commissioned by Arcadis on behalf of Tactical Group to assess stream health and water quality along Anzac Creek (the Study Area) in spring 2024.

Monitoring is to be done in accordance with a Biodiversity Monitoring Strategy (BMS) developed by Biosis (2018) to satisfy the Minister's Conditions of Consent (CoC) B106. The BMS also includes the Stormwater Monitoring Strategy required by CoC B43 and B44.

The primary aim of monitoring is to determine whether any change in stream health or water quality occur throughout the life of the MPE Stage 2 (MPES2) Project in accordance with the BMS and to ascertain whether these changes can be attributed to the Project works. Sampling commenced in autumn 2018 (Biosis, 2018).

2.0 METHODS

2.1 Study Area

Anzac Creek is a small tributary of the Georges River and lies entirely within the Liverpool Local Government Area. The catchment covers an area of approximately 10.6 km² (Figure 1).

The headwaters of Anzac Creek lie within the Commonwealth Department of Defence Lands in Moorebank. The creek is approximately 4 km long and highly urbanised: it flows past the suburb of Wattle Grove, underneath the M5 and Heathcote Road intersection, through the Moorebank Industrial Area and underneath Newbridge Road.

While predominantly ephemeral, Anzac Creek has been noted to hold permanent water in isolated pools (Arcadis, 2016). An unnamed first order tributary of Anzac Creek flows from south to north along the eastern boundary of the MPE Project area (GHD, 2016).

Surface water from the MPES2 site was expected to enter Anzac Creek as a licensed discharge between Site AQ4 and AQ8 (Figure 1). It was also considered likely that runoff from some areas of the MPES2 site would be collected by a vegetated dam situated within Commonwealth Department of Defence land (Biosis, 2018). Flow from this dam enters Anzac Creek upstream of Site AQ14 via a culvert (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Project Location

Biodiversity Monitoring – Anzac Creek (spring 2024) BIO-ANALYSIS Pty Ltd: Marine & Freshwater Ecology

2.2 Sampling Dates

The dates and phases of the stream health monitoring program for the MPES2 Project are outlined in Table 1.

Project Phase	Event	Dates	Comments
Baseline	Autumn 2018	12&19 April 2018	Only one Baseline survey was able to be sampled in autumn 2018, due to the May 2018 bushfire.
Construction	Spring 2018	6&12 December 2018	
Construction	Autumn 2019	14&30 May 2019	Construction of culvert upstream of Site AQ1 largely completed on 30 May 2019. Site AQ12 was inaccessible to undertake Survey 2 due to restricted access.
Construction	Spring 2019	24 September 2019 21 November 2019	Warehouses 3 and 4 under construction. Moorebank Ave upgrade works ongoing.
Construction /Operation	Autumn 2020	25 May 2020 2 September 2020	Sampling required for the autumn 2020 survey season was unable to commence until late May 2020 due to COVID-19 related delays. The second survey was further delayed due to the time taken to receive parts required to repair the Electrofisher. Warehouses 3 and 4 were operational whilst Warehouse 5 was under construction. Moorebank Ave upgrade works ongoing.
Construction /Operation	Spring 2020	11&30 November 2020	Warehouses 3, 4 and 5 were operational. No further warehouses were being constructed at the time of monitoring
Construction /Operation	Autumn 2021	28 April 2021 11 June 2021	Warehouses 3, 4 and 5 are now operational and the location of Warehouses 6-8 have been left as compacted pads. Any water sheets off into the SED Basin and discharges into ANZAC Creek (via DP5 and DP7). No warehouses were being constructed at the time of monitoring.
Construction /Operation	Spring 2021	21 September 2021 8 November 2021	As above
Construction /Operation	Autumn 2022	5 & 31 May 2022	As above
Construction /Operation	Spring 2022	10 October 2022 30 November 2022	Following a redesign of MPE, only Warehouses 6 and 7 will be constructed within the area designated for Warehouses 6- 8. Warehouse 8 will no longer be constructed. Warehouses 6&7 earthworks commenced on 9/06/22.
Construction /Operation	Autumn 2023	18 May & 3 July 2023	Warehouses 6&7 earthworks completed. It is expected that these warehouses will become operational in O3 of 2023.

Table 1. Date and information on aquatic ecology monitoring completed for the Project.

Project	Event	Dates	Comments
Phase			
Construction /Operation	Spring 2023	20 September & 15 November 2023	Warehouse 7a is now operational. Operation of Warehouse 6 and 7b are expected to commence in Quarter 4 of 2023 and Quarter 2 2024.
Construction /Operation	Autumn 2024	8 & 28 May 2024	Operation of Warehouse 7b and 7a and 6 commenced in Quarter 4 of 2023 and Quarter 3 2024, respectively. The final warehouse to be constructed is WH2, likely to occur in late 2025.
Construction /Operation	Spring 2024	24 September & 19 November 2024	The final warehouse to be constructed is WH2, likely to occur in Q4 2025.

Table 2. (Cont'd)

2.3 Performance Measures and Indicators

No instream or riparian works are being undertaken as part of the Project. Alteration to hydrology (increased stormwater inputs from both the stormwater network and surface flows from increases in non-permeable surfaces) and earthworks that have the potential to mobilise sediments into Anzac Creek were identified as potential impacts associated with the construction phase of the project (Biosis, 2018).

Biosis (2018) indicated that increased stormwater inputs to Anzac Creek could result in:

- Bed and bank scour as a result of increased volume and velocity of water during rainfall events;
- Alterations in vegetation structure as a result of altered hydrological regime;
- Introduction of sediments and pollutants via stormwater, with common pollutants including nitrogen, phosphorous, copper, aluminium and zinc.

Water Sensitive Urban Design (WSUD) measures such as onsite detention basins and rainwater gardens were incorporated into designs for the Project to mitigate impacts. A key outcome of this monitoring program was to determine whether these measures functioned as intended. Six monitoring sites (Sites AQ1, AQ4, AQ8, AQ12, AQ13 and AQ14 (Figure 1) are to be assessed in accordance with the BMS to satisfy the CoC B43, B44 and B106 (Table 2). The assessment types to be applied at each site are outlined in Table 2.

Should an indicator variable deteriorate below the range for its baseline value, a stream health investigation protocol is to be initiated under the BAEMPs Adaptive Management (Table 3).

Baseline values are presented in Table 4, Table 5 and Table 6 (Results).

	Assessment						
Assessment Type	Protocol/	AQ1	AQ4	AQ8	AQ12	AQ13	AQ14
	Indicator Variable						
	DPI Classification	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Viewal	NSW AUSRIVAS	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
visuai	HABSCORE	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
	Ephemeral Stream Assessment	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Sunfago Waton P	In situ water quality				\checkmark		
Sediment Quality	Nutrient, dissolved metal & PFAS				\checkmark		
Women	Sediment & PFAS	\checkmark	\checkmark				\checkmark
Aquatic Macroinvertebrates	NSW AUSRIVAS & Signal2				\checkmark		
Fish	Assemblage structure				\checkmark		

Table 3. Assessment types recommended for each monitoring site (Biosis, 2018).

Table 4.	Indicator	variables	and	adaptive	management	contingency	measures.
----------	-----------	-----------	-----	----------	------------	-------------	-----------

Result	Potential Problem	Contingency measure
Increases in results of water quality parameters	Introduction or exacerbation of pollutants entering Anzac Creek.	Identify source and undertake corrective measures.
Reduction in results of biological monitoring	Subtle effects of construction and operation are influencing stream health within Anzac Creek.	Identify components causing decline. Assess feasibility of suitable corrective actions. If corrective measures can be implemented, these aspects are to be the focus of future monitoring. If corrective measures cannot be implemented, regulatory authority to be notified of change.
Increase scour of bed and banks of waterways	Reduction in bed and bank stability or loss of instream vegetation.	Identify point source/s of increased flow velocities or changes in stream hydraulics and discuss with project engineers to determine best methods for flow reduction or rectification of stream hydraulics

Biodiversity Monitoring – Anzac Creek (spring 2024) BIO-ANALYSIS Pty Ltd: Marine & Freshwater Ecology

2.4 Field Methods

To fulfil the requirements of the BMS, monitoring is to be undertaken at 6 sites along Anzac Creek (Figure 1) four times annually during the pre-construction and construction phases of the Project, with the frequency reduced to twice annually during the operational phase of the Project. Surveys should take place during autumn and spring (Biosis, 2018). Sites are to be assessed using the methods outlined below, in accordance with Table 2.

2.4.1 Visual Stream Assessments

A visual assessment was undertaken at each site regardless of the availability of aquatic habitat (i.e. wet or dry). The condition of aquatic habitat at each site was assessed according to the *NSW Department of Primary Industries Policy and Guidelines for Fish Habitat Conservation and Management* (DPI NSW, 2013). The two key indices were habitat *type* and *class*.

Information on stream characteristics was recorded at each site in accordance with the New South Wales (NSW) Australian River Assessment System (AUSRIVAS) protocol (Turak et al., 2004). Characteristics recorded included a visual assessment of surrounding landforms, instream features, presence, extent and type of aquatic vegetation, stream substratum, potential areas of refuge during low flow periods, presence of fish habitat, presence of barriers to fish movement, indicators of point source and diffuse pollution.

HABSCORE assessments were also completed at each site, based on the presence and condition of pool substratum characteristics, pool variability, channel flow status, bank vegetation and stability, width of riparian zone, and epifaunal substrate/cover. The *CSIRO Ephemeral Stream Assessment* guideline was also used to provide an assessment of the geomorphic integrity of each site and to identify the processes operating within each site.

Each site was photographed and the locations recorded with a hand-held GPS (satellite-based Global Positioning System).

2.4.2 Surface Water Quality & Sediment Monitoring

Where sufficient amounts of water were present, *in situ* water quality was measured using a Yeo-Kal 618 probe. Physico-chemical properties measured included electrical conductivity (μ S/cm), dissolved oxygen (% saturation and mg/L), pH (pH units), temperature (°C) and turbidity (NTU). Three replicate measures of each variable were collected from just below the water surface at each site.

Alkalinity was also determined in the field at Site AQ12, using a CHEMetrics' total alkalinity field kit.

As required by the BMS, water chemical and sediment sampling were undertaken for a range of nutrients, metals and hydrocarbons:

- Total Phosphorus (surface water only);
- Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen (TKN) (Total Organic Nitrogen + Total Ammonia) (surface water only);
- Total Nitrogen (TKN + (Nitrate + Nitrite) (surface water only);
- Dissolved metals (standard 19 relevant to aquatic assessment) (surface water);
- Total metals (standard 19 relevant to aquatic assessment) (sediment only);
- Total petroleum hydrocarbons, BTEX (benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, trimethylbenzenes and three xylene isomers) hydrocarbons;
- PFAS: Poly-fluoroalkyl substances (including Perfluorohexane sulfonate PFHxS).

Samples were sent to the National Measurement Institute (NMI) laboratory (a NATA accredited laboratory) for analysis.

Construction Discharges

Construction of the warehouses are now complete. No construction discharges occurred via DP5 or DP 7 within the reporting period (after December 2023) (as per communication with Tactical).

2.4.3 Aquatic Macroinvertebrates

Aquatic macroinvertebrates were required to be collected by the BMS at Site AQ12 (Biosis, 2018) using the NSW AUSRIVAS protocol (Turak et al., 2004). Biosis (2018) considered this large pool to provide reliable and valuable aquatic habitat. Stream edge habitats were sampled using a 250 µm dip net.

The contents of each net sample were placed into a white sorting tray and animals collected for a minimum period of 30 minutes. Thereafter, removals were done in 10-minute periods, up to a total of one hour (Turak et al., 2004). If no new taxa were found within a 10-minute period, removals ceased (Turak et al., 2004). The animals were collected and placed inside a labelled container and preserved with 70 % alcohol.

In the laboratory, taxa were identified to family level with the exception of Acarina (to order), Chironomidae (to sub-family), Nematoda (to phylum), Nemertea (to phylum), Oligochaeta (to class), Ostracoda (to subclass) and Polychaeta (to class). Some families of Anisoptera (dragonfly larvae) were identified to species, because they could potentially include threatened aquatic species.

2.4.4 Fish Community Survey

Fish sampling is done at Site AQ12 using a Smith Root LR-24 backpack electrofisher. The Electrofisher is used to stun fish in open water, around the edge of the pool, around snags and aquatic vegetation and any overhanging banks. All fish caught were identified and the length of up to 30 individuals of each species measured. Incidental observations such as evidence of disease were also noted before native fish species were returned to the water.

2.4.5 Data Analysis

Water quality measurements were used to assess health of the aquatic ecosystem by comparison with guideline values recommended by $ANZECC^{1}$ and $ARMCANZ^{2}$ (2000) for the protection of lowland streams (i.e. systems at < 150 m altitude) in south-east Australia.

¹ ANZECC - Australian and New Zealand Environment and Conservation Council

² ARMCANZ – <u>Agriculture and Resource Management Council of Australia and New Zealand</u> *Biodiversity Monitoring – Anzac Creek (spring 2024)*

BIO-ANALYSIS Pty Ltd: Marine & Freshwater Ecology

For aquatic macroinvertebrates, data were analysed using the appropriate AUSRIVAS predictive models developed for NSW. The ecological health of a waterway was assessed by comparing the macroinvertebrates collected at a site (i.e. Observed) to those predicted to occur (Expected) as if the site was in an undisturbed or 'reference' condition.

The principal outputs of the AUSRIVAS model include:

- Observed to Expected ratio (OE50): the ratio of the number of macroinvertebrate families collected at a site which had a predicted probability of occurrence of greater than 50 % (i.e. Observed) to the sum of the probabilities of all of the families predicted with greater than a 50 % chance of occurrence (i.e. Expected) (Ransom et al., 2004);
- BAND: for each model, the OE50 taxa ratios were divided into bands representing different levels of impairment. Band X represents a more diverse assemblage of macroinvertebrates than control sites; Band A was considered equivalent to reference condition; Band B represents sites below reference condition (i.e. significantly impaired); Band C represents sites well below reference condition (i.e. severely impaired); and Band D represents impoverished sites (i.e. extremely impaired) (Ransom et al., 2004).

The SIGNAL2 biotic index (Stream Invertebrate Grade Number Average level) developed by Chessman (2003) was also used to give an indication of water quality at the sites sampled. The SIGNAL score for a macroinvertebrate sample was calculated by averaging the pollution sensitivity grade numbers of the families present, which may range from 10 (most sensitive) to 1 (most tolerant). The SIGNAL2 scores from samples collected between autumn 2018 and spring 2023 were presented graphically to provide an indication of changes over time.

2.4.6 Quality Assurance/Quality Control (QA/QC)

Data collected in the field were checked for accuracy and completeness before leaving each site. In the office, field data and other records were incorporated into appropriate excel data sheets and checked. Spreadsheets were locked prior to analysis to prevent accidental over-writes or corruption.

In the laboratory, macroinvertebrate samples were identified by an appropriately qualified staff member. Data for each sample were entered into an excel spreadsheet and then checked.

3.0 RESULTS

For the spring 2024 monitoring event, sites were sampled on 24 September 2024 (Survey 1) and 19 November 2024 (Survey 2). Each site was approximately 100 m in length with their GPS co-ordinates listed in Appendix A. Collections of fish and macroinvertebrates were completed in accordance with Section 37 of the *NSW Fisheries Management Act 1994* using Scientific Collection Permit Number FP23/124.

3.1 Aquatic Habitat Characteristics

The section of Anzac Creek within the study area was not mapped as Key Fish Habitat (KFH) under the NSW DPI Key Fish Habitat mapping for the Sydney LGA (DPI 2007; Appendix A). Nevertheless, this section of Anzac Creek is ranked as TYPE 1 KFH according to the DPI (2013) classification scheme due to the presence of native aquatic plants and snags. According to the waterway CLASS scheme, a permanent pool with freshwater aquatic vegetation situated at Site AQ12 is considered CLASS 2 KFH. The remaining reaches of Anzac Creek within the Study Area were considered to be CLASS 3 KFH despite the presence of aquatic vegetation, due to the ephemeral nature of any pools that were present (DPI, 2013).

Vegetation within the channel and banks of Anzac Creek has been classified as Parramatta Red Gum woodland in high condition (GHD, 2016).

Within the two months prior to the 2024 spring Survey 1 (24 September 2024) and 2024 autumn Survey 2 (19 November 2025), a total of 49.2 mm and 93.8 mm rainfall was recorded respectively by the meteorological station situated near Holsworthy Aerodrome AWS Rainfall Station (Station ID: 66161) (Figure 2).

All warehouses are now operational (except warehouse 2, which is proposed for Q4 2025). No construction discharges occurred within the reporting period.



Figure 2. Rainfall (mm) measured at Holsworthy Aerodrome AWS Rainfall Station (66161) between 1 January and 31 November 2024.

Site AQ1

Site AQ1 was situated approximately 750 m downstream of the source of Anzac Creek (Figure 1), and approximately 100 m downstream of a culvert built across Anzac Creek as part of the MPE Stage 1 project. The culvert is composed of box culverts to a length of 15 m and supports one rail track and a maintenance access footway. Construction of the culvert was completed by CPB and handed over to the proponent, Qube Holdings Limited, in July 2019.

There was no flowing water at the time of the spring 2024 surveys, although the channel was almost full-to-bank (up to approximately 0.4 m deep) at the time of the second survey (Plates 1&2). The active channel zone at this site remains stable (i.e., no signs of active erosion), due to the absence of flow, cover of aquatic plants and the relatively intact woody riparian vegetation (Appendix 2). The channel bed consisted of fine sediment, the upper layers of which were anoxic.

There has been a notable increase in cover of the introduced wetland shrub, *Ludwigia peruviana* (Ludwigia), on either side of the stream channel since autumn 2024 (Plate 2). This plant is an introduced, fast-growing wetland shrub that grows to 3 m tall. Slender knotweed (*Persicaria decipiens*) occupied a large proportion of the stream channel and Alligator Weed (*Alternanthera philoxeroides*) is still common, particularly at the time of the second survey (Plates 1&2). Native plant species included Marsh Club-rush (*Bolboschoenus fluviatilis*), Typha (*Typha* sp.), and *Myriophyllum variifolium*. The tree canopy was mostly comprised of *Melaleuca* spp. and *Eucalyptus* spp. (Plates 1&2).



Plate 1: AQ1 – View downstream (24/09/24)



Plate 2: AQ1 – View upstream (19/11/24)

Site AQ4

Site AQ4 was situated approximately 400 m downstream of Site AQ1 (Figure 1).

The stream channel at Site AQ4 has occasionally been dry, including at the time of the Baseline survey (i.e. autumn 2018). Surface water (up to approximately 0.4 m deep) has mostly been present since the autumn 2020 surveys, although very shallow and there was no evidence of flow at the time of spring 2024 surveys (Plates 3&4).

Since the baseline survey, stands of the emergent macrophyte, Jointed Twig Rush (*Baumea articulata*) and Twig Rush (*Baumea rubiginosa*) have colonised a large proportion of the stream channel (Plates 3&4). Typha and Slender Knotweed were also present.

The active channel zone, composed of fine sediments, was up to approximately 4 m wide (Plates 3&4). No indicators of significant erosion were observed suggesting that Anzac Creek continues to be relatively stable at this site, particularly since colonisation by dense stands of emergent macrophytes and little flow along this section of the creek since spring 2022 (Plate 3&4, Appendix 2).







Plate 4: AQ4 – View downstream (19/11/24)

Site AQ8

Site AQ8 was situated approximately 1 km downstream of Site AQ4 (Figure 1). At the time of Survey 2, surface water was present up to a depth of approximately 0.1 m deep in places.

Most notably, taller species of emergent macrophyte, including Tall Spikerush (*Eleocharis sphacelata*) and Jointed Twig Rush and have encroached upon habitat previously dominated by Heron Bristle Sedge (*Chorizandra cymbaria*) (Plates 5&6). Other shorter plants, including Frogsmouth (*Philydrum lanuginosum*), Slender Knotweed and the introduced species, Umbrella Sedge (*Cyperus eragrostis*) have also declined in abundance. Riparian vegetation continues to be dominated by *Casuarina* trees. Common Reed/Phragmites (*Phragmites australis*) and Typha were present at the downstream end of the site. Blackberry (*Rubus fruticosus*), which is listed as a weed of national significance, has increased its distribution at the upstream end of this site.

The stream channel at Site AQ8 (up to approximately 20 m wide) continues to be classified as stable, mostly due to the dense cover by emergent macrophytes in addition to a relatively intact, woody riparian zone (Appendix 2). Very little aquatic habitat was present within the study channel at the time of the spring 2024 surveys.



Plate 5: Site AQ8 – view upstream (24/09/24)



Plate 6: Site AQ8 – view downstream (19/11/24)

Site AQ12

Site AQ12 was situated approximately 750 km downstream of Site AQ8 (Figure 1). Similar to the findings of biodiversity surveys done since autumn 2018, a large pool (approximately 20 m wide) and a relatively diverse assemblage of aquatic plants, including submerged species, were present (Plates 7&8). The pool substratum was composed primarily of fine sediment with a considerable cover of detritus. Green filamentous macro-algae continues to be present and was relatively abundant at the time of the spring 2024 surveys.

Water level in the pool was up to approximately 0.7 m deep at the time of the second survey. Flow was apparent at the downstream end of the pool at the time of both surveys. Water clarity was considered good. Extensive cover of vegetation within the riparian zone contributes stability to the edges of the pool at Site AQ12. An area of active erosion has been apparent at the downstream end of the pool since autumn 2020, associated with heavy rainfall and bank overflows, including at the time of the spring 2024 surveys. The submerged macrophyte, *Vallisneria* sp. (Ribbonweed), was common, in addition to Slender Knotweed and dense stands of Typha, Phragmites and Tall Spike Rush (Plate 7). *Nymphoides geminata* (Entire Marshwort), with mostly floating leaves continues to be abundant in areas close to the shore (Plates 7&8).

Also noted was the native perennial, *Utricularia* sp., which occurs on wet soil and in freshwater as terrestrial or aquatic species, and the small native fern, *Azolla*. Egeria (*Egeria densa*), which was collected close to the left-bank (facing downstream) of the pool in spring 2020, continues to be present. Riparian vegetation included Casuarina, Eucalyptus and Melaleuca trees and Spiny-head Mat-rush/Basket Grass (*Lomdandra longifolia*) (Plates 7&8).



Plate 7: Site AQ12 – view upstream (24/09/24)



Plate 8: Site AQ12 – view across stream (19/11/24)

Site AQ13

Site AQ13 was situated approximately 200 m downstream of Site AQ12 (Figure 1). This site was located approximately 150 m downstream from an overflow channel that enters the creek from Wattle Grove. Water to a depth of approximately 0.5 m was present at Site AQ13 at the time of the second survey and flow was apparent at the time of both surveys (Plates 9&10).

A large proportion of the stream channel and edges were colonised by Typha and Slender Knotweed. The aquatic weed, *Sagittaria platyphylla* (Sagittaria) continued to expand its distribution at the edges of the creek channel. River Clubrush (*Schoenoplectus validus*) was also common. The stream channel appeared stable (Appendix 2).



Plate 9: Site AQ13 – view upstream (24/09/24)



Plate 10: Site AQ13 – view downstream (19/11/24)

Site AQ14

Site AQ14 was situated approximately 150 m downstream of Site AQ13 and immediately downstream of the culvert that links the dam within Commonwealth Department of Defence land to Anzac Creek (Figure 1). Flow was apparent at the time of both autumn 2024 surveys (Plates 11&12).

Typha, Slender Knotweed, River Clubrush and Whorled Pennywort/Shield Pennywort continue to be common (Plates 11&12). Sagittaria continued to expand its distribution within the channel of the creek (Plates 11&12). This section of Anzac Creek remains mostly stable due to dense instream vegetation and vegetated banks (Appendix 2). Water visibility was 'good' at the time of both surveys (Plates 11&12).



Plate 11: Site AQ14 – view downstream (24/09/24)



Plate 12: Site AQ14 – view downstream (19/11/24)

3.2 Water & Sediment Characteristics

3.2.1 Water Quality

Physico-chemical measurements were collected at Site AQ12 in accordance with the requirements of the BMS (cf Biosis, 2018) and at sampling sites where sufficient water was present to submerge a water quality instrument probe. The data were compared to the default trigger values (DTVs) recommended by ANZECC/ARMCANZ (2000) for the protection of slightly disturbed lowland river ecosystems in southeast Australia (Table 4).

Results from the 2024 spring surveys 1 and 2 indicated that:

- Water temperature ranged between 13.8 to 28.8 °C;
- pH (range = 5.2 to 8.3) was within the recommended DTV at site AQ12 at the time of both surveys;
- Conductivity (range = 189 to 367 µS/cm) was within the recommended DTVs at all the sites sampled;
- Dissolved oxygen (DO) measurements (range = 29 to 99 % saturation) were below the lower DTV at all sites during Survey 1 and Survey 2, except Site AQ1 during Survey 2 (i.e. 99 %);
- Turbidity levels were within the recommended DTV at all sites during spring 2024 (range = 2.4 to 35.8 NTU);
- Concentrations of total phosphorous (range = <0.05 mg/L) were within the recommended DTV (0.05 mg/L) at Site AQ12;
- Total nitrogen (range = 0.30 1.20 mg/L) was above the upper DTV (0.5 mg/L) at Site AQ12 during Survey 1. Nitrogen levels have commonly exceeded the upper limit, including at the time of the baseline survey (see Table 4);
- Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen (TKN) (Total Organic Nitrogen + Ammonia) measured at AQ12 during both surveys was similar to the Total Nitrogen (TKN + (Nitrate + Nitrite) values, indicating that the source of nitrogen within the refuge pool was most likely organic (e.g. algae or decomposing plant material) rather than inorganic (e.g. fertilizer);
- A range of toxicants were also measured in the water between autumn 2018 (baseline) and spring 2024 (during construction) within the vicinity of Site AQ12 (Table 5&6) in accordance with the BMS (cf Biosis, 2018).

Results indicated that:

- Aluminium commonly exceeded the DTV (80 µg/L) (i.e. 15 of 24 surveys), including at the time of the baseline survey (260 µg/L), and at the time of the current survey (Spring 2024 Survey 1: 360 µg/L; Survey 2: 290 µg/L);
- Cadmium exceeded the DTV (0.4 μg/L) at Site AQ12 in autumn 2019 (Survey 1: 0.49 μg/L; Survey 2: 0.41 μg/L) and autumn 2021 Survey 1 (3.8 μg/L), but not subsequently;
- Copper has commonly exceeded the DTV (1.8 μg/L) (i.e. 15 of 24 surveys, including the baseline survey (2 μg/L) and spring 2024 (Survey 2: 2.6 μg/L);
- Zinc exceeded the DTV during autumn 2021 (Survey 2: 20 µg/L) and autumn 2023 (Survey 2: 53 µg/L) (Table 5);
- BTEX compounds and total recoverable hydrocarbons were not detected (Table 6);
- PFOA (perfluoro-octanoic acid) has been occasionally detected but has always been well within the recommended DTV, including at the time of the spring 2024 surveys (Table 6);
- PFOS has commonly been detected, including during spring 2024 (Survey 1: 0.093 µg/L; Survey 2: 0.039 µg/L) but continues to be within the recommended DTV (Table 6).

Table 5. Mean (\pm SE) physico-chemical water quality and nutrient values recorded at the time of the Baseline (autumn 2018, n = 1) and the spring 2024 (n = 3) surveys and the appropriate Default Trigger Values (DTV). Values highlighted in bold type indicate where results were outside the recommended DTV.

Indiastan Variahla	DTV*	DagalingA	Survey 1 (24/09/24)						
Indicator variable		Dasenne	AQ1	AQ4	AQ8	AQ12	AQ13	AQ14	
Temperature °C			T/A	T/A	I/A	19.0	15.5	13.8	
(<i>n</i> =3)	-	-	I/A	I/A	I/A	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	
pH(n=3)	6.5-8.0	7.01	I/A	I/A	I/A	6.8	6.9	7.0	
		,				(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	
Conductivity $(uS/am)(u = 2)$	125-	354	I/A	I/A	I/A	320	367	274	
$\frac{(\mu S/cm)(n-3)}{D^2}$	2200					(4.4)	(4.4)	(6.6)	
Dissolved Oxygen $(\%)$ $(n = 3)$	85-110	62	I/A	I/A	I/A	(0.7)	57.4	(0.0)	
Turbidity (NTU) (<i>n</i>	= 0					35.8	25.6	14.7	
= 3)	<50	91	I/A	I/A	I/A	(0.7)	(0.4)	(0.0)	
Alkalinity (mg/L) (n	_	_	N/R	N/R	N/R	16	N/R	N/R	
= 1)	-	-	11/1	11/1	11/1	10	11/10	11/1	
Total Phosphorous	0.05	0.58	N/R	N/R	N/R	< 0.01	N/R	N/R	
$\frac{(\text{mg/L})(n=1)}{\text{Total Nitragan}}$									
(mg/L) $(n = 1)$	0.5	8.2	N/R	N/R	N/R	1.20	N/R	N/R	
Total Kieldahl			2.7/2						
(mg/L) (<i>n</i> = 1)	-	-	N/R	N/R	N/R	1.20	N/R	N/R	
I., J., . 4 X7	DTU+	Denskinsk			Survey 2	2 (19/11/24))		
Indicator Variable	DTV*	Baseline ^A	AQ1	AQ4	Survey 2 AQ8	2 (19/11/24) AQ12) AQ13	AQ14	
Indicator Variable	DTV*	Baseline ^A	AQ1 28.8	AQ4	Survey 2 AQ8 19.5	2 (19/11/24) AQ12	AQ13	AQ14	
Indicator Variable Temperature °C $(n=3)$	DTV*	Baseline ^A -	AQ1 28.8 (0.0)	AQ4 I/A	Survey 2 AQ8 19.5 (0.0)	2 (19/11/24 AQ12 N/R	AQ13 N/R	AQ14 N/R	
Indicator Variable Temperature °C (n=3)	DTV*	Baseline ^A -	AQ1 28.8 (0.0) 5.2	AQ4 I/A	Survey 2 AQ8 19.5 (0.0) 5.7	2 (19/11/24 AQ12 N/R 8.3	AQ13 N/R 6.5	AQ14 N/R 6.5	
Indicator Variable Temperature °C (n = 3) pH (n = 3)	DTV* - 6.5-8.0	Baseline ^A - 7.01	AQ1 28.8 (0.0) 5.2 (0.0)	AQ4 I/A I/A	Survey 2 AQ8 19.5 (0.0) 5.7 (0.0)	2 (19/11/24 AQ12 N/R 8.3 (0.0)	AQ13 N/R 6.5 (0.0)	AQ14 N/R 6.5 (0.0)	
Indicator VariableTemperature °C $(n=3)$ pH $(n=3)$ Conductivity	DTV* - 6.5-8.0 125-	Baseline ^A - 7.01 354	AQ1 28.8 (0.0) 5.2 (0.0) 542	AQ4 I/A I/A	Survey 2 AQ8 19.5 (0.0) 5.7 (0.0) 264	2 (19/11/24 AQ12 N/R 8.3 (0.0) 203	AQ13 N/R 6.5 (0.0) 203	AQ14 N/R 6.5 (0.0) 189	
Indicator VariableTemperature °C $(n=3)$ pH $(n=3)$ Conductivity $(\mu$ S/cm) $(n=3)$	DTV* - 6.5-8.0 125- 2200	Baseline ^A - 7.01 354	AQ1 28.8 (0.0) 5.2 (0.0) 542 (0.0)	AQ4 I/A I/A I/A	Survey 2 AQ8 19.5 (0.0) 5.7 (0.0) 264 (0.0)	2 (19/11/24 AQ12 N/R 8.3 (0.0) 203 (0.9)	AQ13 N/R 6.5 (0.0) 203 (0.9)	AQ14 N/R 6.5 (0.0) 189 (0.3)	
Indicator Variable Temperature °C (n=3) pH $(n=3)$ Conductivity $(\mu S/cm) (n=3)$ Dissolved Oxygen $(n \leq 2)$	DTV* - 6.5-8.0 125- 2200 85-110	Baseline ^A - 7.01 354 62	AQ1 28.8 (0.0) 5.2 (0.0) 542 (0.0) 98.8 (0.1)	AQ4 I/A I/A I/A I/A	Survey 2 AQ8 19.5 (0.0) 5.7 (0.0) 264 (0.0) 60.0 (0.0)	2 (19/11/24) AQ12 N/R 8.3 (0.0) 203 (0.9) 80.3 (0.2)	AQ13 N/R 6.5 (0.0) 203 (0.9) 70.3 (0.5)	AQ14 N/R 6.5 (0.0) 189 (0.3) 67.7 (0.2)	
Indicator Variable Temperature °C (n=3) pH $(n=3)$ Conductivity $(\mu S/cm) (n=3)$ Dissolved Oxygen (%) (n=3) Trachidita (MTLP) (n	DTV* - 6.5-8.0 125- 2200 85-110	Baseline ^A - 7.01 354 62	AQ1 28.8 (0.0) 5.2 (0.0) 542 (0.0) 98.8 (0.1)	AQ4 I/A I/A I/A I/A	Survey 2 AQ8 19.5 (0.0) 5.7 (0.0) 264 (0.0) 60.0 (0.0)	2 (19/11/24 AQ12 N/R 8.3 (0.0) 203 (0.9) 80.3 (0.3) 12.0	AQ13 N/R 6.5 (0.0) 203 (0.9) 70.3 (0.5)	AQ14 N/R 6.5 (0.0) 189 (0.3) 67.7 (0.3) 8.5	
Indicator Variable Temperature °C (n=3) pH $(n=3)$ Conductivity $(\mu$ S/cm) $(n=3)$ Dissolved Oxygen (%) (n=3) Turbidity (NTU) $(n=3)$	DTV* - 6.5-8.0 125- 2200 85-110 <50	Baseline ^A - 7.01 354 62 91	AQ1 28.8 (0.0) 5.2 (0.0) 542 (0.0) 98.8 (0.1) 6.1 (0.1)	AQ4 I/A I/A I/A I/A I/A	Survey 2 AQ8 19.5 (0.0) 5.7 (0.0) 264 (0.0) 60.0 (0.0) 2.4 (0.0)	Rest (19/11/24) AQ12 N/R 8.3 (0.0) 203 (0.9) 80.3 (0.3) 13.0 (0.3)	AQ13 N/R 6.5 (0.0) 203 (0.9) 70.3 (0.5) 13.1 (0.5)	AQ14 N/R 6.5 (0.0) 189 (0.3) 67.7 (0.3) 8.5 (0.3)	
Indicator Variable Temperature °C (n=3) pH $(n=3)$ Conductivity $(\mu S/cm) (n=3)$ Dissolved Oxygen (%) (n=3) Turbidity (NTU) $(n=3)$ Alkalinity (mg/L) $(n=3)$	DTV* - 6.5-8.0 125- 2200 85-110 <50	Baseline ^A - 7.01 354 62 91	AQ1 28.8 (0.0) 5.2 (0.0) 542 (0.0) 98.8 (0.1) 6.1 (0.1)	AQ4 I/A I/A I/A I/A I/A	Survey 2 AQ8 19.5 (0.0) 5.7 (0.0) 264 (0.0) 60.0 (0.0) 2.4 (0.0)	R AQ12 N/R 8.3 (0.0) 203 (0.9) 80.3 (0.3) 13.0 (0.3)	AQ13 N/R 6.5 (0.0) 203 (0.9) 70.3 (0.5) 13.1 (0.5)	AQ14 N/R 6.5 (0.0) 189 (0.3) 67.7 (0.3) 8.5 (0.3)	
Indicator Variable Temperature °C (n=3) pH $(n=3)$ Conductivity $(\mu S/cm) (n=3)$ Dissolved Oxygen (%) (n=3) Turbidity (NTU) $(n=3)$ Alkalinity $(mg/L) (n=1)$	DTV* - 6.5-8.0 125- 2200 85-110 <50 -	Baseline ^A - 7.01 354 62 91 -	AQ1 28.8 (0.0) 5.2 (0.0) 542 (0.0) 98.8 (0.1) 6.1 (0.1) N/R	AQ4 I/A I/A I/A I/A I/A N/R	Survey 2 AQ8 19.5 (0.0) 5.7 (0.0) 264 (0.0) 264 (0.0) 2.4 (0.0) 2.4 (0.0) N/R	x (19/11/24) AQ12 N/R N/R 8.3 (0.0) 203 (0.9) 80.3 (0.3) 13.0 (0.3) 10	AQ13 N/R 6.5 (0.0) 203 (0.9) 70.3 (0.5) 13.1 (0.5) N/R	AQ14 N/R 6.5 (0.0) 189 (0.3) 67.7 (0.3) 8.5 (0.3) N/R	
Indicator Variable Temperature °C (n=3) pH $(n=3)$ Conductivity $(\mu S/cm) (n=3)$ Dissolved Oxygen (%) (n=3) Turbidity (NTU) $(n=3)$ Alkalinity (mg/L) $(n=1)$ Total Phosphorous	DTV* - 6.5-8.0 125- 2200 85-110 <50 - 0.05	Baseline ^A - 7.01 354 62 91 - 0.58	AQ1 28.8 (0.0) 5.2 (0.0) 542 (0.0) 98.8 (0.1) 6.1 (0.1) N/R N/P	AQ4 I/A I/A I/A I/A I/A N/R	Survey 2 AQ8 19.5 (0.0) 5.7 (0.0) 264 (0.0) 60.0 (0.0) 2.4 (0.0) 2.4 (0.0) N/R	2 (19/11/24) AQ12 N/R 8.3 (0.0) 203 (0.9) 80.3 (0.3) 13.0 (0.3) 10 <0.05	AQ13 N/R 6.5 (0.0) 203 (0.9) 70.3 (0.5) 13.1 (0.5) N/R N/P	AQ14 N/R 6.5 (0.0) 189 (0.3) 67.7 (0.3) 8.5 (0.3) N/R	
Indicator Variable Temperature °C (n=3) pH $(n=3)$ Conductivity $(\mu S/cm) (n=3)$ Dissolved Oxygen (%) (n=3) Turbidity (NTU) $(n=3)$ Alkalinity (mg/L) $(n=1)$ Total Phosphorous (mg/L) (n=1)	DTV* - 6.5-8.0 125- 2200 85-110 <50 - 0.05	Baseline ^A - 7.01 354 62 91 - 0.58	AQ1 28.8 (0.0) 5.2 (0.0) 542 (0.0) 98.8 (0.1) 6.1 (0.1) N/R N/R	AQ4 I/A I/A I/A I/A I/A N/R N/R	Survey 2 AQ8 19.5 (0.0) 5.7 (0.0) 264 (0.0) 60.0 (0.0) 2.4 (0.0) 2.4 (0.0) N/R N/R	8.3 (0.0) 203 (0.9) 80.3 (0.3) 13.0 (0.3) 10 <0.05	AQ13 N/R 6.5 (0.0) 203 (0.9) 70.3 (0.5) 13.1 (0.5) N/R N/R	AQ14 N/R 6.5 (0.0) 189 (0.3) 67.7 (0.3) 8.5 (0.3) N/R N/R	
Indicator Variable Temperature °C (n=3) pH $(n=3)$ Conductivity $(\mu S/cm) (n=3)$ Dissolved Oxygen (%) (n=3) Turbidity (NTU) $(n=3)$ Alkalinity (mg/L) $(n=1)$ Total Phosphorous (mg/L) (n=1) Total Nitrogen	DTV* - 6.5-8.0 125- 2200 85-110 <50 - 0.05 0.5	Baseline ^A - 7.01 354 62 91 - 0.58 8.2	AQ1 28.8 (0.0) 5.2 (0.0) 542 (0.0) 98.8 (0.1) 6.1 (0.1) N/R N/R N/R	AQ4 I/A I/A I/A I/A I/A N/R N/R N/R	Survey 2 AQ8 19.5 (0.0) 5.7 (0.0) 264 (0.0) 60.0 (0.0) 2.4 (0.0) 2.4 (0.0) N/R N/R N/R	8.3 (0.0) 203 (0.9) 80.3 (0.3) 13.0 (0.3) 10 <0.05	AQ13 N/R 6.5 (0.0) 203 (0.9) 70.3 (0.5) 13.1 (0.5) N/R N/R N/R	AQ14 N/R 6.5 (0.0) 189 (0.3) 67.7 (0.3) 8.5 (0.3) N/R N/R N/R	
Indicator Variable Temperature °C (n = 3) pH $(n = 3)$ Conductivity $(\mu S/cm) (n = 3)$ Dissolved Oxygen (%) (n = 3) Turbidity (NTU) $(n = 3)$ Alkalinity (mg/L) $(n = 1)$ Total Phosphorous (mg/L) (n = 1) Total Nitrogen (mg/L) (n = 1)	DTV* - 6.5-8.0 125- 2200 85-110 <50 - 0.05 0.5	Baseline ^A - 7.01 354 62 91 - 0.58 8.2	AQ1 28.8 (0.0) 5.2 (0.0) 542 (0.0) 98.8 (0.1) 6.1 (0.1) N/R N/R N/R N/R	AQ4 I/A I/A I/A I/A I/A N/R N/R N/R	Survey 2 AQ8 19.5 (0.0) 5.7 (0.0) 264 (0.0) 60.0 (0.0) 2.4 (0.0) 2.4 (0.0) N/R N/R N/R	R AQ12 N/R 8.3 (0.0) 203 (0.9) 80.3 (0.3) 13.0 (0.3) 10 <0.05	AQ13 N/R 6.5 (0.0) 203 (0.9) 70.3 (0.5) 13.1 (0.5) N/R N/R N/R	AQ14 N/R 6.5 (0.0) 189 (0.3) 67.7 (0.3) 8.5 (0.3) N/R N/R N/R	
Indicator Variable Temperature °C (n=3) pH $(n=3)$ Conductivity $(\mu S/cm) (n=3)$ Dissolved Oxygen (%) (n=3) Turbidity (NTU) $(n=3)$ Turbidity (NTU) $(n=3)$ Alkalinity (mg/L) $(n=1)$ Total Phosphorous (mg/L) $(n=1)$ Total Nitrogen (mg/L) $(n=1)$ Total Kjeldahl (mg/L) $(n=1)$	DTV* - 6.5-8.0 125- 2200 85-110 <50 - 0.05 0.5	Baseline ^A - 7.01 354 62 91 - 0.58 8.2 -	AQ1 28.8 (0.0) 5.2 (0.0) 542 (0.0) 98.8 (0.1) 6.1 (0.1) N/R N/R N/R N/R N/R	AQ4 I/A I/A I/A I/A I/A I/A N/R N/R N/R N/R	Survey 2 AQ8 19.5 (0.0) 5.7 (0.0) 264 (0.0) 60.0 (0.0) 2.4 (0.0) 2.4 (0.0) N/R N/R N/R N/R	R AQ12 N/R 8.3 (0.0) 203 (0.9) 80.3 (0.3) 13.0 (0.3) 10 <0.05	AQ13 N/R 6.5 (0.0) 203 (0.9) 70.3 (0.5) 13.1 (0.5) N/R N/R N/R N/R	AQ14 N/R 6.5 (0.0) 189 (0.3) 67.7 (0.3) 8.5 (0.3) N/R N/R N/R N/R	

*ANZECC/ARMCANZ (2000) - slightly disturbed systems

^ABaseline values for pH, conductivity, dissolved oxygen and turbidity were obtained from Site AQ12, whilst baseline data for phosphorous and total nitrogen were obtained from Site AQ11 (Biosis, 2018)

I/A: Insufficient Aquatic Habitat; N/R: Not Required; I/M: Instrument Malfunction. Samples were collected in the field and measured at the laboratory.

Table 6. Summary of dissolved metal compound results for Site AQ12 between autumn 2018 (Baseline) and spring 2024 (*n* = 1).

Indicator DTV* Variable (µg/L)		Baseline Site AQ11	Autum Site A	n 2019 AQ12	Spring 2019 Site AQ12		
		April 2018	14/05/19	30/05/19	24/09/19	21/11/19	
Aluminium pH >6.5	80	260	150	68	2730	280	
Aluminium pH <6.5	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Arsenic Total (µg/L)	42	<1	<1	<1	1.1	<1	
Barium	-	2	55	34	21	32	
Beryllium	-	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	
Boron	680	<50	20	17	14	14	
Cadmium (µg/L)	0.4	< 0.1	0.49	0.41	< 0.1	< 0.1	
Chromium	6	<1	<1	<1	2.3	<1	
Cobalt	-	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	
Copper (µg/L)	1.8	2	2	1.1	3	2.3	
Iron	-	450	300	100	1650	900	
Lead (µg/L)	5.6	<1	<1	<1	2.6	<1	
Manganese	2500	3	33	6.2	60	47	
Mercury (µg/L)	1.9 ^A	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	0.12	< 0.1	
Molybdenum	-	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	
Nickel (µg/L)	13	<1	<1	N/R	1.7	1.1	
Selenium Total	18	<10	<2	<1	<1	<1	
Strontium	-	52	120	120	73	53	
Vanadium	-	<10	<1	<1	3.8	1.4	
Zinc (µg/L)	15	<5	6.8	N/R	13	14	

Indicator Variable	DTV* (µg/L)	Baseline Site AQ11	Autum Site A	n 2020 AQ12	Spring 2020 Site AQ12		
		April 2018	25/05/20	2/09/20	11/11/20	30/11/20	
Aluminium pH >6.5	80	260	230	70	230	100	
Aluminium pH <6.5	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Arsenic Total (µg/L)	42	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	
Barium	-	2	31	19	36	39	
Beryllium	-	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	
Boron	680	<50	21	<5	32	31	
Cadmium (µg/L)	0.4	< 0.1	<0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	
Chromium	6	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	
Cobalt	-	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	
Copper (µg/L)	1.8	2	1.9	<1	2	1.3	
Iron	-	450	620	270	460	280	
Lead (µg/L)	5.6	<1	1.5	<1	<1	<1	
Manganese	2500	3	19	8.8	6.9	12	
Mercury (µg/L)	1.9 ^A	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	
Molybdenum	-	<1	1.3	<1	<1	1.1	
Nickel (µg/L)	13	<1	1.1	<1	1.1	<1	
Selenium Total	18	<10	<1	<1	<1	<1	
Strontium	-	52	120	140	120	130	
Vanadium	-	<10	<1	<1	<1	<1	
Zinc (μ g/L)	15	<5	8.5	3.6	5.7	2.9	

Table 5 (Cont'd). Summary of dissolved metal compound results for Site AQ12 (n = 1).

Indicator DTV* Variable (µg/L)		Baseline Site AQ11	Autum Site A	1 2021Spring 20Q12Site AQ1		g 2021 AQ12
		April 2018	28/04/21 ³	11/06/21	21/9/21	8/11/21
Aluminium pH >6.5	80	260	150	1260	62	200
Aluminium pH <6.5	-	-				
Arsenic Total (µg/L)	42	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Barium	-	2	29	<1	31	13
Beryllium	-	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Boron	680	<50	20	10	20	15
Cadmium (µg/L)	0.4	< 0.1	3.8	< 0.1	<0.1	< 0.1
Chromium	6	<1	<1	1.5	<1	<1
Cobalt	-	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Copper (µg/L)	1.8	2	2.1	3.3	1.7	3.2
Iron	-	450	160	420	150	180
Lead (µg/L)	5.6	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Manganese	2500	3	6.9	4.7	10	2
Mercury (µg/L)	1.9 ^A	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	0.15
Molybdenum	-	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Nickel (µg/L)	13	<1	1.1	<1	<1	<1
Selenium Total	18	<10	<1	<1	<1	<1
Strontium	-	52	130	46	110	40
Vanadium	-	<10	<1	2.7	<1	1.9
Zinc (μ g/L)	15	<5	9	20	8.3	12

Table 5 (Cont'd). Summary of dissolved metal compound results for Site AQ12 (n = 1).

³ NB Data reported here for autumn 2021 Survey 1 and Survey 2 differ from those reported in the autumn 2021 report. Data had been entered incorrectly in the autumn 2021 report but have since been corrected. Biodiversity Monitoring – Anzac Creek (spring 2024)

BIO-ANALYSIS Pty Ltd: Marine & Freshwater Ecology

Indicator Variable	DTV* (µg/L)	Baseline Site AQ11	Autumn 2022 Site AQ12		Spring 2022 Site AQ12	
		April 2018	5/05/22	31/05/22	10/10/2022	30/11/2022
Aluminium pH >6.5	80	260		200	1400	93
Aluminium pH <6.5	-	-	70			
Arsenic Total (µg/L)	42	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Barium	-	2	18	19	15	28
Beryllium	-	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Boron	680	<50	21	18	26	29
Cadmium (µg/L)	0.4	< 0.1	< 0.1	0.13	< 0.1	< 0.1
Chromium	6	<1	<1	<1	1.1	<1
Cobalt	-	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Copper (µg/L)	1.8	2	1.4	1.5	2.6	<1
Iron	-	450	560	320	1500	350
Lead (µg/L)	5.6	<1	<1	<1	2.3	<1
Manganese	2500	3	99	5.9	9.1	16
Mercury (µg/L)	1.9 ^A	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1
Molybdenum	-	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Nickel (µg/L)	13	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Selenium Total	18	<10	<1	<1	<1	<1
Strontium	-	52	93	56	35	99
Vanadium	-	<10	<1	<1	2.2	<1
Zinc (μ g/L)	15	<5	8	6.7	12	5.2

Table 5 (Cont'd). Summary of dissolved metal compound results for Site AQ12 (n = 1).

Indicator Variable (μg/L)	DTV*(µg/L)	Baseline Site AQ11	Autumn 2023 Site AQ12		Spring 2023 Site AQ12	
		April 2018	18/05/23	3/07/23	20/09/23	15/11/23
Aluminium pH >6.5	80	260	37	160	30	42
Aluminium pH <6.5	-	-				
Arsenic Total (µg/L)	42	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Barium	-	2	19	21	20	12
Beryllium	-	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Boron	680	<50	19	22	19	24
Cadmium (µg/L)	0.4	< 0.1	0.25	0.27	<0.1	< 0.1
Chromium	6	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Cobalt	-	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Copper (µg/L)	1.8	2	1.7	2.5	2.7	2.5
Iron	-	450	220	400	170	120
Lead (µg/L)	5.6	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Manganese	2500	3	20	40	120	11
Mercury (µg/L)	1.9 ^A	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1
Molybdenum	-	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Nickel (µg/L)	13	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Selenium Total	18	<10	<1	<1	<1	<1
Strontium	-	52	67	88	74	66
Vanadium	-	<10	<1	<1	<1	<1
Zinc (μ g/L)	15	<5	13	53	11	2

Table 5 (Cont'd). Summary of dissolved metal compound results for Site AQ12 (n = 1).

Indicator Variable (μg/L)	DTV*(µg/L)	Baseline Site AQ11	Autumn 2024 Site AQ12		Spring 2024 Site AQ12	
		April 2018	8/05/24	28/05/24	24/09/24	19/11/24
Aluminium pH >6.5	80	260	37	170	360	290
Aluminium pH <6.5	-	-				
Arsenic Total (µg/L)	42	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Barium	-	2	23	18	32	18
Beryllium	-	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Boron	680	<50	38	32	32	25
Cadmium (µg/L)	0.4	< 0.1	<0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1
Chromium	6	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Cobalt	-	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Copper (µg/L)	1.8	2	1.4	1.1	1.4	2.6
Iron	-	450	310	420	1890	670
Lead (µg/L)	5.6	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Manganese	2500	3	5.2	19	95	36
Mercury (µg/L)	1.9 ^A	< 0.1	<0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1
Molybdenum	-	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Nickel (µg/L)	13	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Selenium Total	18	<10	<1	<1	<1	<1
Strontium	-	52	78	82	94	58
Vanadium	-	<10	<1	<1	2.1	1.2
Zinc (µg/L)	15	<5	13	10	12	10

Table 5 (Cont'd). Summary of dissolved metal compound results for Site AQ12 (n = 1).

Indicator Variable	DTV*	Baseline Site AO11	Spring 2018 Site AQ12		Autumn 2019 Site AO12	
v al lable	(µg/L)	April 2018	6/12/18	12/12/18	14/05/19	30/05/19
BTEXN (ug/L)		2010				
Benzene (µg/L)	1300	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Toluene (μ g/L)	-	<2	<1	<1	<1	<1
Ethylbenzene	-	<2	<1	<1	<1	<1
$(\mu g/L)$					_	_
Ortho-Xylene	470	<2	<1	<1	<1	<1
(µg/L)						
Perfluoronated C	ompound	s (µg/L)		-		
PFHxS (µg/L)	-	0.02	0.02	0.12	0.039	0.039
PFOS (µg/L)	0.13	0.03	0.043	0.070	0.068	0.069
PFOA (µg/L)	220	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.011	0.011	0.010
Sum of PFHxS	-	0.05	0.063	0.19	0.107	0.108
and PFOS						
Sum of PFAS (WA DER List) ^B	-	0.05	0.128 ^c	0.185 ^C	0.1880	0.19 ^C
`````						
Indicator	DTV*	Baseline	Sprin	g 2019	Autum	n 2020
Indicator Variable	DTV* (µg/L)	Baseline Site AQ11	Sprin Site	g 2019 AQ12	Autum Site A	n 2020 AQ12
Indicator Variable	DTV* (µg/L)	Baseline Site AQ11 April 2018	Sprin Site 24/9/19	g 2019 AQ12 21/11/19	Autum Site 4 25/5/20	an 2020 AQ12 2/9/20
Indicator Variable BTEXN (µg/L)	DTV* (µg/L)	Baseline Site AQ11 April 2018	Sprin Site 24/9/19	g 2019 AQ12 21/11/19	Autum Site A 25/5/20	an 2020 AQ12 2/9/20
Indicator Variable BTEXN (µg/L) Benzene (µg/L)	DTV* (µg/L) 1300	Baseline Site AQ11 April 2018	Sprin Site 24/9/19 <1	g 2019 AQ12 21/11/19 <1	Autum Site A 25/5/20 <1	AQ12 2/9/20
Indicator Variable BTEXN (μg/L) Benzene (μg/L) Toluene (μg/L)	DTV* (µg/L) 1300 -	Baseline Site AQ11 April 2018 <1 <2	Sprin Site 24/9/19 <1 <1	g 2019 AQ12 21/11/19 <1 <1	Autum Site A 25/5/20 <1 <1	an 2020 AQ12 2/9/20
Indicator Variable BTEXN (μg/L) Benzene (μg/L) Toluene (μg/L) Ethylbenzene	DTV* (µg/L) 1300 - -	Baseline           Site AQ11           April           2018           <1           <2           <2           <2           <2	Sprin Site 24/9/19 <1 <1 <1	g 2019 AQ12 21/11/19 <1 <1 <1	Autum Site 4 25/5/20 <1 <1 <1	AQ12 2/9/20 <1
Indicator Variable BTEXN (μg/L) Benzene (μg/L) Toluene (μg/L) Ethylbenzene (μg/L)	DTV* (µg/L) 1300 - -	Baseline Site AQ11 April 2018 <1 <2 <2	Sprin Site 24/9/19 	g 2019 AQ12 21/11/19 <1 <1 <1	Autum           Site A           25/5/20           <1	AQ12 2/9/20 <1 <1 <1
Indicator Variable BTEXN (μg/L) Benzene (μg/L) Toluene (μg/L) Ethylbenzene (μg/L) Ortho-Xylene	DTV* (µg/L) 1300 - - 470	Baseline           Site AQ11           April           2018           <1	Sprin Site 24/9/19 <1 <1 <1 <1	g 2019 AQ12 21/11/19 <1 <1 <1 <1	Autum Site A 25/5/20 <1 <1 <1	AQ12 2/9/20 <1
Indicator Variable BTEXN (µg/L) Benzene (µg/L) Toluene (µg/L) Ethylbenzene (µg/L) Ortho-Xylene (µg/L)	DTV* (µg/L) - - 470	Baseline           Site AQ11           April           2018           <1	Sprin Site 24/9/19 <1 <1 <1 <1	g 2019 AQ12 21/11/19 <1 <1 <1 <1	Autum           Site A           25/5/20           <1	AQ12 2/9/20 <1
Indicator Variable BTEXN (µg/L) Benzene (µg/L) Toluene (µg/L) Ethylbenzene (µg/L) Ortho-Xylene (µg/L)	DTV* (µg/L) - - 470	Baseline Site AQ11 April 2018 <1 <2 <2 <2 <2	Sprin Site 24/9/19 <1 <1 <1 <1	g 2019 AQ12 21/11/19 <1 <1 <1 <1	Autum Site 4 25/5/20 <1 <1 <1	AQ12 2/9/20 <1
Indicator Variable BTEXN (µg/L) Benzene (µg/L) Toluene (µg/L) Ethylbenzene (µg/L) Ortho-Xylene (µg/L) PFHxS (µg/L)	DTV* (µg/L) - 470 -	Baseline           Site AQ11           April           2018           <1	Sprin Site 24/9/19 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 0.091	g 2019 AQ12 21/11/19 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 0.025	Autum           Site A           25/5/20           <1	AQ12 2/9/20 <1
Indicator Variable BTEXN (µg/L) Benzene (µg/L) Toluene (µg/L) Ethylbenzene (µg/L) Ortho-Xylene (µg/L) PFHxS (µg/L) PFOS (µg/L)	DTV* (µg/L) - - 470 - 0.13	Baseline           Site AQ11           April           2018           <1           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <3           <3	Sprin Site 24/9/19 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 0.091 0.084	g 2019 AQ12 21/11/19 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 0.025 0.057	Autum Site A 25/5/20 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 0.044 0.055	AQ12 2/9/20 <1
Indicator Variable BTEXN (µg/L) Benzene (µg/L) Toluene (µg/L) Ethylbenzene (µg/L) Ortho-Xylene (µg/L) PFHxS (µg/L) PFOS (µg/L) PFOA (µg/L)	DTV* (µg/L) - 470 - 0.13 220	Baseline           Site AQ11           April           2018           <1	Sprin Site 24/9/19 <1	g 2019 AQ12 21/11/19 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 0.025 0.057 0.013	Autum Site A 25/5/20 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 0.044 0.055 <0.01	AQ12 2/9/20 <1
Indicator Variable BTEXN (µg/L) Benzene (µg/L) Toluene (µg/L) Ethylbenzene (µg/L) Ortho-Xylene (µg/L) PFHxS (µg/L) PFOS (µg/L) PFOA (µg/L) Sum of PFHxS and PFOS	DTV* (µg/L) - - 470 - 0.13 220 -	Baseline Site AQ11           April 2018           <1	Sprin Site 24/9/19 <1	g 2019 AQ12 21/11/19 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 0.025 0.057 0.013 0.082	Autum           Site A           25/5/20           <1           <1           <1           <1           <1           <1           <0.044           0.055           <0.01           0.099	AQ12 2/9/20 <1

Table 7. Summary of BTEX and perfluoronated compound results (n = 1).

*BTEXN: ANZECC/ARMCANZ (2000) - slightly disturbed systems (90% species protection); PFAS suite: DEE (2016) - Freshwater (95 % species protection – slightly to moderately disturbed ecosystems). ^B = PFBA, PFPeA, PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFBS, PFHxS, PFOS, 6:2 FTS and 8:2 FTS.

^C For any site, where a value has been recorded as less than the detection limit, it was assigned a value of half the detection limit in order to calculate the mean (e.g. <0.02 taken as 0.01).

I abit 0 (Cont u).	Table	6	(Cont'o	d).
--------------------	-------	---	---------	-----

Indicator Variable	DTV* Baseline Spring 2020 (µg/L) Site AQ11 Site AQ12		g 2020 AQ12	Autumn 2021 Site AQ12		
		April 2018	11/11/20	30/11/20	28/04/21	11/06/21
				•		
Benzene (µg/L)	1300	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Toluene (µg/L)	-	<2	<1	<1	<1	<1
Ethylbenzene	-	<2	<1	<1	<1	<1
Ortho-Xylene (µg/L)	470	<2	<1	<1	<1	<1
PFHxS (µg/L)	-	0.02	0.026	0.041	0.065	0.011
PFOS (µg/L)	0.13	0.03	0.054	0.062	0.065	< 0.02
PFOA (µg/L)	220	< 0.01	0.005 ^c	0.014	< 0.01	< 0.01
Sum of PFHxS and PFOS	-	0.05	0.080	0.103	0.13	0.021 ^c
Sum of PFAS (WA DER List) ^B	-	0.05	0.151 ^c	0.196 ^c	0.222 ^c	0.086 ^c
Indicator Variable	DTV* (µg/L)	Baseline Site AQ11	Spring Site A	g 2021 AQ12	Autum Site A	n 2022 AO12
Indicator Variable	DTV* (µg/L)	Baseline Site AQ11 April 2018	Spring Site 2 21/9/21	g 2021 AQ12 8/11/21	Autum Site A 5/05/22	n 2022 AQ12 31/05/22
Indicator Variable BTEXN (µg/L)	DTV* (µg/L)	Baseline Site AQ11 April 2018	Sprin Site 2 21/9/21	g 2021 AQ12 8/11/21	Autum Site A 5/05/22	in 2022 AQ12 31/05/22
Indicator Variable BTEXN (μg/L) Benzene (μg/L)	DTV* (µg/L) 1300	Baseline Site AQ11 April 2018	Spring Site 4 21/9/21 <1	g 2021 AQ12 8/11/21 <1	Autum Site A 5/05/22 <1	AQ12 31/05/22
Indicator Variable BTEXN (μg/L) Benzene (μg/L) Toluene (μg/L)	DTV* (µg/L) 1300	Baseline Site AQ11 April 2018 <1 <2	Spring Site 2 21/9/21 <1	g 2021 AQ12 8/11/21 <1	Autum Site A 5/05/22 <1	AQ12 31/05/22 <a href="https://doi.org/10.100/2014"></a>
Indicator Variable BTEXN (µg/L) Benzene (µg/L) Toluene (µg/L) Ethylbenzene (µg/L)	DTV* (µg/L) 1300 - -	Baseline           Site AQ11           April           2018           <1	Spring Site 2 21/9/21 <1 <1 <1	g 2021 AQ12 8/11/21 <1 <1 <1	Autum Site 4 5/05/22 <1 <1 <1	AQ12 31/05/22 <1
Indicator Variable BTEXN (μg/L) Benzene (μg/L) Toluene (μg/L) Ethylbenzene (μg/L) Ortho-Xylene (μg/L)	DTV* (µg/L) 1300 - - 470	Baseline Site AQ11           April 2018           <1	Spring Site 4 21/9/21 <1 <1 <1 <1	<b>g 2021</b> AQ12 8/11/21 <1 <1 <1 <1	Autum           Site A           5/05/22           <1	xQ12       31/05/22       <1
Indicator Variable BTEXN (µg/L) Benzene (µg/L) Toluene (µg/L) Ethylbenzene (µg/L) Ortho-Xylene (µg/L)	DTV* (µg/L) - - 470	Baseline Site AQ11           April 2018           <1           <2           <2           <2           <2	Spring Site 2 21/9/21 <1 <1 <1 <1	g 2021 AQ12 8/11/21 <1 <1 <1 <1	Autum Site 4 5/05/22	an 2022       AQ12       31/05/22         <1       <1       <1       <1
Indicator Variable BTEXN (µg/L) Benzene (µg/L) Toluene (µg/L) Ethylbenzene (µg/L) Ortho-Xylene (µg/L) PFHxS (µg/L)	DTV* (µg/L) - - 470	Baseline Site AQ11           April 2018           <1	Spring Site 2 21/9/21 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 0.037	g 2021 AQ12 8/11/21 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1	Autum Site 4 5/05/22	an 2022       AQ12       31/05/22       <1
Indicator Variable BTEXN (μg/L) Benzene (μg/L) Toluene (μg/L) Ethylbenzene (μg/L) Ortho-Xylene (μg/L) PFHxS (μg/L) PFOS (μg/L)	DTV* (µg/L) - 470 - 0.13	Baseline Site AQ11           April 2018           <1           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <3	Spring Site 4 21/9/21 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 0.037 0.032	g 2021 AQ12 8/11/21 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <0.01 0.021	Autum Site A 5/05/22 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 0.044 0.047	Im 2022         AQ12         31/05/22         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         0.039         0.054
Indicator Variable BTEXN (µg/L) Benzene (µg/L) Toluene (µg/L) Ethylbenzene (µg/L) Ortho-Xylene (µg/L) PFHxS (µg/L) PFOS (µg/L) PFOA (µg/L)	DTV* (µg/L) - 470 - 0.13 220	Baseline Site AQ11           April 2018           <1           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <0.02           <0.03           <0.01	Spring Site 4 21/9/21 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 0.037 0.032 0.013	g 2021 AQ12 8/11/21 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <0.01 0.021 <0.01	Autum           Site A           5/05/22           <1           <1           <1           <1           <1           <1           <1           <1           <1           <1           <1           <1           <1           <1           <1	an 2022         AQ12         31/05/22         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1 </th
Indicator Variable BTEXN (µg/L) Benzene (µg/L) Toluene (µg/L) Ethylbenzene (µg/L) Ortho-Xylene (µg/L) PFOS (µg/L) PFOS (µg/L) PFOA (µg/L) Sum of PFHxS and PFOS	DTV* (µg/L) - - 470 - 0.13 220 -	Baseline Site AQ11           April 2018           <1           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           0.02           0.03           <0.01           0.05	Spring Site 4 21/9/21 <1 <1 <1 <1 0.037 0.032 0.013 0.069	g 2021 AQ12 8/11/21 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <0.01 0.021 <0.01 0.026 ^C	Autum Site 4 5/05/22 <1<1<1<1<10.0440.047<0.010.091	an 2022         AQ12         31/05/22         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         <1         0.039         0.054         <0.01         0.093

*BTEXN: ANZECC/ARMCANZ (2000) – slightly disturbed systems (90% species protection); PFAS suite: DEE (2016) – Freshwater (95 % species protection – slightly to moderately disturbed ecosystems). B = PFBA, PFPeA, PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFBS, PFHxS, PFOS, 6:2 FTS and 8:2 FTS.

^C For any site, where a value has been recorded as less than the detection limit, it was assigned a value of half the detection limit in order to calculate the mean (e.g. <0.02 taken as 0.01).

# Table 6 (Cont'd).

Indicator Variable	DTV* (µg/L)	Baseline Site AQ11	Spring 2022 Site AQ12		Autumn 2023 Site AQ12	
		April 2018	30/10/22	30/11/22	18/05/2023	3/07/2023
				•		•
Benzene (µg/L)	1300	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Toluene (µg/L)	-	<2	<1	<1	<1	<1
Ethylbenzene (µg/L)	-	<2	<1	<1	<1	<1
Ortho-Xylene (µg/L)	470	<2	<1	<1	<1	<1
			Γ			
PFHxS (µg/L)	-	0.02	0.031	0.026	0.028	0.020
PFOS (µg/L)	0.13	0.03	0.030	0.044	0.040	0.024
PFOA (µg/L)	220	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01
Sum of PFHxS and PFOS	-	0.05	0.061	0.070	0.068	0.044
Sum of PFAS (WA DER List) ^B	-	0.05	0.126 ^c	0.135 ^c	0.145	0.122
(III DEITERST)						
Indicator Variable	DTV* (µg/L)	Baseline Site AQ11	Spring Site A	g 2023 AQ12	Autum Site A	n 2024 Q12
Indicator Variable	DTV* (µg/L)	Baseline Site AQ11 April 2018	Spring Site 2 20/09/23	g 2023 AQ12 15/11/23	Autum Site A 8/5/24	n 2024 AQ12 28/5/24
Indicator Variable	DTV* (µg/L)	Baseline Site AQ11 April 2018	Spring Site 2 20/09/23	g 2023 AQ12 15/11/23	Autum Site A 8/5/24	n 2024 AQ12 28/5/24
Indicator Variable Benzene (µg/L)	DTV* (µg/L) 1300	Baseline Site AQ11 April 2018	Sprin Site 2 20/09/23 <1	g 2023 AQ12 15/11/23 <1	Autum Site A 8/5/24 <1	n 2024 AQ12 28/5/24 <1
Indicator Variable Benzene (μg/L) Toluene (μg/L)	DTV* (µg/L) 1300 -	Baseline           Site           AQ11           April           2018           <1	Sprin Site 2 20/09/23 <1 <1	g 2023 AQ12 15/11/23 <1 <1	Autum Site A 8/5/24 <1 <1	n 2024 Q12 28/5/24 <1 <1
Indicator       Variable       Benzene (μg/L)       Toluene (μg/L)       Ethylbenzene (μg/L)       (μg/L)	DTV* (µg/L) 1300 - -	Baseline           Site           AQ11           April           2018           <1	Sprin Site 2 20/09/23 <1 <1 <1	g 2023 AQ12 15/11/23 <1 <1 <1	Autum Site A 8/5/24 <1 <1 <1	n 2024 Q12 28/5/24 <1 <1 <1
Indicator       Variable       Benzene (μg/L)       Toluene (μg/L)       Ethylbenzene (μg/L)       Ortho-Xylene (μg/L)	DTV* (µg/L) 1300 - - 470	Baseline           Site           AQ11           April           2018           <1	Sprin Site 2 20/09/23 <1 <1 <1 <1	g 2023 AQ12 15/11/23 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1	Autum Site A 8/5/24 <1 <1 <1 <1	n 2024 Q12 28/5/24 <1 <1 <1 <1
Indicator       Variable       Benzene (μg/L)       Toluene (μg/L)       Ethylbenzene (μg/L)       Ortho-Xylene (μg/L)	DTV* (µg/L) 1300 - - 470	Baseline           Site           AQ11           April           2018           <1	Spring Site 2 20/09/23 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1	g 2023 AQ12 15/11/23 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1	Autum Site A 8/5/24 <1 <1 <1 <1	n 2024 Q12 28/5/24 <1 <1 <1 <1
Indicator Variable Benzene (µg/L) Toluene (µg/L) Ethylbenzene (µg/L) Ortho-Xylene (µg/L) PFHxS (µg/L)	DTV* (µg/L) 1300 - - 470 -	Baseline           Site           AQ11           April           2018           <1	Spring Site 2 20/09/23 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 0.029	2023 AQ12 15/11/23 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 0.028	Autum Site A 8/5/24 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 0.12	n 2024 Q12 28/5/24 <1 <1 <1 <1 0.076
Indicator       Variable       Benzene (μg/L)       Toluene (μg/L)       Ethylbenzene (μg/L)       Ortho-Xylene (μg/L)       PFHxS (μg/L)       PFOS (μg/L)	DTV* (µg/L) - - 470 - 0.13	Baseline           Site           AQ11           April           2018           <1	Spring Site 2 20/09/23 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 0.029 0.031	2023 AQ12 15/11/23 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 0.028 0.032	Autum Site A 8/5/24 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 0.12 0.094	n 2024 Q12 28/5/24 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 0.076 0.061
Indicator         Variable         Benzene (μg/L)         Toluene (μg/L)         Ethylbenzene (μg/L)         Ortho-Xylene (μg/L)         PFHxS (μg/L)         PFOS (μg/L)         PFOA (μg/L)	DTV* (µg/L) - 470 - 0.13 220	Baseline           Site           AQ11           April           2018           <1           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <3           <3           <3           <3           <3           <3           <3           <3           <3           <3           <3           <3           <3           <3           <3           <3           <3           <3           <3           <3           <3	Spring Site 2 20/09/23 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 0.029 0.031 <0.01	g 2023 AQ12 15/11/23 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 0.028 0.032 <0.01	Autum Site A 8/5/24 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 0.12 0.094 <0.01	n 2024 Q12 28/5/24 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 0.076 0.061 <0.01
Indicator         Variable         Benzene (μg/L)         Toluene (μg/L)         Ethylbenzene (μg/L)         Ortho-Xylene (μg/L)         Ortho-Xylene (μg/L)         PFHxS (μg/L)         PFOS (μg/L)         PFOA (μg/L)         Sum of PFHxS and PFOS	DTV* (µg/L) - - 470 - 0.13 220 -	Baseline           Site           AQ11           April           2018           <1           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <2           <3           <0.02           <0.03           <0.01 </td <td>Spring Site 2 20/09/23 &lt;1 &lt;1 &lt;1 &lt;1 &lt;1 0.029 0.031 &lt;0.01 0.060</td> <td>g 2023 AQ12 15/11/23 &lt;1 &lt;1 &lt;1 &lt;1 &lt;1 0.028 0.032 &lt;0.01 0.060</td> <td>Autum Site A 8/5/24 &lt;1 &lt;1 &lt;1 &lt;1 &lt;1 0.12 0.094 &lt;0.01 0.214</td> <td>n 2024 Q12 28/5/24 &lt;1 &lt;1 &lt;1 &lt;1 &lt;1 0.076 0.061 &lt;0.01 0.137</td>	Spring Site 2 20/09/23 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 0.029 0.031 <0.01 0.060	g 2023 AQ12 15/11/23 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 0.028 0.032 <0.01 0.060	Autum Site A 8/5/24 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 0.12 0.094 <0.01 0.214	n 2024 Q12 28/5/24 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 0.076 0.061 <0.01 0.137

*BTEXN: ANZECC/ARMCANZ (2000) – slightly disturbed systems (90% species protection); PFAS suite: DEE (2016) – Freshwater (95 % species protection – slightly to moderately disturbed ecosystems). ^B = PFBA, PFPeA, PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFBS, PFHxS, PFOS, 6:2 FTS and 8:2 FTS.

^C For any site, where a value has been recorded as less than the detection limit, it was assigned a value of half the detection limit in order to calculate the mean (e.g. <0.02 taken as 0.01).

# Table 6 (Cont'd).

Indicator Variable	DTV* (µg/L)	Baseline Site AQ11	Spring 2024 Site AQ12			
		April 2018	24/09/24	19/11/24		
Benzene (µg/L)	1300	<1	<1	<1		
Toluene (µg/L)	-	<2	<1	<1		
Ethylbenzene (µg/L)	-	<2	<1	<1		
Ortho-Xylene (µg/L)	470	<2	<1	<1		
PFHxS (µg/L)	-	0.02	0.17	0.033		
PFOS (µg/L)	0.13	0.03	0.093	0.039		
$\frac{\text{PFOA} (\mu g/L)}{\Omega}$	220	<0.01	0.015	< 0.01		
sum of PFHxs and PFOS	-	0.05	0.263	0.072		
Sum of PFAS (WA DER List) ^B	-	0.05	0.373 ^c	0.153 ^c		
Indicator Variable	DTV* (µg/L)	Baseline Site AQ11				
		April 2018				
					I	
Benzene (µg/L)	1300	<1				
Toluene (µg/L)	-	<2				
Ethylbenzene (µg/L)	-	<2				
Ortho-Xylene (µg/L)	470	<2				
PFHxS (µg/L)	-	0.02				
PFOS (µg/L)	0.13	0.03				
PFOA (µg/L)	220	< 0.01				
Sum of PFHxS and PFOS	-	0.05				
Sum of PFAS (WA DER List) ^B	-	0.05				

*BTEXN: ANZECC/ARMCANZ (2000) – slightly disturbed systems (90% species protection); PFAS suite: DEE (2016) – Freshwater (95 % species protection – slightly to moderately disturbed ecosystems). ^B = PFBA, PFPeA, PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFBS, PFHxS, PFOS, 6:2 FTS and 8:2 FTS. ^C For any site, where a value has been recorded as less than the detection limit, it was assigned a value of half the detection limit in order to be been to only a subscript of the detection limit.

calculate the mean (e.g. <0.02 taken as 0.01).

#### 3.2.2 Sediment Characteristics

Sediment samples were collected at Site AQ1, AQ4, AQ14 between autumn 2018 (baseline) and spring 2024 (during construction) (Table 7&8).

Results indicated that:

- Concentrations of lead measured at Site AQ1 (Survey 1: 100 mg/kg; Survey 2: 53 mg/kg) exceeded the guideline value (50 mg/L) on both sampling occasions within spring 2024. The majority (i.e. 17 of 19 times) of measurements of lead at AQ1 (range = 21 to 130 mg/kg) exceeded the threshold limit (50 mg/kg) detailed in the Interim Sediment Quality Guidelines (ISQG) (ANZECC/ARMCANZ 2000), including at the time of the baseline (91 mg/kg) survey (discussed further in Section 5.1);
- Nickel measured in sediments at Site AQ1 marginally exceeded the upper ANZECC/ARMCANZ (2000) guideline on one of two sampling occasions in spring 2022 (25 mg/kg), spring 2023 (26 mg/kg), autumn 2024 (27 mg/kg) and spring 2024 (24 mg/kg);
- Concentrations of lead (56 mg/kg), nickel (23 mg/kg) and zinc (220 mg/kg) measured at AQ4 marginally exceeded the ANZECC/ARMCANZ (2000) guideline levels during Survey 1 in autumn 2022 (Table 7), but not during spring 2024;
- Concentrations of measured at Site AQ14 have consistently been within the Baseline values;
- Concentrations of mercury measured at AQ1 exceeded the recommended trigger level during the autumn 2022 (Survey 1: <0.2 mg/kg; Survey 2: 0.29 mg/kg) but not subsequently, including during spring 2024 (Table 7);
- A spike in barium was detected at Site AQ14 in autumn 2019 (Survey 1: 902 mg/kg) but not subsequently. There are no guideline criteria for barium in sediments or water (ANZECC/ARMCANZ 2000);
- PFOS has consistently been detected at the sites sampled (range = <0.002 to 0.044 mg/kg) but concentrations continued to be below the recommended guideline value for Urban Residential/Public Open Spaces (32 mg/kg) as well as National Parks/Areas with High Ecological Values (6.6 mg/L);</li>
PFAS (range = <0.001 to 0.0483 mg/kg) measured at each site continues to be similar to baseline values and below the recommended guideline value for Urban Residential/Public Open Spaces (29 mg/kg) and National Parks/Areas with High Ecological Values (1.0 mg/L) (Tables 7&8).</li>

Indicator Variable	Trigger	(.	Baseline Autumn 2018	3)		Autumn 2019	)		Spring 2019	
	Value*	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14
Aluminium	-	-	-	-	26,800	24,300 (700)	2,295 (365)	-	-	-
Antimony	-	-	-	-	<0.5	<0.5 (0)	<0.5 (0)	-	-	-
Arsenic	20	<5	<5	<5	4	6 (0.9)	1 (0.2)	3.90 (0.6)	2.75 (0.5)	2.65 (0.3)
Barium	-	110	60	<10	100	66 (4.5)	455 (447)	135 (15)	76.5 (7.5)	29.5 (1.5)
Beryllium	-	<1	1	<1	0.96	1.2 (0.0)	< 0.5 (0)	1.20 (0.1)	1.01 (0.1)	<0.5 (0.00)
Boron	-	<50	<50	<50	2.9	0.8 (0.3)	<1 (0)	<1.0 (0.0)	<1.0 (0.0)	<1.0 (0.0)
Cadmium	1.5	<1	<1	<1	<0.5	<0.5 (0)	< 0.5 (0)	0.43 ^A (0.2)	<0.5 (0.0)	<0.5 (0.0)
Chromium	80	23	21	3	21	23 (2.0)	3 (0.4)	21.0 (2.0)	13.5 (0.5)	6.3 (0.7)
Cobalt	-	8	6	<2	9	8 (1.9)	1 (0.1)	-	-	-
Copper	65	31	12	<5	28	11 (2.1)	2 (0.3)	30.0 (5.0)	6.1 (1.7)	9.0 (1.0)
Lead	50	91	44	<5	72	35 (0.0)	4 (0.2)	<b>78.0</b> (32.0)	21.5 (0.5)	12.0 (1.0)
Manganese	-	45	69	16	32	80 (2.0)	7 (0.8)	85.0 (55.0)	50.0 (15.0)	32.5 (12.5)
Mercury	0.15	< 0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.2	<0.2 (0)	< 0.2 (0)	<0.2 (0.0)	<0.2 (0.0)	<0.2 (0.0)
Molybdenum		-	-	-	2.2	1.0 (0.4)	< 0.5 (0)	-	-	-
Nickel	21	14	9	<2	16	9 (0.0)	1 (0.0)	20.5 (0.5)	10.6 (1.4)	3.85 (0.2)
Selenium Total	-	<5	<5	<5	1	1 (0.0)	< 0.5 (0)	2.65 (1.4)	1.59 (0.9)	0.63 ^A (0.4)
Strontium	-	-	-	-	23	17 (4.5)	1 (0.1)	-	-	-
Vanadium	-	48	54	10	36	60 (9.5)	9 (0.9)	-	-	-
Zinc	200	93	96	17	100	64 (4.0)	14 (1.5)	119 (61.5)	29 (17.5)	74 (17.0)

Table 7. Mean ( $\pm$  SE) sediment metal results (mg/L) for surveys done between autumn 2018 (n = 1) and spring 2024 (n = 2).

*Interim Sediment Quality Guideline – Low (Trigger value) (ANZECC/ARMCANZ 2000)

^A For any site, where a value has been recorded as less than the detection limit, it was assigned a value of half the detection limit in order to calculate the mean (e.g. <0.02 taken as 0.01) NB Aluminium, Antimony, Molybdenum, Strontium and Vanadium were not tested for by the Spring 2019 surveys because they were not required by the BMS (cf Biosis, 2018)

Biodiversity Monitoring – Anzac Creek (spring 2024)

Indicator Variable	Trigger (Au Value* AO1		Baseline Autumn 2018	3)		Autumn 2020			Spring 2020	
	Value*	AQ1	AQ4	AQ1	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14
Aluminium	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Antimony	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Arsenic	20	<5	<5	<5	1.90 (0.2)	3.4 (0.4)	5.1 (3.1)	1.90 (0.4)	3.4 (1.2)	2.4 (0.3)
Barium	-	110	60	<10	83 (15)	63.5 (3.5)	41.3 (31.7)	87.0 (33.0)	69.5 (9.5)	37.5 (9.5)
Beryllium	-	<1	1	<1	0.72 (0.1)	0.98 (0.0)	0.5 (0.3)	0.71 (0.2)	0.79 (0.1)	<0.5 (0.0)
Boron	-	<50	<50	<50	0.85 (0.4)	0.5 (0.0)	0.5 (0.0)	1.95 (0.4)	1.25 (0.2)	0.75
Cadmium	1.5	<1	<1	<1	0.25 (0.0)	0.25 (0.0)	0.3 (0.0)	< 0.05 (0.0)	< 0.5 (0.0)	1.0 ^B (0.5)
Chromium	80	23	21	3	14.5 (0.5)	18.5 (0.5)	12.9 (8.2)	13.5 (3.5)	13.0 (0.0)	6.2 (0.3)
Cobalt	-	8	6	<2	-	-	-	-	-	-
Copper	65	31	12	<5	16.5 (0.5)	11.0 (2.0)	16.7 (12.3)	16.5 (6.5)	7.9 (0.2)	7.2 (1.2)
Lead	50	91	44	<5	71 (5.0)	33.5 (3.5)	23.5 (15.6)	<b>53.5</b> (10.5)	26.0 (1.0)	11.5 (0.5)
Manganese	-	45	69	16	38.5 (0.5)	66.5 (10.5)	49.5 (38.5)	56.5 (16.5)	52.5 (4.5)	31.0 (3.0)
Mercury	0.15	< 0.1	<0.1	<0.1	0.10 (0.0)	0.10 (0.0)	0.1 (0.0)	<0.2 (0.0)	<0.2 (0.0)	<0.2 (0.0)
Molybdenum		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Nickel	21	14	9	<2	10.7 (1.3)	8.65 (0.5)	5.4 (3.3)	11.5 (2.6)	6.5 (0.5)	2.8 (0.6)
Selenium Total	-	<5	<5	<5	0.70 (0.0)	0.44 (0.2)	0.6 (0.4)	0.63 ^B (0.4)	$0.40^{\mathrm{B}}(0.2)$	<0.5 (0.0)
Strontium	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Vanadium	-	48	54	10	25 (1.0)	41 (2.0)	36.0 (21)	23 (5.0)	32 (5.5)	19.0 (1.0)
Zinc	200	93	96	17	78 (6.0)	144 (46.5)	111.0 (79)	86 (24)	58 (6.0)	45.5 (19.5)

*Interim Sediment Quality Guideline - Low (Trigger value) (ANZECC/ARMCANZ 2000

^AFor any site, where a value has been recorded as less than the detection limit, it was assigned a value of half the detection limit in order to calculate the mean (eg. <0.02 taken as 0.01) NB Aluminium, Antimony, Molybdenum, Strontium and Vanadium were not tested for by the Spring 2019 surveys because they were not required by the BMS (cf Biosis, 2018)

Biodiversity Monitoring – Anzac Creek (spring 2024)

Indicator Variable	Trigger	(.	Baseline Autumn 2018	3)	Autumn 2021		l	Spring 2021		
	Value*	AQ1	AQ4	AQ1	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14
Aluminium	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Antimony	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Arsenic	20	<5	<5	<5	3.65 (1.3)	6.10 (0.0)	4.30 (0.8)	14.55 (9.5)	3.5 (2.6)	2.85 (0.7)
Barium	-	110	60	<10	116.5(23.5)	99.5 (10.5)	68.0 (5.0)	74.5 (18.5)	48.0 (41.0)	84.5 (11.5)
Beryllium	-	<1	1	<1	1.20 (0.2)	0.87 (0.1)	$0.50^{A}(0.2)$	0.81 (0.2)	0.38 (0.4)	0.44 ^A (0.4)
Boron	-	<50	<50	<50	2.00 (0.9)	1.75 ^A (1.3)	1.40 ^A (0.9)	0.80 ^A (0.3)	<1 (0.0)	0.95 ^A (0.5)
Cadmium	1.5	<1	<1	<1	0.41 ^A (0.2)	<0.5 (0.0)	< 0.5 (0.0)	<0.5 (0.0)	< 0.5 (0.0)	<0.5 (0.0)
Chromium	80	23	21	3	24 (7.0)	24.5 (1.5)	13.0 (2.0)	17.5 (0.5)	12.7 (10.3)	12.0 (1.0)
Cobalt	-	8	6	<2	-	-	-	-	-	-
Copper	65	31	12	<5	23 (8.0)	13.5 (1.5)	12.8 (3.3)	13.0 (2.0)	6.55 (5.5)	12.3 (2.8)
Lead	50	91	44	<5	<b>80</b> (50)	31.5 (2.5)	27.5 (7.5)	25.5 (4.5)	16.2 (12.9)	27.0 (7.0)
Manganese	-	45	69	16	28 (8)	150 (40)	46 (5)	95 (75)	57.1 (53)	27.5 (13.5)
Mercury	0.15	< 0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.2 (0.0)	<0.2 (0.0)	<0.2 (0.0)	<0.2 (0.0)	<0.2 (0.0)	<0.2 (0.0)
Molybdenum		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Nickel	21	14	9	<2	17.5 (3.5)	9.75 (2.3)	5.85 (1.4)	10.5 (3.6)	4.1 (3.4)	7.3 (2.8)
Selenium Total	-	<5	<5	<5	1.20 (0.00)	0.88 (0.00)	0.41 (0.2)	0.88 (0.3)	0.44 ^A (0.4)	1.18 ^A (0.9)
Strontium	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Vanadium	-	48	54	10	10 (13)	56 (2.0)	31 (3.0)	34 (7.0)	32 (22.4)	26 (2.0)
Zinc	200	93	96	17	92 (68)	77 (14.0)	94.5 (35.5)	46 (22.0)	35 (28.2)	43 (16.0)

*Interim Sediment Quality Guideline - Low (Trigger value) (ANZECC/ARMCANZ 2000

^AFor any site, where a value has been recorded as less than the detection limit, it was assigned a value of half the detection limit in order to calculate the mean (eg. <0.02 taken as 0.01) NB Aluminium, Antimony, Molybdenum, Strontium and Vanadium were not tested for by the Spring 2019 surveys because they were not required by the BMS (cf Biosis, 2018)

Biodiversity Monitoring – Anzac Creek (spring 2024)

Indicator Variable	Trigger Value*	(.	Baseline Autumn 2018	3)		Autumn 2022 (5/5/22)	2		Autumn 2022 (31/5/22)	2
	Value*	AQ1	AQ4	AQ1	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14
Aluminium	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Antimony	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Arsenic	20	<5	<5	<5	4.3	10	6	2.9	3.6	4.6
Barium	-	110	60	<10	140	150	61	87	71	52
Beryllium	-	<1	1	<1	1.2	1.7	0.61	0.84	0.83	<0.5
Boron	-	<50	<50	<50	3.7	5	1.8	2	1.8	1
Cadmium	1.5	<1	<1	<1	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Chromium	80	23	21	3	23	49	11	17	20	9.9
Cobalt	-	8	6	<2	-	-	-	-	-	-
Copper	65	31	12	<5	24	32	14	19	14	13
Lead	50	91	44	<5	54	56	30	55	29	17
Manganese	-	45	69	16	28	320	66	25	110	41
Mercury	0.15	< 0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	0.29	<0.2	<0.2
Molybdenum		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Nickel	21	14	9	<2	17	23	5.1	13	8.8	4.2
Selenium Total	-	<5	<5	<5	3.4	3	1.3	1.1	0.68	0.57
Strontium	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Vanadium	-	48	54	10	37	99	31	35	46	33
Zinc	200	93	96	17	48	220	73	76	96	56

*Interim Sediment Quality Guideline - Low (Trigger value) (ANZECC/ARMCANZ 2000

^AFor any site, where a value has been recorded as less than the detection limit, it was assigned a value of half the detection limit in order to calculate the mean (eg. <0.02 taken as 0.01) NB Aluminium, Antimony, Molybdenum, Strontium and Vanadium were not tested for by the Spring 2019 surveys because they were not required by the BMS (cf Biosis, 2018)

Biodiversity Monitoring – Anzac Creek (spring 2024)

Indicator Variable	Trigger Value*	(4	Baseline Autumn 2018	3)		Spring 2022 (10/10/22)			Spring 2022 (30/11/22)	
	Value*	AQ1	AQ4	AQ1	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14
Aluminium	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Antimony	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Arsenic	20	<5	<5	<5	1.9	3.6	9.8	6.1	4.1	2.1
Barium	-	110	60	<10	100	80	61	110	61	71
Beryllium	-	<1	1	<1	0.86	1	1.2	1.1	1.2	0.65
Boron	-	<50	<50	<50	4.4	2.6	4.2	1.7	<1	<1
Cadmium	1.5	<1	<1	<1	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Chromium	80	23	21	3	19	24	22	56	14	7.3
Cobalt	-	8	6	<2	-	-	-	-	-	-
Copper	65	31	12	<5	20	15	25	36	6.7	5.4
Lead	50	91	44	<5	79	32	44	62	23	12
Manganese	-	45	69	16	57	130	62	53	78	74
Mercury	0.15	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2
Molybdenum		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Nickel	21	14	9	<2	14	11	9.9	25	6.3	3.4
Selenium Total	-	<5	<5	<5	0.62	0.61	1.1	1	0.54	<0.5
Strontium	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Vanadium	-	48	54	10	24	48	67	35	40	21
Zinc	200	93	96	17	93	110	160	84	45	23

*Interim Sediment Quality Guideline – Low (Trigger value) (ANZECC/ARMCANZ 2000

^AFor any site, where a value has been recorded as less than the detection limit, it was assigned a value of half the detection limit in order to calculate the mean (eg. <0.02 taken as 0.01) NB Aluminium, Antimony, Molybdenum, Strontium and Vanadium were not tested for by the Spring 2019 surveys because they were not required by the BMS (cf Biosis, 2018)

Biodiversity Monitoring – Anzac Creek (spring 2024)

Indicator Variable	Trigger Value*	(.	Baseline Autumn 2018	3)		Autumn 2023 (18/05/23)	3		Autumn 2023 (3/07/23)	•
	Value*	AQ1	AQ4	AQ1	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14
Aluminium	-	-	-	-	26700	24500	20600	-	-	-
Antimony	-	-	-	-	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	-	-	-
Arsenic	20	<5	<5	<5	2.8	3.1	4.6	2.9	5.1	4.2
Barium	-	110	60	<10	88	70	92	100	42	54
Beryllium	-	<1	1	<1	0.91	0.81	0.99	0.9	0.59	0.63
Boron	-	<50	<50	<50	4.5	2.2	3	2.6	<1	<1
Cadmium	1.5	<1	<1	<1	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Chromium	80	23	21	3	19	20	19	15	18	15
Cobalt	-	8	6	<2	7.4	7.7	6.5	-	-	-
Copper	65	31	12	<5	22	12	18	17	9.6	16
Lead	50	91	44	<5	120	25	36	37	19	32
Manganese	-	45	69	16	38	91	130	23	90	44
Mercury	0.15	< 0.1	<0.1	< 0.1	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	< 0.2	<0.2	<0.2
Molybdenum		-	-	-	1.8	0.86	0.66	-	-	-
Nickel	21	14	9	<2	14	9.9	8.3	12	5.5	6.7
Selenium Total	-	<5	<5	<5	1.3	0.79	1.1	1.6	0.53	0.68
Strontium	-	-	-	-	28	19	9.5	-	-	-
Vanadium	-	48	54	10	33	39	43	26	43	34
Zinc	200	93	96	17	100	97	77	48	54	72

*Interim Sediment Quality Guideline - Low (Trigger value) (ANZECC/ARMCANZ 2000

^AFor any site, where a value has been recorded as less than the detection limit, it was assigned a value of half the detection limit in order to calculate the mean (eg. <0.02 taken as 0.01) NB Aluminium, Antimony, Molybdenum, Strontium and Vanadium were not tested for by the Spring 2019 surveys because they were not required by the BMS (cf Biosis, 2018)

Biodiversity Monitoring – Anzac Creek (spring 2024)

Indicator Variable	Trigger Value*	(4	Baseline Autumn 2018	3)		Spring 2023 (20/09/23)			Spring 2023 (15/11/23)	
	Value*	AQ1	AQ4	AQ1	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14
Aluminium	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Antimony	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Arsenic	20	<5	<5	<5	8	3.8	2.3	3.7	3.7	4.3
Barium	-	110	60	<10	140	48	42	150	79	78
Beryllium	-	<1	1	<1	1.5	0.63	<0.5	1.3	1.2	1.3
Boron	-	<50	<50	<50	6.4	<1	<1	3.7	4.2	1.2
Cadmium	1.5	<1	<1	<1	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Chromium	80	23	21	3	30	14	6.8	31	22	12
Cobalt	-	8	6	<2	-	-	-	-	-	-
Copper	65	31	12	<5	78	8.7	4.5	24	19	10
Lead	50	91	44	<5	94	20	13	87	28	17
Manganese	-	45	69	16	95	54	42	31	130	55
Mercury	0.15	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	< 0.2	<0.2	< 0.2
Molybdenum		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Nickel	21	14	9	<2	26	5.4	2.6	20	11	8.2
Selenium Total	-	<5	<5	<5	2.1	0.89	0.61	0.91	0.65	< 0.5
Strontium	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Vanadium	-	48	54	10	51	33	20	46	40	31
Zinc	200	93	96	17	230	52	24	150	120	60

*Interim Sediment Quality Guideline - Low (Trigger value) (ANZECC/ARMCANZ 2000

^AFor any site, where a value has been recorded as less than the detection limit, it was assigned a value of half the detection limit in order to calculate the mean (eg. <0.02 taken as 0.01) NB Aluminium, Antimony, Molybdenum, Strontium and Vanadium were not tested for by the Spring 2019 surveys because they were not required by the BMS (cf Biosis, 2018)

Biodiversity Monitoring – Anzac Creek (spring 2024)

Indicator Variable	Trigger Value*	(.	Baseline Autumn 2018	3)		Autumn 2024 (5/05/24)	ļ		Autumn 2024 (28/05/24)	ļ
	Value*	AQ1	AQ4	AQ1	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14
Aluminium	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Antimony	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Arsenic	20	<5	<5	<5	5.2	1.3	1.5	3.7	3.6	5.3
Barium	-	110	60	<10	150	51	14	130	99	63
Beryllium	-	<1	1	<1	1.4	0.97	<0.5	1.1	1.5	0.94
Boron	-	<50	<50	<50	4.6	1.1	1.2	<1	<1	<1
Cadmium	1.5	<1	<1	<1	0.52	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Chromium	80	23	21	3	31	10	4.7	25	20	18
Cobalt	-	8	6	<2	-	-	-	-	-	-
Copper	65	31	12	<5	52	4.3	5.2	30	10	19
Lead	50	91	44	<5	100	16	7.1	73	32	38
Manganese	-	45	69	16	63	37	27	48	110	55
Mercury	0.15	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2
Molybdenum		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Nickel	21	14	9	<2	27	4.8	2.1	20	9.8	8.7
Selenium Total	-	<5	<5	<5	1.1	<0.5	<0.5	1.1	0.64	0.71
Strontium	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Vanadium	-	48	54	10	49	20	12	39	42	43
Zinc	200	93	96	17	200	35	44	130	73	110

*Interim Sediment Quality Guideline – Low (Trigger value) (ANZECC/ARMCANZ 2000

^AFor any site, where a value has been recorded as less than the detection limit, it was assigned a value of half the detection limit in order to calculate the mean (eg. <0.02 taken as 0.01) NB Aluminium, Antimony, Molybdenum, Strontium and Vanadium were not tested for by the Spring 2019 surveys because they were not required by the BMS (cf Biosis, 2018)

Biodiversity Monitoring – Anzac Creek (spring 2024)

Indicator Variable	Trigger Value*	(4	Baseline Autumn 2018	3)		Spring 2024 (24/09/24)			Spring 2024 (19/11/24)	
	Value*	AQ1	AQ4	AQ1	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14
Aluminium	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Antimony	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Arsenic	20	<5	<5	<5	5	11	2.2	4.6	1.1	4.7
Barium	-	110	60	<10	150	110	23	97	31	75
Beryllium	-	<1	1	<1	1.5	4.1	<0.5	0.85	<0.5	0.73
Boron	-	<50	<50	<50	6	1.7	<1	6	<1	<1
Cadmium	1.5	<1	<1	<1	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	< 0.5
Chromium	80	23	21	3	32	32	6.5	16	8.1	17
Cobalt	-	8	6	<2	-	-	-	-	-	-
Copper	65	31	12	<5	33	5.8	5.4	56	4.9	11
Lead	50	91	44	<5	100	38	9.8	53	18	28
Manganese	-	45	69	16	46	110	32	67	51	68
Mercury	0.15	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	< 0.2	<0.2	<0.2
Molybdenum		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Nickel	21	14	9	<2	24	12	2.3	19	3.9	6.6
Selenium Total	-	<5	<5	<5	1.3	1.9	<0.5	0.87	<0.5	0.75
Strontium	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Vanadium	-	48	54	10	46	80	18	34	16	47
Zinc	200	93	96	17	150	47	29	230	38	73

*Interim Sediment Quality Guideline – Low (Trigger value) (ANZECC/ARMCANZ 2000

^AFor any site, where a value has been recorded as less than the detection limit, it was assigned a value of half the detection limit in order to calculate the mean (eg. <0.02 taken as 0.01) NB Aluminium, Antimony, Molybdenum, Strontium and Vanadium were not tested for by the Spring 2019 surveys because they were not required by the BMS (cf Biosis, 2018)

Biodiversity Monitoring – Anzac Creek (spring 2024)

Indicator Variable	Trigger		Baseline (Autumn 20	18)		Spring 2018			Autumn 2019	)
	Value*	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14	AQ1 ^C	AQ4	AQ14
Perfluoronated compound (mg/kg)										
PFHxS	-	0.0036	0.0007	< 0.0002	0.0023 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)	0.0037	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)
PFOS	32	0.0444	0.0061	0.0005	0.0310 (0.01)	0.0049 (0.00)	<0.002 (0.00)	0.0220	0.0085 (0.01)	<0.002 (0.00)
PFOA	29	-	-	-	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)	< 0.001	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)
Sum of PFHxS and PFOS	-	0.0480	0.0068	0.0005	0.0333 (0.01)	0.0055 ^B (0.00)	0.002 ^B (0.00)	0.0257	0.0090 ^B (0.01)	0.0015 ^B (0.00)
Sum of PFAS (WA DER List) ^{A,B}	-	0.0483	0.0068	0.0005	0.0369 ^B (0.01)	0.0096 ^B (0.00)	0.0058 ^B (0.00)	0.0329	0.0150 ^B (0.01)	0.0075 ^B (0.00)
Indicator Variable	Trigger		Baseline (Autumn 20	18)		Spring 2019	· · · ·		Autumn 202(	)
	Value*	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14
Perfluoronated compound (mg/kg)	•				•			•		
PFHxS	-	0.0036	0.0007	< 0.0002	0.0016 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)	0.0005 (0.00)	0.0005 (0.00)	0.0005 (0.00)
PFOS	32	0.0444	0.0061	0.0005	0.0075 (0.01)	0.0062 (0.00)	0.0028 (0.00)	0.0115 (0.00)	0.0015 (0.00)	0.0052 (0.00)
PFOA	29	-	-	-	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)
Sum of PFHxS and PFOS	-	0.0480	0.0068	0.0005	0.0231 (0.08)	0.0067 ^B (0.00)	$0.0033^{B}$ (0.00)	0.0120 (0.00)	0.0020 (0.00)	0.0057 (0.00)
Sum of PFAS (WA DER List) ^{A,B}	-	0.0483	0.0068	0.0005	0.0281 ^B (0.08)	0.0117 ^B (0.00	0.0083 ^B (0.00)	0.0170 (0.00)	0.0070 (0.00)	0.0107 (0.00)

Table 8. Mean ( $\pm$  SE) sediment results for perfluoronated compounds between autumn 2018 (n = 1) and spring 2024 (n = 2).

*DEE (2016) - Urban residential/public open spaces ^A = PFBA, PFPeA, PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFBS, PFHxS, PFOS, 6:2 FTS and 8:2 FTS

^B For any site, where a value has been recorded as less than the detection limit, it was assigned a value of half the detection limit in order to calculate the mean (e.g. <0.02 taken as 0.01), the Sum of PFHxS and PFOS and the Sum of PFAS.

^COnly one survey was undertaken at Site AQ1 in autumn 2019.

Biodiversity Monitoring – Anzac Creek (spring 2024)

Indicator Variable	Trigger		Baseline (Autumn 20	18)		Spring 2020		1	Autumn 2021	
	Value*	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14	AQ1 ^C	AQ4	AQ14
Perfluoronated compound (mg/kg)	•									
PFHxS	-	0.0036	0.0007	< 0.0002	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 ^B (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)
PFOS	32	0.0444	0.0061	0.0005	0.0070 (0.00)	$0.0022^{B}$ (0.00)	<0.002 (0.00)	0.016 (0.004)	0.006 (0.002)	0.004 (0.003)
PFOA	29	-	-	-	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)
Sum of PFHxS and PFOS	-	0.0480	0.0068	0.0005	$0.0075^{\mathrm{B}}$ (0.00)	$0.0032^{\rm B}$ (0.00)	0.0015 ^B (0.00)	$0.0164^{\rm B}$ (0.003)	$0.0069^{\rm B}$ (0.002)	$0.0042^{\rm B}$ (0.003)
Sum of PFAS (WA DER List) ^{A,B}	-	0.0483	0.0068	0.0005	0.0125 ^B (0.00)	$0.0082^{B}$ (0.00)	0.0065 ^B (0.00)	$0.021^{B}$ (0.003)	$0.0119^{B}$ (0.002)	$0.0090^{B}$ (0.003)
Indicator Variable	Trigger		Baseline	18)		Spring 2021		1	Autumn 2022	
			(Autumn 20	-,						
	Value*	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14
	Value*	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14
PFHxS	Value*	AQ1 0.0036	AQ4 0.0007	AQ14 <0.0002	AQ1 <0.001 (0.00)	AQ4 <0.001 (0.00)	AQ14 <0.001 (0.00)	AQ1 0.0015 (0.0010)	AQ4 <0.001 (0.00)	AQ14 <0.001 (0.00)
PFHxS PFOS	Value* - 32	AQ1 0.0036 0.0444	AQ4 0.0007 0.0061	AQ14 <0.0002 0.0005	AQ1 <0.001 (0.00) 0.0090 (0.00)	AQ4 <0.001 (0.00) 0.0030 ^B (0.00)	AQ14 <0.001 (0.00) 0.009 ^B (0.01)	AQ1 0.0015 (0.0010) 0.0265 (0.0075)	AQ4 <ul> <li>&lt;0.001</li> <li>(0.00)</li> <li>0.0056</li> <li>(0.0014)</li> </ul>	AQ14 <0.001 (0.00) 0.0038 (0.0033)
PFHxS PFOS PFOA	Value* - 32 29	AQ1 0.0036 0.0444	AQ4 0.0007 0.0061 -	AQ14 <0.0002 0.0005 -	AQ1 <ul> <li>&lt;0.001</li> <li>(0.00)</li> <li>0.0090</li> <li>(0.00)</li> <li>&lt;0.001</li> <li>(0.00)</li> </ul>	AQ4 <ul> <li>&lt;0.001</li> <li>(0.00)</li> <li>0.0030^B</li> <li>(0.00)</li> <li>&lt;0.001</li> <li>(0.00)</li> </ul>	AQ14 <0.001 (0.00) 0.009 ^B (0.01) <0.001 (0.00)	AQ1 0.0015 (0.0010) 0.0265 (0.0075) <0.001 (0.00)	AQ4 <0.001 (0.00) 0.0056 (0.0014) <0.001 (0.00)	AQ14 <0.001 (0.00) 0.0038 (0.0033) <0.001 (0.00)
PFHxS PFOS PFOA Sum of PFHxS and PFOS	Value* 32 29	AQ1 0.0036 0.0444 - 0.0480	AQ4 0.0007 0.0061 - 0.0068	AQ14    <0.0002	AQ1 <ul> <li>&lt;0.001</li> <li>(0.00)</li> <li>0.0090</li> <li>(0.00)</li> <li>&lt;0.001</li> <li>(0.00)</li> <li>0.0075^B</li> <li>(0.00)</li> </ul>	AQ4 $< 0.001$ $(0.00)$ $0.0030^{B}$ $(0.00)$ $< 0.001$ $(0.00)$ $0.0032^{B}$ $(0.00)$	AQ14 <0.001 (0.00) 0.009 ^B (0.01) <0.001 (0.00) 0.0015 ^B (0.00)	AQ1 0.0015 (0.0010) 0.0265 (0.0075) <0.001 (0.00) 0.0280 (0.01)	AQ4 <0.001 (0.00) 0.0056 (0.0014) <0.001 (0.00) 0.0056 (0.00)	AQ14 <0.001 (0.00) 0.0038 (0.0033) <0.001 (0.00) 0.0036 (0.0036)

*DEE (2016) - Urban residential/public open spaces ^A = PFBA, PFPeA, PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFBS, PFHxS, PFOS, 6:2 FTS and 8:2 FTS ^BFor any site, where a value has been recorded as less than the detection limit, it was assigned a value of half the detection limit in order to calculate the mean (e.g. <0.02 taken as 0.01), the Sum of PFHxS and PFOS and the Sum of PFAS.

^COnly one survey was undertaken at Site AQ1 in autumn 2019.

Biodiversity Monitoring – Anzac Creek (spring 2024)

Indicator Variable	Trigger		Baseline (Autumn 20	18)		Spring 2022		1	Autumn 2023	
	Value*	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14
			L		L	1				
PFHxS	-	0.0036	0.0007	< 0.0002	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)
PFOS	32	0.0444	0.0061	0.0005	0.0134 (0.01)	$0.0008^{\rm B}$ (0.00)	<0.003 (0.00)	0.017 ^B (0.00)	$0.002^{\rm B}$ (0.00)	0.007 ^B (0.00)
PFOA	29	-	-	-	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)
Sum of PFHxS and PFOS	-	0.0480	0.0068	0.0005	0.0139 ^B (0.01)	0.0013 ^B (0.00)	0.0038 ^B (0.00)	0.018 ^B (0.01)	0.001 ^B (0.00)	0.004 ^B (0.00)
Sum of PFAS (WA DER List) ^{A,B}	-	0.0483	0.0068	0.0005	0.0035 ^B (0.00)	0.0046 ^B (0.00)	0.0091 ^B (0.00)	0.023 ^B (0.00)	0.0075 ^B (0.001)	0.013 ^B (0.004)
Indicator Variable	Trigger		Baseline (Autumn 20	18)		Spring 2023		1	Autumn 2024	
	Value*	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14
	•									
PFHxS	-	0.0036	0.0007	< 0.0002	<0.005 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.005 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)
PFOS	32	0.0444	0.0061	0.0005	$0.009^{B}$ (0.01)	$0.0021^{\text{B}}$	0.0085 ^B (0.01)	0.023 ^B (0.01)	0.0022 ^B (0.01)	0.0031 ^B (0.01)
PFOA	29	-	-	-	<0.005	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.005	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)
Sum of PFHxS and PFOS	-	0.0480	0.0068	0.0005	0.0198 ^B (0.00)	0.0034 ^B (0.00)	0.0098 ^B (0.00)	0.0340 ^B (0.00)	0.0030 ^B (0.00)	0.0043 ^B (0.00)
Sum of PFAS (WA DER List) ^{A,B}	-	0.0483	0.0068	0.0005	0.0242 (0.01)	0.0076 ^B (0.00)	0.014 ^B (0.01)	0.0387 (0.01)	0.0077 ^B (0.00)	0.0089 ^B (0.00)

*DEE (2016) - Urban residential/public open spaces ^A = PFBA, PFPeA, PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFBS, PFHxS, PFOS, 6:2 FTS and 8:2 FTS

^B For any site, where a value has been recorded as less than the detection limit, it was assigned a value of half the detection limit in order to calculate the mean (e.g. <0.02 taken as 0.01), the Sum of PFHxS and PFOS and the Sum of PFAS.

Biodiversity Monitoring – Anzac Creek (spring 2024)

Indicator Variable	Trigger		Baseline (Autumn 2018)		Spring 2024					
	Value*	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14
	1		L	1		l	1			
PFHxS	-	0.0036	0.0007	< 0.0002	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)			
PFOS	32	0.0444	0.0061	0.0005	0.0193 (0.01)	$0.0032^{\rm B}$ (0.00)	<0.002 (0.00)			
PFOA	29	-	-	-	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)	<0.001 (0.00)			
Sum of PFHxS and PFOS	-	0.0480	0.0068	0.0005	$0.0102^{B}$ (0.01)	$0.0048^{\rm B}$ (0.00)	0.0023 ^B (0.00)			
Sum of PFAS (WA DER List) ^{A,B}	-	0.0483	0.0068	0.0005	0.0217 ^B (0.01)	0.0074 ^B (0.00)	0.0065 ^B (0.00)			
Indicator Variable	Trigger	Baseline (Autumn 2018)				·	·			
	Value*	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14	AQ1	AQ4	AQ14
				•		•	•			
PFHxS	-	0.0036	0.0007	< 0.0002						
PFOS	32	0.0444	0.0061	0.0005						
PFOA	29	-	-	-						
Sum of PFHxS and PFOS	-	0.0480	0.0068	0.0005						
Sum of PFAS (WA DER List) ^{A,B}	-	0.0483	0.0068	0.0005						

*DEE (2016) - Urban residential/public open spaces ^A = PFBA, PFPeA, PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFBS, PFHxS, PFOS, 6:2 FTS and 8:2 FTS ^B For any site, where a value has been recorded as less than the detection limit, it was assigned a value of half the detection limit in order to calculate the mean (e.g. <0.02 taken as 0.01), the Sum of PFHxS and PFOS and the Sum of PFAS.

#### 3.3 Aquatic Macroinvertebrates

A total of 14 taxon were identified from edge habitat samples collected at Site AQ12 in Spring 2024 (Survey 1: 9 taxa; Survey 2: 12 taxa) (Table 11, Appendix 3). Seven taxa, Acarifomes (Water mites), Chironominae (True flies), Tanypodinae (True flies), Ceratopogonidae (Biting midges), Leptoceridae (Caddis flies), Libellulidae (Dragonflies) and Physidae (Freshwater snails), were collected on both sampling occasions (Appendix 3).

Site AQ12 obtained an OE50 score of 0.40 for Survey 1 and 0.50 for Survey 2 during Spring 2024 (Table 11, Figure 3), indicating that the macroinvertebrate assemblage at Site AQ12 was severely impaired (Band C) relative to reference sites selected by the AUSRIVAS model. The most recent OE50 scores were within the range of scores obtained since the baseline survey (Figure 3).

Similar to the findings of the previous surveys, taxon with > 0.80 probability of occurrence but not collected at the Anzac Creek site were the mayfly family, Leptophlebiidae, the aquatic bug family, Veliidae, at the time of Survey 2, and the beetle family, Hydrophilidae.

SIGNAL2 scores of 3.94 and 3.71 were obtained for both surveys (Table 4). The absence of mayflies was likely to have contributed to the lower score (Table 4, Figure 4). In summary, SIGNAL 2 scores obtained for Site AQ12 have changed little over time and indicate that the macroinvertebrate assemblage at AQ12 has commonly been dominated by pollution-tolerant taxa since the commencement of sampling in autumn 2018 (Table 11, Figure 4).

Survey	No Taxa	SIGNAL-2	OE50	Band
Autumn 2018	13	4.00	0.49	В
Spring 2018 – Survey 1	9	3.25	0.39	С
Spring 2018 – Survey 2	5	3.07	0.10	D
Autumn 2019 – Survey 1	10	2.69	0.41	С
Autumn 2019 – Survey 2	8	3.41	0.20	С
Spring 2019 – Survey 1	11	2.09	0.38	С
Spring 2019 – Survey 2	11	2.18	0.19	D
Autumn 2020 – Survey 1	19	3.00	0.68	В
Autumn 2020 – Survey 2	13	3.33	0.49	В
Spring 2020 – Survey 1	10	3.10	0.40	С
Spring 2020 – Survey 2	13	3.33	0.40	С
Autumn 2021 – Survey 1	13	3.38	0.49	В
Autumn 2021 – Survey 2	12	3.64	0.41	С
Spring 2021 – Survey 1	10	2.41	0.30	С
Spring 2021 – Survey 2	6	3.00	0.30	С
Autumn 2022 – Survey 1	13	3.86	0.49	В
Autumn 2022 – Survey 2	7	4.58	0.31	С
Spring 2022 – Survey 1	12	3.25	0.30	С
Spring 2022 – Survey 2	9	4.74	0.40	С
Autumn 2023 – Survey 1	7	0.30	0.29	С
Autumn 2023 – Survey 2	8	0.30	0.29	С
Spring 2023 – Survey 1	12	3.82	0.40	С
Spring 2023 – Survey 2	9	4.00	0.50	С
Autumn 2024 – Survey 1	11	3.19	0.41	С
Autumn 2024 – Survey 2	8	4.00	0.29	С
Spring 2024 – Survey 1	9	3.94	0.40	С
Spring 2024 – Survey 2	12	3.71	0.50	С

Table 9. Total number of taxa, AUSRIVAS & SIGNAL 2 outputs for Site AQ12 (*n* = 1).



Figure 3. Mean (±SE) OE50 Taxa Scores and their respective Band Scores (B-D) for AUSRIVAS samples collected at Site AQ12 since autumn 2018. NB Note that the bands displayed are relevant to autumn edge habitat, these being slightly different to spring.

Biodiversity Monitoring – Anzac Creek (spring 2024) BIO-ANALYSIS Pty Ltd: Marine & Freshwater Ecology



Figure 4. Mean (±) SIGNAL 2 results for Site AQ12 sampled in Anzac Creek since autumn 2018.

Biodiversity Monitoring – Anzac Creek (spring 2024)

## 3.4 Fish

Four species of fish were collected while electro-fishing at Site AQ12 in spring 2024, including 3 individuals of Striped gudgeon (*Gobiomorphus australis*), one Long-finned eel (*Anguilla reinhardtii*) (20-30cm in length), a Firetail gudgeon (*Hypseleotris* cf galii) and numerous Gambusia (*Gambusia holbrooki*) (Table 10). A further species, Australian smelt (*Retropinna semoni*), was collected (1 individual) in net samples while collecting aquatic macroinvertebrates.

In total, ten species of fish, including three introduced species, have been collected since sampling commenced in autumn 2018 (Table 10). All the species caught were common within NSW (McDowall, 1996; DPI 2006; Howell and Creese, 2010). No threatened species of fish listed under the *NSW Fisheries Management Act, 1994* or the *Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act, 1999* were recorded.



Plate 13: Juvenile Long-finned eel collected at Site AQ12 (spring 2024).

Biodiversity Monitoring – Anzac Creek (spring 2024) BIO-ANALYSIS Pty Ltd: Marine & Freshwater Ecology

Species	Common Name	A-18^	S-18	A-19	S-19	S-20	A-21	S-21	A-22	S-22	A-23	A-24	S-24
Anguilla reinhardtii	Long-finned eel	2	3	2	-	4	1	2	1	1	-	-	1
Anguilla australis	Short-finned eel	-	13	-	9	13	2	4	2	4	1	2	-
Galaxias maculatus	Common galaxias	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	8	-	-	1	1
Gobiomorphus australis	Striped gudgeon	28	8	3	2	-	-	-	2	2	3	1	3
Hypseleotris compressa	Empire gudgeon	13	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-
Hypseleotris cf galii	Firetail gudgeon	-	-	-	1	1	-	-	-	-	-	-	1
Tandanus tandanus	Eel tailed catfish	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-
Carassius auratus*	Goldfish	-	2	-	-	-	1	-	-	1	-	-	-
Gambusia holbrooki*	Gambusia	328	100's	10's	10's	100's	100's	100's	10's	100's	100's	-	80
Misgurnus anguillicaudatus*	Oriental weatherloach	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	2	1	1	1	-
Retropinna semoni	Australian smelt	-	-			-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1
Unidentified sp.	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	-

Table 10. Fish collected at Site AQ12 between autumn 2018 and spring 2024[#].

^Biosis, 2018

*Introduced species

*Fish were unable to be sampled at Site AQ12 within the autumn 2020 survey period (due to instrument malfunction) or during autumn 2023 (due to the presence of extensive mats of green macro-algae).

Biodiversity Monitoring – Anzac Creek (spring 2024) BIO-ANALYSIS Pty Ltd: Marine & Freshwater Ecology

### 3.5 Limitations

- Only one Baseline survey was able to be sampled in autumn 2018, due to the May 2018 bushfire (Biosis, 2018);
- Due to restricted access through the construction worksite, it was not possible to access Site AQ1 on 30 May 2019 to undertake the 2019 autumn survey 2. Whilst the collection of replicate samples at each site provides important measures of variability in habitat characteristics and concentrations of toxicants, the results from Survey 1 and subsequent surveys were within the range of results collected in the Baseline survey. Therefore, it is considered that the missing sample did not detract from being able to interpret the findings of the 2019 autumn sampling event, and that the intent and outcomes of the MPES2 monitoring survey were achieved;
- Water quality measurements collected during the biological sampling only provide a snapshot of quality at the time of sampling under the prevailing flow conditions;
- In the absence of external reference sites (i.e. similar sites but in systems not subject to the Project activities), it is not possible to account for changes in the variables examined that may occur naturally at a broader regional scale.

## 5.0 **DISCUSSION**

Stage 2 of the MPE Project involves the construction and operation of warehousing and distribution facilities on the MPE site and upgrades to approximately 2.1 kilometres of Moorebank Avenue. Warehouses 1, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7a and 7b are now operational. The next warehouse to be constructed is WH2, which is currently anticipated to occur in Q4 2025. During construction of WH2, water will be managed is accordance with the approved CEMP and water is discharged via the sediment (SED) Basins and into Anzac Creek (via DP5 and DP7).

#### 5.1 Aquatic Habitat and Hydrology

At the time of the second spring 2024 survey, recent rainfall had replenished aquatic habitat at the sites sampled although there was little flow observed at the upstream sites (i.e. Sites AQ1-AQ8). Extensive cover of vegetation within the riparian zone contributes stability to the edges of the creek channel, although an area of active erosion has been apparent at the downstream end of the refuge pool (Site AQ12) since autumn 2020. The presence of a dense stand of Typha may have contributed to bank overflow in this area, by acting as a barrier to flow.

The popular aquarium plant, *Egeria densa* (Egeria), first observed within the large refuge pool in spring 2020, has commonly been observed subsequently, including at the time of the autumn 2024 surveys. Infestations of Egeria have been shown to displace native species of other submerged plants (e.g. Roberts et al., 1999), and have been observed in the Georges River near its confluence with Anzac Creek.

The noxious plant, Alligator Weed, continues to be widespread at the most upstream site (Site AQ1). Due to its highly invasive nature, Alligator weed is considered one of the greatest threats to waterways, wetlands, floodplains and irrigation systems in Australia (van Oosterhout, 2007; DPI, 2019).

Also notable at Site AQ1 was the presence of the introduced aquatic weed, Ludwigia *(Ludwigia peruviana)*, within the creek channel. Found mostly in creeks and wetland areas, Ludwigia is a fast-growing invasive aquatic plant that can form dense colonies in slow-moving and static waterways (Sainty and Jacobs, 2003). An upright perennial shrub, it can grow to 3 m tall. Its presence can change water flows and increase the risk of flooding, *Biodiversity Monitoring – Anzac Creek (spring 2024)* BIO-ANALYSIS Pty Ltd: Marine & Freshwater Ecology 61 outcompete native plants and reduce food and shelter for fish and other native aquatic animals (Sainty and Jacobs, 2003).

Concentrations of lead measured in sediments at Site AQ1 (Survey 1: 100 mg/kg; Survey 2: 53 mg/kg) exceeded the guideline value (50 mg/L) on both sampling occasions within spring 2024. The majority (i.e. 17 of 19 times) of measurements of lead at AQ1 (range = 21 to 130 mg/kg) have exceeded the threshold limit detailed in the Interim Sediment Quality Guidelines (ISQG) (ANZECC/ARMCANZ 2000), including at the time of the baseline (91 mg/kg) survey. Nickel and zinc have also marginally exceeded the upper ANZECC/ARMCANZ (2000) guidelines, including on one of the two sampling occasions during spring 2024. Site AQ1 is situated upstream of potential inputs from the Project and therefore no additional testing of heavy metals at Site AQ1 should be considered necessary.

Importantly for this study, all toxicants, including total petroleum hydrocarbons and polyfluoroalkyl substances (like PFAS and PFOS), that were monitored in sediments at the sites downstream of inputs from the MPES2 Project site (i.e., at Sites AQ4 and AQ14) in the spring of 2024, remained within the proper guideline levels.

#### 5.2 Water Quality

Reduced dissolved oxygen levels, elevated nitrogen, aluminium, and copper measured in surface water in the large refuge pool (Site AQ12), including prior to commencement of the Project, reflect historic and current activities (ALS, 2011; Biosis, 2018). Concentrations of total petroleum hydrocarbons and poly-fluoroalkyl substances measured during spring 2024 remain similar to baseline values and within the recommended Australian-derived guidelines for water. Additional degradation of water quality does not appear to have occurred since the Project related construction work began.

#### 5.3 **Biological Monitoring**

The macroinvertebrate assemblage supported by the refuge pool appears to experience some degree of environmental stress. This is evident in the OE50 Taxa Scores and Bands, which have generally been indicative of an assemblage that is less diverse compared to reference sites selected by the AUSRIVAS model throughout the survey period.

Low values of the SIGNAL 2 score and the number of macroinvertebrate types (only 12 taxa) were also indicative of a site suffering from one or more forms of anthropogenic disturbance (see Chessman, 2003a&b).

Lower than expected macroinvertebrate indices were not unexpected given long-term (decades) exposure to multiple stressors (e.g., reduced dissolved oxygen levels, elevated levels of nitrogen, and excessive aquatic plant growth) that can adversely affect the condition of aquatic habitat. The introduced fish, Gambusia (*Gambusia holbrooki*), has also consistently been observed within the refuge pool. Predation by Gambusia is listed as a Key Threatening Process by the NSW *Biodiversity Conservation Act 2016*, because of known effects on native frogs, freshwater fishes and aquatic macroinvertebrates.

Nevertheless, some pollution sensitive aquatic macroinvertebrates (including caddis fly and dragonfly larvae) and native species of fish continue to be collected, indicating that the creek provides important habitat for aquatic species. Of the species collected, all are common within NSW (McDowall, 1996; DPI 2006; Howell and Creese, 2010).

# 6.0 CONCLUSION & RECOMMENDATIONS

Examination of the results from the spring 2024 monitoring event found no evidence of changes in the indicator variables (bed and bank stability, surface water and sediment quality, assemblages of aquatic macroinvertebrates and fish) that could be attributed to the Project works. Thus, in accordance with the Biodiversity Monitoring Strategy, no adaptive management contingency measures were triggered.

Recommendations include:

- Sampling of the stream health monitoring programme to be repeated in autumn 2025;
- Land managers focus on containment and on-going suppression of Alligator Weed and Ludwigia within Anzac Creek and the riparian zone, particularly at Site AQ1, and the popular aquarium plant, *Egeria densa* (Egeria), commonly observed within the refuge pool.

# 7.0 REFERENCES

ALS (2011). Assessment of the Sydney Intermodal Transport Hub, Moorebank. Aquatic Ecology. Report prepared for Hyder Consulting Pty Ltd by Ecowise Australia Pty Ltd trading as ALS Water Resources Group.

Arcadis (2016). Moorebank Precinct East – Stage 2 Proposal. Biodiversity Assessment Report prepared for SIMTA: Sydney Intermodal Terminal Alliance. Part 4, Division 4.1, State Significant Development.

Australian and New Zealand Environment Conservation Council and Agriculture and Resource Management Council of Australia and New Zealand (2000). National Water Quality Management Strategy: *Australian and New Zealand Water Quality Guidelines for Fresh and Marine Water Quality*. Canberra, Australia.

Biosis (2018). *Baseline Aquatic Ecological Monitoring Autumn 2018*. Report for Arcadis Authors: Stone, L. & Cable, A., Biosis Pty Ltd, Sydney. Project no. 26648.

Bureau of Meteorology [BOM] (2024). *New South Wales in 2024*. http://www.bom.gov.au/jsp/ncc/cdio/weatherData/av?p_nccObsCode=136&p_display_type=d ailyDataFile&p_startYear=&p_c=&p_stn_num=066161 (Accessed 1 August 2024)

Chessman, B. (2003a). *SIGNAL 2 – A Scoring System for Macroinvertebrates ('Water Bugs') in Australian Rivers*. Monitoring River Health Initiative Technical Report No. 31. Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra.

Chessman, B.C. (2003b). New sensitivity grades for Australian river macroinvertebrates. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 2003, 54: 95-103.

DPI NSW (2007). *Key Fish Habitat Maps Sydney LGA*. Website: <u>https://www.dpi.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/634347/PortStephens.pdf</u> (Accessed November 2020).

Biodiversity Monitoring – Anzac Creek (spring 2024) BIO-ANALYSIS Pty Ltd: Marine & Freshwater Ecology DPI NSW (2019). *NSW WeedWise*. NSW Department of Primary Industries. Website: https://weeds.dpi.nsw.gov.au/Weeds/Alligator. (Accessed February 2020)

GHD (2016). *Moorebank, NSW Environmental Management Plan*. Prepared for Department of Defence Former DNSDC.

Golder (2015). *Moorebank Precinct West (MPW): Site Contamination Summary Report -Stage 2 State Significant Development*. Prepared for Tactical Group on behalf of Sydney Intermodal Terminal Alliance.

Howell, T. and Creese, B. (2010). *Freshwater Fish Communities of the Hunter, Manning, Karuah and Macquarie-Tuggerah Catchments: a 2004 Status Report*. Industry and Investment New South Wales, Cronulla, New South Wales.

JBS&G Australia Pty Ltd (2016). *Moorebank Precinct East (MPE) - Stage 2 Proposal: Contamination Summary Report*. Prepared for Tactical Group on behalf of Sydney Intermodal Terminal Alliance.

McDowall, R. M. (1996). *Freshwater Fishes of South-Eastern Australia*. 2nd.Edition. Reed Books, Chatswood, NSW.

Ransom, G., Coysh, J., Nichols, S. (2004). AUSRIVAS User Manual. Website: <u>http://ausrivas.canberra.edu.au/Bioassessment/Macroinvertebrates/Manuals</u> and Datasheets/User Manual. Date Retrieved: 27 November 2006.

Roberts, D. E., Church, A. G., Cummins, S. P. (1999). Invasion of Egeria into the Hawkesbury-Nepean River, Australia. *Journal of Aquatic Plant Management* 37: 31-34.

Sainty, G. R., Jacobs, S. W. L. (2003). *Waterplants in Australia: A Field Quide*. 4th Edn. Sainty & Associates Pty Ltd, Potts Point.

Sainty, G., McCorkelle, G., Julien, M. H. (1998). Control and Spread of alligator weed, *Alternanthera philoxeroides*, in Australia: lessons for other regions. *Wetlands Ecology Management* 5: 195–201.

Turak, E., Waddell, N., Johnstone, G. (2004). *New South Wales Australian River Assessment System (AUSRIVAS) Sampling and Processing Manual*. Department of Environment and Conservation, Sydney, Australia.

# APPENDICES

Site Code	Easting	Northing
AQ1	308116	6240233
AQ4	308557	6240282
AQ8	309216	6240802
AQ12	309377	6241575
AQ13	309369	6241782
AQ14	309365	6241863

Appendix 1 - GPS positions (UTMs) for stream monitoring sites (spring 2024).

Datum: WGS 84, Zone 56H

## Appendix 2 – Visual Assessment Scores

	Autur	nn 2018	Sprin	ng 2018	Autur	nn 2019	
Site	Score (%)	Category	Score (%)	Category	Score (%)	Category	
AQ1	88	Very Stable	75	Stable	80	Stable	
AQ4	88	Very Stable	75	Stable	78	Stable	
AQ8	91	Very Stable	93	Very Stable	93	Very Stable	
	Sprin	ng 2019	Autur	nn 2020	Sprin	ng 2020	
Site	Score (%)	Category	Score (%)	Category	Score (%)	Category	
AQ1	88	Very Stable	90	Very Stable	90	Very Stable	
AQ4	80	Stable	88	Very Stable	89	Very Stable	
AQ8	92	Very Stable	93	Very Stable	93	Very Stable	
	Autur	nn 2021	Spring 2021		Autur	nn 2022	
Site	Score (%)	Category	Score (%)	Category	Score (%)	Category	
AQ1	80	Very Stable	90	Very Stable	92	Very Stable	
AQ4	89	Very Stable	89	Very Stable	90	Very Stable	
AQ8	93	Very Stable	93	Very Stable	93	Very Stable	
	Sprin	ng 2022	Autur	nn 2023	Sprin	ing 2023	
Site	Score (%)	Category	Score (%)	Category	Score (%)	Category	
AQ1	92	Very Stable	88	Very Stable	88	Very Stable	
AQ4	92	Very Stable	93	Very Stable	93	Very Stable	
AQ8	94	Very Stable	94	Very Stable	94	Very Stable	
	Autur	nn 2024	Sprin	ng 2024			
Site	Score (%)	Category	Score (%)	Category			
AQ1	94	Very Stable	92	Very Stable			
AQ4	94	Very Stable	92	Very Stable			
AQ8	94	Very Stable	94	Very Stable			

Appendix 2a – Ephemeral stream assessment results

Biodiversity Monitoring – Anzac Creek (spring 2024) BIO-ANALYSIS Pty Ltd: Marine & Freshwater Ecology

	Autur	nn 2018	Sprin	ng 2018	Autumn 2019		
Site	Score (%)	Category	Score (%)	Category	Score (%)	Category	
AQ1	27	Marginal	29	Marginal	32	Marginal	
AQ4	28	Marginal	25	Marginal	25	Marginal	
AQ8	41	Marginal	38	Marginal	38	Marginal	
AQ12	55	Suboptimal	51	Suboptimal	53	Suboptimal	
AQ13	21	Poor	23	Poor	21	Poor	
AQ14	22	Poor	23	Poor	22	Poor	
	Sprin	ng 2019	Autur	nn 2020	Sprin	ng 2020	
Site	Score (%)	Category	Score (%)	Category	Score (%)	Category	
AQ1	30	Marginal	32	Marginal	27	Marginal	
AQ4	26	Marginal	29	Marginal	28	Marginal	
AQ8	41	Marginal	41	Marginal	41	Marginal	
AQ12	51	Suboptimal	50	Suboptimal	53	Suboptimal	
AQ13	19	Poor	21	Poor	22	Poor	
AQ14	21	Poor	22	Poor	23	Poor	
	Autur	nn 2021	Sprin	ng 2021	Autumn 2022		
Site	Score (%)	Category	Score (%)	Category	Score (%)	Category	
AQ1	29	Marginal	31	Marginal	31	Marginal	
AQ4	36	Marginal	38	Marginal	40	Marginal	
AQ8	41	Marginal	41	Marginal	41	Marginal	
AQ12	55	Suboptimal	55	Suboptimal	50	Suboptimal	
AQ13	23	Poor	23	Poor	25	Poor	
AQ14	24	Poor	24	Poor	25	Poor	
	Sprin	ng 2022	Autur	nn 2023	Sprin	ng 2023	
Site	Score (%)	Category	Score (%)	Category	Score (%)	Category	
AQ1	31	Marginal	32	Marginal	27	Marginal	
AQ4	39	Marginal	40	Marginal	29	Marginal	
AQ8	41	Marginal	41	Marginal	38	Marginal	
AQ12	53	Suboptimal	53	Suboptimal	50	Suboptimal	
AQ13	21	Poor	25	Poor	25	Poor	
4014	25	Poor	25	Poor	25	Poor	

Appendix 2b – HABSCORE assessment results

	Autumn 2024		Sprin	ng 2024	
Site	Score (%)	Category	Score (%)	Category	
AQ1	31	Marginal	27	Marginal	
AQ4	40	Marginal	40	Marginal	
AQ8	41	Marginal	41	Marginal	
AQ12	50	Suboptimal	53	Suboptimal	
AQ13	30	Marginal	21	Poor	
AQ14	32	Marginal	25	Poor	

Appendix 2b – HABSCORE assessment results

Taxa	Survey 1 (24 September 2024)	Survey 2 (19 November 2024)
Acariformes	6	20
Belastomatidae	0	1
Ceratopogonidae	5	13
Chironomidae - Chironominae	25	20
Chironomidae - Tanypodinae	1	2
Coenagrionidae	2	0
Hydroptilidae	3	0
Leptoceridae	1	1
Libellulidae	1	3
Lumbriculidae	0	3
Physidae	1	1
Planorbiidae	0	1
Pleidae	0	2
Veliidae	0	2
Number of Taxa	9	12
Australian smelt	1	

Appendix 3 - Macroinvertebrate taxa collected at Site AQ12 in spring 2024 using the NSW AUSRIVAS protocol. Mosquito fish were also collected in the net samples.



# **APPENDIX F – COMPLAINTS REGISTER**

Мос	orebank Intermodal P	recinct Complaints Register - As of 19 May 2025		
Date received	Complainant	Nature of complaint	Location (MIP/MARW)	Status
18/05/2025	Community and CCC Member	Environmental reporting: Stakeholder emailed to lodge a complaint regarding environmental reporting with respect to specific emissions information and more detailed data that they have requested for some time. <u>Response</u> : There has been ongoing correspondence and attempts to provide the requested information. This is currently being reviewed again to confirm that the project team has provided the requested information as best as they are able.	МІР	Open
24/04/2025	Community Member	<u>Noise</u> : Caller phoned the project hotline in the evening, reporting incessant banging and vibrations through the house. <i>Response</i> : Caller was phoned back for more information but could not be reached.	MIP	Closed
24/04/2025	Community Member	<u>Noise:</u> Resident phoned the project hotline to make a complaint about overnight works being very disruptive into the early morning affecting sleep. Resident reported smashing and banging, reversing beepers and seeing tippers and lights. Resident called back the following night reporting the same. <u>Response:</u> Resident was phoned to discuss. The project team investigated, confirming there were no overnight works at either location. Resident was sent follow up email advising of no night work activities from MIP, provided a copy of recent OOH letter notification for periodic works until June (although nothing expected for a few weeks) and suggestion to contact Council or Sydney Trains in case of any related activities.	МІР	Closed
5/04/2025	Community Member	Noise: Ongoing concerns about the long-term potential of noise and potential for increased bushfire risk due to an increase in traffic accessing the intermodal terminal, cranes movements and handling of containers, once works are completed. Status: Stakeholder acknowledged; no response required. Note not a construction-based comment.		Closed
27/03/2025	Community Member	Noise: Concerned the upcoming night works required for the Moorebank Avenue upgrade will impact residents on the Western side of Wattle Grove. Response sent to stakeholder on 4/4		Closed
24/03/2025	Community Member	Traffic and disruptions: Concerns raised around ongoing roadworks including the recent Anzac Road closure between Moorebank Ave and Delfin Dr. Additionally, concerns raised around interruptions from the upgrade of underground electrical supply continuing to September 2025. Response sent to stakeholder 7 April.		Closed
17/03/2025	Community Member	MAR Construction: Complaint in agreement with prior complaint. Concern about location of Moorebank Avenue Realignment and the risks of increased noise from the precinct. Stated that noise walls were necessary for project. Response sent to stakeholder on 4/4.		Closed

Мос	orebank Intermodal P	recinct Complaints Register - As of 19 May 2025				
Date received	Complainant	Nature of complaint	Location (MIP/MARW)	Status		
17/03/2025	Community Member	MAR Construction: Concern about location of Moorebank Avenue Realignment and the risks of increased noise from the precinct. Stated that noise walls were necessary for project. Stakeholder contacted, and complaint receipt acknowledged.		Closed		
9/03/2025	Community Member	MAR Construction: Concern about location of Moorebank Avenue Realignment and the risks of increased noise and bushfires from road moving to the east of the precinct. Suggested noise wall the duration of the road. Response sent to stakeholder on 11/3.		Closed		
8/03/2025	Community Member	Traffic Impacts: Excessive traffic congestion on Moorebank Avenue in mornings heading north towards Liverpool. Response sent to Stakeholder on 27/3		Closed		
8/03/2025	Community Member	Traffic Impacts: Excessive traffic congestion on Moorebank Avenue, Cambridge Avenue, and Canterbury Road. Two traffic light sets within MIP holding traffic. Response sent to Stakeholder on 27/3		Closed		
		2024 Complaints				
18/12/2024	Community Member	Building design and Visual Impact: Stakeholder from Glenfield voiced dissatisfaction with the buildings and loss of city views due to Moorebank Development. Complaint acknowledged and plantings to reduce visual impact discussed with stakeholder and complaint closed.		Closed		
17/12/2024	Community Member	Vegetation management: Statement of disapproval in relation to the revegetation approach from a community member. Complaint acknowledged and possible options for improvements discussed with stakeholder		Closed		
2/12/2024	Community Member	Dust: Complaint regarding airborne dust from precinct reaching property in Wattle Grove. This has required an increase in the number of times the pool needs to be cleaned. Requested improvements to dust management on site. Investigation undertaken, and property 1.76kms away from earthworks. Complaint passed to teams to ensure dust management remains a focus. Stakeholder satisfied.		Closed		
29/10/2024	Community Member	Noise: Complaint regarding noise at ABB Site. Noise linked to sandblasting at ABB site. Stakeholder provided update and link to complaint line for ABB.		Closed		
28/10/2024	Community Member	Traffic: Complaint received regarding traffic stationary on Moorebank Avenue. Contractor has struck overhead wires and traffic is stopped while area made safe. Stakeholder advised of incident.		Closed		
24/10/2024	Community Member	Traffic: Concerned with traffic layout of Anzac Road causing traffic build up. Request for an additional right turn lane. Stakeholder advised there is insufficient width to have two right turn lanes.		Closed		
Мос	Moorebank Intermodal Precinct Complaints Register - As of 19 May 2025					
---------------	-----------------------------------------------------------------------	-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------	--------	--	--
Date received	Complainant	Nature of complaint	Location (MIP/MARW)	Status		
12/10/2024	Community Member	Vegetation management: Dissatisfied with quality of cut of reeds at Woolmers Court. Concern about reeds being left on ground being a fire risk. Contractors returned to site and mulched reeds. Stakeholder updated.		Closed		
11/10/2024	Community Member	Vegetation management: Quality of cut of reeds at Woolmers Court. Dissatisfied with quality of cut. Concern about reeds being left on ground being a fire risk. Contractors returned to site and mulched reeds. Stakeholder updated.		Closed		
19/09/2024	Community Member	Traffic: Concerned with traffic backing up on the M5 when turning onto Moorebank Avenue, wondered if there was a change to traffic conditions to cause the congestion. Investigation conducted, no change to traffic conditions on Moorebank Avenue, issue present at other M5 offramps during morning peak. Likely issue relating to wider network. Stakeholder informed and satisfied.		Closed		
13/09/2024	Community Member	Follow up and dissatisfaction with outcome of pushbike accident complaint resolution. Concern with safety of designated bike route. Update sent to stakeholder regarding outcome of investigation. Work completed to standard and no claim. Item closed.		Closed		
29/08/2024	Community Member	Concern surrounding extent of work, and if road construction will reach Glenfield Road roundabout. Concerns about biodiversity losses through project. Response provided with links to additional information on projects.		Closed		
27/08/2024	Community Member	Question relating to how many trucks are taken off roads and how many containers have been handled each quarter. General complaint against time for Moorebank Ave project to be finished. BMD and MIP provided responses		Closed		
14/08/2024	Community Member	Caller advised excessive noise from smashing containers. Requesting for the noise to stop. Does not want to speak with someone and wanting complaint to be passed on. Stakeholder contacted and acknowledged the receipt of the complaint		Closed		
23/07/2024	Community member	Traffic: Community member lodged complaint about conditions of road upgrade of Moorebank Avenue, poor signage on the road, and workers on the phone not directing traffic. Stakeholder contacted and informed of investigation into traffic management and signage. Stakeholder provided update that project is inline with TfNSW approved traffic Management Plan and all signage was installed correctly.		Closed		
18/06/2024	Community member	Noise: Community member lodged complaint about loud noise occurring from intermodal precinct. Believes it is linked to container management. Noise mitigation strategy developed and shared with stakeholders.		Closed		
07/06/2024	Community member	Noise: Community member lodged complaint about loud noise occurring from intermodal precinct. Believes it is linked to container management. The Liverpool Military Area Base Management team have been contacted. They confirmed that		Closed		

Moorebank Intermodal Precinct Complaints Register - As of 19 May 2025				
Date received	Complainant	Nature of complaint	Location (MIP/MARW)	Status
		defence related activities were occurring on Holsworthy on the 6 June in the early morning and throughout the day. This may be the source of the noise. Stakeholder notified.		
07/06/2024	Community member	Noise: Community member lodged complaint about loud noise occurring from intermodal precinct. Believes it is linked to container management. The Liverpool Military Area Base Management team have been contacted. They confirmed that defence related activities were occurring on Holsworthy on the 6 June in the early morning and throughout the day. This may be the source of the noise. Stakeholder notified.		Closed
06/06/2024	Community member	Letterbox distribution: Community member lodged complaint about receiving project information in their letterbox which they consider to be junk mail. Resident's details passed on to distribution company. Caller informed.		Closed
06/06/2024	Community member	Noise: Community member lodged complaint about loud noise occurring from intermodal precinct. Believes it is linked to container management. Located approx. 1.5km from terminal. Considers noise to be not acceptable. The Liverpool Military Area Base Management team have also been contacted. They confirmed that defence related activities were occurring on Holsworthy on the 6 June in the early morning and throughout the day. This may be the source of the noise. Stakeholder notified.		Closed
23/05/2024	Community member	Resubmission of complaint received on 26 April 2024. Personal Injury and property damage: Motorcycle rider fell off bike on Moorebank Avenue at intersection with Anzac Road. Sustained injury and damage to property (bike, watch, phone). Original complaint submitted to Liverpool City Council and LCC contacted Logos. Currently investigating CCTV footage of the incident. Stakeholder acknowledged and provided update. Response provided to stakeholder, stating that condition of road was in acceptable condition for road works, and the location of the fall was a 35-50mm edge on final kerb to wearing course of asphalt. Moorebank Precinct will not be reimbursing the stakeholder for damages caused as part of the fall.		Closed
13/05/2024	Community member	Noise: Community member lodged complaint about loud noise occurring from intermodal precinct. Believes it is linked to container management. Stakeholder contacted and advised that the team at QUBE has been advised of complaints received relating to operational noise with container movement, and to possibly investigate mitigation measures. Stakeholder happy with response.		Closed

Мос	Moorebank Intermodal Precinct Complaints Register - As of 19 May 2025				
Date received	Complainant	Nature of complaint	Location (MIP/MARW)	Status	
		The complaint is closed.			
30/04/2024	Community member	<ul> <li>Noise: Community member lodged complaint about loud noise occurring from intermodal precinct – not sure if construction noise or operational noise. Sounds like operator dropping items. Heard in Wattle Grove @8:30pm 30/04 and keeping 3yr old up. <ul> <li>Currently investigating work location/operational practices possibly resulting in noise generation.</li> </ul> </li> <li>Stakeholder contacted and advised that the team at QUBE has been advised of complaints received relating to operational noise with container movement, and to possibly investigate mitigation measures.</li> <li>The complaint is closed.</li> </ul>		Closed	
30/04/2024	Community member	<ul> <li>Noise: Community member lodged complaint about loud noise occurring from intermodal precinct during night of 29/04. Noise from containers being loaded and unloaded. Concerned about level of noise when terminal is fully uploaded.         <ul> <li>Currently investigating work location/operational practices possibly resulting in noise generation.</li> </ul> </li> <li>Stakeholder contacted and advised that the team at QUBE has been advised of complaints received relating to operational noise with container movement, and to possibly investigate mitigation measures. Stakeholder happy with response.</li> </ul>		Closed	
27/04/2024	Community member	Light pollution: Multiple lights in intermodal precinct resulting in high noise pollution to residents in Casula. 4 lights currently turned on with 7 yet to be activated. Stakeholder worried about final lighting pollution. Concerned about direction of lights and colour scheme of warehouses getting lit up with current lighting. - Currently investigating lighting requirements and possible modifications to assist stakeholder. Stakeholder contacted and advised review of lighting had been undertaken and lights would be switched off until lights confirmed to be set at correct angle, and mitigation measures investigated. The complaint is closed		Closed	
26/04/2024	Community member	<ul> <li>Personal Injury and property damage: Motorcycle rider fell off bike on Moorebank Avenue at intersection with Anzac Road. Sustained injury and damage to property (bike, watch, phone).</li> <li>Original complaint submitted to Liverpool City Council and LCC contacted Logos.</li> <li>Investigation complete. Site at an acceptable level and condition through construction. Response provided to stakeholder. Claim rejected</li> </ul>		Closed	
23/04/2024	Community member	Traffic impacts: Community member lodged complaint about current road layout of		Closed	

Мос	prebank Intermodal P	recinct Complaints Register-As of 19 May 2025		
Date received	Complainant	Nature of complaint	Location (MIP/MARW)	Status
		<ul> <li>Moorebank Avenue – single lane from Anzac Road to M5 is heavily congested, and stakeholder is worried final layout is unequipped for traffic volume of operational precinct.         <ul> <li>Informed stakeholder of Moorebank Avenue realignment works.</li> <li>Currently seeking additional information to provide stakeholder to close out complaint.</li> </ul> </li> <li>Stakeholder called and advised of road configuration after alignment completed. Pleased to know that single lane bottleneck would be removed. Also noted future realignment on Eastern side of MIP. Current work focused on Anzac Road to M5. Stakeholder pleased. The complaint is closed.</li> </ul>		
05/04/2024	Community member	Noise: Community member lodged complaint about loud noise occurring morning of 5/04 from the intermodal terminal, which sounds like someone dropping something large every 30 seconds. Located in Casula and could be heard in Wattle Grove by family member. Stakeholder contacted and provided update: All noise monitors recorded identified noise; however no work activities were occurring on site. Noise not generated from MIP. Stakeholder appreciative of update and glad to see the effort that went into resolving complaint. The complaint has been closed.		Closed
01/02/2024	Community member	Noise: The complaint involved a loud echoing noise from a truck's hatch dropping dirt, disturbing a caller working from home across the river about 800 meters away from the construction site. The noise occurred within the scheduled hours, however, disrupted the caller's work online meeting. The caller acknowledged the normalcy of construction noise but emphasized the exceptional loudness on that morning. The caller's feedback was relayed to the construction team for consideration in the future. The complaint has been closed.		Closed
25/01/2024	Community member	Noise: A community member complained about helicopter lifting works that occurred on January 25th, 2024. The complaint suggested that the works extended beyond the scheduled and published hours, causing noise disturbances during nighttime. The investigation revealed that the works have been undertaken in accordance with the communicated schedule and there were no scheduled or unscheduled night works at the Precinct during the specified period. The complaint has been closed.		Closed
25/01/2024	Community member	Noise: CCC member (Casula resident) complained about noise and the days of operation related to helicopter lift works on January 25th, 2024. The complainant was informed that the helicopter lift works occurred in accordance with the		Closed

Mod	Moorebank Intermodal Precinct Complaints Register - As of 19 May 2025					
Date received	Complainant	Nature of complaint	Location (MIP/MARW)	Status		
		communicated schedule and were sanctioned activities approved under the MPW Construction Noise and Vibration Management Plan. The complainant provided with a copy of the document for their reference. Additionally, the complainant was also advised that their specific observations regarding noise-related issues and preferences for certain days for this type of works would be subject to further investigation by the Project team and discussed during the upcoming Community Consultative Committee meeting. The complaint has been closed.				
		2023 Complaints				
24/12/2023	Road User	Development impacts: A road user made a complaint regarding a visibility issue caused by an unidentified substance on the caller's vehicle surface while driving in the Precinct area. The investigation determined the substance in question originated from construction operations within the area. The complainant provided with a suitable cleaning product. Additionally, professional cleaning services have been arranged for their car to ensure the complete removal of the substance. The complaint has been closed.		Closed		
22/09/2023	Road User	Traffic lights: A road user made a complaint about traffic congestion at the intersection of Moorebank Avenue and Anzac Road during peak morning and evening hours. According to the complainant, the congestion is attributed to an auto-sensor system on Anzac Road that causes delays for road users traveling on Moorebank Avenue. The project team advised the complainant that these traffic signals are controlled by TfNSW and not by the Precinct, therefore the concern is to be raised with TfNSW. The complaint has been closed.		Closed		
04/09/2023	Community member	Noise: A complainant reported noise in the late-night hours near the Fire and Rescue Station on Anzac Road. The area is outside of MIP development boundary, hence there are no construction works or operations being undertaken within the vicinity of the Fire and Rescue station on Anzac Road. The noise appears not related to the MIP development. The complaint has been closed.		Closed		
21/08/2023	Community member	Noise: A Wattle Grove resident complained about a metallic clunking noise most often at night-time from a west facing wall (towards the precinct). The project team investigated and found no works that could initiate noises described by the complainant were being undertaken within the precinct during night-time hours at the time of complaint. The complainant was advised that the precinct could not identify any specific events that would have caused any excessive		Closed		

Мос	Moorebank Intermodal Precinct Complaints Register - As of 19 May 2025				
Date received	Complainant	Nature of complaint	Location (MIP/MARW)	Status	
		night-time noise. However, operational teams were reminded to stay vigilant when operating at night.			
27/06/2023	Community member	Dust: A Wattle Grove resident provided feedback about dust generation on Moorebank Avenue. The project team investigated and found no exceedances of the criteria for deposited dust in the last three months. A letter response explaining specific methods for the management and monitoring of dust generation at the Precinct was provided to the complainant. The complaint has been closed.		Closed	
30/05/2023	Community member	Noise: A Wattle Grove resident complained about noise in the early hours of the morning which they believed originated from the precinct. The project team investigated and found no works were being undertaken within the precinct on the night in question. The complaint has been closed.		Closed	
10/05/2023	Road user	Traffic congestion: The complainant reported traffic congestion along Moorebank Avenue resulting in increased commute time. The project team investigated and found traffic signals controlled by TfNSW TMC had malfunctioned on the morning in question. A response was provided to the complainant advising of the signal outage and how to report future signal faults. Information about the closure of Chatham Road intersection was also provided.		Closed	
27/04/2023	Road user	Road conditions: The complainant reported damage to their vehicle while driving on Moorebank Avenue. Further information required to investigate the complaint was not provided. The complaint has been closed.		Closed	
07/02/2023	Road user	Road conditions: The complainant reported damage to their vehicle while driving on Moorebank Avenue. The project team liaised with the vehicle owner to resolve the complaint.		Closed	
02/02/2023	Community member	Noise monitoring: Resident raised concern about specific locations of attended noise monitoring undertaken in 2022. The resident was provided with further clarification regarding the location of the noise monitoring as well as details of the noise monitoring requirements under the project's conditions of consent.		Closed	
19/01/2023	Road user	Construction dust and mud: Road user complained about construction dust and mud on Moorebank Avenue. Road user was advised of mitigation measures in place including dust suppression, the use of water		Closed	

Moorebank Intermodal Precinct Complaints Register - As of 19 May 2025				
Date received	Complainant	Nature of complaint	Location (MIP/MARW)	Status
		caters, wheel washing and sweeper trucks.		
	ļ	2022 Complaints	i	
Date Received	Complainant	Nature of Complaint		Status
31/12/2022	Community member	Development impacts: Resident raised concern about the height of MPW warehousing and its impact on views. Resident was advised of initiatives to reduce impacts for community and was advised of the previous community consultation related to the development, including height of warehousing.		Closed
14/11/2022	CCC member	Construction schedule and upcoming works: CCC member (Casula resident) complained about helicopter lifting work continuing past standard construction hours. The project team investigated the incident with the relevant contractor, who has been instructed to implement measures to ensure that any future helicopter lifts do not exceed construction hours. Further, the team notified the complainant of upcoming helicopter lifting work in December.	1	Closed
10/10/2022	Local business	Water / Flooding: Water entered the premises of a site neighbour during a heavy rainfall event. Site contractors have undertaken remediation works to repair, regrade and lift the bund to drain the area, pump out remaining water and revegetate the area to stabilise the bund. Contractors will continue to monitor the area to pump excess water as required.		Closed
20/09/2022	Community member	General project and noise: A Wattle Grove resident complained about noise and hours of operation at the site, and about the project more broadly. The complainant was advised further additional attended noise monitoring will be undertaken.		Closed
21/08/2022	Community member	Noise: A Wattle Grove resident complained about noise and hours of operation at the site, including out of hours works helicopter activity undertaken on site. The complainant was advised the works were an approved activity under the approved MPE Stage 2 Construction Noise and Vibration Management Plan (CNVMP) and noise monitoring undertaken as required by out of hours work consent identified noise levels were under the predicted levels outlined in the CNVMP. The complainant was also advised their observations of noise at other days/times are being investigated further through additional noise monitoring. The complainant was advised further additional attended noise monitoring will be		Closed

Мос	Moorebank Intermodal Precinct Complaints Register - As of 19 May 2025				
Date received	Complainant	Nature of complaint	Location (MIP/MARW)	Status	
		undertaken.			
18/8/2022	Community member	Noise: A Wattle Grove resident complained about noise and hours of operation at the site. The complainant was advised their observations are being investigated further through additional noise monitoring. The complainant was advised further additional attended noise monitoring will be undertaken.		Closed	
17/8/2022	Community member	Noise: A Wattle Grove resident complained about noise and hours of operation at the site. The complainant was advised their observations are being investigated further through additional noise monitoring. The complainant was advised further additional attended noise monitoring will be undertaken.		Closed	
16/8/2022	Community member	Noise: A Wattle Grove resident complained about noise and hours of operation at the site. The complainant was advised their observations are being investigated further through additional noise monitoring. The complainant was advised further additional attended noise monitoring will be undertaken.		Closed	
13/8/2022	Community member	Noise: A Wattle Grove resident complained about noise and hours of operation at the site. The complainant was advised their observations are being investigated further through additional noise monitoring. The complainant was advised further additional attended noise monitoring will be undertaken.		Closed	
13/8/2022	Community member	Noise: A Wattle Grove resident complained about noise and hours of operation at the site. The complainant was advised their observations are being investigated further through additional noise monitoring. The complainant was advised further additional attended noise monitoring will be undertaken.		Closed	
12/8/2022	Community member	Noise: A Wattle Grove resident complained about noise and hours of operation at the site. The complainant was advised their observations are being investigated further through additional noise monitoring. The complainant was advised further additional attended noise monitoring will be		Closed	

Мос	Moorebank Intermodal Precinct Complaints Register - As of 19 May 2025				
Date received	Complainant	Nature of complaint	Location (MIP/MARW)	Status	
		undertaken.			
12/8/2022	Community member	Noise: A Wattle Grove resident complained about noise and hours of operation at the site. The complainant was advised their observations are being investigated further through additional noise monitoring. The complainant was advised further additional attended noise monitoring will be undertaken.		Closed	
11/8/2022	Community member	Noise: A Wattle Grove resident complained about noise and hours of operation at the site. The complainant was advised their observations are being investigated further through additional noise monitoring. The complainant was advised further additional attended noise monitoring will be undertaken.		Closed	
10/8/2022	Community member	Noise: A Wattle Grove resident complained about noise and hours of operation at the site. The complainant was advised their observations are being investigated further through additional noise monitoring. The complainant was advised further additional attended noise monitoring will be undertaken.		Closed	
31/7/2022	Community member	Noise: A Wattle Grove resident complained about noise and hours of operation at the site. The complainant was advised their observations are being investigated further through additional noise monitoring. The complainant was advised further additional attended noise monitoring will be undertaken.		Closed	
30/7/2022	Community member	Noise: A Wattle Grove resident complained about noise and hours of operation at the site. The complainant was advised their observations are being investigated further through additional noise monitoring. The complainant was advised further additional attended noise monitoring will be undertaken.		Closed	
29/7/2022	Community member	Noise: A Wattle Grove resident complained about noise and hours of operation at the site. The complainant was advised their observations are being investigated further through		Closed	

Moorebank Intermodal Precinct Complaints Register - As of 19 May 2025				
Date received	Complainant	Nature of complaint	Location (MIP/MARW)	Status
		additional noise monitoring. The complainant was advised further additional attended noise monitoring will be undertaken.		
28/7/2022	Community member	Noise: A Wattle Grove resident made a complaint about truck and container movement noise at the site. The complainant was advised the project has approval to operate 24/7 within limits of the Operational Noise and Vibration Management Plan and the project undertakes ongoing noise management and monitoring, including permanent noise monitors. Further, the team notified the complainant that staged commencement of automated electric crane operations later this year which are expected to result in more environmentally friendly operations on site. The complainant was advised further additional attended noise monitoring will be undertaken.		Closed
19/7/2022	Community member	Noise: A Wattle Grove resident complained about noise emanating from the site, particular trucks and container movement noise. The complainant was advised the project has approval to operate 24/7 within limits of the Operational Noise and Vibration Management Plan and the project undertakes ongoing noise management and monitoring, including permanent noise monitors. Further, the team notified the complainant that staged commencement of automated electric crane operations later this year which are expected to result in more environmentally friendly operations on site. The complainant was advised further additional attended noise monitoring will be undertaken		Closed
4/7/2022	Local business	Flooding: Water entered the premises of a site neighbour during a heavy rainfall weather event (300mm +). Following an investigation, SIMTA contractors undertook cleaning of the site and repair to verges. Further work will be undertaken to repair swale damage.		Closed
18/06/2022	Community member	Noise: A resident in Wattle Grove made a complaint relating to container movement noise. The project team investigated and noise monitoring at the time described included some container noise which was within approved noise parameters for the site. As a result of the community member's observations, attended noise monitoring will be undertaken in the area to further explore (in addition to permanent noise monitoring already in place at locations determined by DPE). The complainant was advised further additional attended noise monitoring will be		Closed

Мос	Moorebank Intermodal Precinct Complaints Register - As of 19 May 2025				
Date received	Complainant	Nature of complaint	Location (MIP/MARW)	Status	
		undertaken.			
10/06/2022	Community member	Noise: A resident in Wattle Grove made a complaint about container movement noise. The project team investigated and noise monitoring at the time described included some container noise which was within approved noise parameters for the site. As a result of the community member's observations, attended noise monitoring will be undertaken in the area to further explore (in addition to permanent noise monitoring already in place at locations determined by DPE).		Closed	
26/04/2022	CCC member	Noise: Complainant noted sound from a water pump has been operating 24/7 near the Georges River at the north of the site for about a week. The project team investigated the complaint and discovered the water level within the excavation works area had recently receded, causing the pump to function incorrectly. The complainant was informed acoustic blankets would be installed for additional noise attenuation and the pump would only be running during standard construction hours until they are in place. Further noise modelling will be undertaken before overnight pumping resumes.		Closed	
19/02/2022	CCC member	Noise: Complainant noted weekend work was being carried out after 1pm Saturday. The complainant was advised a new extended weekend construction hours order had been issued by the NSW Minister for Planning and was supplied a copy of the order.		Closed	
11/01/2022	CCC member	Noise: Complainant noted heavy vehicle noise late at night. No work was being undertaken on our project at that time, which complainant was advised.		Closed	
		2021 Complaints			
Date received	Complainant	Nature of complaint		Status	
25/11/2021	Road user	Condition of road: A motorist complained about potholes on Moorebank Avenue between East Hills railway line and Cambridge Avenue. The project team advised the motorist that the potholes are within the section of the road owned and managed by the Department of Defence and was not related to the project. The complainant was directed to contact Department of Defence. (Issue not related to project).		Closed	
05/11/2021	Road user	Condition of road:		Closed	

Moorebank Intermodal Precinct Complaints Register - As of 19 May 2025					
Date received	Complainant	Nature of complaint	Location (MIP/MARW)	Status	
		A road user complained about the condition of Anzac Road. The project team investigated			
		the specific location of Anzac Road and discovered this is an area of Anzac Road currently			
		being upgraded by Liverpool City Council.			
		This upgrade is unrelated to the project.			
04/11/2021	CCC member	Dust:		Closed	
		A CCC member reported dust coming from the southern end of Moorebank Precinct			
		West. The project team reminded all contractors to ensure mitigation strategies continue			
		to be implemented appropriately. Further discussions about dust management from			
		active stockpiles were conducted with the overall project team. The complaint occurred			
		on a day where the wind was 80-90km/hr - while water carts were suppressing dust on			
		the day, it was impossible to eliminate the dust due to these high wind speeds.			
01/11/2021	Community memb	er Noise:		Closed	
		A resident in Wattle Grove complained about night works noise coming from Anzac Road.			
		The project team discovered that these works are undertaken by Liverpool City Council			
		and advised the resident to contact council. (Issue not related to project).			
28/10/2021	Road user via	Condition of road:		Closed	
	Liverpool City	Liverpool City Council on behalf of road users complained about the condition of			
	Council	Bapaume Road, Moorebank.			
		The project team is investigating ways to temporary remedy potholes and conditions of			
		the road where possible. Please note this is a local controlled council road.			
25/10/2021	Community memb	er Noise:		Closed	
		A resident complained about noise coming from the Moorebank Intermodal Terminal			
		direction. The project team acknowledged the complainant's concerns and requested			
		more information about the noise so the team could carry out further investigation to			
		identify the source. No further information was provided by the complainant, and project			
		teams confirmed that no out of hours works were undertaken at the time by Moorebank			
		Intermodal Terminal.			
16/10/2021	Community memb	er Noise:		Closed	
		A resident in Wattle Grove complained about night works noise. The project team			
		investigated the complaint and discovered that night works (asphalting) were undertaken			
		by nearby Holsworthy Army Barrack. Stakeholder was advised and encouraged to provide			
		additional detail for future noise issues.			
		(Issue not related to project.)			
09/09/2021	CCC member	Noise:		Closed	
		A CCC member complained about trucks beeping noise from a heavy vehicle in the early			
		hours. The project team investigated the noise and discovered that it came from a Fire &			

Мос	Moorebank Intermodal Precinct Complaints Register - As of 19 May 2025					
Date received	Complainant	Nature of complaint	Location (MIP/MARW)	Status		
		Rescue NSW truck inspecting a local business premises.				
		(Issue not related to project.)				
07/09/2021	Community member	General project:		Closed		
		A resident in Glenfield complained about the height of warehousing on MPW hindering his				
		cityscape view.				
		The project team provided information to assist complainant understanding of works				
		currently underway and those				
		planned and approved for the near future.				
17/07/2021	Road user	Vehicle Damage:		Closed		
		A motorist reported a pothole on Anzac Road, east of Anzac Creek. The project team				
		advised that the pothole was within the section of the road owned and managed by the				
		Department of Defence and was not related to the project.				
		The complainant was directed to DoD.				
		(Issue not related to project.)				
14/07/2021	Road user	Vehicle Damage:		Closed		
		A motorist reported windscreen damaged by a rock from a truck on Moorebank Avenue.				
		The project team investigated the claim and discovered the truck was not working on the				
		project on the day of the incident.				
		The motorist was directed to contact the truck company directly.				
		(Issue not related to project.)				
14/05/2021	Road user	Driver behaviour:		Closed		
		Site neighbour advised that vehicle leaving site failed to completely stop moving at a stop				
		sign. SIMTA contractors issued road safety to relevant team members.				
13/05/2021	Community member	Noise:		Closed		
		A resident from East Moorebank complained of OOH excavator noise during a one-month				
		period. Further information was requested from the complainant, but no response was				
		provided. Investigations indicated the noise was not related to the project.				
06/05/2021	Local Business	Water/Flooding:		Closed		
		Site neighbour advised that water was flowing from SIMTA property into culvert situated				
		along fence line on private property. SIMTA introduced measures to help prevent runoff				
		during heavy rainfall.				
13/04/2021	Road user	Traffic lights:		Closed		
		A road user complained about traffic congestion on Moorebank Avenue causing major				
		delays. Roads and Maritime Services advised the light sequencing system was faulty. The				
		project team had also directly reported the issue to TfNSW.				
		(Issue not related to project.)				

Мос	Moorebank Intermodal Precinct Complaints Register - As of 19 May 2025					
Date received	Complainant	Nature of complaint	Location (MIP/MARW)	Status		
08/04/2021	Local Business	Water/Flooding: Advised by site neighbour that a water hose situated on SIMTA property was leaking. The project team inspected the hose and repaired it.		Closed		
29/03/2021	Road user	Traffic lights: A road user complained about traffic congestion on Moorebank Avenue causing major delays. Roads and Maritime Services advised the light sequencing system was faulty. (Issue not related to project.)		Closed		
29/03/2021	Road user	Traffic lights: A road user complained about traffic congestion on Moorebank Avenue causing major delays. Roads and Maritime Services advised the light sequencing system was faulty. (Issue not related to project.)		Closed		
22/03/2021	Local Business	Water/Flooding: Water entered the premises of a site neighbour during heavy rainfall. As a gesture of goodwill, SIMTA offered to pay for the clean-up.		Closed		
09/01/2021	CCC member	Noise: A CCC member complained about trucks tailgates making noise during the delivery of material to the site. The project team investigated the complaint and noted that the complaint related to trucks operating during standard construction hours and within approval conditions.		Closed		
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	-	2020 Complaints				
Date received	Complainant	Nature of complaint		Status		
12/12/2020	CCC member	Noise: A CCC member complained about noise from night work. The project team acknowledge the CCC member's concerns and informed that they have amended the work methodology in response to previous complaints. The team advised they have moved the out-of-hours work to a section of the site located further away from homes in Casula, endeavouring to ensure all plant and machinery on MPW uses non-tonal reversing sounders. Furthermore, the project team also introduced several initiatives to reduce the impact of night works. Noise monitoring indicates that these initiatives appear to be working in helping reduced noise impacts from night works.		Closed		
10/12/2020	Community member	Dust: A community member complained about dust impacts on her home. The project team outlined the measures used to mitigate the impact of dust; including frequent use of dust suppression vehicles, continually monitoring dust levels and work practices being altered during strong winds. The project team apologised the community member for any		Closed		

Moorebank Intermodal Precinct Complaints Register - As of 19 May 2025					
Date received	Complainant	Nature of complaint	Location (MIP/MARW)	Status	
		impacts.			
09/11/2020	CCC member	Noise: A CCC member visited BMD gate on MPW and complained about noisy night work. The site supervisor discussed new noise mitigation measures had been put in place for the night work and the CCC member agreed the noise level had dropped. The supervisor also explained to the CCC member that ongoing toolbox talks with contractors/drivers on the need to keep noise levels down, especially with the use of horns and closing tailgates. The CCC member agreed that everyone was doing their best to keep noise levels down.		Closed	
04/11/2020	Road user	Truck driver behaviour: A road user complained about an interaction with a truck driver on Moorebank Avenue. The project team investigated the complaint and dashcam footage was inconclusive in terms of the account of the incident. The project team also discussed with the truck driver the importance of always ensuring road safety and road rules are adhered to when entering and leaving site. The project team apologised the road user for any concerns caused by the incident.		Closed	
22/10/2020	CCC member	Noise: A CCC member complained about noisy night work. The project team acknowledge the CCC member's concerns and advised that they have amended the work methodology in response to his expressing dissatisfaction with the level of out-of-hours work noise. The team advised they have moved the out-of-hours work to a section of the site located further away from homes in Casula. In addition, the project team also introduced additional noise monitoring to help confirm noise sources. Feedback from the CCC member indicated that this eliminated the noise issues he had been experiencing.		Closed	
20/10/2020	CCC member	Dust: A CCC member complained about dust coming up from the northern end of MPW. The project team investigated the complaint and informed the CCC member they could not conclusively identify any work that caused the dust complaint reported. The project team organised additional street sweeping and dust suppression vehicles to mitigate any possible dust issues.		Closed	
15/10/2020	Community member	A resident in Casula complained about construction noise. The project team acknowledge the resident's concerns and advised that they have amended the work methodology in response to residents expressing dissatisfaction with the level of out-of- hours work noise. The team did this by relocating the out-of-hours work to a section of the site located further away from homes in Casula. In addition, the project team also introduced additional noise monitoring to help confirm noise sources.		Closed	

Μοσ	Moorebank Intermodal Precinct Complaints Register - As of 19 May 2025					
Date received	Complainant	Nature of complaint	(MIP/MARW)	Status		
		Two residents in Casula complained that they could hear loud metallic bangs at night. The project team acknowledged the residents' concerns and advised that the "banging" noises were determined to be caused by tipper trucks' tailgates delivering crushed sandstone to the site during extended hours. The team reiterated to drivers that they should take care to ensure their tailgates closed as quietly as possible after they deposited their load on-site. In addition, the project team relocated the out-of-hours work to a section of the site further away from homes in Casula and introduced additional noise monitoring. Feedback from the community indicated that this eliminated the noise issues they had				
09/10/2020	Community member	Noise: A resident in Wattle Grove complained that he could hear hydraulic excavator or similar making loud noises at night. The project team investigated the complaint and informed the resident that there had not been any night-time activity on the site other than out-of-hours deliveries of crushed sandstone to Moorebank Precinct		Closed		
24/09/2020	Neighbour	Traffic lights: A representative of the Department of Defence complained about the traffic light timing at the intersection of Moorebank Ave and Frank Partridge Drive. Roads and Maritime Services advised that the signals operate on an auto-sensor system. Complainant was provided RMS details to advise of traffic delays that may require adjustment to the signaling.		Closed		
24/09/2020	Community member	Noise: A resident in Casula complained about the noise generated by nightworks. The project team investigated and informed the resident that the noise was caused by trucks delivering crushed sandstone to the site during extended hours. The project team apologised for the inconvenience caused and reminded the contractor of the importance of minimising the noise created by this work.		Closed		
21/09/2020	CCC member	Noise: A CCC member complained about noisy night work, including jackhammering. The project team investigated and confirmed that no work of high-impact nature caused the excessive noise claimed. The only work which used plant machinery and a bulldozer was the ongoing importation of materials to site.		Closed		
15/09/2020	Community member via DPIE	Dust: A community member complained via DPIE about rubbish and sand on Moorebank Avenue. The project team organised additional street sweeping and dust suppression.		Closed		

Мос	Moorebank Intermodal Precinct Complaints Register - As of 19 May 2025					
Date received	Complainant	Nature of complaint	Location (MIP/MARW)	Status		
02/09/2020	Community member	Noise: A resident in Casula complained that he could hear loud metallic bangs at night. The project team investigated the complaint and informed the resident that the noise was likely caused by a truck's tailgate closing after it delivered crushed sandstone to the site during extended hours. The project team apologised for the inconvenience caused and reminded the contractor of the importance of minimising the noise created by this work.		Closed		
02/09/2020	Community member	Vehicle Damage: A motorist reported that a pothole on Moorebank Avenue caused damaged to her car. The project team investigated the complaint and discovered that the pothole was within the section of the road owned and managed by the Department of Defence. The complainant was directed to DoD to discuss further.		Closed		
26/08/2020	CCC member	Noise: A CCC member complained about loud metallic bangs from trucks' tailgate while unloading crushed sandstone to site. The project team investigated the complaint and believed that the noise might have been caused by a truck's tailgate closing after it had tipped its load. The project team reminded the contractor of the importance of this work being carried out more quietly in future and has also been carrying out noise monitoring of this work.		Closed		
25/08/2020	Community member	Environmental impacts: A resident in Casula complained about the height of the proposed Woolworths warehousing on MPW affecting the view from his backyard. The project team advised the resident the proposal was open for public consultation and directed him to the online information link to provide a submission detailing his concerns.		Closed		
24/08/2020	Community member	Condition of road: A member of the community complained about her vehicle being damaged by the pothole in Moorebank Avenue south of the East Hills rail line. The project team investigated the complaint and discovered that the pothole is in the area owned and managed by Department of Defence and advised her to raise her concerns with DoD.		Closed		
18/08/2020	CCC member via DPIE Community member	Environmental impacts: CCC member complained via DPIE that the colour scheme of the IMEX crane located on the Moorebank Precinct East site is considered visually intrusive. The project team confirmed to the complainant that this is the final colour scheme of the equipment. Condition of road:		Closed		

Moorebank Intermodal Precinct Complaints Register - As of 19 May 2025					
Date received	Complainant	Nature of complaint	Location (MIP/MARW)	Status	
		A community member complained about a pothole in Moorebank Avenue. The project team investigated the location of the pothole and found that it is in the area owned and managed by Department of Defence and advised the resident to contact the DoD.			
27/05/2020	CCC member	Noise: CCC member noted that noise was audible until 8.30 pm on 26/5 as trucks delivered materials to the worksite. Project team confirmed that this is permitted by project approvals.		Closed	
20/04/2020	CCC member	Lighting: CCC member asked that on-site lighting be trimmed down as one unit is directing light towards his home. Project team adjusted the relevant lighting, including light shields and further engaged with complainant to ensure temporary lighting units were not placed in locations that directed light towards his home.		Closed	
13/03/2020	Community member via DPIE	Vegetation: Resident claimed that Aboriginal Scar trees were being removed from site. Project team confirmed and provided evidence that this had not occurred.		Closed	
10/03/2020	Community member via Liverpool City Council	Condition of road: Local resident observed potholes on Moorebank Ave near Anzac Avenue and wanted the potholes repaired. Project team worked with LCC to identify and repair potholes.		Closed	
24/02/2020	Community member	Environmental impacts: Request that traffic controllers stop feeding bread to the cockatoos. Personnel ceased doing so immediately.		Closed	
18/02/2020	Local business	General construction: Noting runoff of water from site detention basins following 450mm rainfall storm event. Project team confirmed that this is in line with project approvals.		Closed	
22/01/2020	Community member	General construction: Stacked containers wall fell during supercell storm. Project team reduced height of stack and altered stacking method to further reinforce the noise wall.		Closed	
22/01/2020	Community member	General construction: Stacked containers wall fell during supercell storm. Project team reduced height of stack and altered stacking method to further reinforce the noise wall. 2019. Complaints		Closed	

Mod	Moorebank Intermodal Precinct Complaints Register - As of 19 May 2025				
Date received	Complainant	Nature of complaint	Location (MIP/MARW)	Status	
Date received	Complainant	Nature of complaint		Status	
27/11/2019	RAID via DPIE	Dust: RAID member claimed dust that had settled on outdoor furniture was produced by project construction. No further evidence was able to be supplied.		Closed	
25/11/2019	Local business	Condition of road: Roadside bollards damaged by turning truck. Project team repaired bollards.		Closed	
25/10/2019	Community member via DPIE	Dust: Resident noted dust issues affecting his home and pool, as well as Moorebank Avenue. Project team noted dust mitigation and management protocols that are in place.		Closed	
11/10/2019	Road user	Condition of road: Three pot holes on the road approaching the bridge on Cambridge Ave, Moorebank. Project team reported potholes to road owner.		Closed	
7/09/2019	Road user	Vehicle damage: Road user reported that her vehicle was damaged by site fencing during heavy wind. Investigation by relevant insurance agency determined that the damage had been existing on the vehicle.		Closed	
2/09/2019	Community member	Dust: Resident noted dust issues affecting his home. Project team noted dust mitigation and management protocols that are in place.		Closed	
21/08/2019	Community member	Noise: Complainant reported excessive night-time noise over three nights, which they believed to have been caused by project construction. Project team confirmed that construction took place on only two of the three dates, and that the activities reported as occurring around 2am had concluded by midnight. Project team was able to ascertain that MS Motorway roadworks were also carried out on the dates in question.		Closed	
21/08/2019	Community member	Noise: Complainant reported excessive night-time noise, which they believed to have been caused by project construction. Project team confirmed that construction took place on the reported date, with MS Motorway roadworks also carried out on the date in question.		Closed	
20/08/2019	Community member	Noise: Complainant reported excessive night-time noise, which they believed to have been caused by project construction. Project team confirmed that construction took place on the reported date, with MS		Closed	

Мос	Moorebank Intermodal Precinct Complaints Register - As of 19 May 2025				
Date received	Complainant	Nature of complaint	Location (MIP/MARW)	Status	
		Motorway roadworks also carried out on the date in question.			
17/08/2019	Community member	Noise: Complainant reported excessive night-time noise, which they believed to have been caused by project construction. Project team confirmed that construction took place on the reported date, with MS Motorway roadworks also carried out on the date in question.		Closed	
16/08/2019	Community member	Noise: Complainant reported excessive night-time noise, which they believed to have been caused by project construction. Project team confirmed that construction took place on the reported date, with MS Motorway roadworks also carried out on the date in question.		Closed	
18/07/2019	Community member	Water use: Repeat of 9/7/19 complaint, project team reiterated that water use was legal, approved, paid for and only took place when captured rainwater was unavailable.		Closed	
16/07/2019	Community member	Truck movements: Resident noted heavy vehicle use of Anzac Road in exceedance of weight limit. Was unable to provide any registration number or other identifying features of the vehicles he witnessed.		Closed	
9/07/2019	Community member	Water use: Complainant witnessed project water suppression tankers filling up from Sydney Water pumping station and alleged water was being stolen. Project team confirmed that this was approved under licence by Sydney Water, that the water was paid for and that mains refilling only took place when project water basins were empty.		Closed	
2/07/2019	Local business	Condition of road: Complainant noted dirt "tracking" from worksite onto Bapaume Road and dirt in drains from site runoff. Project team cleaned Bapaume Road with street sweeper, improved site features to reduce tracking, cleaned gutters and pumped out roadside drains.		Closed	
28/06/2019	Community member	Water use: Complainant witnessed project water suppression tankers filling up from Sydney Water pumping station. Project team confirmed that this was approved under licence by Sydney Water and that mains refilling only took place when project water basins were empty.		Closed	
20/05/2019	Community member via DPIE	Noise: Complainant reported hearing an 'evacuation warning siren'. Project team was unable to identify a source of the noise within the worksite.		Closed	
9/04/2019	Road user via	Condition of road:		Closed	

Moorebank Intermodal Precinct Complaints Register - As of 19 May 2025					
Date received	Complainant	Nature of complaint	Location (MIP/MARW)	Status	
	Transport for NSW	Road user reported a "lip" in the road surface above the new rail underpass.			
		Project team confirmed this was not the final road surface and that a weekend road			
		closure to apply the final surface was upcoming.			
3/04/2019	RAID via Liverpool	Condition of road:		Closed	
	City Council	Complainant reported localised flooding on the road along Moorebank Ave and its effect on road users.			
		Project team worked with Liverpool City Council to clear drains, and confirmed that a new			
		drainage system delivered with the Moorebank Ave upgrade would resolve this issue.			
15/03/2019	Community member	Consultation:		Closed	
		Complaint about lack of notification for upcoming helicopter movements.			
		Project team confirmed that a letterbox notification was delivered across an area twice			
		the size of that required by approval condition and the complainant resided outside that			
		area. Also advised that all project notifications are made available on the project website.			
15/02/2019	Community member	Noise:		Closed	
		Complainant reported noise being produced on-site before 7am start of works. Project			
		team reminded contractors about noise requirements and ensuring staff arrival noise			
		was minimised.			
		2018 Complaints			
Date received	Complainant	Nature of complaint		Status	
23/11/2018	Road user	Condition of road:		Closed	
		Road user reported a near-miss on Moorebank Avenue attributed to vehicle swerving to avoid			
		a pothole.			
		Project team arranged repair of pothole.			
6/11/2018	Community member	Worker behaviour:		Closed	
		Complainant reported contractor parking on property.			
		Project team reminded work crews of respectful interface with neighbours and			
		community.			
5/11/2018	Community member	Truck movements:		Closed	
		Resident noted heavy vehicle use of Anzac Road in exceedance of weight limit. Provided			
		vehicle details and sub- contractor was reminded of approved truck travel routes.			
25/10/2018	Road user	Vehicle damage and condition of road:		Closed	
		Road user reported that two tyres on his vehicle were burst by Moorebank Ave pothole.			
		Project team arranged reimbursement of the cost of two new tyres.			
22/10/2018	Road user via	Vehicle damage:		Closed	
	Liverpool City Counci	Liverpool City Council received advice of damage to two vehicles caused by Moorebank Ave			

Moorebank Intermodal Precinct Complaints Register - As of 19 May 2025					
Date received	Complainant	Nature of complaint	Location (MIP/MARW)	Status	
		road surface.			
		Project team referred complainants to relevant insurance agency.			
19/10/2018	Community member	Truck movements:		Closed	
	via Sydney Trains	Trucks producing dust and blocking entry to Sydney Trains maintenance facility.			
		Project team met with Sydney Trains, erected signage advising trucks not to stop in			
		designated areas and increased dust suppression on entry road.			
3/10/2018	Road user	Condition of road:		Closed	
		Cyclist advised of dissatisfaction with arrangements for cyclists on Moorebank Avenue			
		during construction and identified safety hazard of damaged signposts.			
		Project team confirmed that footpath that had closed was not a cycle path and use by			
		cyclists was not legally permitted. Project team advised of the approved method for			
		cyclists to navigate during construction, including using road traffic lanes as permitted by			
		the road rules, and ensured dangerous signposts were removed.			
21/9/2018	Local business	Condition of road:		Closed	
		Roadside bollards damaged by turning truck.			
		Project team repaired bollards.			
10/9/2018	Community member	General project:		Closed	
		Complainant expressing disgust in the SIMTA project and asking to see proof of approvals			
		from the Land and Environment Court.			
		Project team provided relevant approvals.			
27/8/2018	Community member	Dust:		Closed	
		Reiteration of earlier complaint.			
24/8/2018	Community member	Environmental impacts:		Closed	
	via DPIE	Resident raised concerns about vegetation clearing beside Moorebank Avenue and asked			
		whether approval had been sought.			
		Project team confirmed this work had been approved and provided relevant approval			
		documents.			
23/8/2018	Road user	Condition of road:		Closed	
		Complaint about dust and debris on Moorebank Ave.			
		Project team advised of systems in place to manage dust/dirt and regular sweeping of the			
		road surface. Project team reviewed dust suppression measures as a result of this and			
		two other complaints and introduced an additional mitigation measure - spraying a			
		polymer binder to seal dirt that would remain exposed long-term.			
23/8/2018	Community member	Condition of road:		Closed	
		Complaint about dust and debris on Moorebank Ave. Project team advised of systems to			
		manage dust/dirt and regular sweeping.			

Moorebank Intermodal Precinct Complaints Register - As of 19 May 2025					
Date received	Complainant	Nature of complaint	Location (MIP/MARW)	Status	
		Project team reviewed suppression measures as a result of this and two other complaints and introduced an additional mitigation measure - spraying a polymer binder to seal dirt that would remain exposed long-term.			
21/8/2018	Community member	Dust: Complainant reported his house and car were being regularly made dirty by dust caused by construction and sought compensation for cleaning that he had been carrying out. Project team reviewed dust suppression measures as a result of this and two other complaints and introduced an additional mitigation measure - spraying a polymer binder to seal dirt that would remain exposed long-term.		Closed	
8/8/2018	Road user	Traffic: Complainant reporting delays on Moorebank Ave caused by the management of project's traffic control. Traffic controllers were advised to ensure priority was given to vehicles travelling on Moorebank Ave during peak periods.		Closed	
6/8/2018	Community member	Damage to property: Concrete slurry was left. Construction team cleaned this.		Closed	
12/7/2018	Community member	Noise: Casula resident complaint about beeping noises before 7am. Project team confirmed no site vehicles have reversing "beepers" fitted, and reminded crews to arrive quietly.		Closed	
2/7/2018	Community member	Condition of road: Resident advised on Moorebank Ave potholes. Project team organised for road to be repaired.		Closed	
26/6/2018	Community member via Liverpool City Council	General construction: Temporary reinstatement of footpath with asphalt viewed by pedestrian as insufficient. Requested better permanent surface. This was provided after construction was completed in the area.		Closed	
17/6/2018	Community member	Truck movements: Resident had observed trucks parking alongside Anzac Road so drivers could frequent take- away food store. Also noted exceedance of Anzac Rd weight limit and claimed vehicles were parking in a No Stopping zone. Project team investigated and confirmed that roadside parking in the relevant section of Anzac Rd was legal, but ensured truck drivers were reminded not to block footpath when parking and that Anzac Rd past fire station carried a weight limit.		Closed	
28/5/2018	Community member	General project:		Closed	

Мо	Moorebank Intermodal Precinct Complaints Register - As of 19 May 2025					
Date received	Complainant	Nature of complaint	Location (MIP/MARW)	Status		
		General Concerns around the amount of trucks that will be on local roads in the coming				
		years. Complainant commented that the trucks are too noisy, and she believes they are				
		speeding, especially on her street.				
		Project team advised of project benefits around reduction of heavy vehicle movements				
		and investigated claim re truck speeding on complainant's street. Complainant lives on				
		the northern side of Moorebank in an area not used by project vehicles.				
28/5/2018	Community member	General project:		Closed		
		Caller advised that she received a letter re Moorebank Intermodal Terminal Facility and				
		she would like more information. Resident lives on Junction Rd, Moorebank, and has many				
		concerns around traffic and project works impacting on Junction Rd.				
		Project team provided additional information on project.				
24/5/2018	Local business	Truck movements:		Closed		
		Complaint about trucks parking on nature strip outside business's premises.				
		Nature strip was fenced off to ensure trucks were unable to park at that location.				
16/5/2018	Road user	Vehicle damage:		Closed		
		Complainant's vehicle was sprayed with a substance from a project vehicle.				
		Project team arranged repair of the vehicle.				
4/4/2018	Community member	General project:		Closed		
		Complainant generally opposes the project. Project team noted the complaint.				
2/3/2018	Community member	Dust:		Closed		
		Caller advised of large plume of dust going high into the air, viewed from Casula.				
		Project team spoke with demolition crews and was unable to identify cause or confirm				
		this was related to the project.				
1/3/2018	Community member	Environmental impacts:		Closed		
		A resident advised they had provided EPA with photos of what they say is a sediment				
		control incident.				
		Project team liaised with EPA to resolve matter.				
21/2/2018	Community member	Lighting:		Closed		
		Report that temporary traffic lights are left on all night.				
		Project team resolved.				
16/2/2018	Community member	Noise:		Closed		
	via OPIE	Resident alleged that loud banging noise was audible at Sam.				
		Project team confirmed no work was underway on site at that time.				
8/2/2018	Community member	General project:		Closed		
		Complaint made about ignoring community feedback.				
		Project team noted this complaint.				

Moorebank Intermodal Precinct Complaints Register - As of 19 May 2025									
Date received	Complainant	Nature of complaint	Location (MIP/MARW)	Status					
5/2/2018	Community member	Traffic:		Closed					
		Complainant reporting delays on Moorebank Ave caused by the management of project's							
		traffic control.							
		Traffic controllers were advised to ensure priority was given to vehicles travelling on							
		Moorebank Ave during peak periods.							
19/1/2018	Community member	Noise:		Closed					
	via OPIE	Resident alleged that loud banging noise was audible at 4.25am.							
		Project team confirmed no work was underway on site at that time.							



## APPENDIX G – BIODIVERSITY (FLORA AND FAUNA MONITORING REPORTS)

Ongoing internal reporting. No submission required under SSD 6766 and 7628.



# **APPENDIX H – BTODR REPORTING**

To be submitted separately



## **APPENDIX I – OPERATIONS INCIDENT REGISTER**

-	Aprilation April	kengtura kangta	nyo managa sa	ett Ladien fan	en besten beten bogeten bogeten b	Region Management Antipathe	haget felyadaagataa d	na papatan ina papat	na responsible response)	the designment of the product of the	and an an and an an	n, konstanja fina junist, tak fina	Control of the Association of the Control of	a majorected response	na an a	a national restorements	A, brite ( ) - methods for a fact ( ) - method	Adjacent, in Adjacent, in Adjacent, in Adjacent	non betwitten men betwitten menform eren	nalijaalingin nalijalinadiraan nal	antiper and antiperiod and and	and the second second	Negagata Adjungan Ar	and reactions in the	test supported	net former
	topartipate me	All the data for the second se				Texteel		100.0		-	- 444 (1991)			10,000	-		nna, a y Maria Na Kabu Kabu Kabu na Jihang Anathin Kabu, an an Anaton Kabupa Sag	anonas anti-	1171 (Bass	Nan Web National States India Transe (J. A France) Ver National States (J. A France) National St					Sold The Address Th	-
			-	PRE Sourced	прозната валкала зната колицирирован	NE Rochard	a aacaagaayaaca	****	1 Martini 14	aa aa a			-				In all on a second second as a second as a construction of the second second as a construction of the second sec	Nightan Palakatap Salakatap Salakatap Salakatap Salakatap Salakatap		Approximation and a second sec			10,00 manufer in	an koosta	nan dia katan ini kata ini mini jaka juana	-
	toparty art me	Al Ter Ark La Vermanna permanan (Arf Rea)			nyonona antara antara somanganjaran						-	-	-	-	Managaran Managaran Managaran Managaran Managaran Managaran		mages a drafteter Proton Provinsi japan Haginta atala drafta Provinsi page Angel Proton Proton Proton Angel Proton Proton Proton Hagina di Nama Printone	Малария. ППУ Нарадорган	10 Pc Police Mar (Millions Pr Scipilitation)	Nacional Angli Sano Nacional Mantena (Martinea) Martinea (Martinea) Martinea (Martinea) Martinea (Martinea) Nacional Angli Sano (Martinea) Nacional Angli S				a, 11)ada		-
		All the start in the second se		PRO DUCINE	inproving inscholar similar strategicalphone	Revision	a arrangenyaren	1. haar	- Ann Mare Inte	No. 1010 Ma				Telephone			Example and collections have administration on administration and descent polytoms using and a strands for administration administration mails from the second collection of the system and the forume.		~~	Name (Construction)		-	-		COLUMN TRADE OF	
	reportputt an	And and the second states of	-		electron parents, mana anteresfectures			raat						tana.		:	21200 1030 <i>3</i>	-		Anno Sector Sect						
				PRI Surrad				1. Hayes	1 10000000 100		- Nam Trans-						gen fulforie Kitteren tyskiller en en forsen tyske er skiller sinder forsen til skiller för kart för skiller gente försen atter er skiller för skiller gente försen atter er skiller för försen atter er skiller försen	-		Reparation of the sector of th			New york suppliers and	ay ayaata	Solar Ta Saliva Is	
	separate and	Alternative Annual Contractor		PRE SURVer	toprocess teacheds states consoligningteen	-	mar Radi Saunganyitaan	1.44	t manyanaga saga	-	-140.000			Tapta	-		en en la compañía de		~	Aproviduting the state approximation (advance) Nor Nor Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approxi			A.4.5 Tata			-
	toparty of the	, and the product (Section V)		PTR Second	the meaning systems sources and a second particulation	ann taobhad	ar nanadijanjirana	The R	t manytanago san		- fair from-			Vagina			nanganing situation transfer ang da data situation transfer dig data situation transfer ang participation transfer ang participation transfer ang participation transfer and participat			Ngalaking Piran Apa Salayana (pirana) Ka Na Salayana (pirana) Kapitaking Piran Ngalaking Yi			nage states of	m kauta	LOST RE LARGE Y	
	Supportputt 100		-				(P) Managanginana	1.10.0	t manyangu sau	-	- 100 100-			Nagara.	-		Man selective statutions of the selective statutions of th		-	Ageneticaj francisco Internetica Agenetica (J. 1998) Maria Agenetica (J. 1998) Agenetica (J. 1998) Ageneti			Nasa dar - 20	n, aana		-
				PRF Southed	Nymenese Southeast Works anatostigueptican	Restored			* ****		- Page 1740-				-		and the second second		Para dar Read talan Read	Approximation Approximation Note Note Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approxima			nana nyakat itu			-
	ner same				нулына какана жала алыныңырыла	ante tractaria		1. Anna	- Poplytenge inc	-	- 840 (100)				-		ana ang kata kata ana mata kata i		Nor MEDINY Anniari Anniari	Approximation (Control of the Control of the Contro					Scientific Labora III	-
	net based on the			Pill Samuel	аңылалы көттер жана жылдындыгы			1.000	-	··· ·· ··	~ ~			Tangina	Internet operation is seen in the leaders internet in the leaders of the leaders in the period of the leaders in the period of the leaders in the leaders of the leaders and the leaders and the leaders and the leaders and the		and a grant former, there		-	Nerschlieft nie hat Nerschlieft nie hat Ne 18.8 Allen in Allen in Nerschlieft für Nerschlieft für Nerschlieft für		NR Newsee Later			Solution Colors to	-
	Annanyar ar			PER Surrow	ngenatura kerag arma anagkagikan	anter Saurrana	n aanagaqtaa	100au	9 Martin - 14			nya 1986	manufacture and the		November 2010) November 2010 November 2010 November 2010 November 2010		exemplane a function in una construction of the second in the second second second second is the second second second second second second second second is the second second second second second second second second is the second second second second second second second second is the second s	North analysis of the analysis		Nersikalipitasi tee Nersikalipitasi tee Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersikalipitasi Nersik		90 9000	Tabut May Pa	an ayan		-
	1411 March 1817	NA THE OTHER DATA DOUBLE STREET	-		ana ferinandra pitananan matan manadonikana	Bartola			* ****	-	- 844 (1999)			-	-		an and a second se	Nontra- tonette Kir Tutta	10 To Pada	Nacionality from the indefense (c. Medicionality from the indefense (c. Medicionality from the indefense from indefense from indefense indefense from						
	NATE AND ADDRESS OF THE OWNER	Lines and the second	-		ano kashaniya lepinolona kashano senare memorganjukan		taa soo saa taagaan jabasan	****	a manjampi man	-	- 844 (144)				-		ndaan hangur agin belund analadiad ba analagin a agin belund anal water, falasan barkata bi tagga falasina barata atagga paga barata baratad atagga paga barata	(Sec.)		Reproduktion in their individual in a finite No. No. Reproduktion in the Reproduktion in Reproduktion in Reproduktion Reproduktion in					Martin Martin Terrytone	-
	ner banke i me	ALTER AND A DESCRIPTION OF THE AREA		-	простояния налоки историализат	/% 54567			a manjanga man	-	- 100 500-				-		nangang Alabiha ka ka g ang ang alabiha ka ka g ka dalapat pang alabiha ka dalapat ang alabiha dalapat pang alabiha ang alabiha dalapat pang alabiha ka dalapat dalapat pang alabiha ka dalapat dalapat pang alabiha ka dalapa	and another produced based		Approximption for interpret (UNRA) 1.1.1 Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Approximation Ap			2004-0 Opt - 74	an ayan	ina ng Salan W Kara ka nang ding sala	
	Not been an			PRO BUSINE	ационалоги коллар иможе инследонувание	Bartheler			1 Majakymaniga Bankan		- Ann Anno-			haging	-	80180.115 80180.115	nand an julia satirati na tang interpret na tang		-	Representative processors satisfy many systems to an approximative satisfy many states to approximative satisfy many states satisfy many states satis				m Boothe	Solari Ba Ashari N	-
	net based on the			PRO REAL	an anagosphere and a second se	Rectored	m annagastan		1 Managementer mange		- Ann Dan-			Tangina		arana arana 2	na al second ta factorizada altern Inter en gazantera alternete. Nexes finanti tenga Inter en gazantera alternete. Yelle			Approximation from the interpreter (unitation to interpreter to interpreter to interprete				m note	COLUMN TWO ADDRESS TO	

	Ave (automatical)	Tel metalletter Park an	mean feet meeting." By made beter below	And Associated and Associated	an y net joseffi des	feet, Songerhaut	O not seemed tops	hearing and a first home state	Ne reportere	fashed faste fashed justices	In formations
en al production and the second	•	Ref on Anti-Antonio Science of the Anti-Antonio Science of Anti-Antonio Science of applications used spatial county activate in expeription and addresses of spatial antice	<ul> <li>Antida Tata A</li> <li>Antida Tata A</li> <li>Antida Tata A</li> <li>Antida Tata A</li> </ul>	All And All An	Annual and a second sec		nemenage	Parkers pint Adams adam excession and Adams and Adams and Adams provided adams and Adams and Adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams adams ada ada adams adams ada ada		futilitat thing of	
			<ul> <li>Andreas training of sub-training in the antise</li> </ul>	Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant		Realister	Annual Annual A	Table 1			
	NAME (Hoppdateligneed)	Now the Albert data and the set of the set	Mathala (at) (na Santa) Kang (na) Kang (na) Mathala (na) Mathala (na) Mathala (na) Mathala (na) Kang (		visional the line share because of each of the devices of any control of the devices of any control of the devices of the second of the devices the second of the devices the second of the devices the second of the devices of the devices of the second of the devices of the devices of the devices of the devices of the devices of the devices of			Solid of States and St		Tanan Singe	
		Next and the same of the same of the same parts is a space of a point of a first and the same of the s	Annual Strategy Property Prope			Feature	herine Strape	144 A	Traches M	Talihar Malayar	
		na n	notena tempe Mariji Jana Mariji Jana Mariji Mariji Jana Mariji Mariji	Although Antonio Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Martina Marti	- Marine Marine		nomennage	and a second of	*	Familie Hange	****
The second advances for the second seco	n Taraharan di Kitabina jalah Peropojan Perinti Antonio a da Kitabi Bitabin	A state upper pageon a marting and de transform, desare y construction pageons a state de la de la construction de la construction de la construction de la construction de la construction de la construction de la construc- antipologie, en antipologie construction de la construction de la construction de la construction de la constru- ction de la construction de la constru	Baltarbartan arang ta analog ana	10 Technologi 10		****	furthe Norge	144.0	Robert Robert of	-	
autor faint a administrative	-	kalak upura sika sibaskal distanti a at kyritirkinov (do ogo titel Inan sibari (do a atalaki okaza gan Radina kal-kal kal atalaki okaza gan Nati ta atalaki oka karianti atala siba atala atalaki Nati ta atalaki atalaki atalaki gana k	Notice feet for annual to par Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual	Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Schege Sc		B-100-100-0	Repairmente disco	9449.0F	Robert State (st	-	
And an advance ( ) wanting	-	MMT davas davaskas, antošnje krista hoje dava ko kas hada a davas Tristanova vasta kativnog se krista gode objak sport davas	Naturation Control of Sectors Sectors Mathematics Mathematics Control of Control of Cont	- Stational Response in the Response in the station Response in the station Response in the station		Textest	Turnin Stronge	Res 4		~	Relates Marci (M. Kari Yapi Peter Kari (M. Kari I. and Kari Kari Yapi Peter Kari (M. Kari Kari Kari Kari (M. Kari (M. Kari Kari)), Salah Kari (M. Kari Kari (M. Kari (M. Kari (M. Kari))), Salah Kari Kari (M. Kari (M. Kari)), Salah Kari (M. Kari Kari (M. Kari)), Salah Kari (M. Kari) Kari (M. Kari), Salah Kari (M. Kari), Salah Kari (M. Kari), Salah Kari (M. Kari), Salah Kari Kari
			ware ware ware ware ware ware ware ware			North Con (P)		and a	Reflects(#)	Non ola char anginantana ang	www.
Non a due the Sta Phales	Network (conceptional dependence)	Transpondent excerptions in replacement percentages. Name	naminista antisylaanin pratisylaanin pratisylaanin saatalainin heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen heriteenen	riteritado Responsibilita Religional Factor		Bastons	here furthe lange	-			
specified - name of a PROTEINING and	•	TERFANSIAN SHOPP		rachair Rognath Ri Taigenathnai							
The dama with the set of the ST	NUM (Imprime Space	feasier attaine and single fait ethips. Teach data de Majors attaine an an expension of anno attaine energy attain.	<ul> <li>Approximation</li> <li>Approximation</li> <li>Approximation</li> <li>Approximation</li> </ul>	ranhaga ritu ati haqishing ranhadi kapigi Mari kasari n haqi yasa yakin nga yasa yakin							
unitary a farina she cay dayof san yang dagaya shu an Manga dagaan yang a sa a		Ministration of the state of th	Nets Angel Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa S	10 Napp Na Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp Napp		Bartowa	Morrisonage	Tribune			
No. Allen 1 Andre Transmission		$h_{\rm escap}$ details the interaction of the state of the point state of the point state of the	negroupy her house	rentega rentegaran ya tangara ratas ratas ratas ratas							
of 1 allow respect		Annual optimistical matrix	a approximate reported to prove	richege richegener, rich harperer fahren harber kaltegener,							
		namen ag gel baser kag, ska kal in hen y might saka Kaman ag dago geng ag in dalaman kan saka ka	17 part 196 4 d schwards a d factor of the state of the state factor of the state of the state and schwards a	inthops inthopses Yang di Yang di Yang yang Yang Yang Yang Yang Yang Yang Yang Yang Yang Yang Yang Yang Yang Yang Yang							
sang May terbangan lawar que Westerie Awar Roperation and basing to question from an processing and processing		100x00 apppells the other specific sets 5.5 tables to 10x0x0 appells the other specific appellation of the processing the processing the specific processing to the processing the processing the processing the specific processing to the processing the processing the processing the specific processing to the processing the processing the processing the specific processing to the processing the processing the processing the specific processing the procesing the processing the processing the processi	n taga taga Taga taga Taga taga Taga taga Taga taga Taga taga	ranhagar ini an Targanay Kapanak ini Kapanak ini Marangki ta at ang							
	n Antone (comparison from some	Restores and party of the second state of the	Baltaria; Baltaria; Participari	Statisti Registration May back of Reduced of							



### **APPENDIX J - COMPLIANCE REPORT DECLARATION FORM**



#### COMPLIANCE REPORT DECLARATION

Project Name	Moorebank Intermodal Precinct (MIP) – East Precinct							
Project Application Number	SSD 6766 & SSD 7628							
Description of Project	Moorebank Intermodal Precinct aims to streamline the freight logistics supply chain from port to store, deliver savings to businesses and consumers, and help service the rapidly growing demand for imported goods in south-west Sydney. It is located approximately 27 kilometres (km) south-west of the Sydney Central Business District and approximately 26 km west of Port Botany within the Liverpool Local Government Area. The MLP is divided into an East Precinct and a West Precinct, located east and west of Moorebank Avenue respectively. The East Precinct includes the 24/7 operation of an import-export terminal (IMEX), rail link connecting to the South Sydney Freight Line (SSFL), warehousing and distribution facilities and freight village.							
Project Address	Moorebank Intermodal Precinct, Moorebank, NSW, 2170							
Proponent	The Trust Company Limited (ACN 004 027 749							
Title of Compliance Report	Moorebank Intermodal Precinct East Precinct – Operation Compliance Report							
Date	Friday, 27 June 2025							

I declare that I have reviewed relevant evidence and prepared the contents of the attached Compliance Report and to the best of my knowledge:

- the Compliance Report has been prepared in accordance with all relevant conditions of consent;
- the Compliance Report has been prepared in accordance with the Compliance Reporting Post Approval Requirements;
- the findings of the Compliance Report are reported truthfully, accurately and completely.
- due diligence and professional judgement have been exercised in preparing the Compliance Report; and
- the Compliance Report is an accurate summary of the compliance status of the development.

Notes:

• Under section 10.6 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 a person must not include false or misleading information (or provide information for inclusion in) a report of monitoring data or an audit report produced to the Minister in connection with an audit if the person knows that the information is false or misleading in a material respect. The proponent of an approved project must not fail to include information in (or provide information for inclusion in) a report of monitoring data or an audit report produced to the Minister in connection with an audit if the person knows that the information is materially relevant to the monitoring or audit. The maximum penalty is, in the case of a corporation, \$1 million and for an individual, \$250,000; and



#### **COMPLIANCE REPORT DECLARATION**

 The Crimes Act 1900 contains other offences relating to false and misleading information: section 307B (giving false or misleading information – maximum penalty 2 years' imprisonment or 200 penalty units, or both).

Name of Authorised Reporting Officer	Richard Mason
Title	Possum Environmental Consulting
Signature	Apr
Qualification	Bachelor of Science – Environmental Science
Company	Possum Environmental Consulting
Company Address	32 Rainworth Road Bardon Queensland 4065